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Incroducdion

Fr. Juan Vecchi, of happy memory, in his last publication
(Foundational Themes of Salesian Spirituality, p. 32) states: “It is hard to
understand Salesian spirituality and grow in it if we do not constantly get
closer to its spring, its origin—namely, Don Bosco.”

“We should pass from an attitude of simply telling a story about Don
Bosco and lavishing praises on Don Bosco, to a deeper knowledge of Don
Bosco.”

“We need to place the deeds and sayings of Don Bosco in their prop-
er context; we need to reflect once again on the meaning of the deeds and
sayings of Don Bosco within our historical situation and culture.”

The present volume of the Biographical Memoirs will certainly help all
readers come to know more about the sayings and deeds of Don Bosco and,
hopefully, be able to locate them in “today’s historical situation and culture.”

The readers will also come to know what Don Bosco meant by Da
mini animas, coetera tolle,” since he wore himself out, even physically, up
to his death, for the salvation of souls.

This volume is the end result of several people’s work.

The commercial translation of many years ago was the groundwork
for the revision made by two Salesian Sisters: Sr. Josephine Carini and Sr.
Mary Ann Zito. They also put the entire revised version on the computer.

Fr. Michael Mendel, S.D.B., checked the Sisters’ revised version.

I have checked and revised the previous revised versions against the
Italian text to make sure that nothing was omitted or in anyway misinter-
preted. The Appendix is entirely mine.

A debt of sincere gratitude goes to all of the above-mentioned people
for their work; to Mrs. Jo Ann Donahue for her final computer work; and
to Fr. Francisco Javier Aracil, S.D.B., the main editor.

Fr. Vincent Vincio Aldo Zuliani, S.D.B.
The final translator






Preface XV

Prefare
(1886-1888)

With this eighteenth volume, The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John
Bosco come to an end. As we read his life story, three distinctly different
periods are immediately evident to us. The years of his life prior to 1841
were devoted to his vocation and his preparation for the priesthood. Then
came the stormy beginnings of his mission on behalf of youth, in which we
find interwoven the slow development of the first seeds which were to con-
stitute the Salesian Society, as well as its progressive affirmation and final
establishment by papal approval of its Rules in 1874. The last fifteen years
were dedicated to the consolidation and expansion of the work as a whole.
Upon his death, Don Bosco was able to leave the work to his successor. It
lacked nothing essential to its exuberant vitality or its perpetual fecundity.

Two more volumes will complete the number of books: One will trace
the entire history of his glorification from the beginning of his cause for
beatification and canonization (which one might say started immediately
after his death) to the worldwide growth of the universality of his cult; and
the other will be an analytical index to render research as easy as possible.

We have an immense store of information on Don Bosco and his work
that, perhaps, has no parallel in hagiographic literature. It is disseminated
through a number of lengthy volumes, eighteen to be exact. Such a vast
amount of detailed information may seem superfluous from a literary
standpoint, but it will nevertheless offer a precious and most beneficial
source of abundant information to the Salesian Family, which is eager to
know even the smallest details concerning the life and deeds of their Father.
To Don Bosco’s sons and daughters, his Biographical Memoirs will, in all
ages, constitute a family treasure of inestimable value.

Outsiders may wonder and even feel skeptical in the presence of this
enormous quantity of biographical data. However, this accumulation of data
came about in the most natural way. Don Bosco did not live an isolated life
within his spiritual family. His activities were not carried out behind closed
doors. He lived habitually side-by-side with both the boys and the Salesians,
going about his business in full view of everyone, reporting to them on his
undertakings, granting interviews to all with the utmost frequency and easy
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familiarity.' He had countless and the best of relationships with outsiders far
and near, with people of all kinds of social status. He granted them audi-
ences, he called on them personally, doing good to their body and mind as
well; he shared with them his own plans, told them about his undertakings
and asked for their help. It was therefore only logical that a large number of
people were informed of his sayings and deeds, and were in possession of
things he had written, so that it was no great effort to gather much detailed
information. The work of the historian was facilitated further by the aura of
veneration that surrounded this man of God from the very beginning. This
is the reason why there were some in his houses who took note of all he said
and did, while others outside his houses treasured his letters, retaining
indelible memories of their contacts with him.

Furthermore, he himself bequeathed some important pages dealing with
important moments of his life to his sons on an order received from above.
When Father John Bonetti undertook to publish the history of the first twen-
ty-five years of the Oratory in the Bulletin, Don Bosco checked every install-
ment, or had Father Rua do it if he happened to be absent.” Finally, the
informative process for the cause of his beatification and canonization
brought a host of eminently reliable first-hand witnesses before the ecclesias-
tical tribunal of Turin. Their recorded testimony filled many reams of paper.
Rarely has a biographer had the good fortune to depend on such an abundant
and clear source of information on so recent and so thoroughly reliable data.

I Who knows in the course of time how many people will find it hard to believe that a man like Don Bosco
maintained friendly relations with the boys and even confided incidents of his personal life to them. No one will
ever be able to understand Don Bosco unless they are able to picture him as a father among his children. One eld-
erly Salesian recalls hearing a story from Don Bosco’s own lips, while he and several of his companions were gath-
ered around their father as he strolled in the Oratory playground. He no longer recalls what gave rise to this inci-
dent, but the story he heard is vividly impressed on his mind. Shortly before midday one morning in France, Don
Bosco was on his way to dinner with a family who had invited him. On the way there he recalled that he had also
promised to dine with some other people at two o’clock. Quite unperturbed, the one who accompanied him
reminded him about a promise made to dine with the other people. Don Bosco replied, “Never mind, we shall sat-
isfy them both.” At this point of his narrative, one boy wanted to know whether he really had gone to lunch twice.

“We most certainly did, and we cut a good figure,” Don Bosco answered.

Then he explained pleasantly how immediately after the first meal, they were ready to eat another, praising
the warm charity of both his hosts towards his undertakings. This is just an example of the natural way in which
Don Bosco himself supplied information for his biography.

Fr. Andrea Scotton, pastor of Breganze, wrote of him to Fr. Rua in a letter dated February 26, 1891: “That
which was displeasing to other people was a source of inspiration to him. He often talked of himself and his under-
takings, so simply and candidly that a listener merely wondered.”

Fr. Lemoyne (Biographical Memoirs, Vol. 11, pp. 23-24) writes: “Don Bosco was delighted in recounting
these events and in recalling every least circumstance. This he did with such sincerity and keen enjoyment. He
would reminisce, smile and savor the recollection of days gone by...”

2 This work of revision was so accurate that while Don Bosco and Fr. Michael Rua were on their way to Spain,
Fr. J. Bonetti sent them the proofs of the installment that was to appear in the next issue of the Bulletin. Fr. M. Rua
returned it to him, with Don Bosco’s observations.
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Our mention of Father Michael Rua invites us to stop for a while and
consider the wide range and value of his testimony. He lived for forty years
at the side of Don Bosco. “Lived with” means that he not merely resided
under the same roof, but shared his whole life. Naturally, this close relation-
ship developed slowly and naturally, according to Father Michael Rua’s age
and the responsibilities given him. Nevertheless, Father Rua became fully
aware of the role that Don Bosco had assigned to him initially, only when he
was already mature in years. However, Don Bosco kept no secrets from
Father Michael Rua, so that when Don Bosco died, Father Rua could be
described as a living archive of information concerning Don Bosco.

Father Rua’s sharp intellect had enabled him to take stock of Don Bosco’s
thoughts and his actions objectively. His very powerful memory responded
promptly and faithfully whenever it was needed. Father Rua, a saintly man,
would not dare to allow his reports to be mystified or to depart in any way from
the truth, as a not-too-enlightened kind of piety would have done only for the
sake of promoting edification. One example could stand for a thousand possi-
ble exampies. D’Espiney’s book Don Bosco had already flooded France and
was being read in almost every civilized country when, in 1890, an Italian ver-
sion of the eleventh French edition was planned. Father Michael Rua took it
upon himself to edit the text, eliminating anything that did not seem absolute-
ly certain in the light of his own knowledge of the facts. In doing this, he fol-
lowed only verifiable evidence. He did not hesitate to eliminate the story relat-
ing the final appearance of the gray dog, Grigio, which had taken place in 1883
on the road between Ventimiglia and Vallecrosia, although he had heard talk
of it. The author protested, since he himself had heard the story from Don
Bosco at Nice Maritime only a few days after it had occurred. When Father
Michael Rua heard this, he too was upset and simply based his apology on his
own limited information of the incident. One may well imagine what valid
assistance he gave the historian who was coordinating Don Bosco’s biograph-
ical data by supplying information and by acting as a source of verification.

We must say that Fr. John Baptist Lemoyne was an extremely fortunate his-
torian. However, this good fortune was only one among many others he had,
especially the one of easily verifying his accounts by relying on the tradition still
alive around him, and by consulting Don Bosco himself personally; besides the
fact that he could rightly apply to himself the words nos qui manducavimus et
bibimus cum illo (we who ate and drank with him), since he among others, was
one of those who lived with him for almost twenty-three years.

Here we would like to describe the wonderful accomplishments of Fr.
John Baptist Lemoyne, a glorious son of Don Bosco.



Xviii Preface

Before he began his detailed narrative of the life of the saint, Fr. Lemoyne
collected an enormous amount of material that was to constitute the principal
source of information in the course of his writing. Once it was chronologi-
cally coordinated and already printed on galley sheets, this miscellaneous
data was compiled in three separate parts. One is documentary in nature, con-
sisting of the reproduction of all official documents then existing in the
archives of the Congregation. The second part, interwoven with the former,
consists of correspondence and comprises hundreds of letters written to Don
Bosco and/or to superiors of the Oratory from Salesians, either missionaries,
men and women cooperators, and others, although only in very rare instances
are the originals available for a necessary verification. The third section,
which might be described as narrative, consists in the breakdown of unpub-
lished or partially unpublished manuscripts. Some of these passages are dis-
tributed in suitable places of the account. In view of the nature of this data,
and the use to which it was destined, Father John Lemoyne did not feel the
obligation to quote its source. Among the sources we investigated, we suc-
ceeded in identifying the following: (1) a confidential memorandum printed
and sent to cardinals by Don Bosco, concerning his conflict with the arch-
bishop of Turin; (2) a substantial diary of Father John Barberis; (3) a number
of notebooks in which Father Joachim Berto jotted down impressions during
his journeys with Don Bosco to Rome, singling out incidents which deserve
remembrance, even though they are not connected with Don Bosco’s travels;
(4) a long diary of Father [Charles] Viglietti, with a brief appendix compiled
by Father John Bonetti; and (5) other manuscripts of minor importance.
Naturally, whenever possible, our account of the events is quoted directly
from the source, which is duly mentioned. Information of uncertain origin,
doubtlessly culled from oral or written reports, but lacking supporting cor-
roboration or documentation, also belongs to this third category.

At times, Father Lemoyne speaks for himself, or allows to be recognized by
his own style. When he did so, we have never failed to quote him relying for the
rest on his authority. We are indebted, for a number of details, to sources of
information either unknown to him or tapped after his time. Once he began the
work, he moved on and with his ninth volume, he covered Don Bosco’s biog-
raphy up to 1870; the volume is dated 1917. However, he was already tired and
had little energy to complete the biography the preceding year.3

It is our conviction that, as time goes by, public and private files will reveal

3 Fr. John Lemoyne began working on the history of those early years while Don Bosco was still alive. In ref-
erence to his work, he wrote Bishop John Cagliero on March 24th, 1886: “This biography is developing so smooth-
ly, magnificently, and wonderfully in its varied pattern that it would be hard to find a more enchanting book.”
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new documents previously unexplored or inaccessible regarding the manifold
activities of Don Bosco.* But no matter what may come to light, and even shed
new splendor on the Servant of God, his personality will always remain focused
in its present incomparable image. There is one aspect of his life that may well
be further illumined by future revelations. Nothing, however, could change the
opinion already held by those historians who, to this present time, explored his
life story. We mean to refer to the stand he took on the issue known in Italian
history as /I Risorgimento Nazionale (the National Renaissance). The superfi-
cial observer might be led to form a judgment not entirely true to facts because
of the wide access even to government departments enjoyed by the saint. It is
therefore advisable that we sharply clarify the ideas on this issue.

In regard to the Risorgimento, one has to distinguish three things: the issue
in itself, the men responsible for it, and the institutional effects that followed.

The issue in itself comes as the result of two convergent movements: a
political and a social one. Don Bosco did nothing, said nothing, and wrote noth-
ing for or against the political movement that culminated into the independence
and the unity of Italy. His intentionally neutral attitude in this matter was
inspired by a theoretic, practical principle implicit in the reply he gave to the
direct question of Pius IX. When the Pope asked him what his political views
were, he declared that his politics were the politics of the Our Father—the pol-
itics that stand for the coming of a kingdom, but only the kingdom of God. His
guiding principle in this attitude was that if a priest is to make his ministry
effective, he must soar way above all divisions caused by political parties.

He explained himself when talking one day with Bishop Jeremiah
Bonomelli, the great bishop of Cremona, who recalled the following words
verbatim: “In 1848, I realized that if I wanted to do a bit of good, I had to
put all politics aside,” Don Bosco told him. “I have always steered clear of
politics, and was therefore able to accomplish something, and I did not find
obstacles, but instead assistance, even where I least expected to find it.””

The social movement, aimed at raising the intellectual, civil, and eco-
nomic level of the people, was something else. Don Bosco not only per-
ceived how this democratic trend would prove irresistible, but also foresaw
all the good and evil that it would bring in its wake, according to whether or
not the evolution desired took place under, without, or against the influence
of the Gospel. He therefore committed himself entirely to giving a Christian

4 Several times Don Bosco was heard to say, “A fifth of my life can never be told, either because I destroyed
all documents pertaining to it, or because these were lost.”

5 Geremia Bonomelli, Questioni religiose-morali-sociali del giorno [Religious-moral-social problems of the
day] (Milan: Cogliati), Vol. I, p. 310.
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education to the children of the people, endeavoring in this way to educate
youth to become morally sound and spiritually articulate citizens for Italy,
who would exercise a beneficial influence in shaping the years ahead.®

As for the men who shaped the Risorgimento, Don Bosco sought never
to lose contact with them right from the beginning. He was inspired to do
so by three ideals: to find a way to do them some good; to persuade them
to assist or, at least, be friendly to his own work; and to prevent them from
harming the Church too much. His Biographical Memoirs supply many
examples that prove how well justified his outlook was in reference to these
three ideals. La Civilta Cattolica expressed itself very aptly when, in
announcing Don Bosco’s death, wrote, “In the mid 19th century, at the cen-
ter of violent changes among the people and political upheaval, Don Bosco
was able to conjure up a wondrous stream of charity, by the authority of his
words and example, captivating even the most rebellious spirits and draw-
ing them to the serene gentleness of Christian faith.””

As to the institutional effects we mentioned, namely the new national
regime and the whole new structure of public life, Don Bosco, instead of hav-
ing discussions on them, sought to take advantage whenever he could, legiti-
mately procuring the best and greatest benefits from them. He therefore never
opposed constituted authority; he respected it, and insisted that other people
respect it likewise. It became a habit, especially after the collapse of the
Pope’s temporal power, that certain persons and newspapers denigrated the
House of Savoy, which had reunited under the scepter the whole peninsula.
Both in Turin and on his travels, Don Bosco always deplored such behavior
because in the kingdom of Savoy he perceived—and history fully justified his
opinion—the sole, true support of public order in Italy. Lastly, he constantly
hoped for a reconciliation, feared by some and deprecated by others, which
would one day heal that disastrous conflict which popped up in Italy after
1870 between the ecclesiastical and civil power. He hoped for a reconciliation
in the form praised by Pius XI in an historic speech, and which ultimately
became a reality with the Lateran Pact under the same Pope.

We will conclude by quoting the wise judgment expressed at the death
of the saint by a staunch Catholic journal, which magnified his hard work
and humility: “In those stormy years of political change, social problems and

6 In a posthumous publication, containing intimate scenes from his life, Etapes de ma vie (Paris, Calmann-
Levy, 1936), Rene Bazin wrote in October 1913 that “he felt that it was a wonderful mission to ‘hasten to the
defense of religion, to rebuild religious souls strengthening the influence of Doctrine around us; training apostle-
workers and apostle peasants by action, and if the mission is well carried out, without resort to politics, then it will
exercise political influence’”.

7 Vol. 1 (1888), p. 498.
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religious strife, Don Bosco always remained perfectly steadfast in his duty
as a Catholic priest, always totally devoted to ecclesiastical authority, and
especially to the Pope. He always labored wholeheartedly for the Church and
with the Church, always wholeheartedly fighting against evil. At the same
time, in word and deed, he abstained from all harshness, friction, conflict,
and contrast. He preferred action to words, and endeavored to maintain har-
mony among all, turning them and guiding them towards good works, for
the glory and advancement of religion and for the benefit of society.”

This brings us a thousand leagues away from the attitude of those
who, caught between two conflicting forces, “straddled the fence,” as the
saying goes. Such people meet with the fate usually reserved for those
who would serve two masters. In the final analysis, they ended up hating
each other. Precisely the opposite happened to Don Bosco. It is enough to
scan the newspapers at the time of his death. We witnessed this edifying
phenomenon: The distinction seemed to have disappeared between good
and bad newspapers, which unanimously joined in celebrating his name.
Only one decisively sectarian journal, since it could not then speak well
of him or speak badly of him, abstained totally from mentioning his name
and from informing its readers of his death.

The secret of such worldwide acclaim lay in his charity exercised in
harmony with the principles of the Gospel. This was the all-powerful
magnet he held in his hand and that attracted all hearts to him. A liberal
parliamentary deputy, a man of great learning who later became minister
of state several times, revealed the truth of this as viewed from the oppo-
site camp, in a letter of condolence written at the saint’s death:

Too many factors keep men apart in their historic and political out-
look, in times of civil and social reconstruction. Yet, although one may be
on the opposite side, one can nevertheless delight and find edification at
the sight of a flame of charity soaring to Heaven after having given such
generous comfort to an immense human misery. One may have a differ-
ent outlook on civilization; yet there are points in which harmony is per-
fect among all those who believe in the infinite goodness of charity. For
these people to relieve human suffering in God’s name, to uplift the spir-
it among those who suffer, to regenerate through labor those oppressed by
poverty and misfortune, to reveal to sharp minds new experimental areas
and to the virtue of sacrifice the new regions of pious victories.... appear

8 L’Eco di Bergamo, February 2, 1888.
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to be a holy, wholesome, and fruitful undertaking, rich in moral, eco-
nomic, and civil advantages.’

When Don Bosco’s illness grew worse, it dispelled the last lingering
illusions of the many people who loved him, who could not believe that
the day would dawn when they could no longer see him, listen to him, or
communicate with him. But after he died and the grief had subsided, they
saw that he was beginning to be more vitally present than ever before.
Both young and old took singular pleasure in reading about him and hear-
ing people talk of him. The examples and teachings he had left behind
supplied themes for sermons, subject matter for articles, material for
study. His picture decorated the walls of homes like a guarantee of a
blessing from God, and people carried his picture on them as a token of
assistance from Heaven. Innumerable graces of all kinds, attributed to his
intercession, were reported to us from widely scattered countries. The
popularity of his name, already great during his lifetime, gained con-
stantly in intensity and extension. And it so happened that, shortly after
his death, when it was announced that the cause for his beatification was
about to begin, it seemed to be the most natural thing in the world that the
traditional laws of the times should be disregarded in his case. Once the
cause had begun, constant, worldwide interest mounted, following the
various phases of Roman procedure until his apotheosis on Easter
Sunday, April 1, 1934. The recollection of that event still moves those who
were fortunate enough to witness it, and it will always awaken an undy-
ing echo in the history of the Church. The worldwide popularity of his
cult requested by the Catholic episcopate and decreed by the Holy See set
the final seal of official recognition on the glory, which the saint already
enjoyed in individual instances, in nearly every diocese of the world. One
may with far greater justification apply to this immense veneration, the
words which one great poet uttered in reference to the fame of another
major poet: Just as his fame is presently alive in this world so will it be as
long as the world lasts.

Turin, August 22, 1936

9 Letter from Paul Boselli to Fr. John Baptist Francesia, Rome, February 3, 1888.



Chapter 1

DON BOSCO AT THE ORATORY
WINTER 1886

For two and a half months at the beginning of 1886, our saint did not
leave the Oratory. Whenever the boys at recreation saw him pacing up and
down on the balcony on the second floor outside his room or walking
toward it, they would immediately stop their games and run to stand
beneath it, clapping their hands loudly with joy. He would stand still a
moment before going inside, hold onto the railing and say a few kind
words to them. They listened in reverent attention, and then acclaimed
him with thunderous applause.

One evening in giving the “good night,” Father John Baptist Francesia'
said that it was unnecessary that they clap their hands so loudly whenever they
saw Don Bosco. Their superiors knew already how fond they were of him. The
warning proved to be of no avail, because the boys continued to manifest their
delight uproariously every time they were lucky enough to see him.

As for his health, Father Joseph Lazzero wrote to Bishop John
Cagliero on January 10th: “Don Bosco complains that he can no longer
get his head to do anything. When he only tries, he instantly gets a vio-
lent headache. It does not matter if he does not work. Provided he is alive,
it does not matter if he stands up or sits down. For us it is enough that he
exists because he is everything to us.”

In one of the usual monthly circulars Father Michael Rua sent out the
following piece of news on January 27th: “Thanks be to God, our dear
Father’s health has grown no worse, but unfortunately, there is no visible
improvement either. His legs are reluctant to carry him. His eyes are
always weak. His stomach is still unsettled. Yet he hears confessions and
grants audiences whenever he can, and is unable to relax.”

! See Appendix 1.
2 For both priests, see Appendix 1.
3 See Appendix 1.
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He heard the confessions of the Salesians who went to see him in his
room. Also in his room, he heard the confessions of the students of the
fourth and fifth high school grades. He assembled them from time to time
to have a friendly talk with them, especially on the subject of vocation.
Some of these gatherings have endured in the recollections of the sur-
vivors who wrote or spoke of their memories to us.

One such meeting took place on January 3rd. On December 13, 1885,
after he had finished talking with them, he had given the boys some nuts.
Now, as he desired to distribute the remaining nuts to all the boys, he per-
formed a miracle not dissimilar to others narrated elsewhere in the pages
of these Memoirs. He had someone hand him the little sack of nuts, and
distributed them with a generous hand. The cleric Angelo Festa,* secing
that there were far fewer nuts than there had been on the previous occa-
sion, cautioned him, “Don’t give out too many, because there will not be
enough for all of them.”

“Leave it to me,” Don Bosco answered.

The boy who was holding the sack also told him that if he went on
giving them out at this rate, there would not be enough for everyone.

“You be quiet,” he said. “Are you afraid you’ll be left without?”

The boy was one we have already mentioned before, Joseph
Grossani,” who spent a few hours of the day in Don Bosco’s antechamber
to usher in visitors. He recalled that Mrs. Nicolini had brought the nuts,
and also told us about several other incidents.

There were sixty-four people present. First giving a handful of nuts to
each one, then using both hands, the saint would not have had enough nuts
to hand out. Just then the attention of the pupils was drawn to something
very singular. They had seen how many nuts had been taken from the
sack and how many still remained in it, and were astonished to see that
the level of the nuts inside had not gone any lower. No matter how many
were taken out of it, the quantity inside remained the same. It looked as
though a mysterious hand was putting back as many nuts as he took out.

Their wonder reached its climax when, at the end of his distribution,
they found that the little sack weighed neither more nor less than it had
weighed before. At that the boys could not conceal their amazement from
Don Bosco and asked him how come he had done that.

“Oh! 1 don’t know,” he answered, smiling in all simplicity. “But

4 He died as a priest at Ljubljana, Slovenia, on July 4, 1905, at the age of 39.
5 See Vol. XVII.
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because you are my friends, I can confide something to you. I will tell you
something that happened at the Oratory many years ago.”

He then told them about the wondrous multiplication of chestnuts and
the consecrated hosts.

At the end of the story Father Francesia showed up. He had heard an
unusually loud noise and had come out saying, “Oh! Oh! What is all this?”

To which the boys replied in chorus, “Don Bosco gave us some nuts.”

“Give me a few, then!” Father Francesia said to Don Bosco.

“But you cannot eat them because you don’t have teeth,” Don
Bosco replied.

Just then a loud noise and chatter was audible in the courtyard below.
The choir had just returned from Valsalice, where it had given a per-
formance. Father Francesia told Don Bosco that they were some of the
older boys, and they should not be deprived of nuts.

“Have them come upstairs,” Don Bosco answered, as he was dis-
missing the others. Then he ordered Joseph Grossani to look in the draw-
er to see whether there were any nuts left over. Grossani had left the draw-
er empty the last time he had looked into it, and was now amazed to find
a substantial quantity of nuts in it. He picked them up, put them in a little
sack and brought them to Don Bosco, who handed them out with a liber-
al hand to some forty boys, even handing a fistful to the sack bearer.

Father Lawrence Saluzzo was one of the teachers in the upper high
school grades. The saint always wanted him to be present during his talks
with his pupils, but on that day he happened to be absent. A little later,
chancing to meet him in the library, Don Bosco said, “Too bad you
missed the talk this evening.”

“Why, Don Bosco?”

“Get Festa to tell you what happened.”

“No, you tell me, please. Do me this favor.”

Meanwhile, drawn by curiosity, Father Finco, Father Luchelli, and
others came over, and Don Bosco told the story with the simplicity of one
who had been nothing more than a spectator.

Once word of the occurrence got around the house, people began
searching for the miraculous nuts everywhere. “I questioned the boys,”
Father John Baptist Lemoyne wrote, “and all of them confirmed the fact
that they had seen it with their own eyes. All of them were steadfastly con-
vinced that a miracle had been wrought.”

6 See Appendix 1.
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Don Bosco again summoned the same pupils eleven days later. The
recollection of certain things he had said in giving the Oratory his New
Year’s strenna for 1886 lingered in their minds, and in filial trust they
informed him that they would have liked him to explain some of the pre-
dictions he had made a little more clearly. So when they were in his room
on January 14th, he talked with them as follows, and as he was talking,
the cleric Festa wrote down what Don Bosco said:

We are gathered here once again to exchange a few words. You will
wonder, why does Don Bosco send only for us, without summoning also
the priests, clerics, artisans, or all the students, at least? Naturally, this
does cause a little envy among your companions and others who notice
this preferential treatment. You have to know that once upon a time, Don
Bosco was always among the boys, and the boys always sought him out.
He went to hold missions at Chieri, Castelnuovo, Ivrea, and Biella and
boys, who were not boarders here in the Oratory, but boys of the city of
Turin, would get together in as many as ten, twenty or thirty at a time. On
one occasion even as many as one hundred and thirty met and they would
walk to wherever Don Bosco happened to be, so that they could go to con-
fession to him. And Don Bosco always loved to be among the boys.

Now I am no longer able to move around. I no longer have the strength
to address the whole community. Yet, I do want to guide at least a few, if
not all the students, and not all the Oratory members, at least the pupils of
the fourth and fifth high school grades. Now you have asked me something
specific. You ask that I explain my New Year’s strenna to you. You asked
me to tell you something about those six companions of yours. Now then,
it is not good that I tell you that there are some among you who are to die.
However, I must tell you that of those six boys, almost all of them are
already well prepared, and should they now appear before the judgment
seat of God, we may hope that they would be at peace and do things right.
The others, who are not yet ready, will be ready by and by. For you should
know that unknown to them, there is someone behind them, who takes it
to heart to see that they are properly prepared, so when their turn comes,
we may well hope that it will go well with them. You too may rest assured,
but nevertheless be prepared, and don’t rely on the fact that you are in good
health, even if you were among the strongest boys of the Oratory.

One day, some years ago, Don Bosco had warned that within a cer-
tain time a boy of the Oratory was to die. Without telling him in so many
words, Don Bosco kept close to him, and helped him to make a general
confession to put things right with his soul. He also urged one of the supe-
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riors to keep watch over him. I can tell you that this was a good boy, well
prepared, so that things went well with him.

However, if there was a strong boy at the Oratory, it was Milane. He
came to the last day of the allotted time. And his companions were
already saying, ““You watch! This time he’s going to get out of it....” On
that last day, at nine o’clock in the morning, he was slightly indisposed,
and was sitting up in bed, a piece of bread in his hand and his friends all
around him. They were all chatting cheerfully. All of a sudden, Milane
turned on his side to rest against the pillow. His friends called to him, but
he did not answer. They shook him, but he seemed not to notice anything.
He was already dead.

I have only mentioned the name of Milane, but I could give you the
names of several others, no less strong and healthy, who also met with a
like fate. Therefore, be prepared, don’t rely on the fact that you are in
good health. Be greatly devoted to the holy Virgin Mary, pray and be
cheerful, very cheerful.

You asked me to explain what I said about the general disasters that
are to afflict our country during this current year. I will do this gladly. I
was almost close to saying it in public from the pulpit. Our Lord will send
disasters upon us, namely pestilence, drought, and damaging floods. You
will ask, “Why does the Lord send us such punishment?”

There must be a reason for it, beyond all doubt. It is the vice of dis-
honesty that calls down such disasters on mankind, as the punishment of
God. This is a delicate subject, you understand, and that is why I did not
feel that I could very well say it out in public. The pure of heart shall see
the glory of God. By “the pure of heart,” I mean those who never had the
misfortune of falling into that shameful sin, or who if they did, immedi-
ately got back to their feet again.

You will hear it said that cholera rages here, that elsewhere there are
floods, etc. You will say that all these punishments are punishments sent
by God to punish people for their sins. But don’t be afraid; be cheerful,
very cheerful. For as long as you wear the medal of Mary Help of
Christians around your necks, and are deeply devoted to her, I am inclined
to hope that, as I did on other occasions when cholera had invaded the city
of Turin, exactly here in the vicinity of the Oratory, you too will be safe,
as our boys were safe then.

I am saying these things to you in particular, but keep it for yourselves
only. Don’t even write home to your parents or to other people about it,
telling them that Don Bosco told us that this and that will happen. No,
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keep this knowledge for yourselves. Draw as much benefit as you can
from what I have said, but don’t talk about it with others.

There is something else I want to tell you. I noticed that a great many
of you came here to go to confession this morning; you went to com-
munion, and you made the exercise of a happy death. I am very glad, but
naturally, this makes the others a bit envious. The younger boys may well
say, “We do have sins to confess to Don Bosco, haven’t we?” Of course,
but as I already said, Don Bosco cannot look after everybody. That is why
he limits himself to looking after the pupils of the fourth and fifth high
school grades, because it is their last year in school and they have to
decide on their vocation, for almost always the eternal salvation of a youth
hinges on this. Don Bosco is the regular confessor of the boys in the
fourth and fifth high school grades, but this does not mean that they
would be wrong if they made their confession to other priests, so long as
the boys go often with the proper disposition of mind to confession and
communion! I repeat, I only want to know how you feel about your voca-
tion, be it for the priesthood or not for the priesthood, because I want you
to enjoy both temporal and eternal happiness. I am glad as far as those
who come here to receive communion at Don Bosco’s Mass. But [ want
you to feel free in this. Anyone who wishes to go to communion in church
will do well, and he who prefers to do so during Don Bosco’s Mass also
does well; but let no one do so because he feels he is ordered to do it. No!

We shall see each other again on other occasions, when you and Don
Bosco have nothing else to do, and 1 will always say whatever seems to
me best for your greater welfare.

The carefully kept ledgers of the Oratory list the dates of the six
deaths that occurred between March and September in 1886. They were
the deaths of two students and four artisans.’

The boys met again for a third time on the evening of January 31st. “Tell
us a dream which might only concern ourselves,” they said to Don Bosco.

He replied, “All right, I will. Some years ago I dreamed that I was
strolling among my boys after community Mass. They were all standing
around me and looking at me as they listened to my words. But there was

7 They are as follows: Charles Brunet of Bardonecchia, first high school grade, March 9; Charles Ranzani of
Borgo Castano Primo, second high school grade, April 13; Anthony Enria of Turin, copperplate engraver, May 4;
Anthony Trogu of Carloforte, bookbinder, May 28; John Ferrari of Vigevano, bookbinder, July 5; James Alladio of
Busca, blacksmith, September 21. In January Charles Gonino of Druent, a tailor, also died, but at home. He had left
the Oratory on December 27 because he was sick; so he had not been present at the time of Don Bosco’s strenna.
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one boy in front of me who turned his back on me. (Whenever Don Bosco
walked with the boys in the playground, the ones in front of him always
walked backward, facing him, and never turned their backs to him.) This
boy had in his hand a lovely bouquet of flowers of varied colors: white,
red, yellow, and purple. I told him to turn around and look at me. He did
so for a moment, and then went on walking as before. I reprimanded him
for that, and he replied, Dux aliorum hic similis campanae, quae vocat
alios ad templum Domini, ipsa autem non intrat in ecclesiam Dei [He who
acts as a guide to others is like a bell which summons others to the house
of the Lord but does not go into church]. At the sound of these words, the
whole thing disappeared, and I too soon forgot about the dream. But a few
days ago, I saw among you a boy who was precisely the one I had seen in
my dream. He has grown bigger now, but it was he.”

Immediately, the boys asked: “Is he here with us? Who is he?”

“Yes, he is here among you,” Don Bosco said. “But it is not right that
I tell you who he is, since I myself don’t know what interpretation I
should give to the dream.”

So saying, he had the nuts leftover from last time brought to him.
Their quantity had somewhat decreased because, in the meantime, more
than one piously furtive hand must have dipped into the little sack. As was
only natural, the boys kept their eyes riveted on the sack during the dis-
tribution of the nuts to see what might happen. But when the sack was
emptied, it was empty. Nevertheless, there were enough to go around for
everybody, save for one of the two boys who were holding the sack, one
holding it from underneath on the palm of his hand, the other keeping the
mouth of the sack open.® But after rummaging inside it, Don Bosco
exclaimed, “Ah! There’s still one more!” Then, continuing to rummage,
with a big smile he brought up a whole handful, and he gave them to that
lad, saying, “Hold onto them. They are precious.”

Then he called the catechist, Father Stephen Trione,” who was stand-
ing behind the boys, and gave some to him too. He sent for Father
Celestine Durando," the prefect general, whose office was nearby, and
found more nuts for him as well. “I also want to give a few to Mazzola and

8These were Titus Tomasetti, who died a Salesian priest on August 17, 1897, at the age of 28, and John
Franchini, who is still alive [in 1937], also a Salesian priest. Fr. Charles Viglietti’s diary mentions Garassino; he,
however, had stayed in the study hall. But the diarist was not present at the occurrence. Fr. Franchini died on
April 23, 1940, at age 72.

9 See Appendix 1.

10 See Appendix 1.
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Brother Paul Bassignana,” he said. They both received a handful. The boys
were more than astonished. They stared dumbly, as if seized by holy fear.

At last, again putting his hand inside the sack, he drew out five more
nuts, and holding them out, said how sorry he was because a few boys
were not present. In fact, there were just five missing: three who had gone
to Valsalice and two who had remained in the study hall. Certainly, in the
room’s semi-darkness and with his poor eyesight, Don Bosco could not
have observed their absence by himself.

On his way out, the pupil Barassi went up to Don Bosco and asked,
“The boy with the bouquet of flowers will cause divisions, will he not?”

“Certainly, and he will be a cause of anxiety,” Don Bosco replied.
But we do not know anything further.

Before entering his room from the antechamber, Don Bosco stopped
and took Calzinari by the hand - a devout youth, who, however, never
allowed himself to be seen by Don Bosco - and whispered something into
his ear. The boy went pale and answered, “Very well.”

When he was alone again with his secretaries, the saint said, “I have
already invited here that boy with the bunch of flowers and sent for him. He
promised to come, but has not come yet and yet I have to speak with him.”

How much good did all those boys who approached Don Bosco with
confidence receive especially in the confessional!

After the death of the saint in 1888, Father Michael Rua received a
letter written with intimate details, though its author authorized him to
make whatever use he wished of it. For that reason, it was kept, and we
quote here the passage that refers to Don Bosco as confessor. The poor
boy that wrote it had all too soon grown wise in the ways of vice and had
acquired very bad habits that were leading him towards perdition. Divine
Mercy so ordained that he was admitted to the Oratory as a student, where
he abandoned himself entirely into the arms of Don Bosco, sincerely dis-
closing his miseries to him every week. Constancy in making a weekly
confession proves a powerful tool, to rise up and regain the freedom of the
children of God! In the instance to which we refer, perhaps a weekly con-
fession would not have been swift enough and effective enough without
the sweet, patient, and benevolent charity of Don Bosco.

Let us listen to what the penitent himself said: “Only the serene and
tranquil calmness of Don Bosco and, I should say, the kind indifference
shown to whatever I told him; only the way he spoke - just a few words
but seasoned with the delicacy of a holy affection and deeply felt com-
passion and soothing like balm; and finally only his way of listening,
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without being disconcerted by hearing the same sins again and again:
these were the healing tools, the loving bonds with which the man of God
soon succeeded in instilling in my soul not only horror of sin, but courage
too, and a most vivid confidence that I would one day break the stout
chains of my slavery ... Oh! How many times, as I recall Don Bosco’s
charity, as I recall the immense amount of good he did to me, do I not race
in my thought to the pitiful situation in which many souls exist, souls
which even though corrupted by vice, might still be healed and restored
to grace, if they could but find the same loving kindness, that cheerful and
comforting welcome in their confessor as I found to be so characteristic
of our beloved Father!”

Something in the way of an innovation had been introduced into Don
Bosco’s chambers two days prior to the gathering just described. Until
then, whenever he was unable to go downstairs to the church, he cele-
brated Mass in the antechamber, at a small altar concealed in a chest that
looked like a closet. With some difficulty, the cleric Viglietti' had suc-
ceeded in having the room adjoining the antechamber transformed into a
chapel, with its own fine altar.

On the eve of the Feast of Saint Francis de Sales, when Cardinal
Cajetan Alimonda had come to speak with the servant of God, the secre-
tary told His Eminence how delighted the entire household would be, if
he would deign to bless both the altar and the chapel. The cardinal gra-
ciously consented. Joined by the bishop of Ivrea, a few canons, and sev-
eral distinguished gentlemen, they all attended the function with Don
Bosco. After putting on his stole, His Eminence recited the liturgical
prayers with the ritual book in his hand, and blessed the altar and the
room, which were festively illuminated. The people present then intoned
the Miserere and other psalms. It was a moving little ceremony, the time-
liness of which is fully evident today.

Now that Don Bosco’s chambers had become a genuine little shrine,
the little chapel where he said his last Masses stands, so to speak, as the
sancta sanctorum.

We have referred to the solemn Feast of Saint Francis de Sales and
must state a few details concerning it. It was preceded by a meeting of
Cooperators who “for their greater convenience,” as it said in the letter
inviting them to attend, gathered in the church of Saint John the
Evangelist where Don Bosco presided. The congregation expected to hear

11 See Appendix 1.
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him address it, and he too wished to speak, but the doctors were against
it. He therefore delegated Father John Bonetti," giving him the themes he
should discuss. There were three subjects: (1) some comforting achieve-
ments by the Salesian Congregation, thanks to the charity of the
Cooperators; (2) the necessity that these beneficial results be pursued and
increased by looking after other important undertakings; and (3) by what
means such a goal could be attained.”

Bishop John Baptist Bertagna was to have given the blessing; but
since he was prevented from doing it by another ceremony, Don Bosco
gave it himself. In reference to his blessing, Father Joseph Lazzero wrote
to Bishop Cagliero on February 3rd: “Certainly, on the one hand it glad-
dened us all to see Don Bosco at the altar; while on the other, it moved us
all to compassion when we saw how he could go up and come down the
altar steps only with difficulty. Yet, he was glad to do it.”

Don Bosco was delighted that very evening by the safe and sound
arrival of Father Louis Calcagno and Father Peter Rota from Uruguay, and
of Father Michael Borghino from Brazil. They had landed at Bordeaux,
where the bishop had given them a warmly cordial welcome, just because
he had heard they were sons of Don Bosco.

Never before had the Feast of Saint Francis been celebrated with so
much solemnity. Bishop Valfré, who had recently been appointed bishop
of Cuneo, said the “Community” Mass; the cardinal assisted at the
Pontifical High Mass; the eloquent orator, Bishop Riccardi of Ivrea, deliv-
ered the panegyric of the saint in the afternoon, linking the life of Saint
Francis de Sales to the program of “loving God” and “having God loved.”
Salesian maestro Brother Joseph Dogliani* had his choir perform
Haydn’s Imperial Mass, the cardinal imparted the benediction, and Dr.
Joseph Fissore officiated as chairman of the festivities. Forty guests
honored Don Bosco’s table at dinner, among them His Eminence, four
bishops, and the Parisian Counts, the de Franquevilles. In the evening, the
boys enacted a new play by Father Lemoyne entitled Vibio Sereno, deal-
ing with the Romans and the Christians of the first century. His Eminence
decided to attend the performance as well. “This was a delightful day for
Don Bosco, who took part in everything,” Father Joseph Lazzero said in
his letter of February 3rd.

12 See Appendix 1.
13 The whole speech was published in the Bollettino salesiano in two installments, March and April.
14 See Appendix 1.
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Don Bosco had slept badly the night before, awaking Brother Viglietti
with his shouts, and in the morning the cleric questioned him. “I saw a
stout youth with a broad skull that grew narrow at the level of the fore-
head,” he answered. “He was small and thick-set, and he was walking
around my bed. I tried in every way I knew to have him go away; but
when I drove him away from one side, he fled to the other and continued
his tiresome pacing. I scolded him, I wanted to beat him up, but I could
not make him stop annoying me. At last I said, ‘Look, if you don’t go
away, you will force me to say something to you I have never uttered
before.” Since the boy continued his pacing, I said out loud, ‘You car-
rion!” Then I woke up.”

He blushed as he finished his story, adding, “I never used that word
in my life; and now I say it in a dream?”” And he smiled.

Two dreams, which because of their nature could be joined with the
preceding one, were narrated to his secretaries on February 25th. In the
first, he was about to enter the cathedral of Saint John the Baptist in Turin
when he saw two priests, one of whom was leaning against the holy water
font, the other against a pillar. Both of them with an indifferent air were
keeping their hats on. He wanted to reprimand them but hesitated some-
what, noticing a look of cynical disdain on their faces. Nevertheless, he
took hold of himself and addressed the first of the two.

“Excuse me. What town are you from?”

“What’s that to you?” the other answered brusquely.

“It’s only because I wanted to tell you something that I have to tell.”

“But I have nothing to do with you.”

“Now listen. I don’t want to rebuke you, but even though you have no
respect for a sacred place and don’t trouble yourself about people who are
scandalized and may laugh at you, please have some respect for yourself
at least. Take off that hat!”

“You are right. That’s true,” the priest said, and he removed his hat.

Then Don Bosco went to the other one and repeated his advice to him.
He, too, took off his hat. Whereupon, laughing heartily, Don Bosco woke up.

In the second dream, he met someone who urged him insistently to
appear in public, to preach about the Way of the Cross.

“Preach about the Way of the Cross?” he answered. “You mean the
passion of our Lord.”

“No, no,” the man insisted, “I mean the Way of the Cross.”

So saying, he led him down a long road that opened at the far end
into an enormous square and bade him climb onto a platform. The place
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was deserted, so Don Bosco asked, “To whom am I to preach, since
there’s no one here?”

Then all of a sudden, the square began to fill with people. So he spoke
to them of the Way of the Cross, explaining the meaning of the term, list-
ing the advantages to be obtained from this pious devotion. When he had
finished speaking, everyone begged him to continue by explaining each
individual station. Don Bosco asked to be excused, declaring he did not
know what more he could say, but the people insisted, so he resumed his
sermon. Talking uninterruptedly, he said that the Way of the Cross was
the way to Calvary, the road of suffering that Jesus was the first to walk
on, and proposed that we follow him along it when he said, “Si quis vult
post me venire, abneget semetipsum, et tollat crucem suam quotidie, et
sequatur me” [If anyone wishes to come after me, he must deny himself
and take up his cross daily and follow me].

He had already narrated another dream about the Way of the Cross on
November 16th of the previous year. He thought he was surrounded by a
multitude of people who were saying to him, “Do the Way of the Cross
with some examples! Please, please do!”

“But what examples do you want me to give you?” he answered. “In itself,
the Way of the Cross is a continuous example of the sufferings of our Lord.”

“No, no, we want a new presentation.”

Don Bosco suddenly found himself with the book already written. In
fact, he had the galley proofs already in his hand and was looking hur-
riedly for either Father Bonetti and Father Lemoyne or Father Francesia,
so that they might correct them for him, since he was very tired. During
this anxious search, he woke up.

The saint truly was to show himself as an example of the passion of
Jesus Christ, enduring in union with him the painful infirmities that were
now to be his until his death, thereby giving his sons an example of patience.

We will pass along yet another dream that seems to hold some prophet-
ic element. He related it to Father Lemoyne and the cleric Festa on March
1, 1886. He dreamed he was at Becchi, and his mother was next to a spring
of water: she was removing the dirty water and putting it into the pail that
she was holding. That same spring was always the source of the purest
water, so he was astonished, unable to find an explanation for all this.

“Aquam nostram pretio bibimus [We drink our own water for a price].”

Mama Margaret said then, “You and your Latin!”

Don Bosco replied, “That was not from the Scriptures.”

“That does not matter. Say something else, if you want to. Everything
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is understandable in what I said. You only need to study them well.
Iniquitates eorum porta.... [Their iniquities...] Now you can add whatev-
er you wish.”

“Portavimus? Portamus? [We have carried? We carry?]”

“Whatever you prefer: portavimus, portamus, portabimus [We have
carried, we carry, we shall carry...]”

“Think well about these words, study them and have all your priests
study them, and in them you will find all that is about to happen.”

Then she led him behind the spring to high level ground where he
could recognize Capriglio and its surroundings, and the villages of
Buttigliera and Buttigliera itself, as well as other hamlets scattered here
and there. Pointing to them she said, “What difference is there between
these places and Patagonia?”’

“If I could, I would do good here and there, too,” he answered.

“If that is so, then it’s all right,” Mama Margaret answered.

Then it looked as though his mother was going away, and since his
imagination was quite tired he woke up. After telling them the dream, he
remarked, “The place my mother showed me would be ideally suited for
an institute because it is centrally located among a number of inhabited
areas that have no church at all.”

In the circular letter mentioned previously, Father Michael Rua also
mentioned audiences, besides meetings. The strain of receiving visitors
always occupied several hours of his day, but only the recollection of two
visits that differed widely one from the other was handed down to us.

On January 3rd, a French lawyer went to see him. He said he had been
sent by the Bourbons. He explained at great length to Don Bosco that it
was essential to restore the former Bourbon kings to all Europe, starting
from Spain, and that the princes of this royal house were seeking his
counsel and his blessing. Don Bosco let him talk as long as he wanted.
Finally, hoping to force an answer from him, the stranger asked, “What
would be the opinion of Don Bosco on this matter?”

“I am not competent to pass a judgment on such questions,” Don
Bosco replied. “I barely know the names of the pretenders, and even then
I don’t know all of them. I also am deeply obligated to France. I have
opened several houses there, which are maintained by the charity of the
people of France. Consequently, I can in no way abuse the hospitality
extended to me. So I would not know what advice to give you. I will only
say that it would hardly be wise to enter into such an endeavor, unless
there were a fairly substantial means to surely guarantee its success.”
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“Oh, if all the Bourbons get together, the means will be available,” the
lawyer answered.

“You must remember that unless there is probability, indeed certain-
ty of success, this would cause immense damage to France.”

“What do you think about the successful outcome of the undertaking?”

“That God’s Holy Will be done in all things.”

“Would you extend your blessing to the Bourbon princes?”

“Why not? But only in the sense that God’s Holy Will be done in all
things, and nothing more.”

“Do you authorize me to refer what you have said?”

“I have no objection.”

After this interview, the lawyer went directly to Venice to receive
instructions from Don Carlos. Some people suspected that he was a secret
investigator for the French police who had been sent to sound out Don
Bosco’s political opinions. At any rate, the replies given by the saint could
neither arouse suspicion nor offer any pretext for accusation. It had always
been his principle never to dabble with politics.

The other visit we mentioned was connected with the desire to obtain
a healing for someone. A gentleman who had been knighted through the
mediation of Don Bosco had promised him a sum of money to help his
houses, but although he was in a position to do so, he had never kept his
word. It now happened that his son, who was the successful manager in
family affairs, became seriously sick. In view of the critical situation, his
father hastened to see Don Bosco on January 19th, imploring him with
clasped hands to pray and have prayers said for his son’s recovery.

“I willingly promised I would pray,” Don Bosco said later to some-
one who was with him, “but his son has been summoned by God. It would
be necessary for his father to say to Don Bosco, ‘Stop, Don Bosco! I have
ten thousand lire here that I want to give you, and you must obtain this
grace from Mary Help of Christians for me.” Then, certainly...but now all
I can do is pray that the Lord may receive his son into heaven soon, as he
dies.” It was the belief of the saint that those who are not generous with
God have little hope of obtaining exceptional graces from Him.

A distinguished benefactress of Don Bosco, Countess Wanda
Grocholska, née Princess Radziwill, had precisely the opposite experi-
ence. In March 1886, the day before Don Bosco set out for Spain, she fell
sick at Cracow with pleuropneumonia, complicated by other factors, and
very soon she was in danger of death. Her sister telegraphed the saint,
imploring him to pray for the sick lady. A doctor summoned from Paris
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did all he could to save her life, but very shortly after, she entered her
death agony. Suddenly, while the doctor was checking her pulse, he
shouted, “She is safe!”

A few weeks elapsed, and Father Rua wrote to a friend of the count-
ess to ask for news of her. But she did not answer, so it was believed that
the countess was dead. Don Bosco was already in Barcelona when Father
Rua, who had gone with him, remarked to him one day, “Countess
Grocholska has certainly died.”

“Not at all,” Don Bosco answered, smiling. “She has recovered and
right this minute she is having breakfast.”

“Who sent you that news?”

“I had a telegram from Heaven.”

The situation was exactly as he had described.

To this same period also belongs another incident concerning Don
Bosco’s knowledge of future matters. The superior of a convent had writ-
ten to him from Monaco to recommend to him a young lady, a convert
from Protestantism, who was an epileptic.

He replied, “Let her be faithful to her promises. For as long as she is
faithful, she will enjoy the protection of the Most Holy Virgin.”

The young lady enjoyed excellent health for as long as she remained
faithful, but her disease again assailed her when her fervor waned. Having
given that answer, Don Bosco went on, “Would you not have someone
named so-and-so in your house? Tell that prodigal daughter to go back
home and take care of her blind mother and children.” Astounded, the
superior wondered how Don Bosco had come to know something that no
one had told him, all the more so, since she herself was already somewhat
suspicious. A wretched woman had pretended that she was a mulatto and
a pagan, truly eager to learn about the religion of Jesus Christ and
embrace it. A Jesuit priest who had been told of it by a confidante of the
woman mentioned it to the bishop, and then asked the Mother Superior if
she could take the woman into her convent, and prepare her for baptism.
The unfortunate woman expressed her impatience to be baptized, but
almost immediately the whole business was discovered to be a farce. Don
Bosco had given a timely warning about her because the sacred ceremo-
ny was only two days away."

Don Bosco also received a delightful honor from France. Our readers
will recall the lecture he gave in 1883 to the Geographic Society of Lille

15 See Appendix, doc. 2.
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about Patagonia. Later still, he sent the association a memorandum on the
same subject, which was considered a work of great merit. The board of
directors of the Society was certainly in no hurry to deliberate since it was
not until January, 1886, that he was informed that a silver medal for his
merits in the area of geography “as interpreted at the present day,” namely
as a “contribution to the knowledge and progress of mankind and condi-
tions in foreign countries” had been awarded him. The medal was to be
awarded during the course of a solemn assembly meeting, which could not
be held until a much later date. On one side of the medal were to be the
words: Don Bosco - Salesian Priest - Civilization of Patagonia, and he was
asked to name the date to be inscribed. He replied that the date should be
May 24, 1879, on which day the Salesians had first entered Patagonia, and
that the words founder of the Salesians should follow Don Bosco’s name. '

The medal could not be awarded him other than during the solemn gen-
eral assembly meeting to be held somewhere around the end of the year. By
December, the president advised him that on Sunday, the 19th, “It would be
an honor and a great pleasure to us if you were able to attend. The people
of Lyons, too, would be happy to see you and acclaim you.” But Father
Julius Barberis and Father Paul Albera"” represented Don Bosco instead.

After being introduced by President Desgrands in the hall of the uni-
versity where the association usually held its meetings, they were asked to
take their seats in an eminent position, beside the president’s chair. After
the reading of the minutes concerning the progress and activities of the
association, the president spoke. In words of highest praise, he recalled Don
Bosco’s speech about the farthest border of South America. He said that the
speaker had supplied very precise and highly interesting information about
those inhospitable regions, drawing his material both from reliable authors
and reports from his missionaries whose difficulties he followed in his
thoughts and in his heart. He concluded by saying that Don Bosco had thus
so well deserved the recognition of the Geographic Society that the board
had awarded him a silver medal. Father Paul Albera then stood up to receive
the medal, amid fervent applause from the large assembly.

Two foreign newspapers, too, had words of high praise for Don Bosco.
In Portugal, La Palavra, in two of its articles written on January 15th and
16th, published a long enthusiastic article, naming Don Bosco as the most
meritorious benefactor of mankind in recent years. Another newspaper

16 Appendix 3.
17 For both priests, see Appendix 1.
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extolled his praises from the banks of the Thames. This was Merry
England, which wrote a magnificent biographical profile and voiced its
opinion of Don Bosco’s priests as follows: “The Salesian priests are truly
men of great learning, but what is far more important, they are endowed
with apostolic zeal and genuine piety. In short, they are good, fervent
shepherds who would willingly lay down their lives to save their flocks.”

The new, very popular newspaper Eco d’Italia, the mouthpiece of the
Genoese Catholics, quoted this article on January 25th, expressing on its
own behalf the utmost esteem and veneration for the Salesian Society and
its founder, and ended with the following fervent appeal: “Ah yes, let us
assist, let us promote and sponsor as best we can, the holy institute of the
new Apostle of Abandoned Youth. If we do, we shall render one of the
greatest and noblest of services to the holy cause of God and his Church.”

A discordant note was struck at Faenza. The radical newspaper 7/
Lamone resumed its outcry against the sons of Don Bosco, and its issue of
January 17th denounced “Salesian education” to the authorities, claiming
that as enemies of the nation, the Salesians instilled their own sentiments in
the minds of their young charges. It was at this same time that the new pre-
fect of studies general, Father Francis Cerruti,'® inaugurated his responsibil-
ity by publishing a pamphlet at the beginning of the year entitled “Don
Bosco’s Views on Education, Instruction, and the Contemporary Mission
of the School.”

“The same ideas which inspired Salesian education,” Father Cerutti
wrote, “were shared by the most illustrious modern pedagogues and edu-
cators, who were horrified by the picture presented by impiety and
immorality which threatened to engulf entire nations and peoples.””

Anyone who saw Don Bosco so drained of his former strength would
never have imagined what he was mulling over in his mind during
February and March; he was planning a journey to Spain. He felt that he
had to act quickly; otherwise he would no longer have been able to real-
ize his wish. He was thinking about how he could overcome the opposi-
tion of his loving sons, who were so sorely afraid for his precious life. He
had been to Spain already, to tell the truth, but only as saints travel, and
in no ordinary manner. We here relate this story, of which we have sever-
al reports. Many times did we hear the authentic tale from the lips of the
very person who received this totally unexpected visit. It may seem odd

18 See Appendix 1.
19 See the above pamphlet, pp. 10-11.
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that this confrere, speaking about the matter later, did not well recall on
what night the first appearance occurred, whether it was the night before
or the night after the feast day of Saint Francis de Sales [January 24]. This
slip of memory does not weaken the credibility of the episode, about
which he testified during the apostolic process for Don Bosco’s beatifi-
cation and canonization:

Father John Baptist Branda,” the director of the Salesian house of
Sarria, was sleeping peacefully in his bed when he heard someone call
him. Awake, he clearly heard Don Bosco’s voice saying, “Father Branda,
get up and come with me.”

Father Branda thought to himself, “Oh! I must be dreaming! I need to
sleep!” To rid himself of what he felt was an illusion, he turned over to the
other side. He soon fell into a deep sleep and slept until he heard the bell
for rising. During the morning, he recalled the voice he had heard during
the night, but gave no thought to it and did not worry about it until the
octave of the Feast of Saint Francis de Sales.

Then, during the night of February 6th, while he was sleeping, he
heard another summons: “Father Branda! Father Branda!” Again, it was
Don Bosco’s voice.

He shook himself, opened his eyes, and to his astonishment saw that
the room was as brightly lit as if it were midday. Besides, since his bed
was in a cell, he saw the silhouette of a priest projected on the curtains,
exactly like Don Bosco.

The voice again called, “Don’t sleep now! Get up!”

“I’m coming immediately,” he answered. He rose, got dressed, pulled
the curtains, and saw Don Bosco waiting for him in the middle of the room.

Don Bosco wore an expression of paternal, trusting affection. Father
Branda went up to him and took his hand to kiss it, just as Don Bosco said,
“Come with me. Take me for a visit through the house. I’ll show you things
you don’t have the slightest suspicion of. Yet they are frightening things.”

Father Branda took the keys of the dormitories and went upstairs into
the dormitories with Don Bosco. All the boys were asleep in their beds.
Don Bosco pointed out to him three who were easily recognizable
although their faces were hideously disfigured. “Do you see those three
wretches? You would never believe who has corrupted them unless I had
come to tell you. And I came because it was necessary for me to disclose
this iniquitous mystery to you. You trusted him. You thought he was good,

20 See Appendix 1.
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and so he seems on the outside. It is the coadjutor (and he uttered his
name). He is the one who has assassinated the souls of these boys. Look
at their present miserable condition.”

When Father Branda heard the name, he stood dumbfounded. He
would never have suspected such wickedness. The coadjutor was really
believed to be a good man; his exterior behavior was beyond reproach.

Don Bosco went on, “Send him away from the house immediately.
Don’t let him remain among the boys. He’s capable of ruining others, too.”

Meanwhile, they were moving along, passing from one dormitory to
another, observing all the sleeping boys one by one. Don Bosco pointed
out to Father Branda several with distorted, deformed faces. After they
left the dormitories, they toured the whole house. The stairs, rooms, and
playgrounds were all lit up as though it were daytime. Don Bosco walked
swiftly, as if he were hardly forty years old. They returned to Father
Branda’s room, where in a corner beside a bookcase appeared the three
poor boys. They tried to hide as they saw Don Bosco. Their faces were
still repulsive. Near them, motionless, stood the coadjutor with hanging
head, trembling all over and contorted, like a condemned man approach-
ing the scaffold. Don Bosco’s features became terribly severe as he point-
ed to him while telling Father Branda, “It is he who ruins the boys!” He
then turned on the culprit and cried out in a thundering voice, “Wretch, is
it you who steal souls away from our Lord? Is it you who thus betray your
superiors? You are unworthy of the name you bear!” So he continued in
a menacing tone, accusing him and laying out to him the enormity of his
sin, which had been going on for months and months without his saying
a word in confession.

A cleric also appeared beside the others. He stood as if humbled, but
not contorted like the coadjutor. Don Bosco looked at him, too, but not as
severely as at the coadjutor, and said to Father Branda, “Send him away
from the house, too, for if he remains here, he will do great damage.”

“But I don’t know how I can carry out your orders,” Father Branda
remarked. “I don’t know what reasons I should give for such actions. I
have no proof. It’s a delicate matter. Couldn’t you get someone else to
carry out your orders?”

As he was talking, it seemed to him that he glimpsed Father Rua right
beside Don Bosco, putting his finger to his lips and motioning him to be
quiet. Father Branda fell silent and Don Bosco moved on to leave the
room. Just then all the light disappeared. Now completely in the dark,
Father Branda groped to find the lamp on his desk, lit it, and found he was
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alone. It was still two hours before the time to get up. So he took his bre-
viary and began to recite the Divine Office. When the bell rang, he went
downstairs to say Mass in a state of great agitation.

He was very upset at the prospect of having to expel the two confr-
eres. How could he summon them? How could he begin a conversation
with them? What points could he bring up to induce them to confess their
fault? He observed them closely but did not detect anything calling for
reproach. But he heard an inner voice that kept repeating, “Act! Act!”

He summoned the prefect, Father Anthony Aime, and the assistants
and urged them to keep their eyes wide open to find out who the least
good boys might be. He hoped thereby to discover some hint of the hid-
den evil. He resolved not to speak and felt that his conscience was clear
because he was taking such precautions. He felt that thereby he had
silenced those inner voices that did in fact leave him in peace for a few
days. But every time he was about to celebrate Mass, he felt himself
seized by a certain horror that made him tremble.

While he was in this state of mind, he received a letter from Father
Michael Rua in Turin. He long treasured it and showed it to many people.”
The letter said: “I was walking with Don Bosco this evening, and he told
me he had paid you a visit. But perhaps you were asleep at the time.”

Four or five days after the dream-vision, Father Branda went to cele-
brate Mass in the home of Dorothy de Chopitea Villota. This mother of
the Salesians in Spain told him, “Do you know that I dreamed about Don
Bosco? I dreamed of him last night.”

“Forgive me,” Father Branda interrupted her, “I’d like to say Mass
immediately this morning.”

The saintly woman’s words had thrown his heart into turmoil, and he
did not want to hear any more. He went straight to the chapel, vested, and
began Mass. But after he had said the prayers at the foot of the altar and
mounted the steps, as he was bending to kiss the altar he was seized by
fear and trembling; within him a voice resounded, “Do at once what Don

21 He showed it to Fr. Aime, the prefect; he read it in a conference to the clerics, as Fr. Pirola recalled; he had
it read to missionaries who passed through Sarria shortly before Don Bosco arrived there. Then eventually he mis-
laid it. During the canonization process Fr. Rua testified: “I was in Turin in those days, and the day after that appari-
tion, Don Bosco in a conversation with me told me that during the night he had paid a visit to Fr. Branda. I believe
that he ordered me to write and ask him whether he had carried out his orders. At the time I did not make a big
deal about what he said, and once I had obeyed his directive, I gave it no further thought. When I accompanied Don
Bosco to Spain a few months later, Fr. Branda came to meet us at the border and told me exactly what had hap-
pened; so then I understood what kind of a visit Don Bosco had paid him.”
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Bosco told you. Otherwise, this is the last Mass you’ll celebrate.”

Father Branda went back home, determined to take action. He would
have preferred to seek advice, but he did not know whom to ask. He had
not mentioned the matter to his confessor, being afraid he might consider
the whole thing nonsense. Nevertheless, he put an end to his delay. He sent
for the prefect, Father Aime, and bound him to strictest secrecy regarding
what he was about to tell him. Then he related only part of what he had seen
that night of the octave of Saint Francis, revealing the names of the three
boys and giving him appropriate instructions. He was to send for them sep-
arately so that the others would not know, and he was to make them under-
stand that he knew everything and instruct them to tell him who the scan-
dal-giver was. If they denied everything or refused to speak, he should raise
his hands. After questioning the first one, he was to shut him in a certain
room and no one was to speak to him. Then he was to call the second and
do the same as with the first, then lead him to a certain classroom, shutting
him in as well. When he had questioned the third, he was to keep him in his
office and report the outcome of his inquiry to Father Branda. “On this
sheet of paper,” Father Branda concluded, “I am writing the name of the
one I saw as the instigator of this scandal, and when you come back from
your inquiry, we will compare this name with the name the boys reveal.” So
saying, he took his pen, wrote on the paper, and folded it.

The prefect did exactly as he was told. The first boy, stunned,
although he had begun by denying it, confessed when he realized that the
superior was determined and certain of his facts. The second and third
boys, when they likewise found themselves with their backs against the
wall, gave the same answer.

Father Aime went back to the director to inform him of the results of
his inquiries. Then Father Branda unfolded the paper and showed it to
him. It was the name of the coadjutor whom the boys had accused.
Prudence no longer cautioned the superior against acting, so he sent for
the culprit immediately.

The coadjutor had been in a state of fearful mental agitation for some
days. Once he had come before him, Father Branda asked him point
blank, “Are you the one who has been ruining the boys?”

“I? How?” stammered the man in dismay.

“Yes, you, by doing this and this.”

The wretch fell to his knees, imploring mercy, and he exclaimed,
“Did Don Bosco write to you about it?”

“Don Bosco came here in person to tell me.”
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When he heard that he was to leave the house at once, the man wept
and begged, saying that he should be removed from those duties that
were a danger to him. They could even put him to sweep, but they ought
to give him at least two months to make arrangements for his future. His
request was granted.

So when Don Bosco arrived at the Spanish border, Father Branda,
who had gone to meet him, drew him aside in a room and told him, “At
Sarria you may not find everything as you wish.”

“What have you been doing?”

“The three boys were sent home, allowing a few days’ interval between
their departures, but the coadjutor is still in the house. I gave into his tears
and supplications and granted him a postponement of a few months.”

“Very well. I will come and see what we should do.”

A few weeks later the coadjutor, too, was dismissed from the house
for good.
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Chapter 2

TO SPAIN THROUGH
LIGURIA AND FRANCE

Although there weren’t many Salesian Cooperators in Spain yet, they were
quite influential. Eminent members of the clergy and society were proud to be
members. The name of Don Bosco echoed from one end of the country to the
other because newspapers and magazines were calling attention both to him
and to his houses at Utrera and Sarria. His more distinguished benefactors,
foremost among them Mrs. Chopitea, would have been delighted to see him,
so according to the occasion they begged him to come and visit also their
country. Don Bosco had wanted to go to Spain for a long time. Towards the
end of February, he made up his mind and preparations soon began.

When word spread inside and outside the Oratory that he was under-
taking such a long journey, the Salesians and his friends were dismayed,
for they were seriously afraid he might die on the way. He appeased them
by reminding them all of his past travelling experiences which, far from
deteriorating his health, had only improved it. He said, however, that he
would first put his powers of resistance to the test by cautiously traveling
down the Ligurian coast and then along the coast of France. If all fared
well, he would continue on his way. If not, he would turn back.

The news that Don Bosco was about to visit Spain soon traveled fast
and aroused great expectations. But no one was more anxious to meet
Don Bosco, to hear him speak or delight in his presence than Mrs.
Chopitea. Not many had as great an affinity with Don Bosco’s spirit as
she had. Therefore, no one was better capable of comprehending the full
significance of his mission.

He departed from the Valdocco Oratory at two-thirty p.m. on Friday,
March 12th, accompanied on the first part of his journey not only by the
cleric Viglietti, his secretary, but also by Father Francis Cerruti and Father
Anthony Sala. He looked well enough, but walked with difficulty and
needed support. A reporter from a Tuscan newspaper' greeted him at the

11’ Amico del popolo (Prato, March 20, 1886).
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station of Porta Nuova and showed concern at the idea of him traveling so
far. Don Bosco replied that he was driven by the need for providing food
for his boys.

“Appeal to Depretis!” the journalist said hurriedly.

“Ah! Yes, to him! If only he knew what I pay in taxes alone on all the
houses I have in Italy!”

He arrived at Sampierdarena without any trouble, spending the time
in rather pleasant conversation. At Sampierdarena, he found two good
workers waiting for him. They had come from Arenzano and wanted to
give him donations in thanksgiving for graces obtained through the inter-
cession of Mary Help of Christians. They told him that where they came
from, the people had fervent confidence in Mary Help of Christians.

Don Bosco had a bad night, and next morning he was obliged to say
Mass in his room. The boys of the fourth and fifth high school grades
attended it. As soon as he had said his thanksgiving prayers and had break-
fast, he began interviews uninterruptedly until midday. As he himself said,
nearly everyone had come to thank Mary Help of Christians for graces
after having received her blessing from Don Bosco the previous year.

The Cooperators from Genoa had arranged to meet in the church of
Saint Siro in that town for a talk. Don Bosco set out for it at about two
o’clock in the afternoon. Archbishop Salvatore Magnasco also wished to
be present. Father Francis Cerruti addressed the congregation for half an
hour and held the attention of the large crowd that had come to see Don
Bosco. As he entered the church, the people clustered around him to kiss
his hand. Now and then, people were even afraid he might be crushed. In
the sacristy, before and after the talk, he listened to people who wished to
speak with him. To everyone who approached the archbishop to kiss his
ring, the prelate would say, “Go to see Don Bosco.” The coadjutor Enria
heard many people say that they considered themselves lucky to have been
blessed by a saint.

On March 28th, Father Joseph Lazzero wrote to Bishop John
Cagliero: “Our beloved Father, Don Bosco, becomes more and more pre-
cious as he grows older. In Genoa, where he went for the meeting of the
Cooperators, there was an enthusiasm that had never been seen before.
The very generous collection is one sign of this.”

A Cooperator from Voltri? wrote to Father Michael Rua on the same
subject: “I spent nearly an hour in Paradise! It looked as if the

2 Signor Primo Arona, Vegima per Voltri (March 21, 1886).
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Cooperators, both women and men, wanted - forgive the expression - to
gobble up our beloved Don Bosco! They all wanted to look at him, speak
to him, kiss his hand. Don Bosco, all smiles, listened to everyone and had
a kind word for everyone, a word which exercised a mysterious influence
over their souls.”

Toward nightfall, he was accompanied to the palace of Mrs. Ghiglini,
where he dined. It was very late and he was very tired when he got back
to Sampierdarena. One gentleman heard him say, “As for myself, I could
live with a handful of corn, but I have to satisfy the hunger of so many
children. Since the charity of good people knows no limits, I am in need
of everybody.” At the end of the day, Charles Viglietti wrote in his diary:
“Today Don Bosco was in good humor. He was witty and his mind was
extraordinarily alert.”

Father Dominic Belmonte, the director of the Sampierdarena hospice,
declared that something in the nature of a miracle took place at Saint Siro.
Don Bosco was handing out medals of Mary Help of Christians in the sac-
risty. Finding that he had none left, he turned to Father Belmonte to ask if
he had brought some with him. The director handed him about forty
medals, and perhaps even less, whereupon the saint resumed handing them
out. The sacristy was crowded with people and he gave a medal to every-
one holding out a hand. Father Belmonte and Mr. Dufour, who were stand-
ing beside him, could not believe their eyes. He must have given out sev-
eral hundred medals, perhaps more than a thousand. This would not have
been possible had their number not been multiplied in his hand.

The following day, interviews were given uninterruptedly for long hours.
At midday, a young woman was brought to him by her father and mother. She
would have no part of religion and seemed completely insane. However, in the
presence of Don Bosco, she knelt down to receive his blessing and then said
weeping, “I really do acknowledge my sin. Until now the devil had tricked
me. I will go to confession tomorrow and then to communion.”

Her parents were so touched that they neither wanted to rise nor take
their leave. The scene lasted for a while. Fondly, they gave Don Bosco a
donation and eventually took their leave.

That evening, the bells for the new belfry at Saint Cajetan were
solemnly blessed. They were inaugurated by the coadjutor Brother
Quirino, who had come especially from the Oratory to play them with an
expertise unmatched. He was well known to the people of Turin.

3L Eco d’Italia (March 15, 1886).
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Don Bosco resumed his interviews after the ceremony, continuing
until eight o’clock at night. “He is tired,” the diary read, “but he looks
very well. He is calm and cheerful.”

Despite his preoccupations, which never allowed him any rest, he did
not forget the Oratory. As a matter of fact, at the end of the day, he told
his secretary to write to Father Michael Rua, and prompted what he
should write. This is what Viglietti wrote:

Don Bosco tells me to ask you to give his regards to the boys,
to let them know that he is here at Sampierdarena and that he has
found boys of good will also here; that like those boys at the
Oratory, the pupils of the fourth and fifth high school grades
attended Mass in Don Bosco’s room and all received
Communion from him with great devotion. He also tells me to
give his regards to Father John Baptist Lemoyne, Father Angel
Lago, Jerome Suttil, Angelo Festa, and Bishop Gastaldi.

Then he added on his own account: “Dear Father Michael Rua, for the
love of charity, recommend Don Bosco to everyone’s prayers, because his
health leaves much to be desired.”

A sculptor came to the hospice. He had never seen Don Bosco, but
had sketched his portrait (head and chest) from photographs, always hop-
ing to see him some day so he could put the finishing touches to his work.
He, therefore, kept close to Don Bosco and pestered him so much that
Don Bosco finally resigned himself to pose for him. As he climbed the
model’s platform the artist had readied for him, he laughed, saying,
“Behold, I go to my execution.” Then, as he saw the artist begin to pour
a pasty substance of clay over the bust to correct his first molding, Don
Bosco whispered to his secretary, “Do you see how he is plastering me,
Viglietti?” After a quarter of an hour, he became drowsy and dozed off.
When he awoke, he saw that an hour had gone by. He got off the model’s
platform immediately, since many people were waiting to speak with him.

That happened the morning of the fifteenth of March. After lunch,
the interviews tired him considerably, yet at supper he told some delight-
ful anecdotes. When the conversation became emotional, he said that he
was no longer able to pray for his missionaries during Mass because of the
intense emotion he experienced, which threatened to choke him. “Then I
have to think of Gianduia [a popular mask of the Piedmontese theater] to
distract my thoughts at all costs,” he said.
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The morning of the sixteenth of March, on the day he was to leave, he
saw a crowd of visitors. At the last moment, Marquis Spinola showed up
with his camera equipment to take Don Bosco’s picture. The saint gra-
ciously consented, but since this took quite some time, they had to hurry to
reach the Varazze Station and catch the train. But the stationmaster was kind
enough to hold the train for him, since he had been told about the delay.

Instead of lasting only a few minutes, the stop at the station of
Arenzano lasted hours to satisfy the multitude of people who had reached
the station and who wanted to see Don Bosco. The crowd rushed into the
interior of the station. Some were leading sick people; others were trans-
porting them by some means. People had surrounded the train, and were
hanging from it and climbing over the compartments. The train was
already late, and the stationmaster repeatedly gave the departure signal,
but the conductor did not dare set the vehicle in motion for fear of acci-
dents. A woman who was ill had been carried to Don Bosco’s compart-
ment. When she received his blessing, she was healed immediately and
returned home walking at a brisk pace without assistance.

What can be said about Varazze? The train employee could not even
collect the tickets of the travellers because people getting off the train
were caught up in the crush of the huge crowd who had gone to the plat-
form, all the way to the tracks. The pastor of the mother church, who was
a very good friend of the Salesians, had announced Don Bosco’s arrival
from the pulpit and had sent a bulletin to the city and the surrounding area
informing all about a meeting of Cooperators. The result was that people
came flocking from Savona, Sestri, Voltri, and Arenzano. Older people
swore they had never seen such a crowd of visitors in Varazze, nor such
enthusiasm and manifestation of faith.

The climbing to the school usually takes a few minutes, but Don
Bosco needed three quarters of an hour because of the size of the crowd
that surrounded him in order to kiss his hand. The boys that were
waiting for him on either side of the path broke ranks and were over-
whelmed by the rushing crowd.

After lunch, a crowd milled around the places near the school.
Attempts were made to keep it at bay, but to no avail. No one knew what
happened, but the front door burst open and the crowd filled the corridors
and invaded stairways and classrooms. Who could stop such frenzy?
Don Bosco’s very life might have been endangered if he had emerged.
Standing firmly outside his door, Charles Viglietti argued to deaf ears.
Some people knelt before him, shouting that, for the sake of charity, he
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allow them to see Don Bosco. The Cooperators meeting was scheduled
for four o’clock in the afternoon. However, it was already five when Don
Bosco was still confined to his room seated on his chair and hemmed in
on all sides.

Somehow, he had to be liberated. Extreme situations called for
extreme measures. They had to rely on a few muscular fishermen, who
took Don Bosco and his secretary and escorted them to the parish rectory.
To shorten the journey, they had him go through a door at the side of the
building that was hardly ever opened. Then, they accompanied him along
a private path that opened out into the square. It was difficult to force a
path through the crowd milling in front of the church. Don Bosco was no
longer able to walk, but was pushed forward, driven by the swaying of the
crowd. So as not to be separated from him, Charles Viglietti held tightly
onto his cassock. Groups of curious people thronged windows, doors, and
roofs. At six o’clock they were able to cross the threshold of the church.
Always backed up by the stalwart escorts, Don Bosco and his secretary
reached the sanctuary, where he was at last able to sit down.

After the school choir had sung Quasi arcus, Father Francis Cerruti
preached on charity of prayer and the charity of good works. Then the
pastor addressed the people with such emotion and enthusiasm that he
brought them to tears. Naturally, in the crush, several people fainted and
had to be taken outside. The church remained crowded after the benedic-
tion. The square outside was positively paved with heads. Just as people
were trying to solve the problem of getting out of the church, a peasant,
with an arm in a sling came up to Don Bosco and said, “Pray for me. I
have hurt myself. I cannot work and my family is in need.”

“Which is the damaged arm?” asked Don Bosco.

“Well...Oh! I would not know...I am cured!”

Don Bosco begged him to hide his sling and keep quiet, but too many
people had witnessed the event. Word got out and enthusiasm reached
fever pitch. Near the altar rail, a man forcing a path for himself with his
elbows approached Don Bosco. He looked as if he had some great secret
he wanted to confide. He talked in a dialect that Don Bosco did not under-
stand, so he bent his head closer to listen. This confused the man who did
not understand what the movement meant, so he kissed Don Bosco on the
cheek and disappeared.

Don Bosco slowly made his way to the exit at a snail’s pace. Every
now and then someone cried out, fearing they would be trampled. Always
calm and composed, Don Bosco smiled, said a word or greeted everyone,
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especially the children. At last, with all the pushing and shoving, he was
able to reach the entrance to the rectory. A few steps led up to the porch
of the house. After mounting a few steps, the saint turned around to face
the crowd. That was enough to bring a solemn silence in an instant.
Deeply moved, he told them that he wished to thank them all for their
demonstration of affection. He thanked the pastor for his benevolence and
then raised his hand to give a blessing. What a wondrous sight!

It was growing dark. Don Bosco stood up there, utterly composed and
raised his right hand to form the sign of the cross over the bowed or kneel-
ing crowd. At the word “Amen,” an immense shout arose of “Long live
Don Bosco!”

The cry echoed far and wide, again and again, while the bells rang fes-
tively. The nearby sea seemed to quiver under the radiance of the stars.
Older people have never forgotten the impression that that startling moment
of time made on them. Don Bosco had visitors in the rectory up to 9 p.m.

“These people have no idea what they want from me,” Don Bosco
later said to his secretary. “Some people come to say, ‘My wife is sick,
my brother is sick, my husband is sick...I want you to cure them.” Then
they say, ‘Tell me how much it is.” ‘Graces are not for sale,” I tell them.
‘Say three Hail Marys for three days to Mary Help of Christians.” “What
do you mean?’ someone will then ask. ‘Something more is needed than
Hail Marys for this! Please tell me outright, how much is it?*”

Whereupon Don Bosco had to explain that faith in God was needed
as well as prayer and alms to obtain graces.

There was much faith indeed. Not only unsolicited donations of money
were given him, but earrings, rings, and other items of jewelry as well.

Among the many people who called on Don Bosco, there was a moth-
er who sorrowfully brought her little girl, who was extremely weak in her
legs. The girl could barely walk and was in danger of becoming crippled
since she was increasingly becoming deformed.

Don Bosco blessed the child and told the mother, “Go, good lady. Do
not grieve. Your daughter will improve.”

The child did indeed improve and grew up strong and is still alive
today. Her name is Carmela Gracchi.

We have a detailed report of a spiritual grace granted. Mrs. Mary
Bruzzone, born in Rossiglione but then living in Varazze, had a son
named Joseph who, from the obedient, affectionate boy that he had been,
had grown fond of dances and frequented company of a suspicious char-
acter. His poor mother could find no peace of mind. When she admon-



30 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

ished the boy, he kept silent, smiled, and continued to do whatever he
wished. Then he began associating with a group of pleasure-seekers, who
whiled away their evenings in various dancehalls. The mother wept and
prayed in anguish. The coming of Don Bosco lifted her spirits. She went
to the school to pour out her heart to him, but how could she get to him
among that milling sea of humanity? She decided to wait for him at the
station when it was time for him to leave, but here too, the square, the
entrance hall of the station and the waiting room were swarming with
people. Abandoning all hope, she sat in a corner, immersed in her sorrow.

As she sat there heartbroken, one of the priests who had accompanied
Don Bosco to the station went up to her and said, ‘“Please, come with me.”
Mrs. Bruzzone followed him mechanically, and found herself in the pres-
ence of the saint, who had sent someone to fetch her. Astounded and con-
fused by this mysterious summons, she fell to her knees before him and
burst into tears. After a moment Don Bosco said, “Now what is the mat-
ter, poor lady?”

“Oh, Father! I have so much to tell you! But I am so bewildered that
I do not find words. I have a big family, but one son in particular...”

“Poor mother!” Don Bosco interrupted, resting a hand on her head.
“Take heart. There is nothing new in what you are thinking. I will pray for
you during my Holy Mass and soon everything will be all right. Be at peace.”

He blessed her and departed. The woman was going through a real
martyrdom, thinking that her son was involved in immoral relationships,
yet Don Bosco reassured her about this. And the situation was exactly as
he had said. Then the improvement Don Bosco had foretold became evi-
dent. On the last Sunday before Mardi Gras, a period when his mother
had even more reason than usual to be afraid, the boy told her towards
evening, “Let us go to bed, Mama.”

“You are trying to trick me so that you can be more free!” she replied.
“Do as you wish, but I will go or not go to bed, just as I please.”

“No, Mama, I am not trying to deceive you. I am going to bed.”

He did. What had taken place within him no one knew, because he
was a young man of few words. But it is a fact that from that time on, he
no longer frequented either the places or the people he had seen before
even though he had already paid his membership dues. He became a fam-
ily man, attended to his business. He even worked in America for a few
years, then returned to his family and never again indulged in anything
nonsensical.

Don Bosco reached Alassio at eleven p.m. on March 17th. On the way,
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he had talked with Father Francis Cerruti for over half an hour about the mis-
sionaries and the missions, specifically mentioning places of South America,
Africa, and Asia where in time his sons would go and establish themselves.

“You may tell me that there are already other Congregations there,”
he said. “That is indeed true, but we go to assist them, not to take their
place. Remember that! As a rule, they dedicate themselves mainly to
adults. We have to dedicate ourselves to youth in particular, especially
poor and abandoned youth.”

We have no details of his stay at Alassio. From a letter written to
Father Michael Rua by Charles Viglietti the evening of the eighteenth of
March, we see that nothing distracted Don Bosco’s thoughts from the
Oratory. As a matter of fact, he told his secretary, “He asks me to give
you and the Council his regards, and also asks me to have you share news
about him with the boys, with many special regards to the pupils of the
fourth and fifth high school grades. He asks me to tell them that Don
Bosco thinks of them all the time, and after his communion every morn-
ing, he always feels that he is giving to them also the bread of angels.”

He was in Nice, France, on the twentieth of March, expecting to
remain there until the end of the month. The procession of visitors soon
began. The best of local society attended the meeting held on the 24th. A
number of aristocratic gentlemen who were vacationing in Cannes also
attended it. The preacher, a priest from Nice named Bonetti, delivered a
brilliant homily:

“Once upon a time, there was an angel in Paradise who was delight-
ed to see God and all things pertaining to Him. One day this angel, look-
ing at so much misery there was on earth, seeing how society was decay-
ing and children abandoned, was profoundly moved and went to see God.

He spoke to Him as follows: ‘Here I enjoy all your bounty, yet on
earth I see your creatures groaning and asking for your help. God, I would
willingly sacrifice everything, all the joys of Heaven, gladly, to hasten to
their assistance.’”

““So be it!” the Lord answered. Then that angel of Paradise spread his
golden wings. He landed in Italy, flew to France, to Spain, and scattered
his generous bounty all over Europe. He even flew to the extreme borders
of the Americas and lavished upon them his blessings, never wearying of
doing good. Although this angel of peace was already burdened by years
of labor, he flew everywhere, giving his blessing and comforting all. You
know this angel, my friends. He is among us. He is Don Bosco.”

Then Don Bosco got up to speak and with deep emotion attributed to
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the Cooperators all the merit for whatever good the Salesians were trying
to do. The diarist notes: “His mind was most lucid.”

A large group of friends sat around him at dinner, among them
Vincent Levrot, Charles D’Espiney and Ernest Michel, all friends of his.
Don Bosco had waited for this happy occasion to give special honor to Dr.
D’Espiney. Thanks to Don Bosco, the Pope had created him Knight of the
Order of Saint Gregory the Great. Now, he entrusted to the engineer
Levrot, who had already received the identical decoration, the task of
making a suitable public announcement.

At the end of the meal, the engineer gave a speech in which the nobil-
ity of the words used vied with the exquisite form employed to deliver
them. We will only single out one of his remarks here because it is more
than a single courtesy, especially at the banquet. Levrot had known Don
Bosco a long time and better than anyone else. He was therefore in a posi-
tion to weigh what he was about to say: “Whatever Don Bosco does, he
does it well, and in the end he is always right.” It was indeed so.

On quite a number of occasions, Don Bosco at first had been regard-
ed unfavorably or with suspicion, but in the end, when the chips were
down, he always emerged victorious; he met with approval and praise.
Only in one incident, which really was a sum total of incidents, did a mis-
understanding of his actions occur that lasted even after his death. Yet, at
the predetermined moment, God’s Providence justified Don Bosco before
the entire church with midday sunshine.

To the applause of the other guests, Don Bosco pinned the Knight’s
Cross on the newly knighted gentleman. Then Father John Bonetti spoke,
followed by Don Bosco, and then by the attorney Michel. “It was a
delightful family occasion,” the cleric Charles Viglietti commented.

Later on, Don Bosco went with the director, Father Joseph Ronchail,
and Charles Viglietti to call on Countess Braniska, where he also met the
duke of Rivoli and other noblemen. From there he went to visit Madame
de Montorme. When he returned home, his coat was in rags because
many devout people had snipped pieces from it with their scissors.

His visitors increased in number the following morning, so he did
not have time to take his breath. But with the increased visitors, also
the charitable alms increased. In the evening, an English countess
went to see him and said she was willing to donate an immense estate
she owned in England for the building of a Salesian house. She was
urged to such generosity by a debt of gratitude. Only a few days prior,
she was so sick that she had been unable to leave her bed. She had
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written Don Bosco to implore his blessing. As soon as she received his
answer, she felt better, and she went to call on him without the slight-
est inconvenience.

The case of Madame Mercier, a resident of France though English by
birth, was also extraordinary. Although she was a Protestant, she had
written Don Bosco from Nice on December 7, 1885. She had been sick
for ten years and asked his prayers both for her physical and spiritual well
being. Don Bosco had Father Joseph Ronchail answer that he would be in
Nice on February 20th and she could appeal to him personally.

The saint now called at her palace with Father Paul Albera and his
secretary on the evening of the twenty-sixth of March, and spoke to her
of religion. She, too, talked in such a way that one would have imagined
that she was already a Catholic. She asked Don Bosco to bless her, and
was delighted with his gift of 7] Cattolico Nel Secolo [The Catholic Living
in the World], and said she hoped to become a Catholic.

Don Bosco encouraged her by saying, “We are growing old, madam.
What shall we say to God? Do not delay it!”” However, she was not converted.

Then he called on two ladies who were ill. On his way home, he had
a double and most welcome surprise from the boys who handed him a
spiritual bouquet of communions they intended to offer up for him, and a
list of two hundred names representing students who had spontaneously
resolved to behave for love of him and who had all received the best mark
for their good conduct that term.

The queen of Wurtemberg, wife of King Charles I and sister to
Czar Alexander II (who had died a victim of the Nihilists in 1881)
was then residing in Nice. Her name was Olga Nicolaiewna, and
although a member of the schismatic Orthodox Russian Church, she
nevertheless was eager to see Don Bosco because she had heard peo-
ple say he was a saint. She sent a messenger to ask him to call on her,
saying she could receive him only between three and four the after-
noon of the twenty-seventh.

Don Bosco sent word that he would go. When he appeared at the
threshold of the room where he was granting audiences, he saw a number
of people still waiting to speak with him, among them Countess Michel
and Baron Héraud. He calmly went back to his room again, although it
was already three-thirty p.m. Father Joseph Ronchail and Charles
Viglietti, who had gone upstairs to call him, paced up and down in the
waiting room, impatient at the delay. When they saw him emerge at last,
they begged him to hurry.
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Then Don Bosco noticed Father Francis Cerruti standing there and,
guessing what he wanted, he called him inside, saying, “Oh! The queen
of Wurtemberg can wait a little longer. In the meantime, we can wind up
our own business.”

After hearing Father Francis Cerruti’s confession, he said, “Now be
good enough to hear my confession.”

Outside, the two escorts were on pins and needles. As soon as he
joined them, they complained that an hour had already elapsed, repeat-
ing, “Hurry up, or we will no longer be on time. Even now, it may
already be too late.”

“E ciau! Turnuma a ca [So be it. Let’s go back home],” he replied in
the Piedmontese dialect.

As he walked, he greeted and bestowed a caress on the boys he met
from the school, stopping to give a souvenir to a few of them. In the street,
he climbed into the coach that the Marchioness de Constantin had put at
his disposal. The celebrated wit, Baron Héraud, took it into his head that
he wanted to act as the footman, so he jumped into the driver’s seat. There
was to be a gala reception at the palace at four o’clock. Ladies and gen-
tlemen were already filling the halls, eager to look at Don Bosco, at whom
they gazed in veneration.

When they reached the waiting room, a pageboy went to
announce Don Bosco’s arrival to the queen. He was ushered in
immediately, and the queen came toward him with a great show of
courtesy and utmost cordiality. After he was seated, she asked him
about his houses, his boys, his educational system, and how he paid
all his expenses. She also begged him to turn his attention to
Wurtemberg. While she was questioning him and listening to his
answers, she gazed at him in reverence and at last asked him if he
were in need of financial assistance at the moment. Don Bosco
replied that since this was the first time he had the honor of meeting
Her Majesty, he did not want to bore her with the subject. The queen
insisted and seemed anxious to do something for him, so he explained
to her what the Cooperators were.

“That is what I wanted from you!” the queen exclaimed. “Please,
enroll me as a Salesian Cooperator.”

They talked for three quarters of an hour. Only when Don Bosco said
that he was soon to depart for Spain did the queen say that she did not
want to detain him any longer, but begged him to return to Nice.

Just as she was taking leave of him, she said with deep feeling, “Thank
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you for the blessing you have bestowed on my family. As soon as possible
I will inform my relatives of it and let them know what you have told me. I
will immediately make a note of the day and hour of such a precious visit.”

A person has to wait for a sovereign to give a dismissal, but the
queen seemed hesitant about taking her leave of Don Bosco. Without
sending for a servant, as etiquette would have demanded, she herself
accompanied him to the doorway. When she saw Fathers Joseph
Ronchail and Charles Viglietti, she asked who they were and what they
were doing, and spoke to them graciously. She recommended that the
secretary take great care of Don Bosco and after greeting them, she
withdrew. As he walked through the rooms, Don Bosco moved a num-
ber of ladies to compassion when they saw how painfully he walked and
how visibly he suffered.

He had to leave for Cannes. Since he had time, he made a call at the
convent of the Sisters of Saint Augustine, a rest home for wealthy women.
He gave a private audience to a number of them. Then, he went straight
to the station, where a number of ladies and gentlemen were waiting to
wish him a pleasant journey.

He boarded the train with Charles Viglietti. When he arrived,
Marquis Gaudemaris put his coach at his disposal and drove him to his
villa for dinner. After taking his leave from that pious family, the saint
went to bed at the Monplasir, a private boarding facility operated by nuns,
the Auxiliary Dames, in a luxurious villa near the station. The nuns them-
selves, however, lived in an adjacent house.

He said Mass in their chapel the next day. Then the visitors began to
arrive, and he gave audiences until midday. He dined with Countess de
Villeroi at her villa, which was known as the Great Pine Tree, and grant-
ed some interviews also there. Then he returned to the Auxiliary Dames
residence and found their courtyard full of people who all knelt on the
gravel for his blessing as he passed by. He handed out medals, and then
granted interviews until it was dark.

The next morning, Charles Viglietti wrote to Father Michael Rua: “I
am eager to send you news about Don Bosco, who is sleeping in the
room next to mine, in the big villa where the Auxiliary Dames have a
boarding facility. Don Bosco is tired, but thanks be to God and to the
prayers of the boys of the Oratory, he is fairly well in health. He says
you should come to Marseilles on April first or second because he is
eager to get to Barcelona.”

A number of people gathered in the hospital chapel to attend his
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Mass on the twenty-ninth, after which he retired at the home of its chap-
lain, Monsignor Marius Guigou. That zealous Cooperator soon found
himself in a very difficult predicament. The rushing of the many people
who followed the saint wherever he went disturbed his pleasure of hav-
ing Don Bosco as his guest. They crowded his home without a second
thought. The princess of Caserta, sister of Francis V, the last king of
Naples, also called on him. A girl was brought to him bound on a
stretcher because she was subject to convulsions. Her sad parents
begged him to bless her. He did as they asked, then said, “How long has
this girl been confined to bed?”

“Five years,” her father answered.

“Do you have faith in Mary Help of Christians?”

“Yes, Father,” the man answered.

“If you have faith, release the girl, let her dress in the adjoining room
and you will see her walk without any need of assistance.”

“Oh, that is out of the question!” the mother said abruptly. “The
physicians say she must not be touched. It is impossible. She is absolute-
ly incapable of moving.”

“Do as I tell you!” Don Bosco said.

Then the sick girl herself spoke, “Have faith, Papa. Believe in Don
Bosco. Try to obey him. Untie me and I will recover.”

After a little hesitation, the father untied her. She took the clothes
from the bed, dressed herself, rose to her feet and began to walk, saying,
“Look, Papa! Look, Mama! How well I can walk! I have recovered!”

Her mother almost swooned from the emotion and excessive joy she
experienced while her father was struck speechless. The girl asked them
to help her carry her stretcher back home because she wanted to go back
on foot. Her father did not agree and demanded that she lie down again so
that they could carry her.

“Don Bosco, what are we to do?” the girl asked.

“Go home with your father and mother,” the saint said, “and thank
Mary Help of Christians.”

It is easy to imagine what happened outside when people saw the
empty stretcher carried out of the room while the girl walked behind it
with a firm step. Other sick people were brought before him immedi-
ately. But Don Bosco said, “Now it is time to stop!” So he began to
order certain prayers to be said for a certain length of time, in order to
obtain graces.

One lady who witnessed this scene sent for her son to be brought
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there, bed and all, and had him set right before Don Bosco. He blessed the
boy in haste, told him to observe a few pious devotions for a given num-
ber of days, assured them that he would recover, and departed.

He had accepted an invitation to lunch in the lovely villa of Mr.
Potron at noon, and then he returned to the residence of Monsignor
Guigou, where he had to satisfy the expectations of an infinite number of
people. They went into his room in clusters, were given his blessing and
a medal, and then they were asked to leave.

He finally called on Her Royal Highness Princess Antonia of
Braganza of the house of Hohenzollern, wife of Prince Leopold and a fer-
vent Catholic, who was delighted to be enrolled as a Salesian Cooperator.
From her residence he went on to the station, where a number of gentle-
men awaited him to pay their respects. Among them were the prince and
princess of Caserta, who kissed his hand reverently. Cannes was ever
more generous in its charity than Nice.

He wrote to Count and Countess Colle from Nice on Friday the twen-
ty-sixth: “Monday evening, God willing, I will be with you, and we can
discuss our affairs with ease. If you can get an altar ready for me, I will
be glad to say Holy Mass at home, otherwise I am at your service.”

He arrived in Toulon the evening of the appointed day. He dined with
his good friends who, as usual, enchanted by his delightful conversation,
would not let him go until midnight.

In the letter already quoted he had also written, “On Tuesday, Count
du Boys and his daughter will be arriving in Toulon from Hyares to pay
us a visit. They are charitable and excellent Catholics, and will make you
feel at ease.” They actually arrived and the count invited them, as well as
the pastor of Saint Aloysius and a few friends, to dinner.

Count Du Boys asked Don Bosco to give him several medals of
Mary Help of Christians. Upon receiving them, he explained how he
owed his life to a medal of Mary Help of Christians. Three years before,
he had fallen several meters and should have crushed his skull as he fell,
if you consider that he was already seventy-nine years old. When he
reached the ground, all he felt was a little dazed caused by the fall. He
attributed this miracle to the fact that he had been wearing a medal of
Mary Help of Christians.

In his talks with the Colles, Don Bosco discussed the biography of
Mama Margaret that Father John Baptist Lemoyne was writing. The count
was so anxious to read it that he wished to see it published soon at all
costs. He said he himself would undertake the expense, but that it should
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be published right away. Therefore, Charles Viglietti wrote to its author:
“Don Bosco instructs me to write to you, by special delivery, what fol-
lows and I obey.” After informing him of the wish of the count, he went
on: “Don Bosco says that no matter how it is, corrected or not corrected,
and if it says much or little of him that does not matter either, for he wish-
es that it be published as soon as possible. If an order is not enough, he
says, he will beseech you as a favor: put aside every other occupation, but
do as your Father who loves you as his dearest of all Salesians is asking
you. This is what Don Bosco wanted me to tell you.”

Any wish of Don Bosco’s was equivalent to more than ten orders. So,
in a letter dated April 23rd, Father John Baptist Lemoyne wrote to Bishop
John Cagliero: “I am now about to finish in a hurry the biography of
Mama Margaret, hoping to offer it to Don Bosco for the Feast of Saint
John.” This was indeed the day when Father John Baptist Lemoyne pre-
sented the biography to him.?

This is how the author introduces Don Bosco’s mother to the reader:
“She was not rich, but possessed the heart of a queen. She was not educated
in book learning, but in the holy fear of God. She was prematurely stripped
of him who should have been her mainstay, yet relying on her strength of
will and her trust in the help of Heaven, she was able to successfully fulfill
the mission entrusted to her by God.” The book was very well received, for
it gratified the legitimate curiosity of all those who were anxious to know
who had trained Don Bosco when he was a child and how it had been done.

Don Bosco was delighted with the biography and often wept as he
read a few of its pages, as he himself told its author one day. When Father
Lemoyne told him how precious such tears of joy and such affectionate
memories were to Don Bosco, the loving Father pressed his hands and
only said, “Thank you!”

Don Bosco left Toulon that same evening for Marseilles. A sick per-
son was sitting in his own train compartment and moaned in a pitiful way.
When he heard who Don Bosco was, he threw himself at his feet, implor-
ing his blessing. It was given to him. He felt better, gave Don Bosco one
hundred francs, and then recited the whole Rosary, something that he
apparently had not done for a very long time. The saint assured him that
he would continue to improve in his health.

4 Scene Morali Di Famiglia Nella Vita Di Margherita Bosco [Moral Family Scenes in the Life of Margherita
Bosco,] (Turin, 1886). Salesian Tip. On April 19th, Viglietti wrote Fr. J. Lemoyne from Sarria: “Don Bosco says
that you would do well to ask Fr. John Francis Giacomelli to get details of Mamma Margaret’s death.”
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At the station in Marseilles, the Olive family and the pastor, Father
Guiol, were waiting to welcome him. The reception given him at Saint
Leo’s Oratory was one of indescribable enthusiasm. Toward evening, all
the members of the house gathered around him to honor his arrival with a
festive celebration. One memorable incident was the presentation of one
thousand francs, the end result of small savings made by the boys of
Marseilles, Paris, Lille, and La Navarre, to help him build the Church of
the Sacred Heart in Rome. The pupils at Saint Leo’s had conceived the
idea for such a collection.

The Marseilles newspapers had announced Don Bosco’s arrival in
town, so at certain hours, both in the morning and afternoon, the house
seemed to be besieged. Tired as he was, the saint did not want to dis-
appoint anybody. Indeed, so as to be sure not to upset anyone, he con-
cealed his weariness from the confreres by telling them amusing tales
of his past life.’

He waited for Father Michael Rua in order to resume his journey.
Father Rua arrived late in the evening of April 2nd. Together they
agreed to leave for Barcelona on the seventh on a sleeper train. In the
meantime, Father Michael Rua studied Spanish by reading the pam-
phlet of the bishop of Milo, to which we have referred in the preface of
the preceding volume.*

Let us say something about this pamphlet. Who is Don Bosco? On
what was his reputation for being an exceptional man based? What ought
one think of the Salesian Congregation and its founder? These were the
questions raised by Spaniards ever since two houses of Don Bosco had
caused people to talk about him in their country.

The author of the pamphlet decided to answer these questions in three
long chapters, which were planned and written like three regular lectures.
The booklet ended with a reprint of three articles published by the bishop
in the Revista popular of Barcelona,’ entitled “Don Bosco y Los Talleres
Salesians [Don Bosco and the Salesian Workshops].”

The author said that he had made a careful study of the Salesian

51t was at this time that he told the story of the table silverware in the house of Baron Martini at Aix, as Fr.
Charles Viglietti says in his diary (see Vol. XIV, pp. 16-17).

6 Bishop Spinola, formerly titular bishop of Milo and ordinary of Coria, later bishop of Malaga, archbishop
of Seville and then cardinal, was so holy a prelate that the cause for his beatification and canonization is now in
progress. With the intuition proper of saints he fully understood Don Bosco’s holiness and the grandeur of his mis-
sion, as can be seen from his book Don Bosco y su Obra [Don Bosco and his Work].

7Nos. 708, 709, 710.



40 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

Institute and was convinced that his effort would represent an outstand-
ing service to the Church “to which the glory of this illustrious priest
belonged,” and a no lesser service to society “which benefits by every-
thing that helps to expand and assist the holy undertakings of so distin-
guished a man, an authentic symbol of Christian charity.”® The dynamic
and facile style of the prelate’s writing is such that one gladly reads its
pages even today.

Don Bosco did not pretend to be unaware either of this or other sim-
ilar publications, but he looked at them from a distance. When Father
Evasio Rabagliati returned from America, he told the saint that he had
read that particular book, and that he had liked it very much.

“Well then, translate it,” Don Bosco said. “At this time only you and
Father Louis Lasagna, of all the missionaries in America, are still capable
of writing fluent Italian. Then we shall be able to print it.”

“But how, Don Bosco?” Father Evasio Rabagliati asked confidentially.
“Should we praise ourselves? Do you not think this would be unbecoming?”

“Well, no! Look. If we do not print it ourselves, others will, so the
result will be the same. It is now no longer a question of glorifying the
work of human beings, but only of glorifying the work of God because
everything that has been done already and that is now being done is
His work.”

A lady, one Eloise Blanch who was mentally incompetent, instantly
recovered her sanity when led into the presence of Don Bosco to receive
his blessing on April 3rd.

There was no lack of healing cases in Marseilles also on this occasion.
One day, a good lady who had suffered from violent headaches for a num-
ber of years went to see Don Bosco, imploring him to bless her and cause
her pains to cease. Before blessing her, he told her to say three Hail Marys
for a certain period of time. In an instant, the pain disappeared. Happy
and contented, she promised that before nightfall she would bring him an
offering of one hundred francs as a token of her gratitude. Upon return-
ing home to her family, she forgot all about the prayer and her promise,
so great was her joy. However, she was soon obliged to remember it, for
her pain returned and she realized that she had not kept her word. So a
few days later she again called on Don Bosco to keep her promise and
came away cured.

Mademoiselle de Gabriac was seriously ill with consumption.

8 Introduction, p. 10.
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When she heard that Don Bosco was in Marseilles, she sent word to him
that she would be very happy to meet him, since she had heard of the
many cures obtained by him. She lived on Rue Saint Philomene, now
known as Rue Dr. Escat, in the villa where the Blanchard clinic is now
located. The saint wished to gratify her request and called on her. She
immediately begged him to cure her. “I am not a healer,” he replied, but
then added, “We will now pray to Mary Help of Christians and in Her
name, I will give you a blessing.” He bade her say three Hail Marys and,
after blessing her, he went away. Four days later, as he was saying Mass
for her, as he had promised he would, her sickness suddenly disappeared
and she recovered so completely that she later married and gave birth to
two healthy children.

Saints possess the wonderful secret gift of restoring peace to hearts
in conflict. A devoted Cooperator, Madame Broquier, had a daughter
who had become hostile toward herself and her father, on account of
her own husband. There had not been cordial relations between the two
families for a long time. When Don Bosco saw how the young
woman’s parents were suffering because of this discord, he offered
himself to act as peacemaker. The Broquier couple was delighted and
gave a dinner in his honor, but only invited their daughter and son-in-
law at his suggestion. Tempted by the prospect of meeting Don Bosco
at table, they both readily accepted the invitation. This already repre-
sented a very important step.

During the meal, Don Bosco did not say anything that had any bear-
ing on their family problem, but kept everyone happy with his jovial con-
versation. But when the dessert was served, he raised his glass and made
a toast to peace, harmony, and family affection, in so persuasive and gen-
tle a way that they were all touched and quite enchanted. At the end they
all embraced and peace was restored.

On Monday, April 5th, the bishop confirmed some thirty boys in the
Oratory chapel, and remained talking with Don Bosco for some time after
the ceremony. The feast day of Saint Joseph was being celebrated in the
house that same day; this proved to be a propitious occasion to invite the
main benefactors of the house to Don Bosco’s table, and to hold a meet-
ing of the Cooperators. A distinguished audience of both ladies and gen-
tlemen listened to the lecturer and was deeply moved by the words the
saint addressed to them at the end. In recalling the charity of the people
of Marseilles, Don Bosco became so deeply moved that his sobs inter-
rupted him several times.
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He devoted April 6th to the ladies of the committee. After saying
Mass for them, he addressed them in the parlor of the Oratory for the
first time, no longer assembling them in the rectory of the pastor of
Saint Joseph’s. As the minutes say, “This was more easily accessible to
the weary legs of our holy founder than the rectory would have been.”

First of all, he talked about the purchase of a nearby land site, since it was
urgent that the building be enlarged, so as not to reject a number of applicants.

“This is not possible at the moment,” Don Bosco said. “First of all, we
have to think about paying our debts. 1, too, am aware of how difficult
things are at the present time. Many people who wish to perform acts of
charity are unable to do so. We must thank Divine Providence for the assis-
tance given us so far. I talked with Father Paul Albera and saw that we still
have an old outstanding debt of seventy thousand francs from the previous
construction of the house. When this is paid, we shall be able to meet our
usual expenses with the assistance of charitable donations. I am going to
Barcelona and hope to raise money there.” Then Father Guiol interrupted
him and recalled that Don Bosco had said during his speech that he wished
he could extend not two, but even three hands, in order to beg for alms. He
asked him whether of those three hands, one were reserved for Saint Leo’s
Oratory. “All three of them are,” Don Bosco replied readily, thus express-
ing his full confidence that his journey would be successful. Indeed, he
sent as much as ten thousand francs in one single mailing to Father Paul
Albera from Barcelona.

He then told of an act of God as a justification for his confidence.
“This winter, Father Paul Albera urged me to send him money,” he said.
“When I put together all I could find, I found that I barely had one thou-
sand five hundred francs, only half of the three thousand needed. Letters
arrived from Russia, Austria, and even Central Africa when the mail was
delivered. I opened them, and inside I found strangely scribbled symbols
that looked as if they were diabolical missives. None of us were able to
decipher them. Luckily, we found an interpreter. A pagan woman had
written, saying that she had been told of a lady who was in the habit of
granting exceptional graces, and whose name was ‘Holy Virgin.” She had
heard also that there was need of money and that Don Bosco could not go
to where she lived, so he should send other people to baptize her and other
people as well. She would pay for their journey. Meanwhile, she was send-
ing him a donation. It was difficult to change the money because no one
knew what it was worth, but when the various amounts received from dif-
ferent places were added up, we saw that we had accumulated the one
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thousand five hundred francs that were still needed. The most consoling
thing about it all was that everyone had sent the money in thanksgiving for
graces received through the intercession of Mary Help of Christians. It is
She who protects our institute.” So saying, he then told them about the
progress made in Patagonia by the Salesian missionaries and about the
progress of Saint Leo’s Oratory, concluding with his habitual wit, “I invite
you all to come to Turin for my Golden Jubilee Mass in 1891. We expect
things out of this world on that occasion. We will have two thousand
singers in the choir, and Bishop John Cagliero, the first Salesian bishop,
will be there, heading a Patagonian choir.”

In the minutes, however, it is stated that Don Bosco hinted at his own
doubts that he would be able to attend the celebration. Before the meeting
came to an end, the pastor, Father Guiol, handed him a donation of one
thousand francs.

That same day, Don Bosco dined with Mr. Olive. When the door of
the dining room was opened, everyone in the company of the saint
uttered an astonished “Oh!” - for waiting for him, silently, yet rejoicing,
were the novices of Providence House. Mr. Olive, the gentleman who
had provided half a chicken for each boy at Valdocco, had arranged this
delightful surprise for Don Bosco.” The children of the master of the
house waited on the guests.

As soon as it was known in town that Don Bosco would be
departing on April 7th, people went to the oratory in even greater
numbers than before. A thick crowd gathered in the courtyard when
it was time for him to leave the institute. The boarders were visibly
sad as they lined up on either side of his path. Their sadness was
enhanced by Don Bosco’s farewell words: “We will see each other
again in Paradise.”

Father Charles Viglietti wrote that when Don Bosco said that, all
the boys began to weep. They truly had every reason to do so, for
never again were they to see their beloved Father on earth. He had
bequeathed an unforgettable souvenir, which was to be his last, to all

9Fr. Guiol had spent the Feast of St. Francis de Sales with the novices of the Providence House and later told
the ladies of the committee at their meeting on Feb. 5th about his impressions. What he told them was very inter-
esting. “Those boys were really admirable, permeated with Don Bosco’s spirit which is something quite special.
Don Bosco wants youth to serve youth, or else he wishes it to be served by priests who have been reared in his own
spirit and trained by him. The children who are reared in such an environment and are permeated by such ideas are
wonderfully prepared for his apostolate. They are trained to do penance, to prayer, to self-sacrifice, all virtues that
are ideal requisites for the making of a good priest, and later for training youth to live a Christian life. This is the
institute which the committee has the mission and the joy to support and to be dedicated to.”
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the confreres of that house. He said it in Italian as he was leaving the
house: “Rammentatevi che siete fratelli [Remember that you are all
brothers].”

His most intimate friends and their families had gathered at the sta-
tion. The stationmaster, who had reserved an excellent compartment for
Don Bosco and his companions, went to greet him with the principal
railway employees and paid his respects and extended his good wishes.
His wife offered Don Bosco a lovely bouquet of flowers. When the train
whistle blew, everyone started clapping and shouting good wishes to
Don Bosco. Father Paul Albera felt his heart swell, while big tears ran
down his cheeks, as he remained behind with the memory of an exhaust-
ed Don Bosco and in his heart, an intense fear that the journey might
prove harmful to him.
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Chapter 3

DIARY OF DON BOSCO’S
VISIT TO BARCELONA

There was still a strong doubt at the Oratory that Don Bosco’s health
would permit him to journey beyond the Pyrenees. “If he does, then it can
in all truth be called a miracle,” Father Joseph Lazzero wrote to Bishop
John Cagliero on March 28th, “because considering Don Bosco’s present
state of health, such a thing would be impossible to dream of, humanly
speaking.” Nevertheless, he voiced the commonly prevailing thought
when he added: “He is a man of Divine Providence, and that is enough.”
Yet despite everyone’s fears, he did not stop halfway.

Port-Bou is the first Spanish station at which the traveler arrives after
crossing the French border from the side facing the Lion’s Gulf. Don
Bosco traveled for eleven hours from Marseilles, since he set out at five
o’clock in the afternoon on April 7th and arrived at Port-Bou at four
o’clock in the morning of the following day. Father John Baptist Branda
and a gentleman from Barcelona named Sufier were eagerly waiting to
welcome him. This same gentleman was the administrator for a very
wealthy family of Barcelona, who hoped to obtain an outstanding grace
from the saint, as we shall mention at the proper time.

He had reserved an entire compartment for himself, into which he
now ushered Don Bosco and his two traveling companions. There they
found every conceivable comfort, both in the way of refreshments and
rest accommodations. In his extreme state of weakness, Don Bosco could
not do otherwise than break his fast. However, Father Michael Rua, who
hoped to celebrate Mass at a late hour, neither ate nor drank.

After coasting for a while along the shores of the Mediterranean, the
railway track goes inland and later comes into sight of the coast again.
Here at a secondary station, Narciso Pascual, the son-in-law of Mrs.
Chopitea boarded the train with one of his children. Both father and son
were already acquainted with Don Bosco, having been in Turin in 1884.
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As they changed trains, another traveler, who had also boarded the
train at Marseilles, had joined Don Bosco’s company. Shortly before the
train left that city and when this gentleman had already been seated in his
place, he had heard a great noise, and looking out of the window, had dis-
covered that Don Bosco, too, was about to depart. He had already heard
many things about him, so he was most eager to meet him. At Port-Bou
his wish was gratified, for Mr. Sufier knew him personally, and offered to
introduce him. He did so in French, but the stranger completed the pres-
entation by speaking Italian. Whereupon Don Bosco said, “Do not leave
me. We will keep each other company the rest of the journey.”

Utterly delighted, the gentleman never left his side. After conversing
pleasantly for quite some time, Don Bosco dozed off until dawn. Noticing
that one of Don Bosco’s shoes had become unlaced, the courteous travel-
er knelt down, despite the objections of the saint, to retie the laces with
great pleasure. Don Bosco got off the train at Barcelona, leaning on his
arm and when he took leave of him, he said, “I will wait for you at Sarria
tomorrow. I want you to receive Communion from my hand.”

“There is no need for me to say that I was at the Salesian house in
Sarria well before the appointed hour,” the gentleman wrote.'

With the small general staff described above, Don Bosco made his
entrance into the capital of Catalonia. The newspapers had already
announced his coming some weeks in advance, with news about his per-
sonality and his undertakings. When the date of his arrival was made
known, nobles and outstanding representatives of both clergy and lay peo-
ple came from Madrid, Seville, and other large towns to welcome him
upon his arrival. The people of Barcelona were proud of the honor of hav-
ing him in their town, and staged a public demonstration such as would
normally have been given to welcome a reigning monarch. Thousands of
people moved toward the railway station, nobles and common folk min-
gling together. In a reserved area, the leaders of Catholic associations and
representatives from the worlds of science, politics, city government, and
the Church gathered in an orderly fashion. The governor was there to rep-
resent Queen Marie Christine, who was regent for King Alfonso XIII,
then still unborn. The bishop was away from his See, but had instructed
his vicar general to represent him, so he too was there, heading an impos-
ing group of priests.

1 Report by John Baptist Montobbio Villavecchia to the provincial, Fr. Joseph Calasanz (Barcelona, June 6,
1934.) Mr. Montobbio, a gentleman of Genoese origin, who is still alive, was the traveler mentioned above.
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Don Bosco approached and saw right in front a spectacle extraordi-
narily great. This great spectacle assumed a character absolutely new
because of the unique contrast between the solemnity of the reception
given him and his own humility. His manner was utterly modest, his
appearance fragile, and he looked almost lost facing such a crowd, though
he met it with a serene countenance. His flashing eyes alone revealed
what a great soul was concealed within that feeble body.

Unmindful of his weariness, he listened calmly and courteously to all
the people who tried to get near him to pay their respects or ask him for
a favor. According to the circumstances, and the people he met, he would
answer either by bowing his head, or with an affectionate look or with a
gracious word, while a charming smile hovered on his lips. But at the pace
he was moving, he would never have reached one of the fifty and more
coaches that were disputing the privilege of escorting him to the city
through that vast crowd. With the assistance of volunteer escorts, Don
Bosco finally reached one after approximately an hour. In the rivalry that
ensued in choosing a coach, his choice fell on the carriage of the mother
of the Salesians, who was delighted enough already by the words Don
Bosco uttered as soon as he met her. He said, “Oh! Mrs. Chopitea! I
prayed to God every day that he might grant me the grace of meeting you
in person before I die.”

As soon as he was escorted to the palace of this noblewoman, he
retired to his room, since he felt an extreme need of rest. Meanwhile,
Father Michael Rua celebrated Mass in the house chapel, where everyone
attended who had been in the escort of honor accompanying Don Bosco.
Later on, the servant of God made his appearance in the drawing room,
where the representatives of several noble families were waiting to pay
their respects. He dined with the patriarchal family. Then after receiving
a few visitors, he was driven by coach to the school of Sarria.

In Sarria, his name was just as blessed as that of Mary Help of
Christians because of one incident that the common folks held to be
miraculous. The previous year, Barcelona had been hard hit by cholera,
but Sarria, which was only a few kilometers away and whereto thousands
of people everyday would go from the infected towns, had remained
immune. Mrs. Jesusa de Serra had collected a great many medals of Mary
Help of Christians, which Don Bosco maintained were an antidote against
the plague, and had sent her two sons Joseph and Sebastian to bury them
all along the road linking Sarria to Barcelona. Not a single victim was to
be reported in Sarrid.
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Don Bosco arrived at the school, as the expected Messiah. For the
Feast of Saint John the previous year, the boys had sent him a drawing
they had made, depicting a train in motion with the words “From Turin to
Barcelona.” At last, their dream had come true. How many novenas had
they made, how many mortifications had they practiced to obtain the
grace that Don Bosco reach them safe and sound! Therefore, as soon as
they knew that this grace was about to be granted them, they started
organizing a worthy reception for him.

The courtyard was magnificently decorated, but far more than on the
flowers and festoons, Don Bosco’s attention was riveted on the serene
wide-open faces of the boys who gazed at him, never satisfied enough to
look at him. “The Father, the Saint is here!” they were thinking. “This is
the miracle worker about whom we have read and heard so many things!”
The band accompanied a lovely song that uplifted the hearts of those who
listened, all of them vibrant with joy and gratitude. An immense crowd
swayed and pushed both within and outside the house. His first move was
in the direction of the chapel to thank God for his safe journey, which had
been prayed for by so many. A motet, which had been composed espe-
cially for the occasion, was sung to the words of Ego sum pastor bonus [T
am the good Shepherd]. Then Don Bosco gave the blessing of Mary Help
of Christians to the boys and all present. Father Michael Rua gave the
Benediction of the Blessed Sacrament, assisted by the diocesan vicar gen-
eral and a professor from the theological seminary. The emotions felt
joined to the hard strains of that night and of that day would have over-
whelmed him if the ever-solicitous and attentive Charles Viglietti finally
had not taken him away and brought him to his room, after permitting
him only a few brief interviews. The rooms he and his two companions
were to occupy had been swept, fitted, furnished, and kept clean by Mrs.
Chopitea and her daughters.

The evening paper, El Correo Catalan, first described his arrival and
then continued: “The whole of Barcelona, represented by all its social
classes, has joyously welcomed this most virtuous priest, to whom we
extend our cordial welcome, and hope that if possible, his stay among us
be extended.”

The people of Barcelona were upset by the bad weather of the follow-
ing morning, but it favored Don Bosco because there were few visitors and
he was able to rest. This was not so in the afternoon. His waiting room was
soon filled with ladies and gentlemen of the aristocracy. He was in no way
bothered by the language difference, for Charles Viglietti wrote in his
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diary: “Don Bosco talks in Italian and it is truly wonderful how everyone
understands him. He also understands Spanish very well indeed.”

Ever since Father Michael Rua had set foot on Spanish soil, he had not
spoken anything but Spanish and seemed so at ease in his use of that lan-
guage that whenever people discovered he had learned it in only a few
days, thanks to one of those pocket grammar books edited by Sonzogno
in Milan for only 15 cents a copy, they were completely dumbfounded.’

Neither distance nor chain of events could ever completely dis-
tract Don Bosco’s thoughts from the Oratory. This is what Charles
Viglietti wrote on his behalf in the evening to Father John Baptist
Lemoyne: “ Thank God, Don Bosco is well, and he instructs me to
tell you that although he is in another country, among other people,
his heart and his mind are always homebound towards his beloved
nest at the Oratory.”

We will continue our narrative by relating the subsequent events as
they unfolded from day to day. It will be, so to speak, the Barcelonian
diary of Don Bosco’s visit to Spain. True enough, he stayed at Sarria, but
even though that population was not then entirely absorbed by that city as
it is today (since it formed a separate community), it was nevertheless
considered a genuine suburb of Barcelona.

SATURDAY, APRIL 10th

During the night of April 9th, Don Bosco had a new missionary
dream, which he related to Father Rua, Father Branda, and Brother
Viglietti, in a voice at times choked by sobs. Viglietti wrote it down
immediately afterwards and, at Don Bosco’s direction, sent a copy to
Father Lemoyne so that he could read it to all the superiors of the Oratory
for their general encouragement. “But,” the secretary warned, “this is
nothing more than a sketch of a very long, magnificent vision.” The text
that we are publishing is that of Viglietti, slightly touched up stylistically
by Father Lemoyne to put it into more correct Italian:

2 That day, April 9, Fr. Rua wrote a letter to Fr. John Bonetti and it began as follows: “Dear Fr. Bonetti, On
the journey I had an opportunity to read the history of the Oratory of our beloved Father. He was very strict in edit-
ing and suggested a number of emendations that you will find in the galley proofs. Among others, eliminate the
name and even the initial of the professor who came to visit us and the account of the deaths of Farini and Cavour.”
These were the galley proofs of the Storia dell’Oratorio di S. Francesco di Sales [St. John Bosco’s Early Apostolate],
part II, ch. 16, which then appeared in the August issue of the Bollettino Salesiano. As we see, Fr. Bonetti’s work
was supervised by Don Bosco and Fr. Rua. The professor’s name may be found in The Biographical Memoirs, Vol.
VII, p. 262. The deaths of the two statesmen are recounted in the Memorie Biografiche, Vol. VI, pp. 688, 962-963
(omitted in the English edition).
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Don Bosco found himself in the neighborhood of Castelnuovo
standing on the hillock known as Bricco Del Pino’ near the
Sbarnau valley. He turned his gaze everywhere, but could see
nothing more than thick scrubs that sprawled everywhere and
which were covered by an infinite number of small mushrooms.

“Now,” Don Bosco said to himself, “this is also the country
estate of Joseph Rossi.* He ought to be here!”

Shortly after that, in fact, he saw Rossi on a distant hilltop,
gazing most seriously over the valleys spread out beneath him.
Don Bosco hailed him, but he answered only with a distracted
glance, as if his thoughts were elsewhere.

Turning in another direction, Don Bosco also saw Father
Rua at a distance, who just as Rossi, was most seriously, but
peacefully, seated as if resting.

Don Bosco called to both of them, but they remained silent,
not replying by so much as a gesture.

So he descended from the hillock and walked over to anoth-
er one, from the summit of which he saw a forest, but it was cul-
tivated, and roads and paths ran through it. He gazed around in
another direction, looking toward limits of the horizon, and even
before his eye perceived them, his ear was struck by the uproar
created by an immense crowd of children.

No matter how much he tried to discover from where the
noise came, he saw nothing. Then a shout followed the uproar, as
though in the wake of some catastrophe. At length he saw a vast
crowd of boys who ran toward him, crying, “We’ve been waiting
for you. We’ve been waiting for you so long. Now at last you’re
here. You’re among us and you won’t get away from us!”

Don Bosco did not understand at all and wondered what these
boys wanted from him. But while he was standing there, dazed in
their midst, gazing at them, he saw an immense flock of lambs
led by a shepherdess. After she had separated the boys from the
sheep, she set one group to one side and the other to the opposite

3 Bricco del Pino: a hillock near Joseph Bosco’s home at Becchi, on which he owned a vineyard. Pino,
according to Natale Cerrato (/] Linguaggio della prima storia salesiana [Rome: LAS, 19917, p. 293), refers to Joseph
(Giuseppe or, diminutively, Giuseppino).

4 As a joke, Don Bosco had named Coadjutor Brother Joseph Rossi “count” of that piece of land. On Rossi,
see Appendix 1.
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side. She stopped in front of Don Bosco, to whom she said, “Do
you see what’s before you?”

“Yes, I do,” Don Bosco answered.

“Good. Do you recall the dream you had when you were ten
years old?”

“Oh! It’s quite hard for me to remember it! My mind’s tired
and, at present, I don’t remember it clearly.”

“Good, good! Think hard and you’ll recall it.”

Then she summoned the boys to Don Bosco’s side, telling
him, “Now look in this direction. Look further on - all of you, look
further and read what is written over there. So what do you see?”

“I see mountains, then the sea, then hills, and again moun-
tains and seas.”

“I read Valparaiso,” one boy said.

Another boy said, “I read Santiago.”

“I read both those names,” added a third.

“Well,” continued the shepherdess, “set out from there and
you will form an idea of how much the Salesians have to do in the
future. Now look in that direction. Draw a visual line and look.”

“I see mountains, hills, and seas!”

The boys, too, focused their eyes and exclaimed in chorus,
“We read Peking!”

Then Don Bosco saw a great city. Through it ran a wide river,
over which some big bridges had been built.

“Good,” said the maiden, who seemed to be the boys’ teacher.
“Now draw a single line from one end to the other, from Peking to
Santiago. Establish your center in the middle of Africa, and you
will get an exact idea of how much the Salesians have to do.”

“But how can all this be accomplished?” Don Bosco
exclaimed. “The distances are enormous, the places difficult, and
the Salesians few.”

“Don’t worry. Your sons, the sons of your sons, and their
sons again will do this. Just let them steadfastly observe the Rules
and keep the spirit of the Pious Society.”

“But where are we to find so many people?”

“Come here and look. Do you see fifty missionaries standing
ready there? Farther on, do you see others, and still others? Draw
a line from Santiago to the center of Africa. What do you see?”

“I can see ten central [mission] stations.”

51
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“Well, these central stations that you see will make up hous-
es of studies and novitiates and will send forth a multitude of mis-
sionaries to staff these lands. Now look to this other side. Here
you see ten more centers reaching from Africa to Peking. These,
too, will provide missionaries for all of these other lands. There’s
Hong Kong; there, Calcutta; farther on, Madagascar. Here and
also elsewhere there will be more houses, houses for studies and
novitiates.”

Don Bosco listened as he looked and examined, then he said:
“And where can so many people be found, and how can mission-
aries be sent to all those places? There you have savages that feed
on human flesh. In this place you have heretics and in that one
persecutors. So how shall we manage?”

“Look,” the shepherdess answered. “Be of good will. There
is only one thing to do: recommend that my sons constantly cul-
tivate the virtue of Mary.”

“Okay, good. I believe I understand. I will preach your words
to all of them.”

“And beware of the error now prevailing, which is to mix
those who are studying the human arts with others studying the
divine arts, for the science of Heaven is not to be mixed with
earthly matters.”

Don Bosco wanted to say more, but the vision disappeared.
His dream was over.

As Don Bosco was relating his dream, his three listeners kept
exclaiming, “O Mary, Mary!” When the saint had finished, he said, “How
much Mary loves us!” Then, when he was discussing this dream in Turin
with Father Lemoyne, he said calmly, yet with a highly significant tone,
“When the Salesians will be in China and find themselves on both banks
of the river that passes through the Peking region... some will settle to the
left bank from the direction of the mighty Empire and others to the right
bank from the direction of the Tartarian region. Oh! When the one group
will be able to meet the other to shake each other’s hands! What glory for
our Congregation! Yet the time is in God’s hands!”

In sending a copy of this story of the dream to Bishop John Cagliero,
this is what Father Lemoyne wrote on April 23rd in reference to the role
played in it by Father Rua, Don Bosco’s vicar, and by Joseph Rossi, the
provisioner general: “As interpreter I would note that Father Michael Rua
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stands for the spiritual part and is over worried; Joseph Rossi stands for
the material part and is all messed up. Both of them will find consolation
in the future.” And that’s what happened.

An apt commentary on the part of the dream referring to Chile is evi-
denced by an item published in the Salesian Bulletin of September 1887.
Describing a journey that Bishop Cagliero completed with Bishop Joseph
Fagnano® into that transandean republic, the article related that Santiago
Senator Valledor had begged the Salesians to take over management of the
state orphanage and to act as fathers to a great many children ranging
from seven to ten years of age; and that, when they went to visit the
orphanage, they heard one of the little orphans read these words during a
small welcome reception: “We have been weeping and praying for two
years now that Don Bosco might give us a father.”

Nor was this all. Talking with the boys, Bishop Joseph Fagnano came
across some very simple-hearted ones who confided to him, “The girls
have their mothers (they meant the nuns), but we cannot have a father.
Our father is Don Bosco, but so far he has not come here.” The day the
two Salesians arrived in Valparaiso, over two hundred little boys ran after
them, shouting, “Our fathers have come at last! Tomorrow we’ll be able
to go to school! Oh, how happy we are!” When they saw and heard these
things, they remembered what they had read in the dream, for what was
happening was fulfilling the prediction.®

During the first few days of his stay, the pupils at Sarria enjoyed fes-
tive hours. The first time that the band played some tunes after supper,
Don Bosco put a pastry into the hands of each player himself. “These
boys were beside themselves for joy because Don Bosco was with them,”
Charles Viglietti wrote. “As for him, he is very well and very cheerful.””

Since a constant stream of visitors came and went daily, we will not
repeat the same things over and over again. Now and then, visitors seemed
to come in a constant flow with no interruption, but more often they came
in such waves that they were more in the nature of a flood. Being well
rooted in their religiousness, the Spanish people were exultant to be close
to a priest who had such a reputation for holiness.

Just as they did in Marseilles, the Salesian Cooperators of Barcelona
had formed a committee of about thirty ladies, all of them equal in char-

5 See Appendix 1.
6 Letter from Fr. Evasio Rabagliati to Don Bosco (Concepcién, Chile, May 14, 1887).
7 Letter to Fr. Lemoyne (Barcelona, April 10, 1886).
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ity and nobility, who zealously helped the house of Sarrid. Mrs. Chopitea
was the president. They met regularly every two weeks to see what was
needed and discussed how the needs could be met. They even worked
with their own hands to keep the linen in order. Don Bosco addressed
their assembly in Italian, thanked them for the charity they lavished on his
house and predicted that soon the house of Sarrid would be enlarged to
meet its requirements, and it would house as many as five hundred boys,
to whom they would have extended their benevolent and welcome protec-
tion. Like a genuine mother, Mrs. Chopitea thought of everything that
Don Bosco might need and looked after Father Michael Rua and the sec-
retary Charles Viglietti. She therefore provided personal linen to wear and
inspected their rooms to make sure everything was kept clean and tidy,
even though a maid was responsible for this. She also sent one of her
cooks to prepare their food and cooked some meals herself.

Marquis Brusi, the editor of El Diario de Barcelona, a widely circu-
lated newspaper, called on Don Bosco and emerged from his room deeply
touched. In that day’s issue, he published an article containing a precise
and detailed description of Don Bosco’s arrival in Sarria.

SUNDAY, APRIL 11th

At that time, as we’ve already said, Sarria was an independent com-
munity with a transient population that in certain seasons of the year
might have jumped to twenty-five thousand. The mayor, the board of
aldermen and other leading authorities officially called on Don Bosco to
pay their respects. All manifested the greatest veneration for him. The
mayor, in particular, said that he thanked Heaven for having given a
Salesian house to Sarrid, and promised that the municipal authorities
would have always protected it to the best of their abilities. These gentle-
men were delighted with the medal of Mary Help of Christians and with
the blessing that Don Bosco gave to each of them.

Later, it was interesting to note what attention the editor of the £/ Correo
Cataldn paid to what Don Bosco said, as did a number of university students
and representatives of Barcelona’s evening schools. When they had all gone,
the provincial of the Jesuits and some Jesuit fathers called on him.

Towards evening, the band gave a concert in the courtyard, which was
all lit up for the occasion, and the day ended with fireworks. Since the
gates had been left open, so as not to displease the neighbors, a stream of
people entered the courtyard of the school. Don Bosco, too, wanted to
enjoy the spectacle, but he was careful about his eyesight, only opening
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his eyes to admire a wonderful balloon on which his name was written in
large letters. It was allowed to soar upward into the air, majestically float-
ing over the city of Barcelona.

MONDAY, APRIL 12th

The above-mentioned Diario sang Don Bosco’s praises, as well as the
praises of his worldwide activity and the workshops at Sarria in a second
article. On his visit the previous day, the editor of the journal had admired
Don Bosco’s superior intelligence and indomitable will-power, evidenced
by his features, as well as his holiness.

How delighted Don Bosco was at all times to meet the past pupils of
the Oratory! One such man named James Gherna was then residing in
Barcelona. He hastened to see Don Bosco again and once more kiss his
hand. He had been having trouble with his legs for years, suffering so
intensely at times that the journey to Sarria meant a great hardship to him.
As soon as he saw his benefactor, he told him of his sufferings.

“Do not worry about it,” Don Bosco said. “Relax!”

As Don Bosco was speaking, he touched Gherna’s knees. Then he
started recalling the early days of the Oratory, reminiscing about episodes
and people. Gherna recalled very well how, in taking leave of Don Bosco
in 1860, he had said, “Come to Barcelona some time!”

To which Don Bosco had answered, “Who knows?” He had said it in
a tone that Gherna always remembered as a confirmation of something of
which he was certain. “Now you see that that ‘who knows’ has come
true,” he said.

From one topic to another, the mind of that old pupil kept on crowd-
ing up with so many precious memories. He went back to Barcelona
without realizing that he had been cured, so much was he taken up by
the tender recollections of the years he had spent under Don Bosco’s
paternal guidance. He only realized that his pains no longer troubled
him when he was in the city. Then he recalled that he had not felt any
more pain from the moment the saint had put a hand on his knees. He
was never again troubled by any such pains. He did have other ailments
during the course of his life, but he remained immune from all further
trouble with his knees. This was confirmed by the testimony of Father
Philip Rinaldi.?

8 See Appendix 1.



56 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

TUESDAY, APRIL 13th

A circular letter compiled by Father John Baptist Lemoyne and signed
by the prefect general, Father Celestine Durando, passed on more out-
standing details of Don Bosco’s journey, up to the moment he arrived at
the school of Sarri, to all the houses of the Congregation. A second let-
ter of the same nature would be sent out on May 5th.

Another journalist, the editor of La Revista popular, Dr. Sarda y
Salvayan, called on Don Bosco and remained for dinner. Between three and
six o’clock in the afternoon, according to estimates made, some two thou-
sand people must have approached him. A fifteen-year-old girl, whose right
hand and leg were withered, came with her mother to ask for Don Bosco’s
blessing. He blessed her and then asked, “Where do you feel pain?”

“Here in my hand. I can’t move it.”

As she spoke, she was quite unaware that she had lifted her hand,
holding it palm outward before some thirty spectators. Don Bosco
smiled, while the girl, embarrassed, felt that her hand was not yet flexible.
But the saint told her to clasp her hands and to repeat with him, “Oh!
Mary, cure me!”

Then he told her to say three Qur Fathers, Hail Marys and Glory Bes
until the Feast of Corpus Christi, not in order to be cured, but in thanks-
giving for the cure already granted. Her leg was also healed, since the girl
was able to go away without limping.

The administrator who had accompanied Father John Baptist Branda
to meet Don Bosco at the border gave him a letter from Marquis Jovert of
Gelida, his master, who humbly begged Don Bosco to pray for him. The
saint replied in his own handwriting, assuring him of his prayers and ask-
ing him to choose a day and let him know when he wished to receive com-
munion, for on the same morning, he would then celebrate Mass for his
intentions.

When his family heard about the letter of the marquis, they were all
astonished by its religious sentiments, for he had not gone to confession
for a very long time. But there was more. Wholeheartedly absorbed in
maritime trade, this gentleman was very wealthy, but he was tormented
by a mania that made him very unhappy. It might be referred to as copro-
phobia, because he was always imagining that everything was filthy with
dung. He would not eat with his family. When he was told once that his
wife’s mother had gone to Sarrid, a locality that according to him was
utterly filthy, he no longer wished to see her, and woe to her if she dared
to try to touch her daughter! Now and then, he became fully aware of his
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condition and had even vowed he would donate a large sum of money if
he were granted the grace of being cured of this morbid obsession.

The condition seemed to be caused by a fall. Years before, when he
was on his way to Lourdes with his wife, his horse pranced, then broke
into a wild gallop and, at last, plunged with its rider into a deep ravine.
The horse cracked its skull open, although the marquis had only some
slight bruises on his side. Since the ravine into which he had been thrown
was no less than two hundred and fifty meters deep, superstitious people
thought that he must have been possessed by a devil. His relatives had
pinned all their hopes on Don Bosco, but the marquis steadfastly refused
to meet him, since he had read in the papers that the saint would have to
come to him from the abominable city of Sarrid. His wife, however, had
called on Don Bosco in secret in the company of her administrator and
had come away deeply comforted by a long conversation with him. She
felt that it was already half a grace granted that her husband had written
so devoutly and spontaneously to the servant of God.

In the fervor of his faith, an old colonel wished at all costs to kiss the
feet of Don Bosco. After him there came a family consisting of twenty-
two people. When they all knelt down for his blessing, Don Bosco turned
to a lady who was present among others and said to her, “You are not to
kneel down.” She suffered from a knee ailment that would have only per-
mitted her to kneel with great discomfort. But who had told him about it?
The incident did not fail to arouse astonishment and deep emotion.

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 14th

Many people attended Don Bosco’s Mass. He administered
Communion to about two hundred persons. At midday, Mrs. Chopitea
arranged a restful diversion for him at her villa, located in the middle of
an immense park with a garden, which was delightful with its great vari-
ety of rare animals. As one went up the staircase leading to the living
quarters, one had to pass in front of a large mirror on the first landing.
Don Bosco turned to the people who had come to meet him.

“You must remember to invite these other gentlemen to supper,” he
said, and pointed to their reflections in the mirror.

Everyone laughed at the jest, which offered him an opportunity of
telling a pleasant anecdote about something that had happened in a clothes
store some years before in Marseilles. Father Martin, the pastor of the parish
on whose jurisdiction the house of La Navarre depended, had tagged along
with Don Bosco. This priest was very simple and sincere, and finding him-
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self face to face with a big mirror, he removed his hat, in a moment of con-
fused distraction, out of respect for the priest he believed he saw in front of
him, which instead was his own reflection. At the same time, the imaginary
stranger had, naturally enough, done the same thing. On his way to the door
of the store, the priest said with courtesy, “You first,” and made a gesture.
But the other priest repeated the same gesture, though he did not speak. “No,
no,” the curate repeated, “You first.”

This went on for some minutes, while Don Bosco, who studiously kept
away from the reflecting mirror, had a good laugh. The gentlemen listen-
ing to him now likewise laughed, as they heard this delightful anecdote.

Not very far away from the villa was an aristocratic school for girls,
directed by the Sisters of the Sacred Heart. He was asked to go and visit
it, and he did so. The entire community went to welcome him at the
entrance hall, while the boarders awaited him on the terrace outside the
big study hall. There was a fair sized gathering of priests and people
who wished to see him and receive his blessing. He advanced slowly,
supported by Father Michael Rua and Charles Viglietti, talking affably
with the mother superior, Mother de Bofarull. The large group of
boarders improvised a pleasant surprise for him in the garden by inton-
ing a charming hymn to Our Lady of Consolation set to a well-known,
popular melody of Turin. As soon as he reached the building, he sat
down to rest a while.

Among those present there was the mother of a pupil. Within two
short weeks, she had lost two children. Taking advantage of the opportu-
nity, this mother knelt at the feet of the saint, told him about her misfor-
tunes, and implored him to cure her elder daughter, who was so retarded
that, although she was fourteen, she was not allowed to make her first
Communion. Touched by the poor woman’s grief, Don Bosco sent for the
girl, gave her a medal, and then rested his right hand on her head. He pro-
nounced the formula of the blessing aloud and promised to pray for the
grace the lady desired, should it be to the greater glory of God. He then
addressed the weeping mother, “Have faith. Your daughter will receive
Communion.” He said nothing more. The prediction came true, for the
child was at last able to approach the sacred table, and a few months later,
God called her to himself.

Amid general excitement, Don Bosco started moving again in the direc-
tion of the terrace. Just as he was about to cross the threshold, the sound of
the Salesian band in the garden cheered everyone up. When the playing
ceased, two pupils advanced and one of them, on behalf of their companions,
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presented Don Bosco with an elegant pocketbook containing a donation,
while the other read a speech to him.” Then Don Bosco spoke, urging them
all to receive the sacraments often. After that, they filed past him, one by
one, to receive a medal of Mary Help of Christians from his hand.

Among the boarders there was Mercedes S., eight years old, a beau-
tiful child who, however, had been a cripple from birth. Her father, who
had but this one daughter, would have given anything to rid her of her
physical handicap. He hoped for a miracle, and the little girl had prepared
for one with a novena of prayers. When she was brought before the saint
for his blessing and was told about her, he replied, “No, it would not be
for her own good.”"

The sisters awaited him in the study, some eighty of them all togeth-
er, and they presented him with a very artistic monstrance. They, too,
were given a medal and his blessing. One of the sisters there had been ill
for a long time, without hope for recovery. She had made a tremendous
effort to leave the infirmary and dragged herself to receive Don Bosco’s
blessing, thinking, “Who knows? At times, the most desperate hour is
God’s own hour.”

As though the saint had read her thoughts, he said, “My daughter, we
must love our cross, for it is Jesus Who burdens our shoulders with it.”
The nun understood, took heart, and abandoned herself completely to
God’s Will.

The mother superior could not stop thanking Don Bosco for his pre-
cious visit. She had written to Turin four times the previous year, to ask
for special graces from Mary Help of Christians, and her prayers had
always been answered. As he walked through the garden on his way out,
the boarders were allowed to leave the study hall and line up on either side
of his path, and when he had gone, they crowded onto the terrace and the
upper balconies, shouting “long live Don Bosco™ and waving their hand-
kerchiefs or scarves.

A third article appeared in El Diario de Barcelona, in praise of Don
Bosco and his institute, stressing Spain’s appreciation for his schools for
arts and crafts. “There is an aura of holiness discernible in his appear-
ance, which is an echo of his Christian virtues and pure faith,” it read,
“and it is thanks to these that he has been successful in his work and is

9 Viglietti obtained a copy and brought it back to Turin, but all we found of it was the Italian translation. See
Appendix, doc. 10.
10 See Vol. XV1, p.158 for a similar case.
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able to continue guiding his mission of faith and civilization with such
rousing success.”"!

THURSDAY, APRIL 15th

Besides the committee of aristocratic ladies already mentioned, there
was another committee of Cooperators whose task it was to raise funds
for the Salesian school in Sarria. The saint held a meeting for them, too,
during the course of which he explained what was meant by cooperating
with Don Bosco.

During the afternoon, there was a meeting of another kind held in his
presence. There was a flourishing Catholic association in Barcelona whose
members were drawn from the most eminent ranks of the local citizens. Its
president had been at the railroad station when Don Bosco arrived and called
on him in the afternoon of the 10th of April with a group of prominent mem-
bers with whom the Saint held a long and cordial conversation. Finally, these
members decided to organize a solemn assembly meeting in his honor. A
personal invitation was sent out to call all members to the meeting on the
15th of April™. On the morning of the 14th, the membership attended Don
Bosco’s Mass, while the president and the secretary served his Mass. In the
evening, they came back again to the school’s theater for a private meeting,
or religious assembly, at which Don Bosco was present.

The general assembly on the 15th was quite another matter. Together
with the board of directors, the president went to Sarria to pick up Don
Bosco and accompany him to their social headquarters. They all wore cer-
emonial dress, with the badge of the society on their chests. Three coach-
es waited outside the door. Don Bosco was the first to get in one of them,
together with Father Michael Rua, the vicar of the diocese, and the pro-
vicar. The president and Charles Viglietti, the cleric, followed in the sec-
ond, with the other people in the third. Until that time, the association had
held its meetings in an old house that, in view of the increasing member-
ship, had now become too small; so a new building had been procured. It
was to be inaugurated on the day of Don Bosco’s visit. Three big rooms
were barely sufficient to accommodate all those who attended the meet-
ing, since a number of the members had come with their wives.

Everyone rose as Don Bosco made his entrance, while an orchestra
struck up a triumphant march. Once at his seat on a high dais, Don Bosco

11 See Appendix, doc. 11.
12 See Appendix, doc. 12.
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listened to a beautiful vocal rendition of Salve Regina, performed by about
twenty young voices under the baton of its composer, Maestro Frigola, who
by then had already begun to make a name for himself also outside of Spain.
The president, a university professor, then delivered a noble and outstanding
welcome speech. After a short interval, a sonata was played and the secre-
tary announced that during a council meeting, the association had voted to
decorate Don Bosco with its social insignia of the association order. At this,
two gentlemen stepped forward and hung a gold medal embossed with the
emblems of Saints George and Joseph around his neck. Once this decoration
was bestowed, new member Don Bosco was met with an enthusiastic ova-
tion. Once again, and more markedly than ever, did the contrast between the
pageantry around him and Don Bosco’s own humble manner stand out.

Don Bosco now felt obliged to say a few words. His voice rang out
strongly and his words were vibrant. Although he spoke in Italian, he was
easily understood. This was his speech:

Gentlemen:

I wish 1 knew your beautiful native tongue, so that I could
express my thoughts with it. I am unable to tell you what I feel in
my heart just now, but I am deeply moved at the thought of all
that this meeting means, and especially at the decoration you have
conferred upon me.

I promise you that I will treasure this medal as a glorious
badge that honors me. Whenever I look at it, I will remember the
Catholic Association and the Catholics of Barcelona. When 1
return to Turin, I will proudly show it to my beloved sons, urging
them to emulate the virtues of the Barcelona Catholics, and when
I go to Rome and see the Holy Father, I will tell him that the
Catholic Association of Barcelona loves him and about all that it
is doing for the benefit of a sound doctrine.

May I express my most fervent thanks to the president for the
undeserved praise he gave me in his speech, the main theme
being the great advantages accruing to our modern society from
the institution of the Salesian talleres [technical schools].

I am very much impressed by the Catholic enthusiasm that
prevails here, and I congratulate the city of Barcelona, which has
been eminently devout throughout the ages. I am delighted to
know that it will continue this in the future, thereby meriting
future glory days.
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As an industrial population, it is more personally concerned
than any other in sponsoring the Salesian talleres [technical
schools]. Every year, fifty thousand youths who can be useful to
society emerge from these schools to join the work force. They go
to factories and labs, and here they carry their sound values. This
keeps them out of gallows and out of prisons and they turn into
living examples of wholesome principles.

The boy who grows in your streets will first beg you for alms, and
then he will demand it, and lastly, will force you to give it at gunpoint.

As a civilizing effect of these schools, I can point to the
results obtained by the Salesian missions in Patagonia, where the
religion of Jesus Christ is already known and observed by over
fourteen thousand natives.

I will now close, begging this honorable assembly to assist
the schools in the neighboring area of Sarria with its prayers, so
that God may bless them, for without any doubt, they are destined
to improve the lot of poor and abandoned orphans.

He was interrupted by applause three times, and the audience was
overwrought with deep emotion. After a collection had been taken up
on behalf of the Salesian Institute, Don Bosco blessed the assembly and
the meeting came to an end. At this time began what was for him the
most wearying part of the proceedings, for the entire assembly flocked
around him, and took him by storm. This was not just any crowd, but
a choice crowd of aristocrats, who knew how to respect etiquette.
Nevertheless, because there were so many of them, they wore him out,
since he sought to please them all, holding out his hand to be kissed,
saying comforting words, and every now and again, bestowing a spe-
cial blessing.

The same people as his escort accompanied him back to Sarria. He
could not take it anymore, yet his good humor was unfaltering. He
remarked to the cleric Viglietti that while they were bestowing all those
honors on him, he kept going over in his mind the famous motto “Quam
parva sapientia regitur mundus [What a small amount of wisdom does
the world need to be governed]!”"

13 The Swedish chancellor Ozenstiern is supposed to have said to his son who, in his timidity, had declined
the office of first plenipotentiary envoy of Sweden to the Munster Congress in 1648, “Videbis, fili mi, quam parva
sapientia regitur mundus.”
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The meaning of the event is sacredly kept in an eloquent booklet that
besides the account of the exceptional assembly meeting, also gives the
president’s speech and Don Bosco’s own brief address translated into
Spanish." The newspapers dedicated considerable space to the event.

FRIDAY, APRIL 16th

A small boy, whose arm was so twisted that he could neither lift nor
move it, was brought to see Don Bosco. He had been maimed like this
since his infancy. His parents begged Don Bosco to bless the child, which
he did. He then ordered him to stretch out his arm, clap his hands and
clasp them, saying, “Mary, help me!” The child obeyed. This was the
beginning of his total recovery.

The chaplain of the Sisters of Loretto now called on Don Bosco and
begged him for the third time to gratify the request of the mother superi-
or of that convent. She was dying of cancer and had asked for nothing
more than to see him before she died. He had immediately sent word that
as soon as he could, he would go to visit her and in the meantime, he was
sending her a medal of Mary Help of Christians.

A poor boy of Barcelona named Medina had gangrene in one of his fin-
gers and the surgeons were about to amputate it. After he had called on Don
Bosco and received his blessing, he did not experience anything at all at first,
but during the night, his finger was completely healed. A little later, Father
John Branda enrolled him in the school, but he only stayed a few months, for
he entered the Congregation of the Marist Fathers and when the director told
the story to Father Lemoyne in 1890, he was studying theology.

SATURDAY, APRIL 17th

There was a great banquet given by Mr. Narciso in Don Bosco’s
honor. Only relatives of the master of the house were invited. The host’s
uncle had written a sonnet, which he read to him. When he returned
home, a number of people were awaiting him.

SUNDAY, APRIL 18th
Thousands of people thronged the street, the courtyard, the waiting
room, and the adjoining chambers. It became necessary to put up a notice

14 “fcta De La Sesion Solemne [Minutes of the Solemn Session] held April 15, 1886 by the Catholic
Association of Barcelona, to confer the decoration of the association on the illustrious and venerable priest Fr. John
Bosco, Founder of the Salesian Technical Schools.” (Barcelona: Catholic Publishers, 1886).
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on the outer door of the church, stating the hours during which Don Bosco
would bestow his blessing. “Don Bosco is tired and his health is none too
good,” Viglietti remarked in his diary.

MONDAY, APRIL 19th

Don Bosco was thinking of the house of San Benigno, the vocations
hot house of the Congregation, and he had someone write to say that he
was praying for the clerics there and hoped to see them again soon. He
granted audiences from morning until night. He telegraphed Br. Rossi
that he was to send a great number of medals immediately.

TUESDAY, APRIL 20th

“Don Bosco can barely breathe and his strength is drained out,” the
diary reads, “and only by imparting his blessing and saying, ‘Dios os
beniga [God bless you].””

By now he was obliged to give only general blessings. After he cele-
brated Mass every morning, he blessed the congregation in the church.
Once they had left the church, another congregation entered to fill it, only
to be blessed as the others had been. Then, as soon as he made it to his
room and with difficulty, he immediately began to give audiences. The
railway administration was obliged to increase the number of round trip
trains between Barcelona and Sarria.

The bishop of Vich, Bishop Morgadez y Gili, had arrived expressly to
see Don Bosco. Greeted by the strains of the royal Spanish March, the
bishop remained for dinner with two canons, who had accompanied him.
He was followed by several outstanding families from Barcelona, among
them that of the governor. The bishop of the diocese, Bishop Catala y
Albosa also arrived. In view of the prevailing views of those years, it was
considered an act of extreme graciousness that the bishop should first call
on Don Bosco without Don Bosco having to do so first, since he knew
that he was away from his residence. The bishop treated him with genuine
affection and spoke with him for more than an hour. The letter brought in
person by the secretary of the minister of state, Silvela, of which we spoke
in the previous volume, was read out in his presence. It dealt with the
school of Madrid. The courtesy extended to Don Bosco by all these emi-
nent people enhanced the feeling of veneration existing among the com-
mon people.

When we described the events of his journey to Paris, we had occa-
sion to mention Madame de Cessac, a fervent admirer and generous bene-
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factress of Don Bosco. On the 20th, he received a telegram from Paris that
read: “Viscountess de Cessac very sick. (signed) Viscount de Cessac.”
Saddened by this piece of news, Don Bosco had Father Michael Rua reply
to the telegram, promising he would pray. But before the letter was
mailed, a second telegram arrived announcing: “I recovered quite sud-
denly yesterday evening and am eating and drinking. Thank you for your
prayers. (signed) Viscountess de Cessac.”

In a confidential letter dated April 30th, her husband wrote to Father
Michael Rua, describing the sickness of his wife and the manner in which she
had recovered. Her recovery had apparently taken place while Don Bosco was
praying for her. However, the recovery was not lasting. The little notebook in
which Don Bosco drafted letters (which were then to be copied and mailed to
his principal benefactors after his death in 1884) also contains one for Madame
de Cessac, but the saint himself added this line, prefaced by a cross, two years
later: Requiescat in pace - 1886. This good lady died in the fall of that year.

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 21st

Don Bosco was on his way to say Mass at the home of Marchioness
de Comillas when his way down the stairs was suddenly barred. A pos-
sessed woman, as soon as she saw him, flung herself to the ground, and
apparently, passed out, foaming at the mouth, writhing like a snake. He
told her to invoke Mary, but she shrieked, “No, no!”

Then the evil spirit spoke through her lips. “No, I do not want to get
out of here! I do not intend to go!”

Since the wretched woman’s name was Mary, Don Bosco called to her,
“Mary, take hold of this medal!” But she gave no sign that she had heard.

At last, Don Bosco blessed her. At that, the young woman rose to
her feet, took the medal that Don Bosco held out to her, kissed it,
entered the church and attended Mass. She appeared to be cured. She ate
breakfast quietly and did all this in the presence of many other people.
The people who accompanied her said that they had not seen her behave
so calmly for a long, long time, and they were astonished. She went
back home, greatly comforted.

Outside, two very handsome carriages were waiting to escort the
saint to the marchioness, who treated him with the same honors she would
have given to a cardinal. Here we quote Charles Viglietti, who wrote:

We arrived at the palace of the marchioness. One might well
describe it as a royal residence. There are a lot of riches, especial-
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ly artistic masterpieces and its huge halls. Whenever some prince
or king visits Barcelona, they always stay at the marchioness’
palace. Everything connected with her private altar is most mag-
nificent. The missal is covered with chiseled gold and silver,
encrusted with precious stones. Both the chalice and the pyx are
of solid gold, adorned with diamonds, emeralds, and topaz.

During the Divine Sacrifice of the Mass, there was singing to the
accompaniment of the organ and the piano, but it was all Italian music.
Some two hundred persons, relatives and friends of the marchioness, were
in attendance. Afterward, Don Bosco had to meet every single one of
them, interviewing them individually or in small groups until eleven
o’clock. From there, he made a return visit to the bishop, who gave him
a most cordial welcome. Don Bosco was entertaining the idea of estab-
lishing a novitiate in Barcelona, just as he had done at Marseilles, or even
a national missionary seminary, and he mentioned it to the bishop, who
promised his patronage and assistance. The bishop agreed with Don
Bosco on the plan to begin by opening an elementary school at Sarrié that
would help to foster vocations to the priesthood. It looked as if the bish-
op could not bear to let him go, and he even accompanied him to the head
of the stairwell, which was something quite unheard of. Don Bosco then
lunched with Marchioness de Moragas, the mother-in-law of Mr. Jobert.

When he left her house, he called at the convent of the Sisters of
Loretto to comfort their superior as he had promised, for by now she was
almost at death’s door with a malignant tumor. He spoke words of comfort
to her and blessed her. Then both the entire community and its chaplain
introduced him to a nun who for a long time had been forced to sit with
crossed legs, without ever taking one single step or moving. Informed the
day before that Don Bosco was to pass by her convent, which overlooked
the road leading from Barcelona to Sarria, she had someone carry her on
a stretcher outside the house to receive his blessing. At this blessing, which
had been bestowed on her as he went by, she felt herself cured, and rising
to her feet, she began to walk all by herself to the great astonishment of all.
Now again, in the presence of Don Bosco, she started to run and skip, to
the continuing amazement of everybody who had seen her immobile for
so long a time. The nun, whose name was Sister Candida, was still alive in
1935 and lived in a small village at San Sebastian.

Upon his return to the school, Don Bosco found the street and court-
yard jammed with people and coaches. Inside, some two hundred and
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fifty members from the Society of Saint Vincent de Paul awaited him.
Don Bosco joined them immediately, with an affectionate greeting, con-
gratulating them on their piety and faith. He spoke to them about the
Salesian Congregation and their own organization, explaining how both
these institutions were in harmony. Instantly, a collection was taken up,
as is the custom at every session of the members of the various chapters.
Finally, Don Bosco blessed them and after giving a medal of Mary Help
of Christians to each of them, he retired to his room to grant audiences to
the many people impatiently waiting to speak with him.

“Many and many are the graces obtained every day through the bless-
ing of Mary Help of Christians imparted by Don Bosco,” Viglietti writes,
“and every day we receive reports of the wondrous effects it produces.
But by now it is quite impossible to keep notes on all of them.”

HOLY THURSDAY, APRIL 22nd

In Spain, the last three days of Holy Week are dedicated entirely to
liturgical celebrations, mainly to the commemoration of the mysteries of
the passion and death of our Lord Jesus Christ. All other occupations are
set aside: no calls are made, unless absolutely necessary; railway services
and trolley car services are reduced to a minimum; the factories and
stores are closed; and the churches are crowded. These three days brought
immense relief to weary Don Bosco, who was thus able to enjoy a little
peace and spend some time with his sons at Sarria.

Yet, there is an exception to every rule, for despite the prevailing cessa-
tion of visits, he did receive a visit from Mr. Mas and his wife and son. This
gentleman was the owner of a famous cotton mill, the most important in
Barcelona, which was located where the industrial university has its head-
quarters today. He was a much respected and zealous Catholic, and was
seeking a special blessing for himself and his family from Don Bosco. He
was admitted after some difficulty and remained with his family for more
than an hour with Don Bosco in his room. As they were taking their leave,
the saint embraced Mr. Mas closely for a few seconds, whispering certain
words into his ear that have never been fully revealed to anyone else. Only
two years later when Mr. Mas was about to die, he told his wife that she too
should prepare for death, because Don Bosco had told him that very soon
both of them would meet in eternity. His wife did, in fact, die a month later.

The deceased left to his son, Joseph, a large crucifix that Don Bosco
had given him. This same son had been stricken by a severe pneumonia
in 1934 at the age of 72, and the physicians had no hope of saving his life.
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He hung the crucifix around his neck and, to the astonishment of his doc-
tors, he recovered completely a few days later.

In the afternoon of Holy Thursday, Father Michael Rua and Charles
Viglietti, the cleric, were escorted by Father Narciso to visit seven church-
es in the city. We will quote a page of a letter from Charles Viglietti to
Father Lemoyne that records traditional Spanish piety: “We had a host of
things to tell Don Bosco when we got back to Sarria,” he said, “because
truly we had not believed that such piety existed in Spain. We saw soldiers
in gala uniforms march in orderly fashion to visit the sepulchers, led by
their officers. All the buildings in the city and government offices were
displaying flags festooned with black borders in sign of mourning. There
was not a carriage to be seen in the streets, nor did one hear the sound of
any voices or musical instruments. Everywhere the streets were jammed
with people on their way to church, holding their rosaries and prayer
books in their hands. During these three days there are no coaches in
Barcelona, and trains are standing still in the railway stations. There is no
postal service either, and all stores and factories are closed. This religious,
silent spell is broken only at midday on Holy Saturday. Spanish soldiers
are under obligation to attend Holy Mass every Sunday.”

The woman possessed by a devil made her second appearance on the
21st. She raved like a maniac, but again, no sooner had she received Don
Bosco’s blessing than she regained control of herself, kissed the picture of
our Lady, and pressed it to her breast again and again while thanking Don
Bosco.

GOOD FRIDAY, APRIL 23rd

Don Bosco spent the day in intimate contact with his sons. The boys
went home during the morning, but in the afternoon, they kept Don
Bosco company for a long time, and he joked and strolled with them in
the playground. Then he went into the two adjacent gardens, strolling
through them far and wide. He then visited the entire facility, always
accompanied by pupils. He was informed of everything going on, and
made some plans for expansion, suggesting that more land be bought next
to the present school.

HOLY SATURDAY, APRIL 24th

Don Bosco said Mass in Father Narciso’s private chapel. In that house,
one could hear the roar of the cannon announcing the moment of the Easter
Alleluia! This was almost like the signal for the crowd to see him once again.
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As a matter of fact, when Don Bosco returned home, several hundred peo-
ple were already waiting for him, and he held audiences up to 1:30 p.m.

Later, a committee of men preparing for a Salesian meeting called on
him. He talked with them at length of his undertakings and how best they
could be supported. The ladies of the women’s committee also wanted to
see him once again. They were gathered in a separate room and the saint
joined them, encouraging them to persevere in their charitable activity. In
the meantime, several thousand people had invaded the school grounds
and the immediate vicinity of the house. Thanks to the rest he had
enjoyed during the previous days, he was able to prolong his interviews
until late in the evening.

EASTER, APRIL 25th

A very charming little celebration enhanced the joy of Don Bosco’s
Easter Mass. A little niece of Father Narciso, the daughter of Emmanuel
Pascual, was going to receive her First Communion. This wealthy and
zealous Christian was deeply attached to the Salesians and took delight in
helping them with his vast influence and lavishing his charity on them. In
his happiness that it was Don Bosco who would administer First
Communion to his child, he wanted to make the boys of the house happy
by giving them some sweets. Among the guests there was that same Mr.
Montobbio who had made the journey together with Don Bosco. He, too,
enjoyed the refreshments after Mass. Don Bosco took the seat of honor.
At a certain moment, he got his handkerchief out of his pocket. Taking
advantage of the cordiality the saint displayed toward him, Mr.
Montobbio asked Don Bosco to make him a present of it. Don Bosco
replied, “Yes, on the condition that you give me a piece of paper.”

Mr. Montobbio understood to what kind of paper he was alluding, but
since he did not have the sum he meant to give him on his person, he
promised to return some other day with the paper, asking for the hand-
kerchief. The saint consented, and the handkerchief is religiously treas-
ured as a relic to the present day.

Don Bosco saw the Oratory even in a dream. During the night of the
25th, he thought he was present at a talk that Father John Baptist Lemoyne
was giving the senior students, and he noticed how many of them were
absent. He then went down to the church of Mary Help of Christians dur-
ing the community Mass and noticed that the number of communicants
had fallen off. Later, when the above-mentioned pupils had made their
manifestation, he had to deplore the absence of not a few. In the morning,
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he had someone write a letter about these matters and sent it to Turin, let-
ting it be known that when he got home he would reveal to each boy the
role he had played in the dream.

MONDAY, APRIL 26th

Don Bosco gave communion to many people at Mass until he could no
longer endure the hardship. He handed the pyx to another priest who was
obliged to come out from behind the altar rail and walk among the crowd in
the church, since the crush was so great that it was impossible for the faith-
ful to approach the altar. In the brief span of an hour, Don Bosco emptied
seven big boxes of medals, giving only one single medal to each individual.

What a critical moment it was when he tried to go upstairs to his
room - a human wall was barring his way! The boarders of the house
exchanged hopeless glances, not knowing what they could do to help him.
But Don Bosco seemed to be utterly serene. The only remedy was to bolt
and bar the front door, so that at least no one else could gain access. Then
several people pushed and struggled to make a path for him. This maneu-
ver continued from ten until eleven o’clock.

When he finally was safely escorted to his room, forty or fifty people at
a time were allowed to enter the room, and he imparted to them a general
blessing, gave everyone a medal, and then dismissed them to make room for
another group. This was repeated twelve times until the people crowded in
the interior of the school could be admitted, but outside there was an ever
greater crowd. Access was granted in groups until nightfall. In the chapel,
Father Michael Rua preached his first sermon in Spanish to the boys.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27th

Don Bosco’s relatively good health was brought to an end by a bad
cold, but this did not prevent him from granting an audience to the
Barcelona seminarians. Nothing more of note to report for this day is on
record, save his signature to a circular letter inviting Cooperators and
friends to the parish church of Belén for a meeting on the 30th."

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 28th

No matter where he went, Don Bosco never lost an opportunity to
comfort the afflicted. A venerable old man, Raymond de Ponsich, who

15 See Appendix, doc. 14.
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was rich and childless, had lost his wife at the beginning of the month. He
did nothing but weep. He would neither eat nor rest, and people were
afraid he would die of his grief. Both he and his relatives hoped that a visit
from Don Bosco would restore his peace of mind.

Don Bosco called at his magnificent palace, which was not far from
the school of Sarria, at seven-thirty in the morning. Once there, he heard
the confession of the pious old man, said Mass for him, and administered
Holy Communion to him. Later, he remained talking with him for nearly
three hours and dined with his relatives. Throughout that day, the old man
did not weep and, later on, he seemed calm and resigned to his grief. Don
Bosco wrote to him on August 3 1st from San Benigno, sending his good
wishes for his name day and reminding him about his resolution to help
the missionaries in Patagonia. Today, the original is well worn out and
barely legible, since many sick people have used it as a relic.

We should also relate the story of a sui generis encounter. A priest had
called on Don Bosco a few days before to inform him in strict confidence
that the following night, the pastor of Saint Mary of the Pine would die. He
said he had already received Holy Viaticum and was in extremis. He said
that his parish was richer than all the others and it was the best parish from
every point of view. He, therefore, asked for a special blessing so that he
might be successful in taking it over from other competitors.

Don Bosco answered, “Yet, this pastor sent people to me who toid me
that he would recover, were I but to visit him. I am told he is an excellent
priest, of the kind of which the Church is in great need at the present time.
I will pray for him, and only a few minutes ago I sent him a medal of
Mary Help of Christians. So let us do this. Join me in my prayers, so that
God may do with you and the pastor whatever is best for His greater
glory.”

Many priests and pastors had registered their applications for that parish.
All of them were disappointed because on April 28 it was known that as
soon as the medal of Mary Help of Christians had been put on the sick man’s
ulcer he, who had been given up by the doctors, and whose last minutes
appeared to be numbered, had suddenly begun to improve noticeably.

From investigations made in the parish files at the church of Saint Mary
of the Pine, it appears that the name of this priest was Francis de Paola
Esteve Nadal. The newspapers of April 1886 say that the pastor of this
church, Father Francis Esteve, had received Holy Viaticum and in the death
records at the selfsame parish, his name is listed under April 11, 1889. This
means that he lived for another three years after his miraculous recovery.
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That same evening, something unexpected occurred. While some
forty people who had received a general blessing from Don Bosco were
filing past him in his room to receive a medal, there was a sudden gener-
al outcry. A woman got into the room laughing in such a way as to appear
insane and said, “Let these people here tell you about me. I am so excited
that I am unable to speak.”

She pointed to two women who had accompanied her from Barcelona
to Sarria to receive the usual blessing of Don Bosco. She had fallen down
the staircase in her own home, and had broken her foot. The doctors had
said there was no hope of any recovery. But after she had been blessed by
Don Bosco as he was going upstairs to his room, she had been able to
stand up a few minutes later, without need of assistance from anybody.
Once she recovered from her first astonishment, she seemed quite out of
herself with joy, which is why she had come into the room gesticulating
and shouting, to the accompaniment of oks and ahs from those who only
a few minutes earlier had pitied her.

Charles Viglietti ran to call Father Michael Rua and others so that
they might witness the scene. Her name was Rose Tarragona y Doret, and
she was the daughter of Joseph and Seraphina de Pons de Orboyd, from
Urge. She went home on foot, but came back the next morning to attend
Don Bosco’s Mass, feeling perfectly well, just as though she had never
suffered any inconvenience.

THURSDAY, APRIL 29th

Together with Father Michael Rua and Charles Viglietti, Don Bosco
called on the president of the Barcelona Bank, Oscar Pascual. While he was
at this house, a lady to be baptized was introduced to him. For a long time,
her legs had been so stiff that the poor woman had been unable to walk a
step. Don Bosco told her to say a certain prayer until January. She obeyed
and she began the New Year by going out and walking. Consuelo Pascual
de Marti wrote this to Father Charles Viglietti on January 1, 1887."

On his way home again, he remarked, “If I wished to open not only
the hearts but also the purses and have all the money I want, I would only
have to utter these true words: if you want to obtain graces from the most
holy Virgin, Mary Help of Christians, give and you will be certain to
receive; he who gives more will receive the more. But I do not say this

16 The letter read, “Please tell Don Bosco at once that it has been many years that this woman could not walk
a step, and now she aiready goes out of the house.”
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openly, so as not to frighten and turn against me both the authorities of
the government and of the Church.”

The immediate vicinity of the school had the appearance of a gigan-
tic fairground. “They come to Sarrid and walk straight to the school,”
Charles Viglietti wrote Father John Baptist Lemoyne, “and not finding
room inside the house, they sit down along the streets and eat their break-
fast, their dinner on the sidewalk, waiting entire days to see Don Bosco. I
say ‘to see’ only, because they are shepherded inside his room fifty and
sixty at a time to receive his blessing and medal from his hand, but then
they do not want to go away. I do all I can. I become hoarse, trying to get
them to move so as to make place for others. “What are you doing here?’
I ask them. ‘Oh! We want to look at him,’ they answer. ‘He is a saint! A
saint!” They gaze at him, weep and obtain great graces of recovery by
merely kissing his robe or receiving his blessing. By now, I am unable to
keep records of it all.”

On the 28th, a woman said she was suffering from cancer. The doc-
tors were advising her to undergo an operation. She received Don Bosco’s
blessing and the next day she went to the doctor for a new check-up. She
was found to be no longer in danger since the ulcer was healing. Such
news as this spread far and wide in the twinkling of an eye. “The news-
papers dedicate columns to it,” Charles Viglietti commented. “The bish-
op talks about it to those calling on him, the clergy discuss it with the
faithful, and the families with their relatives. Employees, soldiers and
working men all talk about it. No matter what is being discussed, people
always end up talking about him.”

Many people took photos of him as he sat in his room or walked
downstairs, while supported by someone else or as he stood before the
altar administering Communion. No wonder the bishop, who was not at
all inclined to be easily excited about anything, displayed an astonishing
partiality for Don Bosco’s work. During a talk to the clergy, he said he
was entirely in favor of Don Bosco.

This disposition of the hearts was the best preparation one would
expect to have and desired to have for the meeting organized by the gen-
tlemen of the committee. Divided into various subcommittees, they called
on individual families, collected money, enrolled new Cooperators, and
invited everyone to attend the meeting. Father Manuel Pascal had given
them a password, with which they greeted one another whenever they met
in the streets. One said, “A solis ortu usque ad occasum [From sunrise to
sunset],” to which the other replied, “Salesiani sumus [We are Salesians].”
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FRIDAY, APRIL 30th

Two weeks of such preparations had their effect. The meeting was also
a magnificent display of faith with which to begin the month of Mary.

Although the meeting was scheduled to begin at four o’clock in the
afternoon, the pastor of the church of Belen was obliged to open the doors
at one o’clock to prevent the crowd outside from breaking them, and at
two-thirty he had to close them again, to prevent any accident. Thousands
of people were shouting in vain outside in the square and adjoining
streets. Inside the church, which was very large and equipped with thirty
spacious stands or platforms, the people stood shoulder to shoulder,
jammed indescribably together.

Don Bosco had had dinner with Mrs. Chopitea and arrived at the
church in her carriage. Since it was quite out of the question that he could
enter the nave of the church, a side door by the sacristy was opened for
him. He then took his seat on the Gospel side of the altar, to the right of
the bishop, who had Father Candido (the abbot of the French Trappist
monastery of Saint Mary in The Desert of Toulouse'’) to his left hand,
while the dignitaries of the diocesan clergy sat all around. The civil and
military authorities, with the directors of business societies and newspa-
pers, were seated at the Epistle-side of the altar. The members of the
ladies’ and gentlemen’s committees occupied eminent seats in the body
of the church. The gentlemen wore their decorations on their chests. The
city’s mounted police was unable to hold back the crush outside, for a sea
of people broke through a gate; but beyond the gate, the outer bronze
doors held back their onslaught.

The ceremony went on as was the custom, which included the pre-
liminary reading aloud of a chapter from the life of Saint Francis de Sales.
The lecturer, Dr. Joseph Julia, asked the bishop, as he received his bless-
ing, “On what theme am I to lay particular stress?”

“Speak of the great work wrought by this man of God and make them
understand his mission thoroughly,” the bishop replied.

“What do you think, Don Bosco?” he asked then of the saint.

“I have nothing else to say but Deo gratias!” he answered.

The orator spoke of Don Bosco as the one sent by Divine Providence
to the Church to help her face the exceptional needs of the times, and he
praised the institution of the Tulleres Salesianos [Salesian technical

17 He was then in Spain for his canonical visit to the Trappist monastery there. Fr. Andrew Malet, then a
newly ordained priest, who today is abbot of St. Mary in the Desert, accompanied him as his secretary.
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schools], illustrating the good that had been accomplished by the talleres
of Sarria. Then Rossini’s Charity was sung, after which Don Bosco him-
self wished to speak. He came forward to the altar rails and said he
wished he had a voice like a bugle, such as one reads of in the Holy
Scriptures, so that he could thank the people of Barcelona for their man-
ifestations of faith, piety, charity, and warm welcome. He said that the
following morning he would celebrate Mass in that same church for all
those who were present. He said that during the day he had received by
telegram a special blessing from the Holy Father for every benefactor of
his Institute and for everyone attending the meeting.

Lastly, the bishop descended from his chair and stood beside Don
Bosco, translating with a powerful voice in Spanish what the saint had
said in his own language. The president of the ladies’ committee, Mrs.
Chopitea, and Antonita de Oscar Pascal, the treasurer, were seated by a
table to gather all the alms that the young members of the Catholic
Association and the Cooperators had collected with admirable order, from
the various sections of the church assigned to them.

When it was all over, the doors were reopened, and Charles
Viglietti writes:

Instead of going out, the crowd turned eagerly on Don Bosco.
Everyone wanted to see him, touch him, to be seen or hear him a
word from him. There was even some who, in order to touch him,
would fling themselves down on the ground, stretching out their
arm, risking being trampled. Thanks to the help of muscular
arms, it was possible to sweep Don Bosco away from the almost
indiscreet piety of the crowd. Otherwise, who knows what they
would have done to him. When he was in the coach with his com-
pany, he rode past the church to satisfy the curiosity of the crowd,
and an immense multitude stood, bareheaded, awaiting his pass-
ing by. And to just think that it was raining so hard!"

SATURDAY, MAY Ist

The attendance at Don Bosco’s Mass in the church of Belen was no less
spectacular than at the meeting. In the vestibule, Mrs. Chopitea and other
ladies were selling books and religious articles and collecting donations on

18 E] Diario de Barcelona of May 1st wrote about the excellent influence of Don Bosco’s presence in Sarria
(Appendix, doc. 15), after its report of the ceremony.



76 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

behalf of Don Bosco. After the Mass, there was another collection. Then,
Don Bosco blessed the congregation, thanked the people of Barcelona with
deeply moving expressions for all they had done for him, and praised their
edifying piety. The pastor tried to say something, too, but after his opening
words, he was overcome with emotion. Making a great effort, he said, “We
have a saint here in our midst. A man sent from Heaven!”

The crowd was delirious to the point that it pressed too heavily
against the gate of the altar railing, which gave way, then the crowd over-
flowed inside the sanctuary, sighing and groaning like the roaring of the
waves of a stormy sea. Don Bosco was hurried into safety only with great
difficulty and was taken into the sacristy.

He accepted an invitation from Manuel Pascual for the midday meal.
During the sumptuous banquet, he suggested that he dedicate one of the
bells of the Sacred Heart Church in Rome to commemorate the First
Communion of his little daughter on Easter Sunday. He already had the
inscription for the bell written out himself, and he read it."” Here, as in
other patrician households, everything that Don Bosco used or touched
was regarded as a precious relic. Glasses, cutlery, napkins, and other
objects were religiously set aside and treasured.

SUNDAY, MAY 2nd

Countless was the crowd that jammed the Salesian talleres. People
began arriving there at three in the morning, continuing until eight o’clock
at night, and many of them had fasted the whole day. The courtyards and the
streets beyond were jammed. It was impossible to give any private interviews
early in the day; so Don Bosco went out on a balcony of a room adjoining
his and imparted his blessing to thousands and thousands of the faithful.
Such scenes cannot possibly be described; one had to see them. One could
only weep in the presence of such faith, such charity, such religion!
Wherever Don Bosco went, there was already a stone or a bronze tablet
ready on which the date of his visit was to be inscribed as a remembrance.

It took him a good half hour to cover the short distance from his room
to the church when he went to say Mass. When he left the altar, he could
not even take off his chasuble since the crowd gathered in the sanctuary

19 Hac die magna Paschatis nobilis puella Maria de la Soledad Pascual y de Slanza scientia et virtute preco-
ci, aetatis annorum novem, prima vice ad coenam Angelorum in ecclesia asceterii Salesiani Barcinonensis Accessit.
Parentes Don Manuel M. Pascual de Boffarul y Maria de la Soledad de Slanza de Pascual gaudentes et benedicentes
Dominum ad perennem rei memoriam gratulanti animo posuerunt 1886.
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blocked his way, pulling him in every direction to kiss his hand and his
sacred vestments. “The worst of it is that in such a confusion and enthu-
siasm, Don Bosco at times is battered pretty badly,” Charles Viglietti
wrote. “They pull him, they scratch him and they carry him off bodily,
yet he always retains his calm, he even laughs at such enthusiastic expres-
sions, and at times he says, ‘They do hurt me, but it does not matter. The
biggest piece of all stays where it belongs.””

He did not put an end to his interviews until one o’clock p.m., when
the bishop and some forty eminent guests were expecting him for a
friendly dinner. The tables had been set up in their hall. During the
evening, he made frequent appearances on the balcony to bless the huge
crowd standing around. At night, he watched the fireworks. Among other
genial surprises, a lit-up portrait of Don Bosco dressed in Spanish cos-
tume made a sudden appearance.

MONDAY, MAY 3rd

In his unfailing goodness of heart that always guided him to do things
to please others, Don Bosco accepted an invitation that caused him some
inconvenience the morning of May 3rd. Mr. Suiier, the administrator of
Marchioness Moragas, was a former chamber musician at the court of
Napoleon III, and had composed various pieces of sacred and profane
music that he had a schola cantorum perform, a school he himself had
founded and now directed. He was anxious that Don Bosco should honor
the school with his presence at the rehearsal of one of his Masses. The
saint could not find it in his heart to say no, so he went down to the chapel
and sat there throughout the entire rehearsal. In his diary, Father Charles
Viglietti writes that the performance was excellent, but one may readily
believe that Don Bosco’s thoughts were concentrated elsewhere and not
on the melodious singing.

That same day, Louis Marti-Codolar gave a banquet in honor of Don
Bosco at his villa. He personally went to get him at eleven o’clock with a
coach drawn by six magnificent horses, with coachmen in livery. People
acclaimed him all along the route of the ride.

That villa was magnificent. Tourists visited it to admire its beauty.
There were several inscriptions to remind people about the visits of
princes and kings. The boys from the school had also been invited. From
the towers, which gave the building the aspect of a castle, the flags with
the coat of arms of the noble family were waving.

The whole large family, including the relatives, went to meet Don
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Bosco as he arrived, while the pupils of the school stood together around
the school band which played the royal Italian march. Over the entrance
was a floral inscription reading “Long live Don Bosco.” But the saint kept
his head down and did not notice the display. “Look, look, Don Bosco!
See what they did for you,” they told him. So he looked up, he smiled and
then again he recollected himself.

The daughters of Mr. Marti-Codolar and their cousin greeted his
entrance into the concert hall with a festive sonata played by violin, vio-
loncello, and piano. The boys were seated at a long table in the garden
with the sons of Mr. Marti-Codolar and their cousins. The others sat down
at table in the dining room, where places were set for fifty persons. The
atmosphere was so cordial that Don Bosco and his companions felt as if
they were at home.

One of the guests remarked to him, “Oh! Don Bosco, you must pray
that all of us who are here now can meet again like this in Heaven.”

The saint grew very serious and, amidst a sudden, general hush,
uttered, “I would like to, but this will not come to pass.”

These words caused a visible discomfort but Don Bosco, to cheer
everyone up, put on his habitual smile and said, “After all, we will pray
to our Lady, for she is so good, she will fix up everything.””

Don Bosco retired to rest after dinner in a room apart. Later, relatives
of Mr. Marti-Codolar sought an audience with him. Mr. Louis himself and
his wife were the last to enter the audience chamber, and no one knows
what transpired there, but when the husband and wife emerged, they looked
as if they could not believe what had happened to them, and their eyes were
wet with tears. Charles Viglietti heard them say, “He is a saint! A saint!”

At four o’clock p.m., Don Bosco went to the garden with the others,
and Joachim Pascual, the nephew of Mr. Marti-Codolar, grouped them all
together to take a photograph as a souvenir of that happy occasion. He
took ten different shots in only a few minutes.

At the present time, there is a large and varied collection of pictures of
Don Bosco, featuring him through the different phases of his priesthood and
in widely different poses. It has been rightly observed that in none of them
is there any hint either of pride, self-satisfaction or even simple vanity.*' His
“square life, energetic, rugged, open, and profound” countenance appears

20 Letter from Robert Vidal, monk of the Abbey of the Desert, to the editor of the Bulletin salésien,
(Bellegrade, Haute-Garonne, November 20, 1936).
21 Henri Ghéon., St. John Bosco, Les grande Coeurs series (Paris: Flammarion), p. 186.
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“refined by suffering” during the latter years of his life, but even in his prime
it expressed “simple, tenderhearted kindliness.” And then too, “What an
authority! What an intelligence! What a powerful, secret fascination!”

After the photographs had been taken, something very interesting
occurred. The mitered abbot of the Trappists we already mentioned in
connection with the meeting in the church of Belen was at the time a guest
at the home of Narciso Pascual, and he mingled with the other guests. In
the group photograph, he is seen sitting on Don Bosco’s right. He now got
up and spoke so enthusiastically of Don Bosco and his mission that every-
one who heard him was moved. He then took off his ring from his finger
and the abbot’s cross from around his neck, and exclaimed, “No authori-
ty is good enough in the presence of this man of God!” Kneeling before
him, he then implored Don Bosco’s blessing both for himself and every-
one else present. Everyone else then knelt down and he blessed them all.

After this, the abbot insisted so earnestly that he wanted the skullcap
the servant of God was wearing that he overcame his reluctance and suc-
ceeded in obtaining it from him, so Father Michael Rua testified during
the course of the apostolic process. He had remained in Barcelona for
three days, solely in order to enjoy Don Bosco’s presence there. His for-
mer secretary,” who was also a guest of the same noble family, wrote
Canon Clement Tournier of Toulouse during the year of Don Bosco’s
beatification: “Happy were the days when I had an opportunity to see the
saint and talk with him, eating at his own table. Once, as we strolled on
the grounds, I had the good fortune of offering him the support of my
arm, and this procured great blessings for me, without adding the bless-
ing given to me by Don Bosco as I knelt at his feet.” *

Don Bosco, too, was eager to inspect the villa of which he had heard
so much. So in the company of many gentlemen, followed by the boys
from the Sarria house and leaning on the arm of Mr. Marti-Codolar, he
walked through a good part of the grounds, halting to gaze at the magnif-
icent collection of aquatic and ordinary birds, and again at the camels,
bears, elephants, crocodiles, and other exotic animals.

He took his leave toward sunset. “It may sound strange,” Charles
Viglietti wrote in his diary, “yet, I do not think it would be an exaggera-
tion if I were to say that nowhere else did we encounter such love and ven-
eration for Don Bosco as we did in that household. Don Bosco himself

22 See note 16 p. 35.
23 Clément Tournier, Le bienheureux Don Bosco d Toulouse (Toulouse: Berthoumieu, 1929), p. 87.
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said that to me today.” Before leaving, he was asked to attend the unveil-
ing of a stone tablet commemorating his visit.

It was only logical to think that many people would have looked for
Don Bosco at the school during the course of the day. And so it was
already decided that morning that all those who came were to be given a
piece of paper on which to write their signatures and be told that upon his
return, Don Bosco would bless the signatures, intending while doing so,
to bless the people who had written their names, their relatives, and their
special intentions. As he arrived home, he was handed an enormous fold-
er, containing no less than seven thousand signatures.” Yet, this did not
exempt him from the necessity of stepping out on the balcony to bless the
vast crowd standing waiting outside.

The ordinary train service proved inadequate for all the people who
wanted to get to Sarria from Barcelona. During the last few days of his
stay, the number of trains running was tripled, and at times, two engines
became necessary because they were overcrowded.

DATES UNKNOWN

A few extraordinary episodes came to our attention through reports
received much later, but since we do not know on which date they
occurred, we will present them here below one after another.

First of all, there are three healings. An unfortunate mother led her
daughter who suffered from chorea (commonly known as Saint Vitus’s
Dance) to see Don Bosco, and asked him to please heal her. “It is not 1
who will heal her!” the saint replied. Then he looked intently at the girl
and said, “Be devoted to the Most Holy Virgin, say a Hail Mary every
day, and you will no longer suffer from this disease.”

A woman who happened to be present at the time asked the mother
to inform her, should the girl truly recover. A little later, the overjoyed
mother called on her personally to tell her that ever since Don Bosco’s
blessing, her daughter had been really well.

Returning home that very day, that same lady called on the Figueras
family, since she knew that they had a daughter confined to her bed. She
was very weak due to frequent hemorrhages. She told them what she had
seen and heard about Don Bosco and gave the sick girl’s mother a medal
that the servant of God had given her, begging her to have faith and put it

24 Viglietti wrote that he took the folder back to Turin with him, but we do not know what became of it.
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around the patient’s neck. At the same instant, her hemorrhages ceased
completely and forever.

A lady cousin of this same woman had also been suffering from hem-
orrhages for a number of years. When she heard of the miracles per-
formed by Don Bosco, she remarked trustingly to the person who was
telling her about them, “I do not need to go and see him. It will be enough
that I attend his Mass.” Indeed, as soon as she had attended it, she recov-
ered completely.”

Father Philip Rinaldi told Father Lemoyne of two other instances
which he himself had heard from trustworthy people while he was provin-
cial in Spain. One lady, most discouraged because of a series of miscar-
riages, poured out her grief to Don Bosco. The saint comforted her and
said, “Be at peace. From now on, it will not be like that.” Just as he had
said, she later gave birth to seven healthy children.

A certain Professor Dalman went to see Don Bosco, accompanied by
his wife and children. The lady carried a one- or two-year-old child in her
arms. Both the father and mother asked his blessing and his prayers so
that their children might grow up as good Christians. Don Bosco raised
his eyes to Heaven and remained a moment recollected. He then pointed
to the older children, saying with a smile, “We’ll have them all become
religious.” Turning to the baby, he added, “And this one is for Don
Bosco!” The parents never said a word of this to anybody, but awaited the
course of events. One after the other, the older children became religious
in different congregations. Among others, one entered the Society of
Jesus; and the youngest became a Salesian.

Another of Don Bosco’s predictions came true to the letter. At Sarria,
the need for the presence of the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians was
felt. Don Bosco, too, realized while he was on the spot how convenient
their presence would have been. One day, he saw a villa, which was a
short distance from the Salesian house and securely fenced all around,
and he remarked to Father John Branda, “That place will do for our sis-
ters.” Yet everything seemed to conspire against it. The price demanded
for the villa was so exorbitant that after vain attempts to persuade the
owners to reduce it, the whole idea was relinquished and attention was
turned elsewhere.

Don Bosco kept insisting with the director that the sisters should soon
be able to get to Sarria. All hopes seemed to have faded when the owner

25 Report of the witness, Josephine Ferrea, widow of a man named Pons (Barcelona, July 18, 1909).
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suddenly died. His son, the sole heir who was determined to abandon a
place that constantly reminded him of his bitter grief, offered the house
of his own accord for sale at a very modest price. Furthermore, someone
was found immediately who undertook the payment for it, so that it was
not long before the sisters took possession of it.

One day, Don Bosco received a group of gentlemen he did not know.
He distributed a medal to each at the end of the audience. He had taken a
handful of them at random, and the last man did not receive a medal. This
gentleman begged him not to deprive him of the gift, but Don Bosco said
to him, “You have abandoned your religious life.” In fact, he had left the
Society of Jesus.

TUESDAY, MAY 4th

The date of his departure was fast approaching and Don Bosco’s
friends already experienced sadness at the thought of not seeing him any
more. Those who witnessed it were deeply touched by the following ten-
der demonstration of affection. Some forty children, counting the grand-
children of Mrs. Chopitea and the children of Louis Marti-Codolar, sac-
rificed their small savings and personally handed the money to Don
Bosco. One child gave him one hundred lire, another two hundred, some
even more. He took the savings with a smile and said a few words to each
of them. Then he invoked the Lord’s blessing on them all.

He said Mass in the house of the Pons family, where he also had a
noon dinner. Then he visited the sisters’ “auxiliary” and the Jesuit school,
where he spoke with the priests for more than half an hour, “edificando a
todos con su santa conversacion, su dulzura y su humildad [edifying them
all with his holy conversation, his sweetness and humility],” so Father
Anthony Viladevall wrote to us from San Miguel in Argentina on June 25,
1933. All of them kissed his hand when it was time for him to leave.

The Reverend Father Anthony Viladevall had a personal reason for
never having forgotten that visit. He was teaching mathematics in the
Jesuit school, but had for some months been practically speechless with
an obstinate attack of laryngitis, so that instead of teaching in class, he
had been forced to go over things he had already taught to his pupils or
avail himself of the assistance of an intelligent student who stood beside
his desk to repeat aloud to the class what he, the professor, whispered
into his ear. No treatment had had the slightest effect, but the above-
mentioned pupil had been a tool of Divine Providence. His name was
Joseph de Salas, and he was from a noble family. He told his mother
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about his professor’s plight, and his mother let Don Bosco know the case
and asked for his help. Don Bosco handed her a medal of Mary Help of
Christians to give to him, saying he was to put it into a bit of water and
drink the water, praying to our Lady to heal him. “I hope it will heal
him,” he said.

The Jesuit followed his instructions, sin gran fe [though without great
faith], as he himself admits today. Yet, his voice came back immediately,
and never again did he suffer from any recurrent attack or residual distur-
bance. He still keeps the medal como oro en pano [like a precious thing].

After his visit to the Jesuits, Don Bosco called on a countess, who was
ill, to comfort her. Then he went to see the hospital that had been found-
ed by Mrs. Chopitea. A vast crowd of people had been awaiting him in
Sarrid since early morning. As he went by in his coach, he saw a number
of people up on the roofs, or astride walls, or sitting on trees. As he usu-
ally did, he stepped out on the balcony and said a few words to the crowd
who applauded, shouted, “Long live Don Bosco,” and knelt down to
receive his blessing. The main entrance door was kept firmly closed
because it would not have been possible to control the incoming crowd
and who knows how many acts of pious vandalism one would have had to
watch as a helpless witness! It was not possible to prevent some small
thefts committed by a few privileged visitors who were granted inter-
views with Don Bosco out of due respect for their rank. How often had
his secretary been obliged to replace the pen by his ink well during those
last few days and to put fresh linen on his bed!

WEDNESDAY, MAY 5th

Don Bosco said Mass in the home of Mrs. Chopitea, lingering with
her family until after midday. He then called on Marchioness de Comillas,
where Louis Marti came to pick him up and take him to the church of Our
Lady of Mercy. This is a famous sanctuary of Our Lady, much beloved
by the people of Barcelona and frequented by many pilgrimages. No vis-
itor to Barcelona who is a Catholic ever leaves without paying his respects
to Our Lady of Mercy. And so on the eve of his departure Don Bosco, as
well, had arranged to go there to pray and thank the Blessed Virgin.

As soon as his intention was known, many people lined the streets,
waiting for him to pass by, or appeared on their balconies, or waited
inside the church. A large group of the nobility welcomed him at the
entrance to the church, escorted him to the sanctuary, and invited him to
sit in a special seat. In front of him a boys’ choir sang a Salve Regina to
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an orchestral accompaniment. Then something took place that we might
well call historic. But first we must explain what led up to it.

Amid the lovely, fertile hills that form a splendid crown around the
Catalan capital, is one that soars higher than all the others, dominating not
only the surrounding valleys and plains, but also the neighboring towns.
It would be hard to imagine a more enchanting panorama than the one
enjoyed from that hill. Hence, it has always been a favorite spot where the
residents of the town and visitors gather. The hill bears a very unusual
name - Mount Tibidabo. Its height and the extraordinary loveliness of the
site have inspired the popular local legend that Jesus underwent his third
temptation. The devil, it is said, brought the Savior there to show Him all
the kingdoms of the earth and said on that very hilltop: “Haec omnia tibi
dabo, si cadens adoraveris me [All these things I shall give to you, if you
will prostrate yourself and worship me.” (Matt. 4:9)].

A few years previously, the top of Tibidabo had come into the possession
of some unscrupulous men who were planning to build a luxury hotel on it, to
attract a cosmopolitan set of pleasure-seekers and playboys, or else to sponsor
the construction of a Protestant church. In the face of such a danger, seven
good men had made an agreement in 1885 to buy the hilltop themselves to pre-
vent that beautiful spot from falling - to speak the truth - into the devil’s hand.

After buying it, they were still considering what might be the best use
for it. In the meantime, they had built a temporary chapel there dedicated
to the Sacred Heart of Jesus.

Enter Don Bosco! His presence in Barcelona had given birth to the
idea of donating the hilltop to him, so that he might reply to all persons
of evil intent with the words of our Lord, “Vade retro satana [Get behind
Me, Satan]!” (Mark 8:33).

One of the owners had raised objections, saying he did not even know
who this Don Bosco was. But Manuel Pascual spoke of him with such elo-
quence and detail that the man was overcome by a mysterious awe and
was left not only speechless, but also virtually breathless.

So while Don Bosco was in the church praying, these gentlemen came
over to him and read out a declaration by which they ceded their mountain
property to him, after which they handed over the deeds. The document of
conveyance had been written and embellished by a fine calligrapher,” and
it was handed over to him on behalf of the committee by the president of
the Saint Vincent de Paul Society with these words: “To perpetuate the

26 The Spanish text is given in the Italian edition, doc. 17.
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memory of your visit to this city, the gentlemen gathered here met in con-
sultation and unanimously decided to cede to you their property on Mount
Tibidabo, so that its summit, which was in danger of being converted into
a spawning ground of godlessness, may be consecrated with a shrine to the
Sacred Heart of Jesus, for the steadfast, undaunted support of the faith
which you have preached to us with such zeal and shining example, and
which is our noble heritage bequeathed us by our ancestors.”

Deeply touched, Don Bosco replied, “I am overwhelmed by this
fresh, unexpected proof you give me of your piety and faith. Thank you,
but you must realize that in this, you are the tools of Divine Providence.
As I was leaving Turin to come to Spain, | was thinking to myself, now
that the Church of the Sacred Heart in Rome is almost completed, I must
look for some other way to honor the Sacred Heart and promote devotion
to it. An interior voice bade me to be calm, assuring me that here I would
be able to gratify this vow. That voice kept repeating to me, “Tibi dabo,
tibi dabo!” Yes, gentlemen, you are the tools of Divine Providence. With
your help, a shrine dedicated to the Sacred Heart of Jesus will soon rise
upon that mount. Everyone will find there an opportunity to receive the
holy sacraments, and your charity and faith - of which you have given me
so many beautiful proofs - will be remembered forever.”

His words were moving, and those who were listening to them were
deeply touched. After blessing the crowd, he was accompanied to the sac-
risty, where he signed the register where the names of the shrine’s most
eminent visitors were recorded.”

As he left that sacred place, he was fully aware that he had undertaken
a project of which there was no chance that he would see even the begin-
ning, much less its completion. Yet, he revealed immediately how dear the
project was to him in the first chapter meeting that he held after his return
to Turin on the morning of May 26th. After listing the various commit-
ments he had contracted in Spain, he went on: “On Mount Tibidabo, we
could locate the novitiate for the young Spaniards who will be going to the
missions. The bishops approve; they are even enthusiastic about the project.
Meanwhile, things are progressing. The mount has been donated to us.”
Don Bosco’s successors religiously received his vow as a heritage. In the
meantime, before the end of May, at the summit of Tibidabo, under the
direction of the Salesians and thanks to the contributions of devout people,

27 In the church of Our Lady of Mercy, on the left side of the altar dedicated to St. Mary of Cervell¢n, which
stands in the right transept, a Latin inscription on a marble tablet commemorates the donation that took place there.
28 The basilica atop the mount is the base of a Salesian-run parish and retreat house.
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a little Gothic chapel was sprouting from the soil, through which the Sacred
Heart had already begun to take possession of the spot.”

Mr. Marti-Codolar again accompanied Don Bosco to Sarrid from
Barcelona in his coach. People gathered around him as he left and people
lined up all along his route, as well as people awaited him upon his arrival.
There were moving scenes everywhere, shouts and applause on all sides. The
frenzy of the crowd was encouraged by the unperturbed calm of the servant
of God, whose companions found their will and energy put to severe tests.

All members of the Pascual families came to the school after supper.
There were four different family groups, all of them rivaling with one
another to show their love for Don Bosco. The prospect of his imminent
departure had brought them there. “All of them were crying,” Viglietti
wrote in his diary.

THURSDAY, MAY 6th

It was the last day. Don Bosco said Mass at the newly built altar in the
school chapel, and then returned to his room after Mass to bless the crowd,
which shouted until he came out on the balcony. He made a gesture to sig-
nify he wished to speak. This caused a general commotion, a pushing and
shoving and pressing together, so that people could catch the words he was
about to say: “I hope to see you all in Paradise. Up there, no more inter-
views with a poor priest, but with Mary Most Holy herself, with her divine
Son, and it will not be just for a few moments either, but for all eternity.”

The Pascuals were granted the final interviews, for despite their
leave-taking the night before, they could not forego the pleasure of his
delightful conversation on just one more occasion. “It was touching to see
those poor ladies and gentlemen wander through the rooms, greeting us
with sobs, unable to tear themselves away,” the diary reads. “They would
walk as far as the door, then come back again, re-entering the room, kiss-
ing all the things that Don Bosco had used. Then they would say goodbye
to us once again, unable to explain what was happening to them.”

Don Bosco had never had an opportunity to talk to all the boys
assembled together; so at the very last minute, after dinner, he entered the
church where they were all waiting to receive a final souvenir from him,
and addressed a few brief words to them, blessed them and said goodbye.
The boys were all weeping.

The railway employees on the Sarria line also wanted to have the

29 Fl Diario de Barcelona (May 30, 1886). See Appendix, doc. 18.
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honor of his company on their train, since he had always traveled by coach
during his stay; so they had a special compartment ready for him and
together with their wives, treated him with every courtesy when he arrived.
The principal local authorities, as well as several Cooperators and friends,
got on the train with him, though neither Mr. Marti-Codolar nor Oscar
Pascual were present. Since they had known what a crowd there would be
at Barcelona, they drove in their coaches to the next to the last stop, where
they met Don Bosco and his companions and escorted him by a secret path
to the train bound for France, thus sparing him exertion and emotion.

Mrs. Chopitea and a large group of ladies and gentlemen were wait-
ing for Don Bosco alongside the train for France. They had all come to
say their final farewell. Many of them got into the compartment with him,
getting off the train again at a station some two hours away from their
place of residence.

Returning to Barcelona, Mrs. Chopitea kept thinking over the holy
words she had heard and the holy things she had seen during the past few
weeks, during which she had truly acted as both Martha and Mary.
Whenever she had an opportunity, she attended the Mass celebrated by
the servant of God with seraphic devotion, and had performed tasks for
his comfort with her own hands. She had even called in artists to decorate
the walls of her palace in the room where she was wont to receive her emi-
nent guest. When he was gone, she looked on the room as a relic, con-
verting it into a chapel. She locked away in big closets all the furniture
and things Don Bosco had used. It was deeply edifying to see how this
woman, who was admired and venerated by the whole city of Barcelona
for her charity, had acted as humbly as a child, incapable of talking in the
presence of Don Bosco.

Twice, in April and in May, did Father Celestine Durando, in his duty
as prefect general, send brief reports on Don Bosco’s travels in Spain to
all the Salesian houses. In reference to the first of them, Bishop John
Cagliero wrote: “Father Durando’s letter was avidly read by all. Despite
the fact that an icy wind was blowing, it warmed us all with holy enthu-
siasm, and noble pride, because we are the sons of such a father.”*

Who could say what were Don Bosco’s thoughts during his time
alone as he recalled those twenty-nine days, with all their great field days
and triumphs? We can surmise some of his thinking from a few words

30 Letter to Fr. Lazzero (Patag¢nes, May 26, 1886).
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that escaped him.*”! One day at table, a guest made a remark in his pres-
ence about the daily gathering of crowds, and in all calm and simplicity,
he whispered in reply, “I really do not know why so many crowds come
to see me!” Then, as the conversation went on, and the Salesian house at
Sarria was mentioned, he remarked with the air of someone saying some-
thing quite ordinary: “The Talleres Salesianos [The Salesian technical
school] will train and educate five hundred boys.” Self-forgetfulness and
focus with steadfast faith on fulfilling the tasks wanted by God. These
were the habitual thoughts of the saints.

3V El Diario de Barcelona (May 1, 1886).
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Chapter 4

DEPARTURE FROM SPAIN AND RETURN TO TURIN

Once reached the end of the previous Chapter, more than one
Salesian must have asked himself how come in the report on all the days
that Don Bosco spent in Spain and in France there was hardly a mention
made of Fr. Michael Rua? Most assuredly Father Rua did not stand idly
at the side of the Servant of God. The reason for this omission lies main-
ly in our sources of information, which are practically non-existent as
far as Father Rua is concerned. We should, however, add that it was
habitual for him to hide behind his shadow and so to speak disappear
when he was with Don Bosco, so that he might not draw the slightest
attention of anyone away from the person of the holy founder. We can
therefore quite justifiably believe that he busied himself with the enor-
mous amount of correspondence and represented Don Bosco in acts of
courtesy and even of importance, though always in the guise of a most
humble secretary. As vicar concerned with the government of the Pious
Society, he must also have maintained daily contact with the members
of the Superior Council whose activity was naturally conducted mainly
in secret, without even those nearest to them being aware of it all. He
must have exercised his sacred ministry on behalf of the Salesians and
the boys at Sarria’, especially in the confessional; but the truth remains
that we do not have any positive evidence. Nor do we know anything
about the return journey.

Yet, during the last few days at Sarria’ something occurred which
helped to win the veneration of Spanish Cooperators for Father Rua. The
incident was recalled at the time he became the successor of Don Bosco.
Physicians had despaired of the life of a child, and it was only a matter of
time until the child breathed his last. In an impulse of love and faith, its
parents brought the child to Don Bosco. The Saint who was exhausted
beyond all measure had sent word to them that they should go to Father
Rua. He blessed the child and the dying child recovered instantly. At the
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time, it was thought that because Father Rua had given this blessing in
Don Bosco’s name, the influence of his intercession had caused the mir-
acle. Later, when word got out and people reflected, they also acknowl-
edged Father Rua’s share of merit.

The travelers did not go beyond Gerona the night of May 6, for Don
Bosco was in urgent need of rest and peace before undertaking further
discomfort. A haven of peace was found for him in the home of the gen-
erous Joachim de Carles who was awaiting him at the station with his
sons. A huge crowd surrounded the railroad station, but after greeting the
religious and civil authorities who were introduced to him as soon as he
got off the train, the Saint was quickly taken into a coach and rescued
from the surge of the crowd. Fourteen reigning monarchs had already
been welcomed into the palace in which he was now a guest. Among
them Amadeus of Savoy during his brief reign in Spain. The family
greatly admired Don Bosco and considered it an immense gift from
Heaven that they were allowed to have him among them, even for so
short a time. To the present day, the room where he slept is still kept in
veneration, even though the palace has new owners. When it was donat-
ed to the bishop of Gerona, it became the magnificent headquarters of
the Catholic Action Association.

How was it that Don Bosco was able to enjoy such aristocratic hos-
pitality so far away from Barcelona? A living witness (1936), the old
pastor at Lloret de Mar, the Rev. John Ferrés y Puntones, who was then
employed with the noble family' can answer this question for us.
Joachim, the first son of Joachim de Carles, heard that a religious who
was regarded as a saint had arrived in Barcelona and planned to go to
see him. On April 24, he set out with young Ferrés and called at the
Salesian house in Sarria’ where he was soon granted an interview with
Don Bosco. Their conversation was a long one, and nothing is known of
what was said, though Mr. Carles looked very happy when he got out.
He attended Don Bosco’s Mass the following day in the school chapel
and received communion from his hand. After a second interview, he
came out looking radiant with delight, for Don Bosco had given him
hope that on his way home he might stay at his house. This hope was
fulfilled. When the Carles family was advised that the Saint would be

1 Report by Rev. Eugene Magni, director of the Salesian house at Gerona (May 5, 1936). See also Mensajerito
de Maria Auxiliadora, Gerona, May 1, 1936. Dates here and elsewhere indicate that certain details were added when
the volume was already in the process of being printed.
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coming to Gerona the evening of May 6, the household could not have
been more overjoyed than if the royal family of Spain had been coming
to stay with them. The entire palace was decorated in gala fashion, a
sumptuous banquet had been prepared in the finest hall and one of the
best bedrooms had been prepared for the guest. The pastor thus
describes the impression Don Bosco made on him at the time, “Don
Bosco was of medium stature, with keen eyes, a penetrating look, a
smile on his face, and he possessed an extraordinary charm and poseia
el don de gentes [he had a personal magnetism]. One had only to look
at him to realize he was a saint. The effect I felt in his presence was that
I found myself obliged to ponder and examine my conscience, to find
out how things stood with me spiritually.” When he departed, Joachim
de Carles, his son, and the two younger boys, Emilio and Eduardo, all
chose to accompany him as far as Cervere. His visit was a short one, but
they corresponded long after that.

He could not make many visits or receive many people because of
the brevity of his stay. Among the people he did see was the bishop,
Thomas Sivilla who came to see him early on the morning after his
arrival, so eager was he to talk with him. When he saw the magnifi-
cent chamber assigned to him, he exclaimed to Mr. Carles who was
accompanying him, “What? These chambers for Don Bosco?” To
which the host replied, “Excellency, if I had anything better, I would
have given it to him.” Don Bosco left at eight-thirty in the morning.
The entire household wanted to accompany him as far as Port-Bou,
and took leave of him with the tenderest expressions of reverence and
affection. When he was at last alone with Father Michael Rua, Brother
Charles Viglietti, (Father John Baptist Branda who had traveled with
him thus far had to return), he gratefully accepted the dinner which a
kind lady had prepared for him. In the afternoon, he boarded the train
for Montpellier, by which route he intended to take the shortest way
back to Italy. He was eager to get to Turin, because it was nearly time
for the novena of Mary Help of Christians. How soon he would do so
was relative, since it had been agreed that he was to travel only in
stages as required by his health conditions.

After a one-hour halt at Cette, where he took advantage of the inter-
val to pay his respects to a wealthy family, he completed his itinerary for
the day at six-thirty p.m. when he reached Montpellier. Here the rector of
the seminary and other superiors awaited him with open arms. They had
planned to have him have supper with the seminarians.
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The next morning, May 8, he celebrated the community Mass, then
granted an audience to many people who had been waiting in front of the
seminary doors since early morning.

At about eleven o’clock, he visited the nuns of the Sacred Heart at the
request of their Mother Superior. There was great expectancy.
“Everything was jubilant that day. We were going to see a Saint.” One of
the nuns who is still alive today wrote to us on February 25, 1934, “We
had prayed hard, asking that he might visit us, for we looked upon it as an
immense grace. And great it was indeed when we saw and heard this ven-
erable old man, whose features and tone revealed a soul intimately united
with God.” He stayed there a quarter of an hour, sitting in a big armchair
while the community gathered around him, as well as the residents of the
school and a number of women. He talked to them all a few minutes, and
then various people began approaching him, one by one confiding their
sorrows to him or asking him to pray for them. He listened kindly to them
all. One little girl came up to him with her small hands clasped, her eyes
full of tears, to implore him:

“Father, send my mama back to me!”

“Where is she?” the Saint asked.

“She is dead,” the little one answered.

“Let her stay with our Lord,” Don Bosco told her, “she is very

happy there.”

Since it was getting late, he spoke to them in a loud voice so that every-
one could hear him, “I cannot listen to all of you. So I will give you my
blessing and will pray that you may be granted the graces you are seeking.”

The Sister who supplied us with this information was not yet a
Religious. She was aware of certain signs of a vocation in her, but
mostly vaguely, and out of her faith not by any inclination. She hap-
pened to be staying a few days in the convent and in no way was she
thinking of remaining there. The Superior instead would have liked to
have her go to the Novitiate that same evening, to place her in a safe
environment. She felt overwhelmed at the idea of separating herself so
abruptly from her family, without informing her parents or even say-
ing good-bye to them, without enjoying even one more day of her life
as a single girl in the world which she liked so much. It was in this
state of mind that she saw Don Bosco pass close to her and look at her.
But she remained quite aloof. The Superior made a gesture that she
was to follow her. She did so, walking slowly down the stairs behind
the Saint. When they reached the garden, the Mother Superior pulled
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her in front of Don Bosco, bidding her kneel down for a blessing,
which she had neither asked for nor desired. Nevertheless, she obeyed
once again. In a fatherly way, Don Bosco put his hand firmly on her
head, which was throbbing, and with a firm pressure of his palm on it,
said, “Poor child, have faith. You have a big struggle ahead of you, yes
indeed, but...” She was so shaken up at that time that she did not hear
the words, which followed that “but.” Yet everything came true to the
letter: struggles, conflict, personal problems, and problems not direct-
ly concerned with her, all conspired to destroy her vocation. Forty-
seven years after that meeting, she considers herself happy in her life
as a religious and attributes her happiness to the influence of that
blessing and to Don Bosco’s prayers.

In its issue of Saturday, the 8th of May, the local Catholic news-
paper, L’ Eclair reported on all that had happened in Paris during Don
Bosco’s visit there in 1883. The article informed its readers that the
famous Italian priest was now in their town of Montpellier and would
celebrate Mass at eight o’clock in the cathedral the following day.
This announcement caused a great stir in the population, and an
unprecedented crowd filled the immense church in the early hours.
When he arrived there, the whole cathedral chapter and clergy went
to greet him. At the Gospel, the Vicar General spoke from the pulpit,
recommending that a collection be taken up on behalf of the Salesian
undertakings. Father Michael Rua and Charles Viglietti went around
the church with the basket, thanking those who gave alms with Don
Bosco’s own ritual words: “May God reward you.” When Mass was
over, the Servant of God addressed a few words to the crowd, “His
voice was weak and slow and could not reach out to the whole con-
gregation,” the article stated on the 10th, “his foreign accent embar-
rasses him and he seems to hesitate when he speaks,” but “it is
enough to look at him to sense that something supernatural which
radiates from his entire person.”

After a little refreshment in the rectory, he called at the Visitation
convent and talked at length with the sisters in the hall. One nun who was
much beloved by the entire community for her wonderful virtues was
seriously ill. The nuns had begged him to visit her hoping for a miracle,
and the Saint complied. After a moment of recollection, as if he were con-
sulting the will of God, he lifted his finger, pointing heavenward for the
nun, “To heaven, to heaven!” he exclaimed. As a matter of fact a little
later, she gave her soul back to God.
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Before his departure, the Saint granted many audiences also there and
was back at the seminary by twelve o’clock. The seminary was run by the
sons of Saint Vincent de Paul who had chosen to celebrate their holy
patron feast that same day, feeling that the presence of Don Bosco would
be the finest item in their scheduled festivities.

The stream of callers started moving on that afternoon, and there
were so many of them that it was impossible to satisfy them all, because
the timetable of the community could not be disrupted.

Many people witnessed a miracle. A sick woman who was carried
almost bodily into Don Bosco’s presence, recovered immediately as he
blessed her and walked home by herself. As he went to his room from the
audience chamber, he immediately unloaded the burden of gold and sil-
ver coins, which weighed heavy in his pockets. Then he said jokingly, “If
we had not accepted money at Montpellier, they would have flung it to us,
feeling that we were doing them a favor by accepting it.”

At Montpellier, he met again a friend, Dr. Combal, who lived there.’
As soon as he knew Don Bosco had arrived, he hastened to call on him
that first evening and repeated his visit the two following evenings as
well. The last time, he brought his family along, and would not go away
until he had given Don Bosco a careful check-up. Upon leaving the room,
he met Father Michael Rua and Charles Viglietti, and confirmed his diag-
nosis of two years before. “Don Bosco suffers from no other sickness than
dire exhaustion,” he said. “Even if he had never performed any other mir-
acle, I would consider the fact that he is alive to be the greatest of all mir-
acles. His organism is totally destroyed. He is a man dead from fatigue,
yet he keeps on working every day, he eats very little, and he is still alive.
This, to me, is the greatest of all miracles.”

The clerics displayed an affectionate admiration for Don Bosco. If
one had listened to them, they would have abandoned the seminary to fol-
low him wherever he went. After supper he met the seminarians in a hall.
He could hardly stand upright. He would have desired to speak, but his
fatigue was such that he had to give up the attempt and content himself
with imparting a general blessing to them. Yet despite that, the mere sight
of him was more effective than any speech.

Perhaps Don Bosco was unaware or might have forgotten that he had
a relative living at Montpellier: Francis Bosco, son of John, the Saint’s
uncle on his father’s side, had left his native country, we do not know

2 See Vol. X V11, pp. 37-39.
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why, together with his wife, née Zagna, and had died at an early age in
Marseilles in 1870, leaving two small daughters. The girls had been
raised in the orphanage of the Sisters of Nazareth at Montpellier and
were still there when their great cousin came to town. The elder of the
two, born in 1867, was at an age where she had to come to some deci-
sion regarding her future. She called on Don Bosco at the seminary. It
was not the first time that she had seen him, for when she was eight years
old, her mother on her way to Castelnuovo had stopped to see him in
Turin.* He now welcomed her with touching warmth and asked her what
she meant to do with her life, to which she replied she wished to become
a religious. “Good,” he answered, looking at her with those penetrating
eyes of his. “I will see what I can do for you.” Then he added to the nun
who had accompanied her, “I assisted her grandfather, my own father’s
brother, during his last moments. If everyone lived as he lived, death
would always be as beautiful as his.” The girl entered the Benedictine
convent at Sembel by Miols, in the department of Heraut, and made her
profession in 1893 changing her own name from Paula to Marie Eleanor.”
She later became superior, and as we write, is in the Pradines abbey,
department of the Loire.?

The stream of visitors grew more and more, seriously disturbing the
peace of the pious place and so the Saint decided not to prolong his stay.
On the morning of the 10th of May, after breakfast with the Sisters of
Charity who had obtained the favor of such a visit through their fellow
religious, the Lazarists, he left for Valence.

The cordial hospitality offered him at the Montpellier seminary
had an effect, which we cannot ignore. Don Bosco had sent a note of
thanks as well as several of his own publications, among others the
Life of Saint Vincent de Paul to Fr. Dupuy, the seminary director,
when he got back to Turin. The director wrote his reply on July 2:
“The Montpellier seminary still cherishes the recollection of your
visit. The good people of the town who gave you such a fine welcome

3 In a letter to her relative, Mother Eulalia Bosco of the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians wrote in ref-
erence to this visit and in reference to her own father on November 21, 1929, from Pradines: “He must have been
highly respected, for I noticed that when older people who had known him at Castelnuovo were told, ‘Look, this
is the daughter of Francis Bosco,’ they all clasped their hands and said, ‘Oh! Oh!” and looked at me with tender
respect.”

4 For her acceptance into the convent she was helped by Fr. Gervais, the vicar general of Montpellier, who
helped her because of his warm affection for Don Bosco.

5 We are partly indebted for this information to Sr. Marie-Joseph of the Trappist convent at Espira de Agly
in the eastern Pyrenees, who sent it to Fr. Lemoyne April 5, 1899, and partly to the above-mentioned Mother
Marie Eleanor, thanks to a report sent to Mother Eulalia with the above quoted letter.
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would be prepared to repeat it, and I again would be ready to offer my
services in holding you and defending you against the onslaught of the
crowds. I really did have a hard time trying to restrain their fervor
when they tried to kiss the hand of a priest who is poor amid the poor-
est and full of ailments.” Yet he noted that he did harbor one deep
regret. Having left Don Bosco entirely to others, he had never enjoyed
the chance of talking to him one on one. He had a great desire to ques-
tion him about the system he used to lead souls to God. He had asked
Don Bosco how he managed to control so many boys with so few
assistants, and Don Bosco had told him that the entire secret lay in
instilling the holy fear of God into them. This answer, however, had
not satisfied the director. “The fear of God is but the beginning of
wisdom,” he had written in the above mentioned letter, “what I want
to know is what your method is for leading souls to attain the apex of
all wisdom, which is the love of God.”

When the letter was read out to him, Don Bosco exclaimed, “They
want me to state what my method is! Really...I would not know what it
is myself. I have always gone along as our Lord inspired me and as the
circumstances demanded.”® We do not know what he wrote or told oth-
ers to write as an answer, but certainly these simple words say a lot!
They do not mean, as Father Bartholmew Fascie points out,” that Don
Bosco was in the habit of drifting along without any directive, but that
he was not rigidly bound to any stereotyped pattern, which might
“restrict his freedom of action in the face of new initiatives or new
demands.” His eminently practical spirit could not stand abstractions.
Don Bosco truly did elaborate a system all his own, the so-called pre-
ventive system, but he drew its foundations from “human and Christian
tradition” and from his study of the mind of young people, and there-
fore not from theoretical pedagogy.

Along the route, which links Montpellier to Valence, there is Tarascon
where Don Bosco had to change trains. During the half-hour halt, when
word got around that the priest dressed a la Italian was Don Bosco, the
waiting room soon was filled up with people Some were drawn by mere
curiosity, others by their desire to be blessed by him.

They arrived at Valence about four o’clock in the afternoon. The
pastor of the cathedral, who loved Don Bosco and the Salesians, was

6 Lemoyne, Vita del Venerabile Don Bosco, 2:311.
7 Bartolomeo Fascie, Il metodo educativo di Don Bosco (Turin: S.E.L), pp. 20-22.
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waiting to meet him at the station and escorted him back to his own
home. At supper, the administrator of the great Carthusian Institute
of Grenoble talked at great length with the Servant of God. This good
monk knew very little about Don Bosco, and even less about his
work, but in a short while, Charles Viglietti was able to “catechize”
him so thoroughly that when he left, he promised to remember it and
embraced them all with the utmost warmth. By saying, “he would
remember it” he meant that among the substantial charitable dona-
tions made every year by his wealthy monastery, there would be
something for Don Bosco too. Nor were these words thrown to the
wind, for on May 31, a monk of that same Carthusian monastery
called on the Oratory in the name of the Prior and gave Don Bosco
fifty thousand francs, with a letter full of very benevolent terms, in
which the superior stated he was ready to render him every service
and give him any assistance.

A dinner was given in his honor the following day by the pastor
who invited many gentlemen of the city, among them that same
Albert Du Boys already encountered by Don Bosco in Toulon and
mentioned as Don Bosco’s biographer.® Later, Don Bosco called on
the Sisters of the Visitation, those of the Holy Trinity, and the ladies
working for missionaries, giving his advice, comfort, and blessings
everywhere he went. At eight o’clock p.m. there was a meeting at the
large cathedral, which was crowded to capacity, but Don Bosco yield-
ed the floor to Father Michael Rua who told them about the history
of the Oratory, and then he went around the church with Charles
Viglietti to pick up a collection.

On the 12th, just as he had done the day before, he said Mass in the
cathedral. He sat down after the Gospel, and he addressed a huge audi-
ence, speaking with particular stress of the Sacred Heart Church in Rome.
There was then another collection taken up, while at the altar rail, Father
Rua was distributing a great quantity of medals of Mary Help of
Christians. After granting as many interviews as he could, Don Bosco
retired because it was almost time for him to leave. It was noon when he
left Valence for Grenoble, the last stage of his journey on French ground.
We say ‘the last stage,” not only because of the long journey we have just
described, but also because it was the last of his life.

His fame had preceded him to Grenoble, so he was met by priests and

8 See above. 00, and Vol. XVII, 200.
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noble gentlemen who, in view of the expectation of the population, had
arranged to escort him straight from the station to the church of Saint
Louis. The streets and squares were jammed with people, and the church
inside was packed from corner to corner. Wearing a surplice, the pastor
came to greet him at the door with the clergy, and asked him in a loud
voice to bless his parishioners and say a prayer for them. Don Bosco con-
sented. Whereupon all barriers of restraint broke down. Swept by some
sort of frenzy, the crowd pressed in on him. It was necessary to form a
cordon around him to prevent him from being crushed and to enable him
to approach the altar. Not being able to touch his hand or his garment any
longer, the people held out their rosaries from afar, tapping him repeat-
edly on the shoulder, the neck, the head and the arms. Both when enter-
ing and leaving the church, he was subjected to a “pious scourging” as
Father Rua who was then beside him testified during the processes.” As a
matter of fact that evening his hands were stained with blood, his face
ached, and he complained of pains in his right arm.

When by dint of time and patience, it was at last possible to get him
safely inside the carriage, he was driven to the major seminary with an
escort of priests and laymen. The coaches entered through the carriage
gates, and the seminarians all leaned out of the windows, eager to catch a
glimpse of the Saint. Surrounded by his staff, the superior met him at the
foot of the staircase. Seeing him so exhausted and panting, he said,
“Reverend Father, it looks like you are in pain... Yet, no one better than you
knows how much suffering sanctifies us.”

“No, no, Father Rector,” Don Bosco replied promptly, “it is not suf-
fering which sanctifies us, but patience.”

The bell rang for supper shortly afterward, and when he entered the
dining room of the clerics with all the superiors, they rose to their feet and
applauded heartily. As he reached his own seat, he addressed them in
Italian with the words: “Good appetite!” That’s exactly what he did also
on all similar occasions.

Four clerics in turn waited at table. The four who were on duty that
evening plotted together to hide the plates and cutlery used by Don Bosco
and to divide them among themselves. To make their little theft honest,
they also decided to contribute so much per person to purchase a new set
of dishes and cutlery to replace what they were taking. And so at a propi-
tious moment, they seized their booty and divided the spoils.

9 Summarium of the diocesan processes, no. XVIII, 185.
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His first day at Grenoble, May 13, was a very hard one. During the
Mass which he celebrated at the cathedral attended by the chapter which
had met him with the solemnity of the episcopal ritual, Don Bosco
addressed the crowded church at some length, explaining how his work
responded to the needs of the times. Then the usual collection followed.

As he was walking through the square, after Mass, on his way to the
rectory, an old white-haired man forced his way through the crowd,
reached Don Bosco and flung himself on his knees, imploring his bless-
ing and begging him to pray for himself and his wife. He was known
throughout the city and was highly revered. His name was Paul Lamache,
one of the seven men who with Blessed Frederick Ozanam had founded
the Society of Saint Vincent de Paul in Paris in 1833, also known as
Conferences. He had taken up his residence in Grenoble when he already
was advanced in years, and for a number of years his wife had been seri-
ously ill. At this time, the poor woman was unable to swallow food of any
kind, and the physicians despaired of her. Her husband who was a man of
great faith, having heard that Don Bosco was in town was coming to play
his last card. After listening to his anguished plea, Don Bosco reflected a
few minutes as if consulting God and then said, “Do something for the
poor which will mean a sacrifice to you. Do your daughters own any jew-
els of which they are fond?”

“Yes, they do,” the old man, said.

“Then let them offer them to Mary Help of Christians for the Salesian
undertakings,” Don Bosco told him. This meant a very great sacrifice,
but a few days later, these little family treasures were on their way to
Turin. After he received them, Don Bosco telegraphed, “Recovery will be
obtained, if beneficial to eternal salvation.” The outcome was that Mrs.
Paul Lamache recovered and lived for another twenty years.

The members of the Society of Saint Vincent de Paul met in the rec-
tory to pay their respects to Don Bosco and receive his blessing. After
calling on a benefactress, he remained there to grant a number of inter-
views. For dinner he went out of town, to the seminary villa, together with
all the clerics. On the way back, he stopped to see the Sisters of the Sacred
Heart; then, returning home, he resumed his audiences with anyone who
wished to speak with him. The hour immediately before supper was
always given to spiritual reading, and no strangers to the Institute were
admitted during such a period, so he joined the seminarians for this act of
devotion. On this occasion, however, spiritual reading was replaced by an
exhortation by Father Rua who chose as his theme God’s love for us.
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Someone who was present wrote, “His fervent words revealed his fiery
soul. It was contemplation rather than meditation, but it became ecstasy
for Don Bosco. Big tears ran down his cheeks and as the superior noticed
this, he remarked out loud with his warm loving voice, ‘Don Bosco is
weeping.” It would be impossible to describe the effect those simple
words had on us. The Saint’s tears were even more influential than Father
Rua’s fiery words. We all felt deeply moved and recognized Don Bosco’s
holiness in his love, and we no longer needed any miracles to lead us to
display our veneration for the Saint as we moved toward the dining room.”

This is what they did. There were one hundred and twenty seminari-
ans, and all of them wanted to kiss Don Bosco’s hand. In an instant they
had come to an agreement among themselves. Two of them took up their
stand on either side of him, holding his arms to support him. All along
the porch on their way to the dining room, they passed two by two to kiss
his hands. It must be remembered that in France, it is not a custom to Kiss
the hand of a priest, as it is in Italy. To do so in that country was a ges-
ture of great personal veneration.

Then there ensued a sort of competition to be able to speak with him
privately. This is an example. Early next morning, a cleric named Edward
Jourdan escaped, we know not how, from the ranks of the other seminar-
ians and ran to Don Bosco’s room and knocked on his door. No one
answered, but Charles Viglietti appeared and said that Don Bosco was in
the reading room. Without a word, the cleric raced to the reading room,
while another seminarian, who had also appeared from nowhere, followed
hard on his heels. Just as they got to the reading room, the door opened
and Don Bosco came out. Both of them jumped forward and fell on their
knees. Jourdan was the first to speak.

“Father. I am undecided about my vocation. Please tell me what to do.”

“You must come with me, my dear friend,” Don Bosco answered,
“you will become a Salesian.”

The other asked which path he should choose, but for sole reply, Don
Bosco made a negative movement with his right hand as if to say, “Not
you, I do not want you.” Both in his “Yes’ to the former and his ‘No’ to
the latter, Don Bosco’s manner were equally categorical.

The worthy seminarians were seized by yet another craze: the urge to
snip off pieces of Don Bosco’s cassock or curls from his head. They tried
this while their superior was introducing the occupants of the particular
dormitories to Don Bosco. A number of them were armed with scissors,
but when their chance came, they did not have the courage to go through
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with their intentions. A few did, but were intimidated by a flashing glance
from their superior. One who was luckier than the others succeeded, but
Don Bosco noticed him and remarked with a smile to the superior,
“Father Rector, you have some thieves here.” The Rector opened his eyes
wide, but his alarm lasted only an instant. The seminarian whose remark
about Don Bosco’s tears we just quoted, made a lovely observation: Don
Bosco knew how to blend most remarkably two widely differing things:
the severity of his glance and the loving quality of his smile. “The severe
glance ante factum [before the action],” he wrote, “and the smile post fac-
tum [after]. Justice and mercy exchange an ineffable kiss in the Saints, as
they do in God.”

The author of this comment was the cleric to whom Don Bosco had
said ‘No’ after saying “Yes’ to his companion. With the latter, the Saint
repeated his invitation in the audience granted to the members of his dor-
mitory, nor did his words fall on deaf ears. He went to the novitiate in
Marseilles, became a priest and lived the life of an excellent Salesian until
1923. The other, who for many years was active in his diocesan pastoral
ministry, at last entered the great Carthusian monastery at Grenoble,
remaining there until the monks were expelled from France. His name
was Father Peter Muton, and today he is the Carthusian vicar at Motta
Grossa in the area of Pinerolo. His account of Don Bosco’s visit to the
Grenoble seminary contains many other little episodes, which can be read
at the end of this volume.!® But he is silent on one detail, which he never-
theless related at our novitiate at Monte Oliveto." While he was in the
seminary, he was in danger of losing his eyesight, or at least of it being so
impaired that he would have been unable to continue his studies. Now, the
first time he was able to get hold of the hand of the Saint, he pressed it,
full of trust, against his eyelids, and unexpectedly, he found his eyesight
got stronger, and all his fears were forever banished.

Don Bosco’s third day at Grenoble was more or less the same as the
first had been, with the only difference that it rained heavily. However,
this did not prevent a stream of people from invading the church of Saint
Louis where he went to say Mass, nor from crowding the adjacent streets
and square. He was met as usual at the doors by the pastor and the cler-
gy. After the Gospel Don Bosco described somehow the history of the

10 Appendix, doc. 21. When the spoils were divided after Don Bosco had eaten, the glass the Saint had used
fell to his share, and when he became a monk, he gave it to his family, who treasured it religiously. It was brought
to table on the feasts of his beatification and canonization, and everyone present drank a sip of wine from it.

11 La voce di Monte Oliveto, March—April 1932.
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church of the Sacred Heart in Rome. After Mass, interviews in the recto-
ry, interviews in the church of Saint Lawrence which he visited, and again
interviews at the seminary. At eight o’clock in the evening, they all went
to Saint Andrew’s for the Month of Mary devotions. It was already get-
ting dark, and a sea of humanity filled the square, since there was not
enough room for everybody inside the church. Fearing that some mishap
might occur in such a hustle and bustle, Don Bosco got out of the coach
and was surrounded by several gentlemen, headed by the Herculean coad-
jutor Brother Benvenuto Graziano, who had come from Italy to meet him.
They forced a path for him through the crowd. The Servant of God was
so tired, that he could not take it any more; and yet he did say something
to the people from the altar rails and gave them his blessing.

If entering the church was full of apprehension, the getting out of it
again became a dangerous enterprise. With such a vast and restless crowd,
a lot of trouble might ensue. “Neither Don Bosco nor we who were with
him,” Charles Viglietti writes, “will ever forget that evening. My feet
were so trampled on that day that they were bleeding. I had to clutch on
to his cassock so as not to be separated from him. Besides being worn out
and bruised and battered, thanks to the indiscreet devotion of the faithful,
our poor father had his hands all bruised, too. They had bitten him and
rubbed rosaries, crucifixes, and medals against his face and hands.”
Nevertheless, for anyone who au dessus de la melee [stood apart from the
scrimmage], it must have been a deeply moving manifestation of faith.

On the last day, May 15, he did not leave the seminary until it was
time for his departure. He said the community Mass and said good-bye to
the clerics. He did not meet the bishop of the diocese, Bishop Fava,
because he was absent from the town; but when he arrived at Grenoble,
Don Bosco made it his duty to call at the episcopal palace as a sign of due
homage. At last, about nine o’clock, he said his final farewell to France,
where he had experienced French benevolence and generosity in so many
different ways. He left on the express train for Italy from Grenoble.

Father John Baptist Lemoyne received word about a miraculous deed
that occurred at Grenoble even before Don Bosco arrival. A certain Mr.
Darberio had a son suffering from an incurable disease, but did not want
to receive the sacraments. This afflicted the Christian family even more.
The boy’s father had written to the Saint, imploring him to pray to God
that he might touch the unhappy boy’s heart. Don Bosco sent word in
answer that his son would not have only recovered, but that he would
serve his Mass when he passed through Grenoble. That’s what happened.
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Two letters written to Don Bosco in January 1888 by someone who
apparently was unaware of the health, in which the Servant of God then
found himself, refer to Don Bosco’s passing through Grenoble. In the
first, dated January 16th, Suzanne de la Brosse asks for a spiritual favor.
But to introduce her request, she reminds him of a temporal favor she had
already obtained, thanks to him. “When you were in Grenoble two years
ago,” she wrote, “my father had terrible trouble with his eyes. You were
so gracious to pray for him to Mary Help of Christians, and that same day
his eyes were healed.”

The second letter, dated January 25th, came from a poor youth named
Mario Faure who enclosed an offering of one franc, 25 cents, saying that he
had been cured of a sickness and now asked Don Bosco to pray for him, so
that he might find work. To remind him of who he was, he recalled several
things in reference to an interview granted him at Grenoble, saying that he
was that poor youth who had been a hunchback. He had seen Don Bosco in
his room at the seminary before he celebrated Mass in the church of Saint
Louis, and the Saint had given him a medal for his mother who was sick, urg-
ing him to repeat this prayer to the Sacred Heart of Jesus until the end of the
year: “Glory be to the Sacred heart of Jesus, now and forever and ever. So be
it.” This ejaculatory prayer was very easy to remember, and perhaps Don
Bosco had advised it in consideration of the education of the young man. He
wrote in his letter that he had always continued to say that prayer, though he
did not add anything further about his mother’s health. We would underscore
the singular graciousness with which Don Bosco granted an audience to this
poor boy, listening to what he had to say and comforting him, despite the
heavy schedule he had at the time, as though he were an important person.

We come now to the epilogue. On May 11, Charles Viglietti wrote to
Father Lemoyne from Valence: “Don Bosco, at whose side I am right now,
asked me to give you his warm regards and to greet all the superiors at the
Oratory, as well as the boys, and to tell them that he hopes to see them all
again in good health Saturday evening.” After so long an absence and the
general anxiety for his health on such a strenuous journey, this piece of news
brought great joy to the Oratory. He arrived a little before seven o’clock.
Who could describe the enthusiasm when they saw him in the doorway?
Their first wave of joy was quickly transformed into profound tenderness as
they saw that he looked far more bent than before.” As he walked slowly
through the courtyard between two compact rows of boys who grabbed his

12 L etter from Fr. Lazzero to Bp. Cagliero, Turin, May 17, 1886.
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hands to kiss them, one of the secretaries, noticing how exhausted he looked,
wanted to put an end to all the commotion and pushed the boys back. Don
Bosco noticed the immediate sadness on the faces of those nearest to him,
so he gave the secretary a small slap across the cheek saying, “Why won’t
you let them kiss my hand? Let them do it.” Thus they all had this satisfac-
tion, following him with shouts of joy and applause as he walked along the
corridor to his room. After supper, a display of fireworks and placards with
all kinds of writings on them expressed the general rejoicing.

The Feast of the patronage of Saint Joseph, which the artisans at the
Oratory celebrated with particular fervor, fell on May 16. In thanksgiving
to Our Lady for the graces received during his journey, Don Bosco chose
to celebrate Mass not without great inconvenience at his usual altar of
Saint Peter’s, during community Mass, in the church of Mary Help of
Christians. This gave everyone the joy of being able to see him to their
heart’s content. At midday, he came downstairs to the confreres dining
room for dinner where both the boys and the superiors read him compli-
mentary essays in prose and in verse. Since Don Bosco spoke and loved
the Piedmontese dialect, the director of the student body, Father John B.
Francesia, paid him tribute in that dialect. At the end, Father Joseph
Lazzero, the director of the artisans, announced that after the evening
prayer service, his boys were staging an entertainment which could be
entitled, Saint Joseph and Don Bosco, and invited all present to honor it
with their presence. He added that he did not dare to invite Don Bosco
because it would be staged in the open air in the courtyard; though it
would, of course, be a precious boon to the artisans if they could just see
him in their midst for a few moments. Don Bosco replied, “If the weath-
er is good and the air is not too cold, I will be there.”

Don Bosco was there! First Charles Viglietti got the idea to hang
around Don Bosco’s neck the medal that the Catholic Association had
given him at Barcelona. Everyone hailed this novelty with great approval.
The praises in honor of Saint Joseph were interwoven with references to
the travels of Don Bosco, to the good he accomplished, to the recognition
received in Barcelona, and to many other things, which moved him to
tears. The Catholic Workers of Borgo Dora, of whom Don Bosco was
honorary president, had sent a delegation to represent them with an affec-
tionate speech to be read in public.” The Saint was so happy that he gave
instructions that all that had been read out to him was to be copied nice-

13See Appendix, doc. 23.
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ly, to be collected into a booklet which would be sent to the noble Marti-
Codolar family in Spain. “Thus ended the lovely day of yesterday,” Father
John Baptist Lemoyne wrote the following day, in a letter already quoted,
“a beautiful day for Don Bosco’s arrival among us, beautiful because it
was the feast of the patronage of Saint Joseph, and beautiful too, because
it occurred during the novena for the feast of Mary Help of Christians,
beautiful too, because we saw a clear, serene sky which we did not have
for quite some time.”

Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda rejoiced at Don Bosco’s safe return more
than anyone else in Turin. After allowing a few days to elapse, on the
morning of May 18, he suddenly called at the Oratory to see him, judging
that Don Bosco would by that time have recovered from the fatigue of a
journey, which some people considered a “pious and astonishing act of
temerity.”"* His visit was not a mere formality, but was motivated by cor-
dial friendship. The Cardinal remained with Don Bosco for more than an
hour. He found the Servant of God in a condition which, unfortunately,
was the same as that described on May 20 by Father Joseph Lazzero to the
Vicar Apostolic of Patagonia: “You will wonder how Don Bosco is? He is
not sick, but he is failing more and more every day. His legs continually
grow weaker and are unable to carry the weight of his body, which seems
to be three times its normal weight. He walks slowly, like a snail, and only
with great difficulty. His mind is still good, his stomach average, but his
desire to talk gets less and less evident day after day. He enjoys hearing
other people talk, especially when they tell him about the missions. Then
he is all attention, and generally joins in the conversation himself. We hope
that he can continue like this ad multos anos [for many more years].”

Although it seemed as if Don Bosco was in such a state that he would
never attain his goal, he obeyed his own persistent urge, without consid-
ering his strength or taking even the most elementary human precautions.
He pushed far ahead and, as always, Divine Providence assisted him most
manifestly, helping him to overcome spiritual obstacles, which any mor-
tal man would have deemed insurmountable. How much good did he
accomplish for the souls with the effectiveness of his word! Apart from
this, and apart from the material support of which he had such great need,
and the magnificent donation of the Tibidabo hill which was destined to
be the “national vow” of Spain to the Sacred Heart of Jesus, his visit to
that nation had the same effect as it had in France. It made his works uni-

14 Minutes of the Ladies’ Committee meeting in Marseilles, May 13, 1886.
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versally known, acclaimed, and sought after; it allowed them to be devel-
oped on a solid basis and far extended them within only a few years to the
point that they emerged unscathed from the frenzy of the Communist rev-
olution in 1934, which brought turmoil and bloodshed to the entire
nation."

15 As we now correct our galley proofs (December 4, 1936), Satan personified by Russian Bolshevism has
destroyed hundreds of churches and massacred 14,000 priests, and is threatening to concentrate the powers of hell
in Spain for the purpose of destroying civilization and Christian Europe—unless the Archangel St. Michael does not
first force the devil back into the abyss from which he has emerged.
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Chapter 3

FROM THE FEAST OF MARY HELP OF CHRISTIANS
TO THE FEAST OF THE ASSUMPTION / DON BOSCO’S
SUMMER AT THE ORATORY AND AT PINEROLO

Every year the popularity of the feast of Mary Help of Christians
became greater and wider. In 1886, the novena was attended by a great
number of faithful; a greater crowd came on the eve of the feast and an
extraordinary crowd came on the day of the solemn celebration itself. This
vast attendance went hand-in-hand with a genuine devotion. The preach-
er during the month of Mary and the novena, Father D’ Antuono from
Salerno, said he had preached in much bigger churches to larger crowds,
but he had never before encountered such recollection and piety.

The splendor of the sacred services was enhanced by the presence of
several recently consecrated bishops in Turin. These services were held
just as solemnly for the entire day of the 23rd as if it were already the feast
itself. The pontifical services both morning and evening helped create this
illusion, also because it happened to be a Sunday. Don Bosco celebrated
Mass at the altar of Saint Peter, with a mighty crowd of faithful in atten-
dance, while the general president of the Catholic Workers’ Association of
Turin and the president of the Saint Joachim chapter served his Mass. The
members of the latter chapter had all turned out as a body to thank Mary
Help of Christians for the safe journey of their honorary president. In the
afternoon two hours before Vespers, the Salesian meeting was held. Don
Bosco had held out the hope of addressing the meeting himself, but at the
last minute, his strength failed him and he asked Father John Bonetti to do
it for him. He sat down, listening from the sanctuary while the congrega-
tion kept on looking at him in a composed and bent down attitude.
Something truly odd occurred during the collection. A working man who
had forced his way to his side by dint of elbow work, placed ten silver lire
in his hand saying, “I have been saving this for about six months. Take it
for your poor boys.”

When the Servant of God appeared in the Oratory courtyard, the
Cooperators gathered around him in great number and with an indescribable
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affection. “No one could have any idea of what enthusiasm really is, unless he
had seen Don Bosco in the midst of his own,” someone wrote at that time.! Yet
how grieved they were to see how slowly he moved, and how bent he was!
“How old he has become!” people said. In his diary, Charles Viglietti wrote, It
took Don Bosco three quarters of an hour to get up to his room. What a crowd!
The majority were out of towners who had come to give thanks to Mary Help
of Christians for graces they had received. Don Bosco twice did come out to
bless them, with tears in his eyes at the sight of that crowd. He is exhausted,
breathless, so worn out that he is about to fall. Yet, he wants to make everybody
happy, talk with all of them, ask everyone for news. He is a martyr.”

Although it was a weekday, the crowd was such as had never before
been seen for the feast at the Oratory. Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda
presided pontifically at the Mass sung by a bishop and returned again in
the evening for Benediction. In successive waves, hundreds of priests and
laymen, all friends of Don Bosco, came to congratulate him at the
Oratory and keep him cheerful company. Several bishops sat grouped
around the archbishop at table, while Don Bosco was surrounded by sev-
eral Italian Cooperators and Count and Countess Colle. All the novices
from San Benigno, who had come to visit Don Bosco on this festive occa-
sion, had been wandering around the Oratory and attended the services
since early morning. He wished to see them all together and as he took
his leave of them he said, “ You are already many, but the novitiate will
be even bigger. I am giving you two medals, one for yourselves and the
other for whomsoever you wish. I am giving you a small medal so that if
you wish to send it by mail, it will not be over weight. I also give you my
blessing, so that as clerics and priests you may do well, and I also bless
your families. I will always remember you.”

Later that evening, the Saint was deeply touched when the dome of
the church was lit up, and he heard from his rooms a great outcry of
Hurrah for Mary Help of Christians reiterated several times in the square
outside the church. The outcry had come from thousands of people.

Two days after the feast of Mary Help of Christians, the Saint presided at
an important chapter meeting in which the procurator general, Father Francis
Dalmazzo, also took part. On behalf of the foreign minister, Count de
Robilant, who had negotiated with him confidentially through the offices of
Commendatore Malvano, Father Francis Dalmazzo proposed to Don Bosco
the foundation of a Salesian house in Cairo. The vicar apostolic, Bishop

I Bollettino salesiano, July 1886.
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Sogaro, and the apostolic delegate, Bishop Chicaro, had written to the
Minister asking for some Salesians. The Italian government had already
thought of Don Bosco for this project, being well aware of what he was doing,
and that, whenever he undertook anything, he always saw it through to its con-
clusion. The government would assign him a large sum brevi manu, main-
taining the most rigorous silence about everything, giving the Salesians
fullest freedom of action, without having to depend on anyone. The Secretary
asked that a school be opened as soon as possible, namely, at the commence-
ment of the forthcoming school year, or by February 1887 at the latest.

But after pointing out that the government had failed to keep its promis-
es at the time he had negotiated about Patagonia, Don Bosco said, “Now it is
said that this is a certainty. But is there any danger that De Robilant be
dropped from the Cabinet? If this were so, everything would go up in smoke.”

Father Dalmazzo replied that there was no likelihood of any alteration
in the plan. Commendatore Malvano had given him that assurance, since
he would always remain director general for foreign affairs, even though
the cabinet minister himself might change. Then too, this was a matter
approved by the whole government, not by one single cabinet minister.

Don Bosco said, “I am tempted to agree and send a few Salesians to
Cairo as soon as I can. Meanwhile, we have to find some schemer® who would
go to Cairo, see how things are and negotiate. He should let them know that
we will try to speed our departure as best we can; but that we would not do
anything against the Propagation of the Faith to which we must remain loyal.
However, he will not mention any subsidy we might receive from the gov-
ernment. Meanwhile, I can tell you quite frankly that this mission forms part
of my plans and is in one of my dreams. If I were young, I would take along
with me Father Michael Rua and say, “Come, let us go to the Cape of Good
Hope, to Nigritia (Sudan), Khartoum, the Congo; or rather, to Suakin, as
Bishop Sogaro suggests, because the climate is good there.” We could estab-
lish a novitiate there by the Red Sea. But the Propagation of the Faith should
not hold anything against the Salesians. Father Francis Dalmazzo should
explain to Commendatore Malvano, in an academic way, that there is an
immense number of Italians who live immorally in South America,
Patagonia, the Pampas, Argentina, Chile, and the Ancud Islands,’ to make
him understand what we are doing and why we are in need of a subsidy.”

Not without some decision, the council approved De Robilant’s pro-

2 He alluded jocularly to someone capable of negotiating with prudence.
3 He meant the archipelago of Chiloe, of which Ancud is the most active harbor, in southern Chile.



110 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

posal, but on condition that things proceed slowly, little by little, as soon
as it might be possible.

Cardinal John Simeoni, the new prefect of the Propagation of the
Faith, had apparently inherited a certain mistrust toward the Salesians’
missionary ability from Cardinal Alexander Franchi, his predecessor. He
even kissed Don Bosco’s hand and addressed him familiarly as “you”, but
since he opposed Bishop Sogaro’s wish to become a Salesian, Don Bosco
saw in it an indication of that mistrust. Nevertheless, as Don Bosco said
at the time, Archbishop Dominic Jacobini, secretary to the above men-
tioned Congregation, “is a true friend of ours, entirely on our side and it
was thanks to him that the Cardinal Prefect wrote on February 26, 1887
to Don Bosco, “I was very glad to hear that you are willing to send priests
of your Congregation to Egypt to open a school to provide a Catholic edu-
cation for the children of the Italian settlement. Anxious that this project
be carried out as soon as possible, I would like your Reverence to direct-
ly contact the Vicar Apostolic, Bishop Anacletus Chicaro, since he has
always been most committed to have such a school in order to save Italian
children from the dangers of idleness and corruption, which are found
there almost everywhere.”

In this way both civil and ecclesiastic authorities, the former in its
ambition to extend Italian influence abroad, the latter to extend the king-
dom of God, came together in this wholesome endeavor. But in view of the
friction which kept them apart, everything had been done without any
mutual agreement, and from the Italian side without the initiative of the
government hostile to the Church, but only thanks to the enlightened good
will of the cabinet minister, who was a Piedmontese. He had assigned a
million lire to subsidize the mission out of his secret resources. However,
as it was discovered later through a really dependable source of the
Robilant family Crispi, had disposed of that sum, once the minister was
disposed of. Father Michael Rua sent the Salesians to Egypt ten years later,
when the house at Alexandria was founded. Cairo had to wait until 1925.

Another situation toward the end of May called us back to Rome.
During Don Bosco’s absence from Turin, the Salesians had been gladdened
by some joyous news. The Congregation had been left without a cardinal
protector since July 25, 1885, when Cardinal Lawrence Nina had died. Don
Bosco had asked the Holy Father graciously to entrust this office to
Cardinal Laurenzi, who was informed of his wish and his application. But
the cardinal told the Pope that he had decided not to accept it, and wrote as
much to the Saint in a very humble letter, expressing esteem for both him
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and his Congregation. At last after eight months, with a note from the
Secretary of State dated April 17, the Holy Father appointed his vicar in
Rome, Cardinal Lucido Maria Parocchi, as protector of the Salesians. The
prefect general, Father Celestine Durando, sent a telegram to His Eminence
in Don Bosco’s name upon receipt of the auspicious news, conveying to
him thanks and promises. The Cardinal replied likewise, in a telegram that
“to the most noble sentiments expressed to him,” he would have responded
“with a solicitude worthy of Don Bosco.” In his turn, as soon as he was
informed about it, the Saint wrote to his Eminence from Barcelona,
expressing his gratitude and great joy. He received the following reply:

Rome, April 29, 1886
To the Most Reverend Superior General:

1 attribute to the charity of your Reverence and of your
beloved sons the joy felt over my appointment as Protector of the
Salesian Congregation, and am grateful for it.

Truly, when one is already burdened by so many other duties,
it is no easy task to take the place of the late, lamented Cardinal
Nina, a cardinal of so great and so many good qualities. This cer-
tainly would have discouraged many others besides me.

But the prayers of the revered Don Bosco, and of the exem-
plary priests gathered around him under the banner of Saint
Francis de Sales give me confidence that the cause will not be
damaged, nor the welfare of the Salesians impaired, by the weak-
ness of the appointed protector.

With this confidence, I again happily shoulder this burden, as
I appeal to the prayers of both the superior and his subordinates.

Most humbly at your service,
L.M. Parocchi
Cardinal Protector*

4 Lucido Maria Parocchi, born at Mantua, August 13, 1833, attended elementary and secondary school in his
home town seminary. He was sent to Rome to study theology at the Gregorian University, then returned to Mantua
to teach moral theology, canon law, and history to the seminarians. He became pastor of the church of Sts. Gervase
and Protase. In 1871 Pius IX appointed him bishop of Pavia, and 1877 archbishop of Bologna; but in both sees the
Italian government denied him the exeguatur, and so he was forced to live in the seminary on a subsidy from the
Pope instead of what that State ought to have provided. In the consistory of July 22, 1872, Pius X made him a car-
dinal, and in 1882 Leo XIII summoned him to Rome, choosing him as his vicar general for the Holy City in 1884.
In 1889 he was promoted from cardinal-priest to cardinal-bishop, presiding over the see of Albano. When sickness
obliged him to relinquish the vicariate in 1896, he assumed the more peaceful office of vice-chancellor of the Holy
Roman Church. He died in December 1902.
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This letter was addressed:
To the Reverend Superior General of the Salesians, John Bosco (Spain),
Barcelona, Sarria’.

After Don Bosco’s return, Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda had occasion to
mention this matter in his correspondence with Cardinal Lucido M.
Parocchi who wrote to him most cordially on May 29: “I am all the happi-
er about this appointment as protector, since in a certain sense, it enables
me to share in the efforts of this truly apostolic man, this miracle of char-
ity, the superior of the Salesians, Don Bosco.” That same month, the new
protector publicly expressed what he felt about Don Bosco and the
Salesians at the meeting held for the Roman Cooperators on the feast of
Mary Help of Christians in the convent of the Lady Oblates at Tor de’
Specchi. He first regretted that the meeting was not graced by the presence
of “the most resplendent jewel: who on other similar occasions had brought
luster to the meetings of the Salesian Cooperators, that “that venerable
apostle of modern charity, the exemplary and indefatigable Don Bosco”
was not there, and who would have answered so many questions “with that
lovable smile which is that of a brother and an apostle, and with the tones
of one who is both friend and father, benevolent to all.” Then he analyzed
the work which the Salesians had done, explaining how its very birth and
development was all to be attributed to the faith and charity of the man of
God. After illustrating these two things, he appealed to mothers of fami-
lies that their faith-inspired charity might lead them to cooperate in so
important an undertaking. He asked for contributions to the construction
of the Sacred Heart hospice of Rome, and to the support of boys who
would grow up to stand as the hope for both religion and for heaven.’

Don Bosco’s frail health did not keep him from pursuing one of his most
cherished objectives: the development of the Salesian Cooperators. During
the last ten years of his life, one of his concerns was to increase the number
of his Cooperators, consolidating the Pious Union by drawing into it out-
standing people. In May, he sent the diploma of Cooperator, together with a
collection of the Salesian Bulletin, to every bishop in Italy to whom it had not
been sent already. It was almost as if this were his farewell gesture toward the
Italian Episcopate, on whose behalf he had labored in critical times and with
whom he wanted his Congregation to be indissolubly linked. He received
fifty replies between May 14 and July 19, among them, three from Cardinals

5See Appendix, doc. 25.
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Melchers, Louis Jacobini and Capecelatro. The pious bishop of Capua, who
was also the learned librarian of the Roman Church, considered it “not only
an honor but a genuine spiritual privilege” to be enrolled as a Salesian
Cooperator. The saintly bishops thanked Don Bosco and asked him to pray
for them, often expressing their hopes that his sons would get to work in their
dioceses, which by their description, were in a sad religious condition. ¢

On July 2, the Superior Council first discussed the most convenient
system of mailing the Salesian Bulletin and the best probable way to organ-
ize the Cooperators. Don Bosco spoke as follows: “The Bulletin in not
merely our principal tool but is the tool essential for the Congregation. Our
Cooperators represent an unsinkable support system. So we have to think
how best they should be organized. Do not be hasty, but act with patience
in such matters. There is a big difference between appointing leaders and
finalizing the whole procedure of the organization. We should proceed
slowly. If we can promote the Bulletin and the Association of Cooperators
with thoroughness and regularity, our Congregation will never want for
material assistance.” At the time the Bulletin had a circulation of forty
thousand copies. The annual costs for printing and mailing, without con-
sidering the costs of the personal upkeep, amounted to twenty-five thou-
sand lire. During those ten years, the Bulletin had an income of nine hun-
dred thousand lire. The first step taken in organizing the Cooperators was
to establish Chapters in every parish. The pastor would be asked to suggest
someone suitable for the office of leader. A director was also to be
appointed, generally a canon delegated by the bishop, in bigger cities
where there were several Chapters. In doing all this, it was necessary to
avoid two difficulties: one of being too aggressive, and the other of under-
mining the local charitable contributions. This was the reason why Don
Bosco recommended to proceed with calmness and prudence.

The prelates already mentioned belonged to dioceses quite distant
from Turin. They had written to Don Bosco with the firm belief that he
was still in excellent health and could continue his personal activities with
efficiency. However, we knew that Don Bosco’s strength was deteriorat-
ing. At certain times, he was so overwhelmed that he was unable to speak.
His presence of mind, however, never left him. Once when he was having
difficulty breathing, he said with a laugh, “Who knows where to find in
Turin a good manufacturer of bellows? I could use them for breathing.”
On the feast of Mary Help of Christians, when he was practically breath-

6The replies are published in the Appendix, doc. 26 (A, B, C, D).
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less, barely able to stand on his feet, and as the crowd pressed around him,
he turned to his secretary with an air of mystery and whispered into his
ear, “Would it be all right to give them a couple of punches, out of devo-
tion?” One evening, when Charles Viglietti was accompanying him to his
room, he expressed the fear that he might have taken off too many blan-
kets and wondered whether Don Bosco would feel cold during the night.
“Oh! If I do, you can put my shoes on to keep my feet warm,” he said.
These are small things, if you think of it, but they reveal his habitual inner
serenity, which never left him despite both physical ailments from within
and pressures from without.

In the afternoon of June 7, he told Charles Viglietti to have the coach
ready, because he wished to resume the daily outings prescribed by the
doctor. That same evening, they rode along via Rivoli. When they had
passed the customs office, he got off the coach to walk a little. He talked
about various matters, among them about those who hold the office of
treasurer in religious congregations, that is, about those who, as he
expressed it, play the role of Judas in the school, remarking that very often
such people came to a bad end by betraying their trust. Exactly during
those days the sad example given by the financial administrator of the
Brothers of the Christian Schools was bandied around. “That was why,
from the beginning of my career, I vowed I would never hold any money
in my pockets,” he said. “I know how to use it as soon as it comes into my
possession. I am always full of debts, but we nevertheless manage to keep
on going.”

On another occasion, when speaking again of financial administra-
tion, he made this observation: “Never assign to the office of administra-
tor of our finances anyone boarding in our house who was formerly
wealthy, or came from a noble family, or anyone who once held some
high office or position in society, but later lost everything. Use them
instead only as helpers or as secretaries.”

There are some incidents in the life of Don Bosco in which irrational
creatures managed to deal familiarly with the Saint. On one of his daily
walks in the company of Father John Baptist Lemoyne, a sparrow flew in
front of him and began hopping along on the ground. Then it spread its
wings in flight and perched on his right shoulder. It flew off again, cir-
cling in the air, and then perched this time on his left shoulder. Finally it
soared high in flight and disappeared.

As we read in the life of other Saints, he too looked upon animals, the
creatures of God, with a kindly eye. One day in November 1887, the buzz
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of a fly was clearly heard during dinner. Don Bosco asked what the noise
was. Someone went to the window and told him that a spider had seized
a fly and was trapping it into its web.

“Set it free, set it free, poor little thing!” Don Bosco exclaimed anxiously.

“Oh! Let it be and let us wait and see what happens,” someone answered.

“No, no! I do not want that...If you do not set it free, I will. It upsets
me too much.”

Although he was exhausted and in need of someone’s support, he
acted as though he wanted to get up and do it. But the fly was liberated
immediately to make him happy.

He had trouble even during sleep. On certain nights he dreamt about
monsters attacking him, and he saw cats that turned into lions and snakes
that turned into demons. One night he shouted at length, calling on
Charles Viglietti now and then. Viglietti, who was asleep in the adjoining
room, was hesitant at first about waking him; but then, being afraid that
the shouts and excitement might harm him, entered his room and woke
him up. “Thank you, dear Viglietti,” Don Bosco said, “you rendered me
an excellent service. I have terrifying dreams which wear me out!”

A welcome visit was paid him on June 21 by the Salesians and the
two hundred and thirty boys from Borgo San Martino School on a trip as
a reward from their superiors for their commendable conduct throughout
the school year. They walked through the streets of the town lined up by
fours and people admired their discipline and behavior. At the Oratory
their docility and behavior were singled out. Don Bosco saw them all
together in the study hall, where he listened to some of their speeches. He
answered their affectionate greetings with great tenderness, telling them
that he had great affection for their school, which had been his second
foundation. Referring to that outing, Father Joseph Lazzero wrote:” “The
Borgo San Martino school is ever flourishing”.

If the following Thursday had not been the feast of Corpus Christi,
they would have chosen that day for their outing. However, that occasion
did not prevent the oratory from celebrating Don Bosco’s name day. The
superiors felt that Don Bosco wanted the feast of Saint John to be cele-
brated with greater solemnity than usual that year. They understood one of
his reasons for wanting this, but they discovered the other reason only later
on. Since the new system of having two directors had been established at
the Oratory, things were not progressing as it had been expected, especial-

7 Letter to Bp. Cagliero, Turin (July 5?) 1886.
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ly among the students. A pleasant family feast which would bring the boys
closer to both Don Bosco and their superiors was just what was needed to
restore the former family spirit. His other reason was that there were for-
eign personalities in the house who had already promised Don Bosco that
they would be present. He was anxious to arrange for a celebration as
solemn as possible to please his guests and give them joy, besides acquaint-
ing them about one of the characteristic aspects of his work: the happy
family life of the Salesian houses. When this intention of the Saint became
known, nothing was spared to respond to it all the way and, according to
witnesses, everything was wonderfully successful and satisfactory.

At two o’clock on the eve of the feast day, when the house was
already festively decorated, someone who had not been expected at all
suddenly appeared at the Oratory. This was the president of the Peruvian
Republic and his son. Since he was on his way to Paris he wished to
employ the brief stopover in Turin by calling on Don Bosco and visiting
the Oratory. The cleric Viglietti, who spoke Spanish fluently, acted as
guide. Father and son were very enthusiastic and said they were anxious
to come again and see everything at greater leisure. Meanwhile, they
asked Don Bosco with affectionate insistence to think of founding a
house in their own country. The Saint was already known in Peru because
of D’Espiney’s biography, which had been translated by Father Louis
Torra in 1884. The general interest in Peru, as in other South American
republics, was directed towards the vocational technical schools estab-
lished for the sons of the working class. The Salesians arrived in Lima
three years after the death of the Saint.

When the Peruvians left, two more guests who were eagerly expect-
ed arrived: Mr. Joachim de Font, the secretary of the Catholic Association
of Barcelona and Count de Villeneuve Flayosc, president of the agricul-
tural associations of southern France. These two gentlemen sat on either
side of Don Bosco during the customary academic entertainment on the
eve of his name day, since they were representing their countries. The
most important feature of the program was the presentation by Father
John Lemoyne of Mama Margaret’s life, written by him.. The author
accompanied the presentation with a sonnet he had written in which he
described the book as the fairest blossom in a bouquet of flowers he was
offering to Don Bosco for his name day, a bouquet consisting of the ever
fragrant virtues of his holy mother.?®

8 Appendix, doc. 27.
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On the 24th, Don Bosco said Mass at the Altar of Saint Peter. During
the morning hours he received a delegation of past pupils who presented
him with a red and silver brocade vestment. The mathematician, James
Belmonte, was spokesman for the group. In his speech which was later
printed,’ he recalled memories from bygone days: “Every past pupil cher-
ishes the beloved memories of the days lived under the paternal guidance of
our dearly beloved Don Bosco. Now that they are grown men, his blessed
memory comes to them to assist them when, at times, they are over-
whelmed by difficulties when they have to face conflicting circumstances.
For it was Don Bosco who in their younger years, taught them by word and
example how to be steadfast in their work, their resolutions and their
Christian generosity. How many of them, not to say all of them, consider
the time spent in this atmosphere of peace and piety, of study and work, as
the very best in their lives! The memory of their youth is perennially linked
with the image of their affectionate superior who left so indelible a mark on
their entire existence. The numbers of those who, now grown to manhood,
are nostalgic about those happy days spent under the guidance of this
incomparable Father, are increasing. The numbers of pupils who every year
scatter all over the world once their studies have been completed, or once
they have learned their trade, have assured us that there is by now no coun-
try where one does not hear people talk of Don Bosco.” Don Bosco replied
with warm affection and with tears of fatherly gratitude.

He then went downstairs to the common dining room, followed by his
guests and the members of the council. The final academic entertainment,
the second one which took place before a large audience, was filled with
song, music, and declamations and was extremely entertaining. The
Catholic Workers Association of Turin enrolled both Villeneuve and de Font
as honorary members.”” An impressive laurel wreath, wonderfully illumi-
nated, which carried the names of all the houses founded by Don Bosco on
its branches, was presented. At the end of the celebration, the Saint had to
content himself with merely thanking everybody and greeting them all with
an all-embracing gesture of his arms and a smile of ineffable tenderness.

On this occasion the cardinal was unable to attend because he was
busy with the celebration of Corpus Christi. However, toward five
o’clock, he did call on Don Bosco and stayed with him for two hours.

9 Nel di onomastico del Reverendissimo D. Giovanni Bosco gli antichi allievi dell’Oratorio di S. Francesco di
Sales (Turin: Salesiana), pp. 6-7.

10 The Board of the Barcelona Association addressed a grateful and affectionate letter to Don Bosco, thank-
ing him for the welcome extended to its secretary. (See Appendix, doc. 28.)
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Figuring out the time required for mail delivery, the Salesians of
South America had mailed their letters ahead of time and they arrived at
the right time. It is moving to read those truly filial lines, but we would
have to repeat things already said elsewhere if we were to give a sample
of them. One can see how the memory of Don Bosco was kept alive in
their hearts, and it was good enough to hold them all united, to encourage
them in the face of hardship, and to spur them on to a holy rivalry in their
apostolate! God creates some chosen persons to be influential not only in
word and deed, but he also endows them with personal charm to win over
the affection of their subordinates and collaborators.

It seemed that even Mary Help of Christians in heaven was pleased to
enhance the joy of that day. Father Faustino Confortdla, the former direc-
tor of the house of Florence and at that time transferred to Rome, was
about to die because of a “verticolitis” intestinal obstruction. On the 23rd,
a telegram arrived imploring a blessing and prayers for him. Don Bosco
sent a telegram telling him that he was praying and ordering prayers for
him. On the morning of the 24th, another telegram came from Father
Dalmazzo worded as follows: “Praised be Saint John. After your blessing,
Father Confortdla seems to have come back to life. Happy name day!”
The doctor who had already given him up for dead saw him standing by
his bed. The doctor exclaimed, “This is something that science cannot
explain!” At that moment, Don Bosco received word of another incident
in which the hand of Mary Help of Christians seemed discernible. A fear-
ful eruption of Mount Etna had brought terror to the large population liv-
ing peacefully on the slopes of the famous volcano. The locality most
directly threatened was Nicolosi, a community of about four thousand
people. It was estimated that the burning lava was streaming down the
slope at the rate of fifty to seventy meters an hour. Pinewoods, chestnut
groves, and cultivated lots were all flooded, burnt, and destroyed. In the
face of this terrible catastrophe, the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians
wrote Don Bosco from both Catania and Agira, begging him to suggest
something that might avert the danger. Don Bosco sent word that they
were to scatter medals of Mary Help of Christians immediately through-
out the area and that, meanwhile, he was praying and sending his bless-
ing. The Sisters brought the medals to the pastor; he scattered as many of
them and as high as possible. A wonderful event! The medals set the fur-
thermost boundary of the molten stream, which advanced no further.
After a certain delay, the Sisters informed Don Bosco about it. The news-
papers had already published a telegraphic announcement through the
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Stefani News Agency: “The lava came within three hundred feet of the
village, then stopped short on the slope near the town.” It must be borne
in mind that the molten torrent of lava “suspended on the slope” was still
in what is known as liquid form and it was constantly fed by the contin-
uing eruptions. Scientists declared that Nicolosi was irrevocably con-
demned to be destroyed. Even the violently anti-clerical Gazzetta di
Catania carried a dispatch which specified the area in which the flow of
lava had stopped, and described the phenomenon by its proper name,
wording it as follows: “Lava branched off at Altarelli, sparing them
unscathed. Miracle.” Today this petrified mass of heaped lava still stands
as an everlasting memory of that miracle."

The friends from Barcelona did not forget Don Bosco. Fresh evidence
of this was seen after his name day. The Pascual brothers were among his
fondest friends. Now Polycarp, the youngest brother, had married after
the Saint’s departure and set out on his honeymoon. On his way home he
passed through Turin and on June 26 paid a pleasant surprise visit to Don
Bosco accompanied by his bride. Since the feast of Saint Aloysius was
being celebrated at the Oratory the following day, he attended the dinner
party together with several other gentlemen. He heard some of the
Oratory music and the repetition of the hymn composed for the occasion
of the name day by Father John Baptist Lemoyne which had been set to
music by maestro Brother Joseph Dogliani. He left Turin on the 29th.
Charles Viglietti went to the railway station to see him off in the name of
Don Bosco and Father Michael Rua. Some eight to fifteen letters arrived
for Don Bosco every day from Spain.

Not wanting to disappoint one hundred and fifty honest working
men, Don Bosco underwent a considerable inconvenience on the 29th,
considering his physical ailments. The chapter of the Catholic Workers’
Association of Turin was celebrating its tenth anniversary of existence
and got permission to hold its fraternal banquet at the Oratory. Naturally,
Don Bosco was invited to preside at it. Although the hot weather
increased his discomfort, he could not find it in his heart to say no.
Disguising his ailments, he gave everyone present the impression that he
was quite well. At the end of the meal, toasts were raised, to which Don
Bosco listened calmly, though he did not have enough strength to reply to
them. However, when the banquet was over, the members of the associa-
tion went to him individually and heard a few kind words from his lips.

I1 The two telegrams were also published on June 18 by L "Unita cattolica.



120 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

During the year of his canonization, there was much talk here and
there about whether or not Don Bosco had been a Franciscan Tertiary. His
name does appear in an old record-book but his name does not feature in
the official records, possibly because it was inadvertently omitted. In
1886, the Franciscans of Saint Anthony felt that they ought to amend the
situation and sent him a diploma of enrollment dated July 1, qualifying
him as the Patriarch of the Salesians. The document was accompanied by
a letter dated June 28, in which Father Candido, director of the Sacred
Third Order wrote: “Here is the document which formally declares you a
Franciscan Tertiary Brother of the Congregation of Saint Thomas. I imag-
ine that you recall having received the habit and made your regular pro-
fession, even though you may not recall the exact time. In the event that
you are uncertain, it would be as well that you do so now, since taking the
habit and profession are indispensable to enjoy all its spiritual benefits. In
this case, I would be pleased at your request to come to your room to see
that this is done.” This Father must have already spoken with Don Bosco
on the subject prior to this, for he added: “Meanwhile, thank you from the
bottom of my heart for the paternal welcome extended to me, and for join-
ing our seraphic sodality.” It is evident that Don Bosco had confirmed his
enrollment in the Order ab immemorabili.”

He received a very important visitor the evening of July 5. Prince
Czartoryski and his son called at the Oratory the day they arrived in Turin
and were invited to dinner at noon on the following day. To honor his
guests, Don Bosco called upon several members of the Turin aristocracy,
among them Prince Prospero Balbo. Prince Balbo demurred, offering as
a reason for declining the invitation his own hardness of hearing which
prevented him from taking part in any conversation. “But I need you,”
Don Bosco insisted, “I want you to entertain the Czartoryski princes.”

That name reminded the old count about his former comrade-at-
arms. During the siege of Peschiera in 1848, a legion of Polish volunteers,
under the command of Prince Ladislaus Czartoryski, father of August,
had fought side by side with the Piedmontese. It was there that the two
had met, both lieutenants in the artillery at that time. The desire to see his
old comrade once again made the count forget his deafness. Their meet-
ing could not have been more cordial or friendly. Their exchange of rec-
ollections of glorious bygone days at table filled a good share of the gen-

12 1t is also known that Pius X became a Franciscan Tertiary when he was pastor of Salzano, but nothing more,
since there are no documents available. See V. Facchinetti, L ‘anima di Pio decimo (Milan: Vita e Pensiero, 1935), p. 371.
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eral conversation. Don Bosco sat listening until, seizing an opportunity,
he too began talking of his battles, this time battles sustained against the
enemies of his undertakings, against the enemy of souls, and against his
creditors. August, who listened with interest, asked him whether he was
thinking of sending Salesians to Poland, as well.

“Something ought to be done,” Prince Ladislaus said, “to prevent the
corruption of youth. When morality disappears, so does patriotism.”

“Certainly, Don Bosco would be happy to be in Poland, for he would
find many vocations there,” his son said.

“We will come, we will come to your country too,” Don Bosco said
firmly, after hesitating for a moment’s reflection.

“But when?” came the question.

“As soon as we have suitable personnel,” he replied. “The language dif-
ficulties will not be so easy to overcome, but we will arrange for that too.”

After a moment of silence, Father John Baptist Francesia turned to
Prince August in his simple, teasing manner. “Look, Your Highness, why
don’t you become a Salesian, so that Don Bosco may open a house in
Poland immediately.”

There were smiles, an exchange of a few words on the subject, and
then the talk turned to other things. But three people at the table contin-
ued to think about the suggestion: Don Bosco, Prince Ladislaus, and his
son. The father had known Don Bosco in Paris at the Lambert palace, as
we have already reported, but he had never visited any Salesian house. He
had thought that the Salesian congregation was an excessively humble
institution. Inflexible in his determination to deny his son permission to
become a Salesian, he had agreed to go with him to Turin to speak with
Don Bosco and inspect his house at close range, but certainly not with
any idea of talking about a vocation.

After dinner, the three of them retired for a confidential talk. The father
explained the family projects for the future of his son August, and asked the
Saint for his enlightened opinion. Though Don Bosco had no doubts what-
soever about the young man’s vocation, he only repeated what he had
already written to him several times: namely, that he should prepare himself
for his future life, so that he might live up to the legitimate expectations of
his family and of his native country, Poland. But he did add:

“Yet, I believe that if it is obvious that the will of God conflicts with
the wishes of Your Excellency, you should not offer any opposition.”

“There is no doubt as to that,” the father answered. “In fact, I would
be delighted if I had another son who would become a priest.”
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“It would be a very good thing,” Don Bosco said. “Anyone belonging
to so influential a family could do much for the Church and for his coun-
try. Anyway, may the holy will of God be done in all things.”

Both father and son were pleased with Don Bosco when they left him.
The former had formed an excellent opinion of Don Bosco, but felt sure
that in the end, his son August would bow to his paternal will. The latter
was delighted that his father had revised his opinion of Don Bosco, and
came away from the interview determined to follow the advice of the
Saint. And so back home at Sieniawa he applied himself industriously to
his business, transacting important financial matters on behalf of his
father, holding high the traditions of his family. Prince Ladislaus was
overjoyed. But how many times in this world do fathers propose and God
disposes regarding the destiny of their children!

The heat of summer was draining Don Bosco’s strength continuous-
ly. He was also troubled by symptoms of dysentery, so he agreed to the
proposal that he move to Valsalice where the temperature remains cool
even in the heart of summer, save for the noonday period. He went there
the evening of July 7, with Viglietti. It had been hoped that he would
return to Pinerolo, as he had done two years previously. The Bishop said
he would have been delighted to have him at the villa. Don Bosco hesi-
tated considerably at first. Then when he finally decided, he arranged to
stay at Valsalice until the 15th, because he did not want to be absent from
the two annual meetings of past pupils.

While at Valsalice he received two gracious letters from French
prelates. That year, the Salesian printing shop of Nice had put out a
French translation of his book The Catholic in the World.” Bishop Dabert,
bishop of Perigueux and Sarlat, had received a complimentary copy and
wrote to say he had found the book excellent from every point of view,
both for its sound exposition and historic reliability, as well as for its sim-
plicity and, at times, even for its familiar style which enhanced the effec-
tiveness of the proofs and the exactness of its doctrine. The other letter
came from Rennes, where the archbishop was that same Bishop Place
who had been the bishop of Marseilles when the Salesians had first gone
to that town, and who had then been made cardinal by Leo XIII at the
Consistory of June 7. Don Bosco had written him a letter of congratula-
tions, to which His Eminence replied, addressing the Saint as his friend

13 Le catholique dans le monde (Nice: Patronage St.-Pierre, 1886). This is the translation of /I cattolico nel
secolo, which Don Bosco published as the first three numbers of the Catholic Readings in 1883.
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and apologizing for the delay in answering him, saying, “You know well
enough my former sentiments which remain the same regarding yourself
and the Salesian family, so you may well imagine how welcome your con-
gratulations were among all the testimonials and wishes I have been for-
tunate enough to receive.” In closing he requested very deferentially to be
remembered in Don Bosco’s prayers."

His brief vacation at Valsalice is linked to the memory of an incident
which leans towards the miraculous. An authentic account of the incident
is found in our archives. A wealthy farmer from Rosignano Monferrato,
George Caprioglio, had a daughter who for some months had been in the
insane asylum of Alessandria. He called on Don Bosco at Valsalice on
July 10, to put the case before him and implore his help. Don Bosco
ordered him to recite certain prayers with his family every day until the
feast of All Saints. Mr. Caprioglio did as he was told and informed every-
one: “Don Bosco has promised that the grace will be forthcoming.”
Despite his confidence, he became impatient to know the outcome of
such a long period of prayer and went to Alessandria on October 22 to
have definite news about his daughter. But he returned home upset
because he had not been able to obtain from the doctor a reassuring word.
However, convinced that Don Bosco was speaking the truth, he kept on
praying as he had done before. And lo and behold! On October 29 he
received a letter informing him that his daughter was completely restored
to sanity and asking him to get at once to Alessandria to take her home.
Her father hurriedly went to Alessandria and found her perfectly normal
so much so that on the eve of All Saints’ Day she wanted to receive the
sacraments at Alessandria to thank God for her recovery.

Soon the change of climate showed its beneficial effects, for when
Don Bosco went back to the Oratory on July 11 and 15 to be with the past
pupils, he was able to speak to them at the end of the dinners on both
occasions. Fortunately, his brief addresses were transcribed and represent
the only record we have of this twofold festivity. A few Frenchmen were
present at the dinner of the past pupils. This is what Don Bosco said:

“I would like to convey to you a few words also because I am not sure
that I shall be with you next year. I would be very happy, indeed, to cele-
brate this happy day in your company again and again, but the troubles of
my old age warn me that I must not be over confident. I thank you for hav-

' Appendix, doc. 29.
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ing come to dine with me, as I also thank these gentlemen whose friend-
ship brought them here to us from France. Not all of my good friends
could come here today, my dear children, because of distance and because
of their many commitments. But when you see them, please tell them that
in you who were here, I could see them and that in thanking you, I
thanked them for the affection that they continue to feel for me. Tell them
that Don Bosco is still willing to share his bread with them, because it
does not belong to Don Bosco, but to Divine Providence. Don Bosco
loves you all in Jesus Christ because you love Him, and I hope that Our
Lord will grant us the grace of living to see better days. Don Bosco will
always pray for you; and please help me with your prayers, so that we can
set our hand to new undertakings, and continue those we have begun. See
how good Divine Providence has been to us! Today there are thousands
and thousands of young people living in our houses; and they are certain-
ly not fed only crickets and flowers. And yet from the early days of our
Oratory, we never wanted for bread. Rather, our resources have grown
hand-in-hand with our needs. I assure you that our undertakings will con-
tinue to prosper under the wings of a divine and adorable Providence. You
and your children and your children’s children will witness and delight in
our fate and fortune and will share in them. Let us be faithful to our holy
religion, for then everyone will be obliged to respect and love us. No one
will have cause to dislike us, for charity is a bond which unites all hearts.
I promise you that I will go on loving you as a brother and father, until
our love will one day be rewarded when we hear those sweet words, ‘Enter
into the joy of your Lord, for you have obeyed my Holy Law’.”

Some twenty laymen joined the priests-past pupils, for they had been
unable to attend their own meeting the previous Sunday. From what Don
Bosco said, it is easy to understand the themes which had been broached in
the toasts previously given. Here he expresses some highly noteworthy ideas:

“I am delighted at what has been said. I have heard and enjoyed your
words and your statements. The Reverend Pastor of the church of the Great
Mother of God said that no one can surpass the love the past pupils of the
Oratory feel for me! The engineer, Mr. Buffa assures me that our
Cooperator friends are second to none in their love for me, and that this
love felt by thousands and thousands of people knows no limits. Now it is
my turn to say who it is I love the most. Tell me. This is my hand; which
of my five fingers do I love the most? Which of these could I do without?
Certainly, I would not do without any of them because all five of them are
equally dear and necessary to me. Therefore, I can only say that I love you
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all, all of you without any difference in degree or measure. There are many
things I would like to say now about my sons and the Salesian Cooperators.

“The proposal made by the reverend pastor of the church of the Great
Mother of God as an invitation to you to work for further growth of the
Union of Salesian Cooperators is a very fine idea, because the
Cooperators are the mainstay of the works of God, channelled through the
Salesians....The Supreme Pontiff Leo XIII is not only our first
Cooperator, but our first active collaborator. It is enough that you look at
the facade of the Church of the Sacred Heart! It will tell you that the work
of the Cooperators and of the Pope has combined to shake so many
Christians out of the listlessness into which they had fallen, and spread
out the vigor of charity. Such an act today is of an exceptional timeliness
as the Pope himself has said. Could any one man alone have accomplished
what we have accomplished? No. There is no one who could have done it.
It was not Don Bosco. It was the hand of God who availed itself of the
Cooperators! Listen! You have just said that the Association of Salesian
Cooperators is beloved of many people, and I can add that it will spread
in every country, wherever Christianity has penetrated. A time will come
when the name of Cooperator will be synonymous with that of a true
Christian. The hand of God upholds it! The Cooperators will be those
summoned to promote the spirit of Catholicism. This may be a Utopian
ideal on my part, yet I cling to it. The fiercer the attack on the Holy See,
the higher the Cooperators will exalt it. The more unbelief shall increase
everywhere, the more the Cooperators will uphold on high the torch of
their effective faith.”

Taking leave of these dear friends of his, Don Bosco left that evening
with Father John Baptist Lemoyne and Charles Viglietti for Pinerolo. The
rector of that seminary had come to pick up Don Bosco and escort him
there. The bishop was waiting for him when he arrived with a princely
carriage lent him by a gentleman of the town. Delighted to have the
Servant of God with him once again, the bishop had had rooms prepared
for Don Bosco and his two secretaries at his villa in Saint Maurice. The
sudden change to that high altitude caused Don Bosco a somewhat agi-
tated night. He had a long dream, of which he remembered nothing the
following day, except that he had been summoned in great haste to the
railway station barely in time to catch the train, and that he had then
arrived somewhere where a big battle was taking place, and had sudden-
ly found himself in the midst of the fray.

The pastor informed Don Bosco that another sort of dream which
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he did not dream personally, but in which he played a part, had a very
beneficial effect on a worthy person a few days later. A former bene-
factress, Mrs. Jerome Verdona of Gavi, who had for many years given
lodging and hospitality both to the Salesians and to the Daughters of
Mary Help of Christians, asked Don Bosco to send her a Salesian. She
wished to let him know of her last will and testament, since she felt
her end was near at hand. Father Francis Cerruti was sent to her. Some
time later, she became unstable in mind, as well as infirm in body.
The doctors pronounced her insane. She would not even wish to
receive communion any longer. She grew sulky, expressing grief and
dejection whenever she was able to say a few words. She could not
stay still for five minutes, nor would she remain seated in any one
place. She had been in this sorry condition for about two months when
some friends of hers recommended her plight to Don Bosco. The
evening of July 19, after going to bed, she fell into a peaceful slumber
which she had not done for a long time She dreamt that she saw both
Mary Help of Christians and Don Bosco beside her comforting her.
When she awakened she summoned her maid to call for a priest,
because she wished to receive communion. She improved physically
and mentally for a few more years, devoutly performing her religious
devotions until she died a serene death and went to receive the reward
of her charitable deeds.

The long letters he wrote from the bishop’s villa clearly demonstrate
how the air at Pinerolo was beneficial to his health. One was addressed to
his benefactors at San Nicolas de los Arroyos and its original is reli-
giously treasured there in the home of the worthy Montaldo family.

Turin, July 25, 1886

“To my well-deserving and charitable Cooperators, to all
their relatives and friends residing in the town of San Nicolas de
los Arroyos in America, and its environs.

Your religion and your charity, kind friends, both ladies and
gentlemen, is well known in America and especially in Europe,
because of the continued patronage you give our beloved children
who live among you all. They very willingly left our country to get
to you and carry out their sacred ministry for the glory of God and
the spiritual benefit of your souls, and particularly for the benefit
of youth. This was recommended to them particularly before they
departed by one who loved them dearly in our Lord Jesus Christ.



From the Feast of Mary Help of Christians... 127

I know that you are helping them, and what little they have
already accomplished is due entirely to your charity. Continue
your charitable work and I will go on praying for you so that our
Lord may multiply his graces for all your undertakings and your
families. Your good deeds were reported to our Holy Father Leo
XIII who was delighted by what he heard.

‘Give them the assurance of my particular benevolence,” he
told me. ‘Tell them that I bless them all from the bottom of my
heart and that I grant them a special indulgence to be shared by
all the Cooperators, their families, and any deceased relatives
who might need prayers for their sufferings in Purgatory.’

You are aware that my Salesians do not own any temporal for-
tunes, their wealth is your piety and your charity. Your most ven-
erated Archbishop Frederick Aneyros, Monsignor Peter
Ceccarelli, the curate and vicar at San Nicolas, are the ones who
encouraged us to reach you; and we place all our confidence in
them and in you.

If God grants me to live long enough, I hope to write to you
again, but this is uncertain because I have grown very old and am
barely able to write and it is still more unlikely that my writing be
understood. But I hopefully rely on your prayers and on the good
news I hope to receive from you whom I love in Jesus Christ, and
for whom every day, I have a special memento at the altar of God.
God bless us, and may the Holy Virgin the Help of Christians
guide us all safely along the path to Heaven.

Your most affectionate friend,
Rev. John Bosco

He remembered Vincent Levrot, the architect and generous benefac-
tor of Nice, on the feast day of Saint Vincent, and sent him good wishes
for his name day:

Turin, Pinerolo, July 19, 1886
Dearest Mr. Vincent Levrot,

May the Holy Virgin the Help of Christians grant a special
blessing on your name day to you, your family and all your busi-
ness enterprises. May she generously repay you for your past and
present charity to the Salesians.
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May Mary guide us all safely to heaven.
Pray for this poor mortal who remains always,

Most affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Rev. John Bosco

Levrot replied saying that he had received one thousand francs from a
widow named Montbrun" which he was holding for Don Bosco’s mis-
sions. Writing in French this time, Don Bosco asked him to thank the lady,
and authorized him to hand the money over to Father Nicholas Cibrario,
since the house at Vallecrosia, though small, was in need of everything.
Also the other Salesian houses were, as he put it ‘rich in debts...and cred-
itors.” Then, in giving news of himself, he added, “Thank God, my health
is somewhat improved, though affected by a thousand troubles.”

Don Bosco had written to Cardinal Parocchi from Pinerolo, informing him
about his health and asking him to obtain a special blessing from the Holy
Father for him. At the same time, out of respect for his Most Eminent Protector,
he asked whether in future letters, he should continue to write in his own
cramped handwriting, or whether he should rely on the hand of a secretary. He
received the following reply which undoubtedly gave him great comfort:

Rome, July 27, 1886
Most Reverend Don Bosco:

I gave the Holy Father your good news and His Holiness was
very pleased and ordered me to send you his very special bless-
ing. In carrying out his apostolic orders, I am glad to add the
assurance of my feelings which are so well known to you that it
is like carrying coals to Newcastle to voice them again.

If it is not too great a disturbance, I would like you to con-
tinue writing yourself, because I can understand your writing per-
fectly, just as you are able to read the heart of him who remains
with reverent affection, imploring the grace of a memento,

Most devotedly and affectionately in Jesus Christ,
L.M., Cardinal Vicar

He received an even more affectionate letter from the cardinal, his

15 See Vol. XVII, p. 684.
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own archbishop. Don Bosco had instructed Father John Baptist Lemoyne
to write a nice letter to His Eminence for his name day, and received this
exuberant reply:

Turin, August 7, 1886
Dear and Most Reverend Father John,

How pleasant were the good wishes, dear Father John that
you sent me for my name day! Our good and reverend Father
Lemoyne, who is so gifted in giving expression to all the love
which the Salesians feel for this poor mortal, added something
which gave me great joy. He says that prayers are said often for
an old archbishop of Turin in all the Salesian houses. This is con-
soling and a guarantee of a happy future.

Since good Christians are supporting me with their prayers, 1
am confident even in my weakness and venture to hope that my
work will not be entirely in vain.

I, too, pray for you every day, venerated Don Bosco. May your
precious days be many here on earth. May the Salesian Congregation
continue for a long time to come, to benefit from the influence of
that charity, industriousness and sacrifice which so warms the heart
of him who is its well-deserving and God-sent founder.

I hope you will reap great benefits from the fragrant Alpine
air of Saint Maurice and gladly extend my blessing to you and the
priests who are with you, while I remain,

Most affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Cajetan, Cardinal Archbishop

A new cloud of sadness was gathering over Italy at the beginning of
June, slowly spreading all over the peninsula. While the volcanic erup-
tions of Etna kept the province of Catania in anguish, cholera reaped
victims in Piedmont, the Venetian provinces, Apulia, Emilia, and
Tuscany. Its intensity was lesser than it had been during the previous
epidemics, but this time it lasted longer. Two years previously, Don
Bosco had recommended wearing a medal of Mary Help of Christians
around the neck and certain devotions as an antidote. Therefore,
requests for medals poured in at the Oratory, and innumerable reports
of graces obtained were recorded. The following letter, written from
Pinerolo to Mr. Maggi Fannio of Santa Maria Iconia in the area of
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Padua, documents the advice Don Bosco kept reiterating for his
Cooperators while the danger lasted.

Pinerolo, July 27, 1886
Dear Friend,

I received your kind letter of the 25th with an enclosed offer-
ing for which I am most grateful. I now hasten to assure you that
I and my boys are praying fervently for you, those dear to you and
the whole of this good city. Yes, may Mary Help of Christians
spread her mantle over you all, blessing and protecting you from
all harm now and in eternity.

I gave instructions that the medals be sent immediately. If
you do not receive them in a few days, please let me know.

Please accept my respect, while I bless you and everyone in
the name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit. Amen.

Your humble servant,
Rev. John Bosco

P.S. In order to be protected against cholera, it is necessary to:
1) Wear the medal around one’s neck, or on one’s person.
2) Invoke Mary Help of Christians often (Mary Help
of Christians, pray for us).
3) Receive very frequently the holy Sacraments of Penance
and Holy Eucharist.

As it had on other occasions, the medal of Mary Help of Christians
worked miracles. In September, the son of a pious Cooperator from
Rimini went home stricken by the dreadful plague. His mother instantly
thought of Mary Help of Christians and without saying a word, put a
medal blessed by Don Bosco beneath his pillow before putting him to
bed. Hardly had the poor youth put his head on the pillow than he
exclaimed with great happiness, “Oh! How good I feel! There is nothing
wrong with me. I feel as if I had been restored from death back to life.”
Whereupon, he jumped up from bed and, although he had been unable to
stand on his feet beforehand, he began to move around the room quite eas-
ily. No further symptoms of the plague were evidenced in him.'

In August 1886, the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians were to

16 Bollettino salesiano, February 1887.
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hold their general chapter to elect their superior. Unable to preside at the
chapter, Don Bosco delegated Father Michael Rua who had again taken
over the general supervision of the Sisters, now that Father John Bonetti
had been elected catechist general of the Congregation, to take his place.
He sent him all the required faculties with this affectionate letter.

Pinerolo, Bishop’s Villa
August 8, 1886
Dearest Father Rua,

I am unable to go to Nizza Monferrato for the election of the
mother general and other superiors solely on account of my poor
health, so I am giving you all the necessary faculties regarding
this and other deliberations which are to be taken for the
Congregation of the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians. I have
prayed already, and shall continue to pray so that everything may
work out for the greater glory of God.

Courage: God is with us. I’ll be waiting for all of you in
Paradise, thanks to the help of God and his infinite mercy.

Courage, I repeat; the Lord has many things all ready for us.
Let us strive to carry them through.

I am half blind and feeble in health. Pray for me too, who will
always be in Jesus Christ for you and everyone else,

Your most affectionate friend and father,
Rev. John Bosco

Father John Bonetti wrote on the 26th of that month to Bishop
John Cagliero about the Sisters, “Don Bosco is anxious that they
spread out all over, because he was instructed about it from on high
ex alto.” Their general chapter re-elected all the superiors whose
terms of office had ended."”

On August 8, the Catholic Workers’ Association of Bergamo cel-
ebrated its tenth anniversary of existence. In giving advance notice
thereof to Don Bosco, its president had requested a special blessing.
Don Bosco addressed this fine letter to him which was printed
together with other letters of distinguished men in a special edition
entitled CHARITY.

17 There are references to the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians in a letter written by Fr. John Bonetti
to Bp. John Cagliero, which we are including in the Appendix (doc. 33).
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Turin (Pinerolo) July 22, 1886

I thank and bless with all my heart the goodness of the Lord
who in these troubled times has permitted the Catholic Workers’
Association to be born and grow. The encouraging results in the
town of Bergamo offer us a luminous example which encourages
us to champion it further.

I will pray fervently to the Lord God to bless and protect
everyone who promotes this Association in any way.

On this propitious occasion, I wish to appeal to you yourself
and all the members of the association, in your great charity kind-
ly pray for me and my orphans who now number over two hun-
dred and ten thousand.

May Mary protect us all and be our guide in every peril along
the road to Heaven. So be it.

Rev. John Bosco

P.S. T am old, half blind, so please bear with me while you read
this humble letter.

We have already mentioned in this and other volumes on several occa-
sions that the Catholic Workers’ Associations looked to Don Bosco as an
outstanding forerunner of action taken on behalf of the working classes. This
prevailing opinion made such associations look upon Salesian houses, wher-
ever they might have been, as natural meeting grounds for their sessions.
Thus, on June 3, the Catholic Workers’ Association of La Spezia went to the
Institute of Saint Paul for the celebrations related to the blessing of its stan-
dard. The well-known Genoese Cooperator Maurice Dufour was present.
During the banquet which was held in the courtyard, there were shouts of
Long live Don Bosco! followed by similar shouts in reference to the Pope, the
King, the Queen, and the Bishop. This name seemed to galvanize the guests
who repeated it frenziedly several times and at the sound, the boys who were
assembled in the study hall, all got up and went out running while they too
were shouting and acclaiming in every key: LONG LIVE DON BOSCO!*

The following month, it was not the population of La Spezia, but the
King of Italy himself who rendered homage to Don Bosco. When King
Humbert went to Genoa on July 17 to attend the inauguration of the monu-
ment to Victor Emanuel II, his august father, he stopped in this maritime city

18 I*Eco d’Italia, June 6, 1886.
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for a couple of hours. The municipal authorities had invited the school to
attend the royal reception, and the king was pleased when a delegation from
that institute was presented to him to pay him homage. Already at his arrival
he had observed the group of boys lined up in two rows outside the hotel and
had asked who they might be. The prefect of studies, Father Angelo Caimo,
was to have read a speech to him, but there was not enough time. His
Majesty asked him several informative questions, then turned to the provin-
cial prefect and other officials who were standing near him, and said, “It is
truly amazing. This Don Bosco has an extraordinarily fertile activity. By
now he has houses scattered in many parts of the world. And how much
good does he do! He has created a model institute in Turin which can stand
any comparison with the best.” Then he expressed the wish to see all the
boys again when he left. His first aide-de-camp, General Pasi, gave orders
that they were to line up again outside the entrance together with the troops,
and that their band alone was to play as the King came out. The King walked
past their ranks, looking at them affectionately, and greeting their superiors,
bowing his head. The next day the mayor gave the director the charitable
donation of four hundred lire assigned to the institute by the King.

From now on we will have no more important dreams to relate. The
dream he had in Barcelona was the last of Don Bosco’s great dreams. He
recounted others later on, but they were purely natural in character, and
he told them for entertainment. He narrated one on August 9. He had
seen many peasants climbing into a hayloft, looking here and there and
searching for hay, but they could not find any. When they had climbed
down into the stable, they searched the mangers and found a few wisps.

“Now what shall we do?” They asked one another. “Spring is over,
and here we are without any hay.”

“There is nothing else to do,” one of them grumbled, “than kill off
the cows and eat the meat.”

“What then?” asked another? “We’ll end up like Pharaoh’s cows that
ate each other.”

Nearby he saw some handsome suitcases, closed, which no one was trying
to open. He went over, opened them, and found them full of big copper coins.

“What does this mean?”” Don Bosco asked his guide.

“The rich,” he was told, “will receive this money, while diamonds,
gold, silver, and precious jewels will pass into the hands of the poor. The
rich will be dispossessed and despoiled.”

From time to time, Don Bosco left the bishop’s villa to visit the neigh-
boring shrine of Saint Maurice, together with the bishop’s secretary. One
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morning, on the top of the hill named after the martyr of the Theban legion,
he stood still to admire the magnificent view. He looked toward a solitary hill-
top where a handsome house was built opposite to where he stood, and said,
“How lovely, how enchanting that little hill is with that magnificent house!
How ideal it would be for a Salesian school!” This was Mount Oliveto, and the
house had once belonged to the Jesuits and later to the Carthusians, though it
was now the property of the state. In 1915, Father Paul Albera inaugurated a
home for orphans of World War I and his successor installed a Salesian novi-
tiate there,' when the need for its original purposes no longer existed.

Now that Don Bosco was feeling fairly strong again, he decided to
return to Valdocco to be present at the final award ceremony for the boys. So
he departed the morning of August 13. He wanted to give some gratuities to
the domestic staff who had looked after him so carefully. Not only did they
refuse to accept it, but they also even begged him to accept from them a
small sum they had put together for his poor boys. Moved to tenderness, he
assured them that he would always remember them in his prayers. “You
could not do any better than that for us,” they told him. “It was a joy for us
to be able to wait on you. If only we could give you a little good health!”

The Bishop accompanied him to the railroad station. Who would have
thought that they were never to meet again in this world? The Holy See
had transferred Bishop Chiesa to Casale where Bishop Ferré had died.
One friend of Don Bosco was succeeded by another friend. But God
called him unto himself quite suddenly on November 4.

Although he had not been away very long and had not gone very far
either, Don Bosco’s sons, both big and small, all hailed his return joyously.
It was dinner time, and knowing how much he welcomed news of his mis-
sions, several letters from Bishop John Cagliero were read out to him at
table. The vicar apostolic wrote that he would shortly push forward to the
heart of Patagonia, where he knew that a considerable number of native
Indians were located. Don Bosco wept as he listened. Some people had
laughed years before when he had suggested the establishment of missions
in Patagonia, for the population census for that locality had indicated that the
whole wasteland was uninhabited. “Don Bosco wants to go and preach the
Gospel to the grass!” some people then said. Now Cagliero was confirming
what Don Bosco had seen in a dream. That was why he was moved to tears.

Divine Providence, too, seemed to want to give him a welcome. The next

19 Msgr. Cesano, who was the Bishop’s secretary, recalls Don Bosco’s pious wish in a special edition pub-
lished when electricity and water were brought to Mount Oliveto (Turin: SEL, 1923), p. 6.
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morning, the prefect general, Father Celestine Durando, had been obliged to
take from him all the money he had received recently to meet urgent needs.
No sooner had Father Durando left him than a gentleman entered his room.
He had been waiting for some time in the waiting room. Almost as if he were
testing his charity, Don Bosco said, “Forgive me if I kept you waiting. The
prefect of the Congregation was here and took away all the money I had, and
Lo’ and behold! Don Bosco is poor, really penniless.”

“But what would you do, Don Bosco, if you were in urgent need of a
given sum of money right now?” the man asked.

“Oh! Divine Providence!..... Divine Providence!” exclaimed Don Bosco.

“Yes, Divine Providence... Divine Providence...that is all very well.
But now you are without money and would not know what to do if you
had immediate need of some.”

“In such a case I would tell you, kind sir, to go into the waiting
room because you would find someone there who has brought a dona-
tion for Don Bosco.”

“What..? Do you really mean it?.... There is nobody outside, or at
least there was no one when I came in. Who told you that?”

“No one told me. I know it, and so does Mary Help of Christians. Go,
g0, and look.”

The gentleman went out into the waiting room and did see another
man there.

He asked, “Are you here to see Don Bosco, sir?”

“Yes, I am. I have brought him a donation.”

He was asked to come in and gave three hundred lire to the Servant of God.

On the feast of Our Lady’s Assumption, Don Bosco presided at the
solemn award ceremony for the artisans and students who were leaving
for their vacation on the next day. At the height of the festivities, every-
one was amazed by an unexpected occurrence:

Father Louis Lasagna suddenly walked in. He had just arrived from
Uruguay. He walked up to his beloved Father and embraced him with fil-
ial affection amid general emotion. He then sat down beside him. When
the ceremony was over, he began to speak. Despite the impatience which
generally overcomes young people in such moments, his fiery words
caught their attention. One thing in particular delighted Don Bosco. One
day during the month of May, Father Lasagna had received a telephone
call from Montevideo. The father superior of the Jesuits had informed
him that a great lady from Santiago, Chile, wanted the Salesians to get to
her native town. She said she was prepared to pay their fares from Europe
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and provide all they needed. Then and there Father Lasagna had not paid
any great attention to what was said because such offers were made all too
frequently; but five minutes later he received a copy of the Barcelona
dream sent from Turin. In it he read about a house at Santiago, Chile.

Don Bosco’s birthday was traditionally celebrated as usual on August
15. On this occasion Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda wished to personally
convey to him his good wishes, and again remained talking with him for
a couple of hours.

Countess Balbo, who had sent him her good wishes by letter, must
have been happy to receive the following reply from him:

Turin, August 18, 1886
Dear Countess,

I have received your most gracious letter of the 14th and am
happy to answer it.

Thank you for your good wishes for my birthday. I return
them a hundred fold, “times”. I said Holy Mass at the altar of
Saint Peter on this occasion. I leave it to you to imagine with what
a great effort and fatigue I did so - and I prayed; I prayed most
fervently for everyone who has either given or now extends a
hand to me to help complete the mission which heaven in its
mercy entrusted to me. In my prayers, I remembered you and all
your dear ones very particularly, wishing them all abundant
graces of all kinds and both spiritual and temporal favors.

Dear Countess, please accept my sincere regards and believe
me to be in Our Lord Jesus Christ,

Your most devoted and grateful servant,
Rev. John Bosco

Everyone knows today that Don Bosco was born on August 16, and
not on the 15th; but at that time he himself did not know this. A very recent
biographer of the Saint makes a delightful comment in this regard.”® After
imagining that Mama Margaret had spent the feast day of the Assumption
in playful union with the Mother of God, to whom she offered the infant
about to be born, the author adds, “Don Bosco had good reason to write,
‘I was born on August, 15.” Yes, spiritually. Because he had two mothers,
one in heaven and one on earth, and he honored both of them.”

20 Henri Ghéon, Saint Jean Bosco (Paris: Flammarion), p. 22.
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Chapter &

THE FOURTH GENERAL CHAPTER

Obliged by his age and his infirmities to spend his days sitting in
his little room, with an evening outing in a carriage for his sole recre-
ation, Don Bosco’s life must have been monotonous for a man accus-
tomed as he was to ceaseless activity. Four events happened during the
last months of 1886 which, despite the unavoidable discomfort they
caused him, nevertheless broke the tedious monotony and gave Don
Bosco genuine comfort. These were the Fourth General Chapter, a trip
to Milan, a missionary expedition, and the inauguration of the new
novitiate house at Foglizzo.

The Fourth General Chapter was the last ever to take place under
the guidance of the holy Founder. The convocation letter was dated May
31, and it also stated that since it would soon be six years since the
Superior Council had last been elected, new elections were to be held on
this occasion. The Chapter was to meet at Valsalice, commencing
September 1. According to the Constitutions,' besides the members of
the Superior Council, the following had a right to participate at the
Chapter: the Provincials, the Procurator General and all of the Directors
of the houses. The Constitutions’ also specified that in view of the elec-
tions every director was to be accompanied by a Salesian who had made
his perpetual profession, and who had been elected by the confreres of
his own house for this purpose.

Each director received at the same time the agenda of the items to be
discussed, so that they might acquaint their community members, invit-
ing them to give serious thought to the matters in question and to make in
writing any proposals or suggestions they thought suitable, sending them
on time to the prefect of studies general, Father Francis Cerruti, who had

I Chapter VI, note to art. 3.
2 Chapter IX, art. 10.
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been chosen as Moderator of the General Chapter. The agenda was for-
mulated briefly as seen below:

AGENDA OF TOPICS TO BE DISCUSSED AT THE
FOURTH GENERAL CHAPTER IN SEPTEMBER 1886

The topics discussed at the last General Chapter will be briefly
reviewed, with special stress on:

I.  Number 3 of the plan proposed at that time, namely,
Regulations for parishes already under the direction of or to be directed
by the Salesians.

II.  Number 5: directives for the technological section of Salesian
houses, and ways by which vocations may be developed among young artisans.

The following new topics are submitted to the Confreres for examination:

III. How to implement the decree Regulari disciplinae of his
Holiness Pius IX of happy memory.

IV. Procedural system to be followed in admitting candidates to
Sacred Orders.

V. Manner and means for creating houses of formation for
clerics in the different provinces.

VI. Ways to obtain an exemption from obligatory military service.

VII. Modifications in the directory of our Society. Proposals
made by the Confreres.

Lastly, both the directors and the Salesians who were chosen to
participate in the Chapter were instructed to meet on August 25 at
San Benigno Canavese for a preliminary retreat. Don Bosco also
was present at that retreat, having been there already since the 21st
during the retreat of the aspirants.’ Never had there been such an
impressive assembly of Salesians. Don Bosco was surrounded by
the Superior Council, by three Provincials, twenty-nine directors,*
by the 29 Salesians elected by their proper houses besides a good

3 Before he left Turin, Don Bosco had written to Pope Leo XIIT humbly conveying to him his best wishes
for his name-day, St. Joachin. On the 24th he received from Rome the following telegram: Father Bosco. S.
Benigno. Thanks for wishes. Imploring the fullness of Divine gifts on the orphans guided by the well-deserving
Salesians. The Holy Father imparts his Apostolic Blessing to all. L. Cardinal Jacobini.

4 See Appendix, doc. 34. Of the other two provincials, the one from Liguria, Fr. Francis Cerruti, had been
councilor to the superior council since 1885; the other, Fr. James Costamagna, provincial of Argentina, was absent.
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many other priests not members of the General Chapter. The
preachers of the retreat were Father Joseph Bertello, “who preaches
to us truly classical meditations,” as Father Joseph Lazzero wrote,
and Father Louis Lasagna “who gives his instructions with a gen-
uine missionary zeal and Salesian spirit” (again the words of Father
Joseph Lazzero).’

Because of financial difficulties, only Father Louis Lasagna from
South America was able to participate. People were upset because,
despite everything, everyone would have wished to see those distant ter-
ritories more fully represented.® Bishop John Cagliero wished to be
present in spirit by submitting some proposals, to be developed upon in
a special talk to the directors. He sent them also on behalf of the
Salesians in South America.’

During the retreat, Don Bosco felt every day more and more
exhausted, because of the heat. Therefore, he refrained from doing more
than granting a few interviews to some directors, being absolutely
unable to do anything. But as a general principle he said, “If you wish

S Letter to Bishop John Cagliero, San Benigno, August 28, 1886.
6 L.C., “On behalf of Fr. Michael Rua, I would like to say that it is regretted that only Fr. Louis Lasagna could
come over from America. We had looked forward to seeing Fr. James Costamagna, Fr. Joseph Fagnano and a few
others as well.” Fr. Michael Rua himself wrote to Fr. Anthony Riccardi, Bishop Cagliero’s secretary, on August 11:
“We are all sorry that only Fr. Lasagna could attend the general chapter, out of all the superiors in America. We
had hoped to see at least two of them. Well, patience!” On August 26, Fr. Lasagna wrote Bp. John Cagliero from
San Benigno: “Don Bosco was very unhappy that neither Fr. Fagnano nor Fr. Costamagna could come.”
7 Proposals for a talk to Directors:
1. Insist on observance of the vow of poverty, especially as far as traveling, clothing, material repairs,
and constructions.
2. Urge exemplary conduct in community life, especially as far as food, drink, etc.
3. Urge a prompt reply to the circular letters from the Provincials.
4. Urge observance of the practice of the exercise for a Happy Death regularly and thoroughly, not only
for the boys, but also for the Salesian Confreres.
5. This also applies to the monthly manifestations.
Remind them all that above all else, they are to assist, love, and help their confreres and then the boys.
7. This applies especially in cases of young clerics coming from San Benigno who need continual pater-
nal guidance and great charity such as it prevails there, in practices of piety and of the Congregation.
Teach them to become good teachers and assistants through the preventive system of education, by
reading it to them and explaining it. Help them in difficulties they encounter in their work, which at
times are the main cause of their defection.
8. All Chapter deliberations are to be read at the beginning of the year, and then in short installments a few
of them every day. A chapter of the rules is to be read once a month during the exercise for a Happy Death.
Fr. Francis Cerruti (Turin, October 12, 1886) wrote him: “Your proposals reached here two days after the end of the
General Chapter, that is to say the evening of September 9. But on reading them, I note that two-thirds of them are the same
as those advanced by the majority of the confreres, and have already been adopted by the General Chapter. [ will gladly
take the remaining third into consideration when revising and printing our deliberations, because of their intrinsic value and
also because they were sent by our missionaries who, as such, represent the glory and chief mai of the Co

o

»

igregation.
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to speak with me about matters concerning the soul, come to me, and
you will always find Don Bosco ready to help you. I have a little breath
left, but I will spend it gladly for the welfare of my sons.” When he saw
all the Salesians who were making the retreat gather around him to lis-
ten to what he was saying during some of their recreations, superiors
and subjects all mingled together, he would remark contentedly, “In this
I recognize all of you as my sons. Always be like this, without striving
for preference. I see here the directors, the preachers of the retreat, the
members of the Superior Chapter, all united as one single family. I
would like to say so many things, but my lungs refuse to blow. I will tell
them all to Father Michael Rua, and he will repeat them to you.
Meanwhile, pray for Don Bosco.” So saying, he walked away while
they hastened to kiss his hand, deeply moved.® Then, at length, exces-
sively weak and in great pain, he left the house the morning of the 3 1st.
He stayed the rest of the day at the Oratory, leaving for Valsalice at ten
o’clock on September 1. He decided to stop when he passed by the con-
vent of the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians where a number of
Sisters were assembled for their retreat. He entered the Chapel, gave all
the sisters some souvenirs, blessed them, got into his carriage again and
continued his journey.

All members of the General Chapter awaited him at Valsalice. They
met in the church toward evening. Don Bosco sat in the sanctuary
among the outgoing members of the Superior Council. After the
singing of the Veni Creator, Father Michael Rua declared the General
Chapter open in his name and read out the articles of the Regulations
regarding the chapter. Then, after having invoked the protection of the
Virgin Mary by singing Ave Maris Stella, having received the benedic-
tion with the Blessed Sacrament, they all entered the meeting room for
their preliminary session.

Here, after a concise report on the various offices to be entrusted to
the members that were to be elected, it was agreed that the ballot would
be held the following morning, and that the first session would take place
in the afternoon to discuss the fifth and seventh topics on the agenda
which concerned formation houses for clerics in the various provinces
and compilation of the catalog directory of our Society. These two sub-
jects were of secondary importance, yet in the opinion of the Moderator,

8 Giovanni Battista Francesia, Vita popolare del beato Don Giovanni Bosco [Popular Life Story of Blessed
John Bosco] (Turin: SEI), p. 216.
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they were to help the members of the Chapter come to a better mutual
understanding and get the debates under way.

It was the first time that the Superior Council had appeared at a
General Chapter with its own secretary who was Father John Baptist
Lemoyne. The secretary is not actually one of the members of the
Superior Council. He was merely an officer, so at that time he could not
participate in the election either by virtue of the rule which gave voting
rights to the Superior Council, or by virtue of common law. However,
availing itself of its right before the preliminary session came to an end,
the assembly agreed unanimously that the secretary general of the
Superior Council could vote.

The last thing done was to hand out a list of Salesians eligible for
office from which the outgoing officers were not excluded. There were
seventy-one all told, without counting the Rector Major, who was elect-
ed for life, his vicar who served ad nutum rectoris, the two bishops, and
John Cagliero and Joseph Fagnano who had been given special appoint-
ments by the Holy See. At that time also the Novice Master was to be
elected, since the Rule specifically prescribed: Novitiorum Magister eli-
gatur in Capitulo Generali [The novice master is to be elected at the
General Chapter].’

The election, which took place without any problem' on the morning
of the 2nd, gave the following results:

Prefect: Father Dominic Belmonte
Spiritual Director: Father John Bonetti
Administrator: Father Anthony Sala
Councilor For the Schools: Father Francis Cerruti
Councilor For Technical Schools:  Fr. Joseph Lazzero
Councilor: Father Celestine Durando
Novice Master: Father Julius Barberis

9 Chapter X, art. 9. In the tenth General Chapter of 1904, it was decided that “the Novice Masters to be elect-
ed by the Rector Major, in agreement with his Council, after consultation with the Provincial Council.” See
Deliberations of the IV General Chapter, San Benign Canavese, 1905.

10 Fr. Joseph Lazzero wrote Bp. Joseph Cagliero (September 3, 1886): “Before every vote, the office to be
filled by whosoever would be elected was announced out loud. When it came to the councilors, one was qualified
as councillor for schools, another for arts and trades, the third for correspondence concerning the missions.”
Likewise Fr. Francis Cerruti wrote him (October 12, 1886), “It was comforting to see the orderly fashion in which
the members of the Superior Council were elected and how the General chapter was conducted.”



142 The Biographical Memoirs of Saint John Bosco

Bishop Cagliero was proclaimed honorary catechist general.
When the election was over, a resolution was read out to Don Bosco,
informing him that everyone present had unanimously agreed that
insofar as the election was concerned, he should do whatever he saw
best in our Lord, and either confirm what was done or alter it. Don
Bosco thanked the assembly for this vote of confidence, he said he
was gratified, and asked them all to give thanks to God. Then, by way
of conclusion, in words full of fervent charity and sadness, he
informed them that that very same morning, the Congregation had lost
its beloved confrere, Father John Nespoli, and expressed his hope that
the Congregation might have many such excellent Salesians like the
one just deceased.

Father Nespoli did indeed deserve such a beautiful commemoration.
The fact of his premature death enhanced the sadness over the loss of this
brilliant and virtuous man. He had attained his status by dint of heroic
sacrifice, as he was naturally an irritable and a stand-offish person. He
had lost his father at the age of nine, and had lived for another two years
with his relatives. Then a pious lady to whose charity his father had rec-
ommended the unfortunate family as he was dying, took steps to have
him enrolled at the Oratory. Here he completed the full five years of high
school. When he was in his last high school grades, immersed as he was
in the study of the classics, he failed to find people who understood his
spiritual needs and could enlighten him adequately on matters pertaining
to faith, and so his piety cooled off. Luckily, he clearly perceived the sanc-
tity of both Don Bosco and Father Michael Rua, who acted as a double-
headed magnet to keep him at the Oratory. In 1876, he entered the novi-
tiate which was then a separate section of the Oratory. He began to work
on his own spiritual formation that year under the guidance of Father
Julius Barberis, though during the three years following his temporary
religious profession he once again slowed down. Finally, he was sent to
Alassio and found in the director Father Francis Cerruti the perfect guide
just suited to him. His process of spiritual growth did not suffer any fur-
ther setback. His daily life consisted of study, piety, teaching, and assis-
tance. While teaching on the college level, he asked to teach the weekly
religious class, for which he prepared himself with the utmost seriousness
and from which he also obtained excellent results. While at Alassio, he
enrolled at the University of Genoa, but became fatally sick shortly after
being awarded his doctorate in literature. He was barely twenty-six years
of age.



The Fourth General Chapter 143

His name is linked to a posthumous publication on the Doctors
of the Church, a work which is a symbol of the deep love with which
he had dedicated himself to the Fathers of the Church." His friend and
fellow teacher, Father Bartholomew Fascie, who was at that time still
a lay person, but who today is the prefect of studies general, wrote an
interesting preface on the life of the translator. In speaking of his
character, he says, “There was a definite note of stability in him, a
stand so forcefully constant that I could always picture him no matter
the situation, whether I saw him before me, or whether he saw me, and
say to myself: ...That’s Him! There was one setting in which this inti-
mately personal characteristic of his stood out most sharply and
uniquely, and that was the classroom. There Father Nespoli was utter-
ly himself, with his wholly genuine personality.” In referring to his
intellectual activity, he observed, “To him knowledge was but a
means, the end being not that of being learned, but of being human
and good, and being able to help others to be good.” Father John
Nespoli provided such a help by being a good teacher. In praising him
his colleague says that he was a teacher when he was saying Mass, in
reading his breviary, during recreation, while taking his boys out for
a walk, and naturally when he was giving lessons. “His haughty soul
became gentle when he was with his boys, and he was everything to
them, capable of understanding them, accepting all their problems and
objections seriously, solving them, bending his character a little to
meet their own characters. Yet, he was always serious. There was one
category of people towards whom he was inexorable and he never let
up. His dynamic will could never adapt itself to empathize or even bet-
ter still to tolerate lazy fellows in his class.” His strong will power
never failed him, but upheld him throughout his life. “He was so deci-
sive in everything he did,” Father Bartholomew Fascie says, “that he
was thoroughly astonished when his director asked him whether he
ever had any doubts about his vocation. He could not understand. It
simply would not enter his head that there were some people who,
after taking so momentous a decision, could still have doubts about it.
It took quite a lot out of me to convince him of it.” He loved his fam-
ily, his friends, his pupils; but, says Father Bartholomew Fascie, “he
loved Don Bosco first and foremost, for he had taken the place of his

I1'S, Aurelio Agostino, Letters XXXIII. Translation and comments by the Rev. John Nespoli, Turin, Salesian
printing works, 1887.
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own father in his heart, and in requiting his love, Don Bosco let him
realize how dear he was to his heart.”"?

Now let us return to the subject of the General Chapter. The after-
noon session of September 2 in which the topics of the directory lists and
of the formation houses for clerics were discussed does not offer any
remarkable features, save a few remarks made by Don Bosco. He
approved the proposal of sending some of the most brilliant clerics to
complete their studies at pontifical universities in Rome. He only pointed
out that he felt this would be too premature at that time, in view of the dire
need the Salesians had of personnel for the houses they had opened. The
first two Salesian clerics sent to the Gregorian University to study theol-
ogy in the fall of 1888 were Angelo Festa and James Giuganino. The Saint
further recommended that the present terminology used, such as Ascrizti
[enrolled] and Annro di Prova [year of trial] be maintained instead of
novice and novitiate. “The latter terms are neither necessary nor conven-
ient,” he said. We will speak later of a third feature when we speak of
Foglizzo. The meeting did not make any formal deliberation.

The first thing discussed the morning of the 3rd was how cler-
ics might be exempt from military service. In those years, there
were still several ways out, though in the following years they were
all closed.

“In all these matters, it is extremely important to have a good friend
willing to help us,” Don Bosco said, “ one who is well acquainted with
people and with the laws. If there is no such person, we will have to appeal
trustingly to someone suitable who will take the matter under advisement.
We must beg him to help us make sure that any rights that the draftee may
have are respected either when he is drafted or during the medical visit.
People generally consent to do so, and commit themselves to help our
cause on behalf of others.”

Quite remarkable is what he predicted, after referring to military
service regulations in France and in Spain. “As to Italy, I have been
told that it is now under examination how youths who want to devote
themselves to foreign missions may be exempt. This will greatly facil-
itate the exemption of our own boys. The day is not far off when, with
but some restrictions, all the clergy in Italy will be exempt. But until

12 Op. cit. pp. 6, 14, 20, 30, 26. Among Fr. John Nespoli’s papers, a notebook of autobiographical recollec-
tions was found which had been interrupted by death. This is now in the possession of Fr. Bartholomew Fascie.
One section in particular is instructive in so many ways that we are reproducing it in the Appendix, also because
fragments relating to our own history can be found in it (doc. 35).
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this comes about, we must try to obtain exemption by every honest,
legal channel.””® There was nothing at that time which could hold out
any hope that the clergy would be generally exempt, for the spirit pre-
vailing in the government circles at that time was definitely slanted in
the opposite direction. Yet, today, this is an accomplished fact after the
Lateran Pact. The one restriction is in the event of general mobiliza-
tion, though even then anyone in sacris would be assigned to ecclesias-
tical or medical services.

Having exhausted this subject matter, the Chapter passed on to exam-
ine what procedure ought to be followed in admitting clerics to Sacred
Orders. The minutes say nothing about the debate which continued in the
afternoon, but the study must have been thorough, judging from the fif-
teen articles which were deliberated upon.™

During the afternoon session, regulations for parishes were elaborat-
ed upon. The speaker, Father Louis Lasagna, availed himself of the work
already done at the Third General Chapter. He prefaced it all with a few
considerations which tended to advise to proceed with caution in accept-
ing parochial duties all too readily. There were a lot of problems involved
in reconciling the sources of authority where a Parish was joined to a
hospice. After a lively debate, the matter was shelved. It was left to the
Rector Major to determine in each individual case whether the director
of the hospice was to be the superior of the entire house, or whether the
pastor was to assume full direction of everything. It was however delib-
erated that the two administrations should be kept separate from one
another. It was still too short a time that the Salesians had been active in
the administration of parishes to have any store of past experience to
which they might refer in deciding such issues. Nevertheless, this second
venture was an improvement over the first. A number of rules were
worked out worthy of some consideration inasmuch as, if nothing else,
they constituted the basis on which the final deliberations were taken at
a later date, and also because they were debated during the time when
Don Bosco was still alive.”

Don Bosco came into the conference room and acted as chairman of
the proceedings, something which had been done until then by Father
Michael Rua, just when the Chapter was discussing how the pastor

13 Deliberations in Appendix, doc. 36.
14 Appendix, doc. 37.
15 Appendix, doc. 38.
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might be removed from office ad nutum superioris. After he was
briefed on what had already been said, he began, “It is my opinion that
in view of the troubled times in which we live because of the separation
of powers between the secular and ecclesiastic authorities, it is best if we
proceed the way we can, adapting ourselves to circumstances in the
parishes we already staff. For any future parishes we may be called
upon to direct, the Superior Council shall study how the stability of the
pastor can be assured.”

Another interesting attempt concerned how to better discipline in our
professional technical schools. Paragraph two of the agenda sent to the
Salesian Confreres had contained a double query, namely, what direction
ought to be given to the artisans and in what ways could religious voca-
tions be fostered among them.

The coadjutor Joseph Rossi also participated in this debate. The
deliberations taken are such that they deserve not be buried in the
archives. First of all, because they reflect Don Bosco’s thought,
since he had certainly made them his own, and secondly, because
they also represent the initial phase of the transition from a period
based entirely on tradition to another period where written rules
regarding the intellectual, technical and religious directives prevail-
ing in our professional technical schools had become the norm, after
thirty years of experience.'

On Sunday, September 5, only one meeting was held in the
evening at which the Chapter determined the manner of observing the
decrees for the acceptance of novices, and what procedures should be
followed in admitting new members to profess their vows. “With those
decrees”, Don Bosco said, “Pius IX desired more than anything else to
put a weapon into the hands of religious orders so that they might use
it to reject applicants not suitable for religious life.” “That was the
reason why this disposition was to be restricted to Italy alone. Such is
the spirit of the decrees.”

We will now say a word about the origin and nature of these
decrees. A year after his ascent to the throne of Peter, specifically on
June 17, 1847, Pius IX addressed his encyclical Ubi primum arcano to
superiors general, abbots, provincials, and other religious superiors. In
this encyclical he stated that, as soon as he was elected Pope, he had
in mind a plan to protect, strengthen and improve religious orders. He

16 Appendix, doc. 39.
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then promised them that he would dedicate himself very particularly
to assure that the “sanctity of norms, the teaching on spiritual life,
religious discipline, and regular discipline in keeping with their indi-
vidual statutes, might be restored and flourish always and better.” He
then informed them that with a view to promoting and assuring such
a reform, he had constituted the Congregation de statu regularium and
urged religious superiors to keep careful watch over their subjects,
maintaining genuine harmony among themselves, as well as with the
bishops and the diocesan clergy, so that everyone might contribute
viribus unitis to the edification of the Body of Christ, namely, the
Holy Church. On January 25, 1848, through the Congregation for
Religious, he promulgated the decree Regulari disciplinae instauran-
dae in order to carry out this program of reform. The decree contained
sound regulations regarding the admission of novices the taking of the
habit, and religious profession.

In keeping with the pontifical disposition, a general committee
board and seven provincial examiners had to be elected. Proceeding
with their election, the members and the secretary of the superior coun-
cil were elected for the executive committee, and Father John Baptist
Francesia, Father John Marenco, Father Eugene Bianchi, Father Philip
Rinaldi,"” Father John Baptist Tamietti, and Father Peter Guidazio'® were
elected as provincial examiners.

The various proposals submitted by the Salesian confreres were put
before the assembly on the 6th, during the two meetings held that day. In
our opinion, the most important debate centered on the Salesian Bulletin.
The general concept was stated as follows: “The purpose of the Salesian
Bulletin is to foster the spirit of charity among our Cooperators, inform
them on what has been and is being accomplished by our Pious Society,
and to animate them to give us the help we need. It is consequently to be
considered as the organ of the Society.”"’

In order that the periodical might faithfully accomplish the purpose
for which Don Bosco had first undertaken its publication, the general
chapter deliberated as follows:

1. The Bulletin was to be edited and printed under the direct supervi-

17 Fr. Philip Rinaldi took part only in the session of the elections, since he accompanied the director of the
house of St. John Evangelist, Fr. Marenco. Fr. Philip Rinaldi was the director’s vicar.

18 The names are listed according to the number of votes obtained.

19 See Deliberations, Chapter V.
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sion of the Superior Council, which would provide for its transla-
tion into various other languages. An appointed editor-in-chief
would edit and coordinate articles and information sent in from dif-
ferent areas and assure prompt publication and mailing.

2. In order that the Bulletin might satisfy regional requirements with-
out having to modify the individual translation of the text, the last
pages of each issue should be kept available for special features of
interest concerning houses located in the specific country.

If any article needed to be urgently published in America, the provin-
cials there would print extraordinary supplements, a summary of the con-
tents being duly provided in the successive issue.

3. Each provincial should instruct someone in his province who is
qualified and has time to gather monthly resumés of most impor-
tant Provincial news and forward the same to the editor of the
Bulletin before the 15th of each month, so that it might appear in
the next issue.

4. Special account should be kept of donations for Salesian hous-
es given by Cooperators in response to the Bulletin, and the
donations should be forwarded to the Rector Major by each
receiving house.

Hospices could keep donations contributed expressly for that indi-
vidual house, but the Rector Major has to be informed. In each
instance the intentions stipulated by the person donating the money
should be carried out.

Don Bosco took the floor several times during the two sessions. Once
he urged everyone present to acquaint themselves thoroughly with the
Organization of the Sons of Mary Help of Christians, and to cultivate
adult vocations. Then he went on, “When Cardinal Joseph Berardi
informed the Holy Father Pius IX about the Organization, the Pope said,
‘If Friars want to have more friars, they will have to follow this course; so
will the bishops, if they want priests. The reason for this is that sometimes
a boy can go astray while an adolescent, but will return to his senses at
the age of sixteen, eighteen, or even twenty.’

In speaking of the recommendations made by Leo XIII, urging that
youth be rescued from the influence of the Freemasons, Don Bosco
remarked, “It will be enough to appeal to older young men not to join any
kind of association without the consent of their parents and of their pas-
tor. But they should not discuss the matter specifically either in the house
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or in the press. This would only reawaken the wrath of the enemy with-
out any advantage.”

In regard to visits to the houses by provincials and major supe-
riors, Don Bosco urged that one should always make such visits in
the name of the Rector Major, and urge the confreres to observe
their rules, not by simply saying “I want,” but by pointing out that
this is what the rules impose. “That ‘I want’ ruins everything,” he
concluded.

In support of what Don Bosco had just said, we might quote some
other remark of his made apropos to this point on February 14, 1887, at
the Superior Council meeting. Since there was a discussion about fur-
thering the development of certain articles in the Rules, he said, “Do not
try to render our Rules either too verbose or too specific when they appear
to be a bit concise. Wherever there is no need of Rules, one should pro-
ceed with paternal kindness, and let the subjects help their superior to
ensure the smooth running of the house.”

Here we have a fine example of that same kindness of which he was
a living example. An unexpected order from Father Francis Cerruti had
Father Herminio Borio transferred from Lanzo to Randazzo. The idea of
going to Sicily was equivalent, in the eyes of the good Piedmontese priest,
to going to the ends of the earth. He felt he was discriminated against and
poured out his heart to Don Bosco in a letter, for which he received the
following fatherly reply:

Turin, February 6, 1886
Dear Father Borio,

You can leave quite peacefully. My benevolence and my bless-
ing will accompany you wherever you go. Take patience and pru-
dence along with you. Be a light to your companions. God will so
dispose that we will see each other in the not too distant future.

May Mary guide us through dangers, and act as a sure guide
to heaven for all the Salesians.

Keep on praying for this friend of yours who will always
remain in Jesus Christ,

Most affectionately,
Rev. John Bosco

While speaking of the preventive system, Don Bosco said that he had
begun writing a pamphlet on the subject and hoped to finish it himself or have
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someone finish it for him., But unfortunately, the pamphlet was never com-
pleted, and no trace was found even of its beginning among the Saint’s papers.””

The Council met for the last time on the morning of the 7th. Father
John Bonetti read out a report on five items concerning our dealings with
the Daughters of Mary Help of Christians, namely:

1. The physician visiting the sick nuns was not to be accompanied by
Salesians.

2. The Salesians should be satisfied with their services in the kitchen
and dining room.

3. No opposition was to be made by the Salesians in the transfer of any
Sister.

4. They were never to be addressed with the familiar term of
‘you,’(thou) and any familiarity was to be avoided.

5. To the question as to whether the Sisters, besides writing to the Holy
Father, the Rector Major and Mother General, might be allowed to
write freely to the local director, or to their former directors and
confessor, the speaker expressed a negative opinion. Only Sisters
residing in America would be allowed to write to the provincial
because of the great distance.

At last Father Michael Rua spoke of several sections in the Rules, the
observance of which needed to be urgently encouraged:

1. Prompt, solicitous reply to the monthly letters from provincials; the
provincials, likewise, were to be prompt in replying to questions
sent them by the Superior Council.

2. Provincials and directors should all agree as far as the observance
of poverty.

3. Directors were not to keep drinks or liqueurs in their rooms either
for themselves or others.

4. The directors were to follow the Rules as far as both quality and
quantity of food.

5. Clothing was to be kept clean. There ought to be no anxiety to change it
beyond what was specified by the Rules; the same applied to footwear.

20 In the sixteenth volume (pp. 368-376) we published a genuine little treatise on punishments. Fr. Michael Rua had
obviously written the manuscript, and the style was also his; but it is Don Bosco who speaks through him. We believe that
Fr. Rua elaborated a draft of Don Bosco’s on the subject into a circular form, the draft being destined as a preparation for the
pamphlet already announced. The circular which was never printed was found by us quite accidentally in 904. Undoubtedly,
Fr. Rua would never have ventured to put such words into Don Bosco’s mouth, if he had not truly uttered them.



The Fourth General Chapter 151

6. No pleasure trips were to be undertaken; and when traveling,
unless necessity demanded, no one was to travel second class.

7. To make the Exercise for a Happy Death according to the deliber-
ations, and separately from the boys.

8. The Manifestations should be made regularly. This ensured the
smooth running of the house.

9. The director was to give first his attention to the confreres, before
he gave it to the boys. Classes in theology and liturgy were to be
given. This helps the keeping of the religious spirit.

10. Assistance was to be given to young clerics just out of the
novitiate. Their spirit of piety was to be fostered and they
should be trained to work. They were to be warned especial-
ly not to exhaust themselves by talking too loud when they
began teaching. The director was to keep informed about
their behavior in the classroom and correct them charitably
and sincerely.

11. The Preventive System should be read and explained at the begin-
ning of the year, as it had been already established.

12. An alert eye was to be kept on beginners. Adequate assistance
was to be given to anyone encountering difficulties.

The moderator read out the closing statement of the General Chapter
which was then signed by all. This is how the document ended:

“Just as our Rules grant the most extensive faculty to the Rector
Major in all that concerns the well-being and prosperity of the Pious
Salesian Society, so also the members of the General Chapter before
leaving extend their cordial thanks to their dearly beloved Don
Bosco for the paternal kindness extended to them in assisting them.
They voice fond hopes that his precious life be kept, and unani-
mously declared that they yield to him all powers to further develop
whatever may not have been adequately discussed, and to add or
amend anything which may need to be added or amended for the well
being and the progress of the Pious Salesian Society and in keeping
with our Constitutions.”

Here and there we have referred to observations made by Don
Bosco during the Chapter sessions, but judging from what Father
Paul Albera wrote, not all that he said was recorded by the two chap-
ter secretaries, Fathers John Baptist Lemoyne and John Marenco. For
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this reason the Saint’s second successor’ states, “Everyone stated
his own opinion quietly and tactfully and at the end of the debate,
waited for Don Bosco to decide the issue, and solve the difficulties,
and then point specifically and assuredly to the course of action that
should be followed. These meetings were like so many school lec-
tures in which the Reverend Teacher seemed to try to concentrate in
only a few words all his teachings and all his long experience since
he felt that the day in which he was going to leave his beloved disci-
ples was getting nearer.”

When at the beginning of the new school year the personnel of each
house was all settled down and the normal running of things was going
on smoothly, Don Bosco sent to all the confreres an official communica-
tion, informing them of the outcome of the elections adding the following
recommendations with a circular letter compiled by Father John
Lemoyne, dated November 21:

“What needs to be done now is for you to give your fullest obedi-
ence to the new council...since it came from the Lord through you. May
such obedience be prompt, humble, and cheerful, as prescribed in our
Rules. Let us look to our superiors as brothers, rather as loving fathers
who seek nothing else than the glory of God, the salvation of souls, our
own well being, and the smooth running of our Society. Let us see in
them the representatives of God himself, and let us get used to look
upon whatever they may order us to do as an expression of His divine
will. If, at times, it might happen that they give orders which are not in
harmony with our desires, let us not refuse to obey. Let us consider
instead how painful it is for our superiors when they are obliged to tell
people to do something which is difficult or distasteful. Let us remem-
ber that they do it only because they realize that such orders are request-
ed by the smooth running of things, by the glory of God and the well-
being of our neighbors. Let us sacrifice our own preferences and com-
forts gladly for so noble an end, and remember that the greater the sac-
rifice we make in obeying, the more meritorious our obedience will be
in the eyes of God.

Also, dear sons, let us be very careful not to fall into the great
defect of griping, for this is not in accordance with charity, it is hate-
ful in the eyes of God and harmful to the community. Let us avoid

21 Rev. Paul Albera, Bp. Louis Lasagna, Biographical Memoirs (San Benigno Canavese: Salesiana, 1900), p. 214.
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griping about anybody, particularly about our confreres, especially
when they are our superiors. The Holy Spirit says that he who gripes
sows the seeds of discord, creates ill-feelings and discontent, where
instead there should be peace of mind and cheerfulness together with
charity. Let us endeavor, with our obedience, respect, and love, to
attain what Saint Paul says,” namely, that our superiors cum gaudio
hoc faciant et non gementes, i.e. let our superiors carry out their task
with joy, and not with sighs.

But I do not want to recommend to you on this occasion only obe-
dience and charity. I am very anxious about yet a third thing which is
that we persevere in keeping our vow of poverty. Let us remember, my
beloved sons, that to the greatest extent, the well being of our Pious
Society and the profit for our own souls depend on such an observance.
True enough, Divine Providence has aided us so far and we might also
say, in a most extraordinary measure, in all of our needs. We are con-
fident that such help will continue also in the future, thanks to the
intercession of Mary Help of Christians who has always acted as a
mother to us. Yet this does not mean that we ourselves should neglect
to use the greatest possible care in curtailing our expenses wherever
possible, in economizing our supplies, in traveling, in building, and in
general in all things not absolutely essential. I rather believe that in this
we are bound by a special duty both towards Divine Providence and
towards our benefactors. Therefore, beloved sons, I earnestly recom-
mend that you carry out that which has been established in our delib-
erations (Title V), in regard to economy, especially in that which per-
tains to building and repairs, our supplies, and travels.

You may rest assured that our Lord will not fail to bless abun-
dantly our fidelity and exactness in observing these three cardinal
points most generously, these three points being obedience, charity,
and poverty.”

The Deliberations appeared in print in 1887. Nothing had been pub-
lished after the Third General Chapter, so what had been deliberated at
that time was edited and published together with the recent delibera-
tions.” The fourth Chapter, dealing with the Festive Oratories, is com-

22 Hebrews 17:18.

23 Deliberazoni del terzo e quarto Capitolo Generale della Pia Societa Salesiana tenuto in Valsalice nel set-
tembre 18831886 [Deliberations of the Third and Fourth General Chapters of the Pious Salesian Society held at
Valsalice in September 1883—-1886] (San Benigno Canavese: Salesiana, 1887).
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pletely new, that is, it was not dealt with in the Chapter of 1886. Don
Bosco would have liked to have collected in one single volume all the
deliberations of the four General Chapters, but since a certain amount
of time would have been required to do such a thing, he preferred to
publish the deliberations of the last two chapters without delay. The
publication which he had desired appeared in 1902 in the form of a
small volume in which the deliberations of the first six general chapters
are listed after the Rules.
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Chapter ¢

ST. JOHN BOSCO IN MILAN /
DON BOSCO’S LAST INVESTITURE OF
NOVICES AT SAN BENIGNO

The Oratory choir left for Brescia under the leadership of Maestro
Brother Joseph Dogliani while the General Chapter Meetings were in
progress at Valsalice. It was the vigil of the solemn festivities to be held at
Brescia for the coronation of Our Lady, venerated in the shrine of Our Lady
of Grace, and the choir was to play an outstanding role in the magnificent
musical program. Don Bosco had willingly consented to “lend” his boys to
those fervent Catholics there, thanks to the request of Father Elena, an emi-
nent preacher from Brescia and a zealous Cooperator. Besides the local
population, thousands of devout faithful had gone there from every diocese
of Lombardy for the occasion. There were also several prelates, among
them, Bishop Joseph Sarto, then bishop of Mantua, and Cardinal Canossa,
the bishop of Verona. The eminent Maestro Raimondi passed this judgment
on the general rehearsal,’ “ A special praise should go to the children’s choir
of the Salesian Institute of Don Bosco and to their excellent director,
Maestro Dogliani, who with an equal share of patience and understanding
succeeded in training this choir of youthful voices to a degree of remark-
able harmony.” The praise for their “admirable precision” in the final per-
formance, gave grounds for another person to magnify the method and
effects of the education imparted in Don Bosco’s institutes. “One of the
merits,” he wrote,” “and, I might also say, one of the secrets of this remark-
able and God-sent man’s educational institutes is the way by which young
people are taught to be virtuous without any imposition, by guiding them to
love what is good, to seek it and practice it spontaneously. The outcome of
this extremely delicate procedure could be seen yesterday morning when all
the young choir singers spontaneously received the Sacraments without any
pressure from anyone. Oh! Don Bosco is certainly capable of providing

1 [ Cittadino di Brescia. September 7-8, 1886
2 Loc. cit., September, pp. 9-10
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good Christians for the Church, as well as good citizens and excellent
craftsmen in the arts and sciences for the nation.”

The presence of the boys in Brescia brought such a fervent and general
feeling of contentment to the population that the committee in charge of the
festivities wrote Don Bosco, “Not only did we admire the masterful singing
talent of your beloved pupils, but we also wondered beyond all description at
their excellent, edifying behavior. Deeply grateful for your generous gift to
our town and to Our Lady for sending them to us, we can only express our
sincerest thanks to you, also on behalf of our most venerated Bishop.* Don
Bosco is truly a blessing to all and to everything.” Since it was believed that
Don Bosco was already in Milan, the letter continued: “On this occasion,
however, Don Bosco would be an even greater blessing if, since he is in
Milan as we are told, he would honor Our Lady of Grace with a short visit,
thus acting like a crown on our festivities. Please, give us this joyous sur-
prise, Reverend Don Bosco, and you will see around you people full of faith
and devotion that will give great joy to your deeply religious heart.”

Don Bosco was to arrive in Milan shortly. There were a great many emi-
nent and active Cooperators in the Lombard capital, and the life and soul of
the Association was Father Pascal Morganti, a former pupil of the Oratory
who later became the archbishop of Ravenna. These good friends of the
Salesians had reiterated their requests for a public assembly in the town, both
orally and in writing, for they believed that this would have helped spread
more the information on what the Salesians were doing. However, the pres-
ence of Don Bosco was necessary. Father Angelo Rigoli, also a past pupil,
and one of the very early boys of the Oratory, strongly backed up the pro-
posal, since he hoped that after the meeting, Don Bosco would call on him
in his parish of Casale Litta. Don Bosco decided to comply with the invita-
tion, instructing Father Louis Lasagna to arrange the meeting.

There had been uncertainty for some time as to the possibility and
advisability of such a journey, for Father Michael Rua and other superi-
ors were fearful of the effect it might have on Don Bosco. Could he
endure the fatigue of the journey? Would not the foreseeable discomforts
prove to be the last straw in the condition of his failing health? What if,
considering his state of extreme weakness, he were to be taken suddenly
sick far away from the Oratory? At last, after great hesitation, Don Bosco

3 This was Bp. James Corna Pellegrini.

4 Fr. Joseph Lazzero, who had accompanied them confirmed these impressions. He wrote Bishop John
Cagliero on September 16, 1886 from Casale Litta: “Our boys attracted the affection of the organizers, as well as of
the whole population; in a word, of all Brescia. They were really the jewel of those magnificent celebrations.”
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himself informed the Lombard Cooperators and he announced in a sup-
plement to the September [Salesian] Bulletin, that the Milanese meeting
would be held on Sunday the 12th of that month,’ “Despite the infirmities
to which I am subject, I am most confident that I shall nevertheless be
able to attend the meeting, for I am eager to become acquainted with and
renew the old friendships of a good many members of the clergy and the
population of Lombardy. These people on several occasions have given
me evidence of their generous charity on behalf of the undertakings
which have been placed into my poor hands by Divine Providence.”

He was greatly influenced in this decision by a personal motive. He
was aware of all the obligations he had toward Archbishop Calabiana
because of the assistance he had received from him while he was bishop
of Casale and was now glad to publicly express his own gratitude before
departing from this earth.

He set out for Milan the morning of September 11 together with Father
Louis Rocca, a Milanese who was director of the Alassio school, and with
Father Charles Viglietti. A gentleman from Barcelona, Leander Suiier, the
administrator of the estate of Marquis Jovert’ had gone to meet him at the
Oratory and driven him to the station in a magnificent carriage. Leander
Sufier had just arrived from Germany the day before, accompanying the
Marchioness Jovert and her lady companion, and all three of them called
on Don Bosco at the Valsalice school, attended his Mass and then gra-
ciously accepted his invitation to have coffee with him. As she took leave
of him, the Marchioness gave him an offering of one thousand lire.

He arrived in Milan at one o’clock in the afternoon, after a pleasant
journey. The archbishop’s carriage was waiting to drive him to the palace
where he was to be the guest of His Excellency. A number of ladies and
gentlemen and many priests were awaiting him at the station, to extend
their Ambrosian cordial welcome to him. Father Louis Lasagna who had
arrived the day before, was also there with Father Moses Veronesi, direc-
tor of the school of Mogliano Veneto. There was also a crowd in the square
outside the railroad station, and when Don Bosco appeared, shoulders bent
and moving with difficulty but smiling, people were moved, and you could
hear people say: “Look, there is a saint!....A great saint!...The Saint of
Turin!” As he passed by, many people knelt to receive his blessing.

5 Fr. John Bonetti compiled the letter on behalf of Don Bosco.

6 Fr. Louis Lasagna had written Bishop John Cagliero ( San Benigno, August 26): “Don Bosco is always
weak, unsteady, practically exhausted. Nevertheless, he is going to Milan.”

7 See this volume, ch. 3, p. 1.
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The priests of the archdiocese met him at the entrance hall of the bish-
op’s residence and formed an escort of honor all the way to the archbish-
op’s chambers. He climbed the great staircase very slowly, leaning on
stout arms, and almost being carried by them, but people noticed and
commented on his vivacious eyes and his alert spirit. The almost eighty-
year-old venerable bishop went to meet him, embraced him tenderly, and
showed him the utmost esteem and cordial friendship.

“Excellency,” Don Bosco hastened to say, “I wanted to see you again
and receive your blessing once more before I die.”

The bishop was most affable also with the Salesians accompanying
Don Bosco, and immediately began to talk in dialect, recalling his native
Piedmont and his contacts with Don Bosco and his sons. The Servant of
God looked tired, so after a light repast, he was led to the room made
ready for him to rest. He had recovered his strength somewhat at five-thir-
ty p.m., dinner time, and was having a lively conversation with the invit-
ed guests. After the meal, he received some visitors. He retired at around
ten o’clock p.m. and the archbishop, wishing to receive Don Bosco’s
blessing and anticipating his reluctance, suddenly knelt in a most devout
manner in front of him, then he embraced him affectionately once again,
and accompanied him to his room.

The Saint turned his thoughts to the retreat then being held at
Valsalice and at his instructions, Father Charles Viglietti wrote to Father
Michael Rua that very evening, “Don Bosco orders me to ask you to tell
everyone who is making the retreat that he is very sorry for being so far
away from them. He says that this constitutes his major discomfort,
though he thinks of them all in his prayers. He sends his regards and
abundant blessings to everybody.”

The Salesian meeting had been very well organized and took place the
morning of September 12th at Our Lady of Grace Church. The Archbishop
was sorry that it took place in what was not the very best season of the
year, since the entire aristocracy of Milan was missing and usually
returned sometime around All Saints” Day. Nevertheless, that was quite an
impressive assembly. The boys of the Oratory who had gotten there from
Brescia sang some parts of the High Mass marvelously; and even the sec-
ular journalists in attendance were enchanted by Bishop John Cagliero’s
Sancta Maria succurre miseris as anyone could tell by the articles they
wrote. At the end of the Mass, the archbishop made his appearance, a few
minutes ahead of Don Bosco, who arrived with Fathers Louis Lasagna and
Charles Viglietti. People had hailed him with the utmost reverence all
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along his way there. No sooner did he appear at the main entrance of the
church than those nearest to him crowded around him, and it took some
time and effort to drag him (this is the most appropriate word), to the side
of the bishop in the sanctuary. The crowd filling the immense church
gazed on him in silent devotion. Even the historian, Cesare Cantu,” had
pressed through the throng to reach him, and followed him a short while.?

After the boys had sung a motet, Father Louis Lasagna received the
blessing from the archbishop and went on to the pulpit. When they first
saw him, there was general disappointment, for everyone expected that
Don Bosco would speak. But from his opening words, the orator caught
the attention and the gracious acceptance of the public, almost eight thou-
sand people in number, who hung onto his words for more than an hour.
Anyone who had heard him preach before would not have found exagger-
ated the opinion expressed by his biographer about his eloquence, “He
possessed a subtle gift which enabled him to get into the hearts of his lis-
teners,” Father Paul Albera wrote,” “and he had such a store of examples
and anecdotes at his command, such a persuasive manner of speaking, that
he could share with everybody not only his ideas but also his enthusiasm.”

He began by voicing his gratitude to the archbishop who, twenty years
before on that very day, had admitted him to don his clerical cassock. He
then described the whole of Don Bosco’s undertakings in the Old and New
World, depicting picturesquely the life of the Salesian missionaries, espe-
cially their activity on behalf of Italian immigrants. The reporter of a Turin
newspaper'® wrote that had the meeting been held in some private place
instead of inside a church, the speaker would have been interrupted by
applause again and again, especially when he demonstrated how the mis-
sions were not merely a religious undertaking, but also a patriotic one, and
that the government should really exempt from military service all clerics
destined to join the missions. He really shook his listeners when, with all
his eloquence, he presented the Papacy to them as the most magnificent
and purest glory of all Italy. Such a digression, probably intended for some
good purpose, proved most timely for a number of reasons."

When it was all over, Don Bosco yielded to the wishes expressed by

8, See Vol. XIII, p. 476.

9 Loc. cit., p. 126.

10_ JI Corriere di Torino, September 13, 1886.

11 Albera, loc. cit., p. 217 (Appendix, doc. 41). He then held a second meeting at St. Mark’s. In November,
Fr. Pascal Morganti wrote to Fr. Michael Rua (November 16, 1895), “Bp. Louis Lasagna is, one may say, the first
person who touched off the flame of Salesian enthusiasm here in this city with his two talks at Our Lady of Grace
Church and at St. Mark’s” (loc. cit., p. 219).
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some eminent people and walked through the main aisle. Just as the people
had done in Paris and Barcelona, the Milanese thrust themselves forward as
he passed, some kissing his hand, some devoutly touching his garments,
some making the sign of the cross, or asking him for his blessing. Those
who were unable to get near him gazed at him from afar, touched to see him
so ailing and yet smiling, and their tenderness was enhanced as they saw
how the venerable old archbishop was supporting him. The crowd filling
the square outside the church and the adjacent streets broke out into a
mighty roar, Long live Don Bosco! Long live the Archbishop!

As the carriage in which the two of them were seated passed by,
the shouts acclaiming them were repeated with all the fervor of pop-
ular enthusiasm.

Don Bosco got off at Saint Charles seminary where the Oratory choir
was lodged, and many people were waiting there to see and speak with
him. The boys gave him a jubilant reception as the Saint smilingly walked
past them, with kind words and jokes. The people who witnessed the
scene admired the exchange of affection between father and sons.

After greeting the boys, Don Bosco withdrew to a hall to grant audi-
ences. But how could he interview that many callers one by one? Besides,
in the twinkling of an eye, the hall had become so full of people that there
was definitely not enough freedom to confer with individuals. A God-
ordained incident attracted the attention of everybody and offered a way
out of that predicament. In the midst of all the confusion a lady was lead-
ing her deaf daughter by the hand. As soon as she reached the Saint with
great difficulty, he blessed the child and told her to say a certain prayer.
Just as if she had heard and understood, the girl retired to a corner, prayed
as she had been told, and came back to his side, saying, “You see, Don
Bosco, I am quite cured. Now I can hear everything.” The amazement of
the other people present reached its climax and in the twinkling of an eye,
news of this cure spread all over the town."”? During the ensuing confusion
Don Bosco was spirited away from the room, but on his way from the
seminary to the archbishop’s palace, the passers-by recognized him and
halted, greeted him and at times joined forces to applaud.

The generosity of the Milanese did not falter either at the meeting or
afterward. The city pastors opened a subscription on behalf of the missionar-
ies, so that anyone who had been unable to attend the meeting at the church

12 In an article published on the 22nd under the title “Miraculous Cure,” La Palabra of Lisbon reported this
incident. “We learned of this in a letter from Reverend Joao Marques who has been resident in Italy now for a year.”
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of Our Lady of Grace or had been prevented from contributing their alms
there, on account of the crush, might be able to make his charitable donation.

The archbishop had invited several pastors and noblemen to dinner
that evening to honor Don Bosco. After the repast, the Saint began to
grant interviews, and went on until nightfall. Then, the bishop tried to
provide a little rest and amusement for him in the form of pleasant con-
versation before the evening meal. When it was time to go to bed, the
Servant of God told Father Charles Viglietti to arrange everything so that
they would be able to leave the following afternoon at the latest.

During the last two years of his life, poor Don Bosco’s former infirmities
were complicated by new physical disfunctions which made traveling uncom-
fortable, and any extended length of time away from home most uncomfortable.

He said Mass in the bishop’s chapel the morning of the 13th. The chapel
was crowded with people attending the Mass. The president of the Club of
Saint Ambrose and Saint Charles, and a member of the Board of the Catholic
Youth Association, served at the altar. The boys of the Oratory and a num-
ber of people in the congregation received communion. The remainder of his
time was spent in giving audiences. These resumed after lunch and contin-
ued until four o’clock p.m. Nearing the departure time, the bishop again
knelt to receive his blessing and when he took leave of him, he embraced him
weeping, tenderly kissing his hands and thanking him cordially for such an
unforgettable and dear visit. Many gentlemen who had learned from the
newspapers that Don Bosco was in Milan hastened back to the city from
their country residences, but he had to leave and was unable to receive them.
Likewise Duke Scotti, his good friend and benefactor, arrived too late to talk
at length with him. He had to be satisfied by going to see him at the railroad
station with a number of other ladies and gentlemen."

He left Milan with only Father Charles Viglietti. He was absolutely
exhausted. When he arrived in Turin, the jaded horse of the Oratory drove
him in the humble little coach directly to Valsalice from Porta Susa sta-
tion, and the Saint paid a delightful surprise visit to the persons making a
retreat there. He entered the dining room quite unexpectedly as they were
finishing supper. Little by little he regained some of his strength in the
peaceful quiet of that house.

Father Louis Lasagna had not made the return trip with Don Bosco
because he had to go to Busto Arsizio and Casale Litta to address the

13 The poor young girls residing at the Home for the Blind had written him a touching letter, and begged him
to come in person to bless them, or else send them his blessing (Appendix, doc. 42).
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Cooperators of those two localities. The thirty choirboys of the Oratory
went with him. The provost Father Tettamanti and the pastor Father
Rigoli, two names so dear to the Salesians, could not have done more if
they had to welcome Don Bosco himself." The people of the two towns
supported them wholeheartedly in this, as did the clergy and the faithful
of the neighboring towns.

Newspapers of all kinds dedicated their attention to Don Bosco before
his arrival, during his stay in Milan, and after his departure. The most out-
standing newspaper of the Italian Liberal Party limited itself to announcing
his arrival, which was already something quite considerable in those days.
Later it carried a long article, containing in its own words “an impartial
report of this Jocal event,” not without poking fun at the police headquarters
for having taken too literally the rumors that an anti-clerical demonstration
had been planned, and for taking excessive precautions, as a consequence. In
reference to the music of the Oratory, it went on, “We do not think one could
possibly expect greater intonation, better harmony, or more exquisite blend-
ing of voices from these boys than the way we heard them sing yesterday.”
It then spoke in detail of the meeting and the speaker, with a tinge of a dis-
putable humor as requested by the spirit of the newspaper and of the times,
anytime the liberals had to write about the Pope or the Church. After an
accurate outline of only a few sentences concerning Don Bosco’s personal-
ity and merits, it closed stating, “A friend of ours, Prof. Rayneri of
Montevideo, Argentina, informed us one day that the best school for girls in
that capital is the one founded there by Don Bosco. Even the daughters of
the President of that republic are attending it for their education.”

The more moderate Perseveranza described the whole ceremony which
had taken place on the 12th with warmth. The outright liberal newspaper //
Caffé announced Don Bosco’s arrival in an early issue, referring to him as
“one of the most cultured of the influential leaders of the clerical party,”
and in the following issue it described the meeting. The following is the
impression made upon the author of the article by the visit of the Servant of
God: “Don Bosco is a lovely old man, with strongly marked out features
and always smiling. His appearance does not show his advanced age, which
is however shown by his practically extinguished strength.” This is the
judgment that he passed on his life and undertakings; “The charitable
undertakings of Don Bosco are growing bigger day after day, and although

14 Salesian Bulletin, November 1886.
15 11 Corriere della sera, September 12-14.
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his appeals for help are always responded to everywhere, he lives a hard life
himself. Despite his advanced years, he is concerned solely about one
thought, “humanity and religion,” and he is an arch enemy of the outspoken
arrogance of angry ecclesiastics. He is a true minister of the church of
Christ, unfortunately imitated by only a few!” The no less liberal Jalia
expressed its appreciation for the fact that Father Louis Lasagna had spoken
so well “without insulting either persons or institutions as is usually the
case,” and gave a concise outline of his talk, mentioned the crowd attend-
ing it, and the other crowd which had besieged Don Bosco on his way out.
11 Pungolo, also a forthright liberal paper, praised the music and gave an
extensive report of the talk. The conciliatory Catholic newspaper Lega
Lombarda illustrated the life and undertakings of the Saint in two articles.'®
La Settimana religiosa of Milan published an extensive, emphatic account
of it on September 16. Likewise L’ Eco d’Italia in Genoa and Il Corriere di
Torino published letters from Milan about it on the same day.

There were three newspapers which chose not to deviate either partial-
ly or entirely from their adamant anti-clerical program. 7/ Secolo did
announce the presence in Milan of “one of the influential leaders of the
Italian clerical party, Don Bosco,” adding, “He is one of the most militant
agents of clerical doctrines and one of the most intelligent as well. He does
not limit his action to mere preaching, but works unceasingly, founding
institutes of all kinds, workshops, missions, homes for the poor, doing
everything which the liberals should be doing. We look on him as a model
for every party, for at the present time we do not need words but deeds, and
Don Bosco gives us deeds.” But on a second occasion when reporting the
meeting, it remained formally within the limits of pure courtesy, express-
ing itself objectively about the speaker and praising the young choirboys.
Under a belligerent heading, “Yesterday’s Meeting of the Clerics,” La
Lombardia wrote on a restrained note until it exhorted the government to
direct and protect Italian immigrants, then it displayed as though it were a
scarecrow “the overpowering influence of Catholic missionaries whose
action may be beneficial to civilization in its early phases, but then it grows
hostile toward the liberal institutions of our mother country.”

Further on, in referring to the burning issue of the relations then exist-
ing between Church and State, it wrote, “We must in all truth admit that
the speaker was very moderate and cautious in his political allusions.” La
Riforma, Crispi’s own newspaper in Rome, was not so moderate because

' Perservanza, p.13; Caffé, pp. 13—14; Italia: Pungolo, pp. 13—14; Lega Lombarda, pp.12—13.
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it published a venomous correspondence from Milan against Don Bosco’s
“clerical charity,” against “clerical schools,” against the competition
offered by his “clerical homes” to the working people “laboring in the
thick of real life”. Though it did render tribute to the eminent personal
qualities of the man, it deplored the fact that “a civilized city should have
described him as the angel of charity” as has been stated in the letter
inviting people to attend the meeting.”

Naturally the proper note was struck in the columns of the militant
L’Osservatore cattolico of Milan, which was then read all over the penin-
sula. In the second of two articles' it read, “Don Bosco’s visit to Milan
has assumed the proportions of a genuine event, thanks to the veneration
felt for this apostle of charity, and also thanks in part to the lack of
restraint on the part of some liberal newspapers that were already brain-
washed with the old anti-Catholic hatreds and therefore endeavored to
present the arrival of Don Bosco as a clerical provocation, and did their
best to stir up some true disturbances. We have detected similar attempts
in previous quotations taken piecemeal from journals more or less hostile
to the Church. Fortunately, the people of Milan turned a deaf ear to such
instigations and turned the attacks of politicians into a solemn defeat.”

The author of the article was present when Don Bosco entered the
episcopal residence. This is how he described his impression: “It was sad
to see the venerated Don Bosco climb the great staircase in the residence,
his legs so feeble that they could barely support his weight. Yet despite all
this, his mind is still alert, his eye keen, his memory excellent.” Then the
author described Don Bosco’s meeting with the archbishop: “When he
came into the presence of the archbishop, it was the prelate who knelt at
Don Bosco’s feet, wishing to receive his blessing as an act of humility and
as a sign of that exquisite deference which so distinguishes him, ably cir-
cumventing any objection with a cunning strategy.”

He wrote about the meeting and this is the way he described Don
Bosco’s exit from the church: “It was a pitiful and deeply moving scene.
Don Bosco was obliged to cross the main aisle of the crowded church. He
was worried at the prospect of having to reach the door through that vast
throng, which was anxious to get a look at him. It was then that the ven-
erable archbishop took his arm, and assisted by other people as well, Don
Bosco began the arduous march which I believe lasted about an hour and

17 [l Secolo, pp.13-14; Lombardia, p.13; La Riforma, p.17.
18 [ssues of September 12 and 13*.
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was filled by testimonials of devotion and veneration for the two old men,
who were holding each other close in a fraternal embrace.”

~ Among those who considered themselves fortunate to have helped the
archbishop make a path for Don Bosco was the famous historian Caesar
Cantu’ who had been proud to have received his diploma as a Salesian
Cooperator in 1878 from the Saint himself."

Although the unfortunate climate of the times did not allow civil and
political authorities to follow popular sentiment by participating in any way in
such solemn manifestations, it was nevertheless common knowledge that they
were gratified by the enthusiasm of the crowd, which was so seldom seen
around the person of a priest. Don Bosco’s habitual way of dealing with the
government authority had always been fully appreciated in higher circles, and
this sometimes gave rise to suspicion and malignant speculation in those who
were not fully acquainted with his impeccable ecclesiastical ethics. We have
already seen on so many occasions the characteristic features that similar rela-
tions always had and so it is not necessary for us to return to the subject; how-
ever, we will add one more instance. The pupils of the school run by the
Daughters of Mary Help of Christians were having their awards ceremony in
September at Nichelino, near Turin. The foreign minister, Count de Robilant,
also happened to be present. Father John Baptist Tamietti went up to greet him
on behalf of Don Bosco. “Oh! Don Bosco!” the minister of state exclaimed
with pleasure. “Please thank him gratefully for me and tell him that I would
be happy if he were to avail himself of my services, because I am entirely at
his disposal. Please tell him, please do tell him for certain.”

At the end of the festivities he said once again, “Please remember, tell
Don Bosco that I want to help him.”

The Saint did not lose any time in thanking the Archbishop of Milan
for the exceptional kindness with which he had been treated. The bishop
replied on September 25th with a calling card on which he had written
“Much fervent thanks to the venerated and beloved Don Bosco for his
autographed letter and the book which followed it. Your visit to Milan is
remembered by all with kind gratitude, especially by the undersigned who
hopes to extend his hospitality to you again on other occasions. Pray,
please pray for the archbishop of Milan.”

Don Bosco was still at Valsalice when on September 21st, a telegram from
the Parisian journal La Croix arrived at the Oratory addressed to the “Superior
of the Salesian Congregation,” in which the editor-in-chief wrote “Fervently

19 See Vol. XIIL, p. 476.
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share grief over the tragedy. Please telegraph news about Don Bosco.” This
caused much astonishment but then it was quickly realized that in France some-
one had said Don Bosco had died. Don Bosco replied in person, “I am well. I
cannot explain your anxiety. Nevertheless, I am grateful for your attention.” He
was in fact so well that immediately afterward he received the count and count-
ess Donato and kept them talking at length, because they had come to say good
bye before leaving for Constantinople where the count was to direct the
embassy in the name of the King of Italy, before the Turkish sovereign.

Despite this, a few Italian newspapers as well published word of the
Saint’s serious illness. Alarmed by the news, Father James Margotti rushed
to Valsalice to find out himself what was happening. He found him seated
at his desk, looking well and with his customary good humor. When asked
how his health was, he replied that, apart from his age and the trouble he
was having with his legs, he had no other disturbance, for which he blessed
Divine Providence. Then there was a long conversation about Patagonia.
When Margotti asked him about the gold mines which had recently been
discovered there, Don Bosco cut him short saying that by order of the Pope,
he had sent the Salesians there to win souls for Jesus Christ and not to go
hunting for gold or silver mines. In its issue of the 24th, L Unita cattolica
discredited all the false rumors about Don Bosco’s health.

Don Bosco returned to the Oratory on the evening of the 27th; but he
did not remain there long because on the 29th he went to San Benigno
where the novices were on retreat in preparation for taking their vows. He
said the community Mass on October 3rd, the feast of the Holy Rosary, but
being exceedingly tired, he administered communion only to those serving
Mass at the altar. Later on he received the profession of fifty-three novices,
and at the end of the liturgy, he addressed them all. An armchair was
placed in the middle of the chapel for him so that he should not overtire
himself. The clerics gathered around him. The records of that house con-
tain a faithful summary of his talk, which we ourselves heard. First of all,
the Saint voiced the delight he felt at that moment, saying that he could not
have experienced any greater delight on earth. Then he appealed to them
to practice charity, charity toward their superiors, by obeying them always
and in such a way as not to cause them to groan and sigh.

“It 1s a sacrilege,” he exclaimed, “that anyone should take a vow of obe-
dience and then behave as some do, by only obeying when it pleases them”.
He urged them to practice charity toward the members of the Society who
should never criticize each other, not even in things which pertain to our
publications. He voiced his own disapproval of such critics, stressing the
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word with forceful indignation. He insisted on this very much, and repeat-
ed several times that one should either speak well of one’s neighbor or else
be silent. In this he showed an earnest desire to be heard and obeyed, and
added to his words such an expression of grief that he began to weep. His
trembling weak voice suddenly grew strong and stern, as if he were about
to curse those hellish tongues which never blab except to criticize.

At a given moment he went on, “If Don Bosco has been unhappy... it
was because of this lack of charity among the Salesians.” A sudden wave of
emotion came over him as he passed from his first to the second sentence,
his eyes were filled with tears, and he resumed speaking with a repressed
sob. Then he changed the subject, assuring them all for their comfort that
the Salesian Society was in excellent shape financially and added that it
would spread out most amazingly. The Salesians would want for nothing,
provided they remained faithful to educating poor youth, since this was the
mission entrusted to them by Our Lady. “If all of you were qualified to act
as directors,” he said, “I would already know where to send you, from the
first to the last of you.” Lastly, he appealed to our prayers for him, repeat-
ing several times that as long as there was breath of life in him, he would
continue praying and sacrificing himself for his beloved sons.

While Don Bosco was thus receiving the vows of these new young
hopefuls of his religious family and endeavored to forge the soul of an
apostle in them, other apostles were meeting the same day in Turin to
“combat and avert the perils latent in the vigorous resurrection of the
intransigent clericalism and Jesuitical spirit, and now about to be brought
forth to the detriment of the country.” This was proclaimed by a Liberal
parliamentary deputy.” To the person who informed him of this political
rally, Don Bosco replied that that rally was an attempt by the Freemasons
to publicly advertise the godless association and try to accustom the pop-
ulation to consider it as a meritorious and respectable association.

What upset the Free Masons most of all was the way in which private
schools were then flourishing. In a pamphlet which was handed out to
everyone who had attended the political rally, Turin was described as a
town in which the newly constituted clerical movement was revealing
extreme ability in its strategy, especially through instruction. Don Bosco
was pointed out as the life and soul behind all this successful undertak-
ing. “The life and soul of this vast conspiracy,” it said,” “is the inspired

20,1 "Unita Cattolica, October 2, 1886.
21 The pamphlet, which consisted of ten pages, did not indicate where it had been printed, but was entitled:
Quid agendum? (4 warning by the Liberal Party).
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saint of Valdocco, Don Bosco, a singularly intelligent and daring man, a
Jesuit like Ignatius of Loyola, a cunning diplomat, humble in his person-
al greatness, ready for anything, extraordinarily active, capable of every-
thing: capable of setting up schools all over the world in the twinkling of
an eye, of founding industrial plants, building churches, and writing
sugar-sweet little books. Don Bosco is a force which is perhaps acting
with the assistance of others, with the support of a society which has
greater hopes centered on him than even on the Black Pope.” He is a
monarch who reigns and rules without pomp or circumstance, under a
cloak of sordid humility, and cunning compunction, though with a soul
within which outbursts of hatred rule against everything which is light,
truth, and progress. Don Bosco is the personification of this new Turin
clericalism, just as he is its animating spirit, its strength, and its brain.”

Lo and behold, a distorted caricature of Don Bosco as glimpsed through
the anti-clerical lens of the day! Yet to us at the present time, this intention-
al distortion conceals an indirect testimony to the effective and God-sent
influence of Don Bosco’s defensive action in Italy. The enemies of the
Church were aware of him and trembled but since he always acted well with-
in the law, they could not do anything against him. Don Bosco’s deference
to national institutions was at times misunderstood by well-meaning men;
but he knew to what extent his conscience permitted him to go as a Catholic,
and he never strayed one inch from the path of righteousness.

Someone felt that he displayed too fervent an allegiance to the house of
Savoy, as if he had forgotten the wrongs which the Savoy monarchs had per-
petrated against the Church. There were quite a few who felt that way in
Milan; but Don Bosco set his gaze higher and farther afield. On November
29, 1881, Bismarck had uttered the following words in the Reichstag: “What
guarantee would you take on yourselves for the future of Italy, especially if
God were not to preserve the present dynasty which now has but few scions?”
Now when these words were read out to Don Bosco from the issue of October
12, 1886, in which L Unita cattolica had quoted them, he said, “I have been
repeating the same thing for years and years, whenever 1 talked about the
Italian situation.” Amid all the inter-party strife, Don Bosco looked to the his-
toric monarchy as the focal point of law and order and the guarantee of a bet-
ter future for Italy. History confirms the accuracy of his viewpoint.”

22 The liberals called the Jesuits’ Father General the Black Pope.

23 In his diary of 1880, published in La Nuova antologia in 1936, Deputy Alexander Guiccioli made the fol-
lowing entry for August 22: “The dynasty of Savoy is the one good thing still left to us; and that is precisely what
they (the rebels) are attacking” (June 16, 1936), p. 427.
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Chapter 8

THE MISSIONARY EXPEDITION OF 1886 /
A LOOK AT THE HOUSES AND MISSIONS
OF SOUTH AFRICA

The Salesian houses and missions in South America faced serious
financial problems and there was no solution to be found for them. For
this reason Bishop John Cagliero made appeals to Turin insistently, list-
ing his requirements and begging for assistance. In a council meeting held
on September 18, 1885, Don Bosco had said, “T am thinking about a cir-
cular letter so as to help the missions, but it is not yet fully formulated in
my mind. I still need to pray some more, then I will talk about it.”

This circular letter, which was drafted following along the guidelines,
set by the Saint and which he himself edited, was ready in October 1886.
It presented a picture of the current state of the missions, the plans for the
future and the urgent needs of the present. Then it announced an immi-
nent missionary expedition. In conclusion, it implored the charitable
assistance of all Cooperators so as to support the houses already founded,
allow new ventures to be undertaken, as well as raise the substantial but
indispensable money required to carry out the new project of an expedi-
tion of more evangelical laborers.

This appeal was not only addressed to the members of the Pious
Union, but was translated into French, Spanish, and German and sent all
over Europe to princes and ministers of state, as well as to editors of
newspapers, no matter what their political affiliations might have been. A
copy was even sent to the Emperor of China and the Shah of Persia. No
less than one hundred thousand addresses had to be written, and many of
the Oratory boys helped in this, as well as a number of clerics who had
been sent from San Benigno and a dozen Sisters who had come from
Nizza Monferrato. Don Bosco was not only trying to raise money, but
also to make his undertakings known throughout the whole world. He
said so himself, “I am not only looking for an immediate advantage, here
and now but I’'m looking for future advantages. Those who may not do
anything for us here and now will recall our plea and later will do some-
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thing about it. That means that even when years will have gone by, we
shall still receive legacies, inheritances, and offerings because of these
circulars letters.”

The press provided great publicity for the circular letter by reproduc-
ing it in its entirety or printing a summary of it with comments. However,
even in this instance, the attitude of some Italian liberals was revealed to
be narrow-minded and as restricted as ever in their spiteful and cheap
anti-clericalism. Those men were so steeped in hostility against anything
remotely connected with Christianity that whenever they discussed it,
they would lose their heads and their common sense. The hatred against
the Church, which they were brooding in their hearts, did not permit them
to appreciate even those solid advantages that these missionaries were
gaining for their mother country, while they were unreservedly appreci-
ated by lay governments. Yet, despite all this, one might well quote in ref-
erence to their publications what a Catholic newspaper of Genoa wrote in
reference to a venomous long-winded attack published in Crispi’s paper
La Riforma in Rome; namely, that the knowledge of similar writings was
“the best tool to spur on good people to give more and better assistance
to the venerated founder of the Salesian Congregation.”

Donations flowed in generous proportion and number. Don Bosco
himself gave us an eminent proof of it. In a council meeting taking place
as early as November 2, during a discussion as to what would be the best
way to send money to those American houses that were imploring aid, he
said, “Now we have enormous amounts of money for our expenses. We
have sent out this circular letter on behalf of the missions. Divine
Providence does not fail us. So let us get a firm foothold. In order to set-
tle the debts of our houses in America we should do this - Father Louis
Lasagna should convey the order to establish American Council, made up
of Directors and Provincials. This Council should study how to settle the
past with its deficit; it should also draw some formal procedures, with
which no Director would be allowed to arbitrarily contract any new debts.
Father Lasagna should work out some economical plans before he leaves.
At this time Divine Providence is providing both for us and for America.
Father Joseph Fagnano should deal only with in spiritualibus [spiritual

1 L’Eco d’ltalia, October 31, 1886. As a document of Don Bosco’s times, we thought best to resurrect this
writing (see Appendix, doc. 45). It was also reproduced in La Gazzetta di Catania, which used it in its war against
the Salesians. But in Sicily, Le Letture Domenicali of Palermo (November 28) not only published the “magnificent
circular letter” but opened a subscription on behalf of the Salesian missions. An insolent news item entitled “The
hunt for money” was also published in France by La Semaine anticlericale at Nevers (November. 11).
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matters], while an Economer would administer the temporal affairs of the
mission. They need not be afraid of debts in America. They should be
shouldered by the superior council, but every effort should be made to put
things right in order.”

The “thank you” notes lithographed on an original written by Don
Bosco himself were sent to ordinary donors; but in certain cases the
Servant of God would write a “thank you” note himself, independently of
whether the donation was modest or substantial, as it can be seen from
two letters of which we have copies. The first of these letters is addressed
to Canon Blaise Rumiano of Susa, a former fellow student of Don Bosco
at the Convitto Ecclesiastico.

Turin, November 30, 1886
My Dear Canon:

I want to write to you myself to assure you that I was delighted
both by your letter and by your donation. You may not have acquired
merit for being a nuisance, but you certainly have the merit for
being a donor, as you really are. Why do you not come and see this
poor old friend of yours any more? Please give my thanks to our
mutual friend, Canon Bermond. My regards in_Domino [in the
Lord] to your sister, if God has not yet summoned her already to the
place Mary has held in reserve for her in paradise.

God bless us and please believe me always in Jesus Christ,

Your most affectionate friend,
Rev. John Bosco

One Cooperator who never turned a deaf ear to any appeal from Don
Bosco was the very charitable Count Eugene de Maistre, who on this occa-
sion put his hand generously into his pocket and received the following reply:

(undated)

My Dear Count Eugene de Maistre,

I did have a letter ready for you, assuring you that we would
be saying special prayers for you and your whole family at the
Oratory during this period. I was halfway done with it when Mr.
Vergan came in to give me your generous offering of 2,000 francs.

Blessed be God forever, and my ecternal thanks to you, dear
Count Eugene. I am fully confident that Mary Help of Christians
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will reward your charity generously. I pray to heaven that your
country estate will yield abundant crops, and that your whole
family may enjoy good health, and the consolation of seeing them
progress from one virtue to another until you are able to see them
all gather around you in heaven. We will show our gratitude to
you the best way we can. Therefore, on the last three days of the
year, our orphans will say prayers and offer up Communions for
the following intentions: on December 29 for Papa Count de
Maistre; on the 30th for the countess, your mother; on the 31st for
the repose of the soul of the countess, your deceased wife.
Please give my respectful regards to your whole family and
please be so gracious as to pray for me and mine (240,000
orphans) who all express sincerest gratitude to you while I, on
behalf of all the Salesians, am deeply honored to remain as always,
Your most grateful servant,
Rev. John Bosco

A large and a small missionary expedition set out in 1886. In the pre-
vious volume we said that in 1885 Father Michael Borghino had reached
Italy from Brazil, and Father Louis Calcagno and Father Peter Rota from
Uruguay. Now, without waiting for a larger group to be formed, the three
of them sailed for America in April, along with three clerics: Fia, Giudici,
and Zanchetta, all names which were to become famous during the ensu-
ing years. They were then only clerics, but they had reached both the
vigor of their age and strength, since they were coming from the ranks of
the Sons of Mary. They arrived at Barcelona where everything seemed to
promise that they would once again see Don Bosco, but all they saw were
the preparations the Confreres and the Cooperators were making to wel-
come him within the next two days.

Of the three priests whose memory is ever in benediction among us,
Father Joseph Lazzero repeated a statement he had made at the time of their
arrival in Italy, also at the time of their departure” “Both Father Michael
Borghino and the other two guests deserve a certificate of good conduct for
the time they have spent here with us, and as I already said on another occa-
sion, they really did reveal an excellent spirit and attachment to Don Bosco and
our society. Let us hope that our Lord will always keep them so, and that being
in the full flower of their life, they will have time to accomplish much good.”

? Letter to Bishop Cagliero, March 28, 1886.
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When the time drew near for the larger missionary expedition, Don
Bosco published a circular letter and addressed it to the Turin Cooperators
and those of the neighboring area as a supplement to the /[Salesian/
Bulletin of November. Four thousand copies were printed, to invite them
all to attend the farewell ceremony. In a previous similar letter written in
French, he had extended the same invitation, together with his October
appeal, however this was sent only to people who were known friends of
the Congregation.’

Twenty-six Salesians and six Daughters of Mary Help of Christians
were to cross the Atlantic, escorted by Father Lasagna, who went to Rome
in the early part of November and who had received a promise of protec-
tion and a subsidy of one thousand five hundred lire from the minister for
Foreign Affairs, Count de Robilant. He had become such a friend with
him that the Count himself assured him that he was not a Free Mason, as
people were saying. Father Lasagna was received by the Holy Father in a
private audience. The Pope immediately asked for news about Don
Bosco’s health, and asked a thousand different questions about the mis-
sions. When he was told about the needs of Brazil, and how Don Bosco
had prepared an army of missionaries, inspired solely by the charity of
Jesus Christ, the Pope exclaimed, “Let this be known to the honor of Turin
and the glory of the Salesian Congregation. This has filled my heart with
great joy and hope. 1 expect great things both for the Church and for
Society from the Salesian Congregation.”

Father Lasagna then went to Casale to greet his brother at the sem-
inary, as well as other relatives and friends. He ran a very close risk of
having to renounce his holy missionary activity forever, for a number of
eminent priests and laymen full of admiration for his fine qualities had
worked out a plan by which they would apply to the Holy See to have
him as their bishop, since their own diocese was without a bishop due
to the recent death of Bishop Ferré. From a mere plan they jumped into
action. Two canons presented a petition to Don Bosco and begged him
to pass it on to the Holy Father himself, with his word of recommenda-
tion. “This will add yet another well deserved claim to the many claims

3 See Appendix, doc. 46, A-B. The October circular and the news about the missionary expedition suggest-
ed to certain swindlers the idea of playing a trick on the good faith of their neighbors. The tool they used was La
Staffetta, a weekly news bulletin of Naples. La Sicilia cattolica of Palermo fell into the trap. Don Bosco and Fr.
Michael Rua behaved with what might have seemed excessive prudence, if the conduct of saints had not been always
guided by supernatural charity. Those who wish to learn more of this audacious scam may read the documents,
which speak for themselves. See Appendix, doc. 47 (A, B, C, D, E, F).
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which our beloved Don Bosco already has on the benevolence and grat-
itude of the diocese of Casale,” one of the sponsors of the plan wrote to
him.* Don Bosco handed the petition over to Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda
and asked him to do whatever he thought was best in the Lord. The car-
dinal asked him how he felt about it. Don Bosco replied that he did not
want to influence the issue in any way and was quite indifferent about
it. The petition was forwarded to the Pope but it arrived too late, for Leo
XIIT had already assigned someone else to the See. Divine Providence
had disposed that Father Louis Lasagna was to become bishop, but not
cease his work as a missionary.

When this design of Divine Providence came true in 1893, another
unspoken prediction made implicitly by Don Bosco to Father Louis
Lasagna the day of his farewell had come true. It was the hour before the
farewell ceremony on December 2 that Father Lasagna had his last con-
versation with the beloved Father and asked him for some medals that
Don Bosco had blessed, so that he might give them as presents to the
Salesians’ friends. After they had been given to him, he took his leave. He
had barely gone downstairs on his way to church to preach when the cler-
ic Angelo Festa came running after, to hand him a small box. “Don Bosco
sends you this box,” he said. “He says that the rest are for the others, but
this one is for you, and you alone.”

From the sound, it looked as though the box contained medals. Father
Lasagna put it into his pocket, ran to the church, and did not give it
another thought. Well into the ocean voyage he remembered it, he
opened it, and found inside a gold filigree chain lying on some cotton.
He was surprised at the sight, and without understanding what he saw,
he put the lid back on the little box and put it away. When he arrived at
his destination, he put it away in his desk and did not take it out again
until the day a telegram brought the sad news of Don Bosco’s death. In
the general grief, which pervaded the house, everyone began looking for
things, which would remind them of their deceased Father: letters,
medals, and similar souvenirs.

During this search Father Lasagna’s secretary came across the little box.
He took out the chain; he lifted the cotton as lo and behold, he found a little
note in which a benefactor from Chiavari was asking that the chain be sent
to Don Bosco for the second Salesian missionary bishop of South America.

“This means that I am to give it to the second Salesian bishop on

4 Canon Romognoli and Fr. Louis Calcagno, Casale, November 26, 1886.
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behalf of Don Bosco,” Father Louis Lasagna thought. He did not imagine
at that time that five years later he himself would be that bishop.’

On the morning of December 2nd, Don Bosco received the religious
professions for the last time, in his private chapel. The professed were a
group of young clerics who had been unable to make their vows with their
companions at San Benigno in October, either because they had not
reached the required age or had not then completed their one year of novi-
tiate. The Saint’s exhortation dealt with the theme of obedience.

During the evening farewell ceremony in the church of Mary Help of
Christians, neither the inspiring talk by Father Lasagna, nor the haunting
beauty of the sacred ceremony, or even the inspired words of Cardinal
Cajetan Alimonda could draw the attention of the faithful off Don Bosco.
The venerable old man sat humble and recollected between Bishop
Emilian Manacorda, the bishop of Fossano and Bishop Leto, titular bish-
op of Samaria. Everyone felt instinctively that his holy life was heading
towards its sunset. When he had embraced the last of the departing mis-
sionaries as they walked down the central nave toward the exit, he slowly
dragged himself, supported by the two prelates, toward the sacristy where
the cardinal had been so kind as to wait for him, and now went toward him
with a great display of affectionate cordiality.

One of the advantages drawn from having these departures set up
with so much solemnity was that the press used them to exalt, spread out,
and advertise far and wide the missionary idea. Even in towns like Turin,
which heard periodical appeals about the missions during the course of
the year, the missionary ideal was then far from enjoying the fame and the
welcoming acceptance which goes with it everywhere today. That was
why the Catholic newspapers and periodicals gave detailed reports of
what took place in Turin on that occasion in both large and small Italian
towns. L ‘Osservatore Cattolico of Milan carried an announcement on the
2nd, which began as follows: “Today the Salesian Congregation has writ-
ten the most beautiful page of its history.” After which, the correspondent
acknowledged that: “When I saw that venerable priest today, with his gen-
tle, modest countenance, surrounded by filial veneration on the part of the
most high-ranking ecclesiastical authorities, I felt my heart filled with
tenderness, and my soul drawn to him.”

In the L’Unitd cattolica on December 4th, an anonymous author

5 L'Italia reale of Turin on April 3, 1893, reported this anecdote in the words Bp. Lasagna used in a
previous publication.
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described by the newspaper as “a fine and religious soul” and by the
Bulletin of January 1887 as “a very eminent personality,” ended his
extensive report by intoning an anthem of love and faith in honor of Don
Bosco and his sons.

“Thank you, venerable Don Bosco, thank you,” the article read, “for
having invited me to such a tender and dear ceremony.” “In the immense
church of Valdocco, I beheld the full beauty of the Christian faith which
unites us all as brothers. Your Oratory gave the picture of a Propaganda
Fide. Never did your eight hundred boys ever seem so dear to me or so
pious as they did on Thursday evening. I watched them kneeling in prayer
for their missionary brothers perhaps never to be seen again. Never did
your Sisters of Mary Help of Christians seem more venerable than
Thursday evening when they prayed and assisted at the pious ceremony,
from many platforms. Never, I might add, did more poetic or solemn
notes so delight me as the melody of the vast choir of your singers! Oh!
What an exquisitely musical soul Bishop John Cagliero has! May you
uplift the minds and hearts of the savages of Patagonia with your religious
harmonies to the light of the supernatural, as you do uplift the hearts and
minds of your compatriots. May the pupils of your South American
schools, baptized in the faith of Christ, multiply rapidly, and form an end-
less choir to praise and bless the Lord.”

The travelers went to Marseilles because they were to board their ship
at Marseilles. Father Joseph Lazzero and Father Guido Barberis accom-
panied them. From that port, one of the twenty-six Salesians, Father
Gastaldi, sent Don Bosco a description of their journey, and voiced his
own feelings and those of the others as follows:® “It is a great joy and a
true comfort for me to be able to pen these lines to you, for in some meas-
ure they make up for the distance which already separates us from you,
most beloved Father. You could never imagine how it cost us, how painful
it was for us to say good-bye and leave you. Only the thought that you are
praying for us constantly and that you are blessing us and the reason for
which we are leaving you make less hard this saying good-bye to you.
Beloved Father, we already felt that we loved you, but now we feel that we
love you even more than ever, especially when I think back on those
happy days when, thanks to your goodness, I was able to see you and lis-
ten to your paternal words. Oh! May our Lord once again allow us to
enjoy such good fortune!”

6 Marseilles, December 7, 1888.
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They went on a pilgrimage to Notre Dame de la Garde, and after they
said Mass and had their devotions, a pilgrim went up to them and asked
whether they were by chance Don Bosco’s missionaries. When they said
that they were indeed, the unknown man gave one of their number a hand-
some donation. Then he handed the guardian of the sanctuary some
money for the inconvenience caused. Later they discovered he was a
member of the Society of Saint Vincent de Paul.

They all celebrated the feast of the Immaculate Conception in the
novitiate of Saint Marguerite, and Father Joseph Lazzero sent Don Bosco
the following report which is well worth holding on to:” “It was a delight-
ful family feast, a reunion, a blending or, if I express myself in a French
fashion, a brotherly communion of French and Italian spirits, all seeking
to express oneness of spirit, oneness of disposition, that of their common
Father, Don Bosco. References dealing with the departure of missionaries
were read out, the name of Don Bosco being inserted into them, so that
others might come to know with what excellent principles the good new
novices were trained.”

Father Lasagna found time to call on Count and Countess Colle and
wrote to his beloved Father on the 12th in the very room which his hosts
always called “Don Bosco’s room”, “Oh! How happy these two creatures
are that they know Don Bosco, and that they have his respect and his
affection. How delighted they are to entrust their fortune to his hands, so
that he may invest it for the greater glory of God and well being of souls.
They admit that they are the blessed tools of Divine Providence in the
hands of Don Bosco.”

Further on he wrote, “Now what should I say to you on the eve of our
departure, most venerated Father? Tomorrow night, or at the latest the day
after tomorrow, Tuesday, we shall already be aboard the Tibet, which will
take us far away from you. Oh! how aware our heart is of this, and how
sad it makes us at times! But we are consoled by the thought that your
blessing and prayers accompany us, and that everywhere your fatherly
affection surrounds us. We have no other aspiration nor ambition other
than to prove ourselves worthy sons of so good and holy a Father! Oh! If
our Lord helps us to fulfill our intentions, you will see, most venerated
Father, that we shall procure nothing but joy, great joy for you, no matter
what effort and sacrifice it may entail!”

They set out to sea the evening of the 14th, and the voyage was

7 Letter to Don Bosco, Marseilles, December 12, 1886.
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dramatically stormy. “My poor companion missionaries!” Father
Lasagna wrote in a letter to Don Bosco,® “They will never forget all
that they went through those two fearful days of December 19th and
20th of this year.” In reference to the six Sisters, he stated, “Really, I
would never have believed that I would find such assurance, such
courage, in these young women, these poor Sisters. Praised be God
and also thanks to you, dear Father, for having been able to instill so
excellent a spirit in your children.”

They arrived in the harbor of Montevideo safe and sound on January 6th,
but their painful adventures were not yet over. There was cholera in the city,
and cholera was causing a disaster in Buenos Aires.” Cholera had also visit-
ed Italy and this had caused problems and delayed their departure. It was
worse still when they arrived. Although there had been no cases of cholera on
board, there was no way of obtaining permission to land. They had to turn
sail and continue the voyage to Flores Island and stay there in quarantine.
Fortunately this quarantine lasted only five days, though it cost them a lot.
Yet, on the 14th they were all at Villa Colon, where the confreres gave them
a very warm welcome.

If it had been felt in Turin that the number of departing missionaries
was an impressive one, they realized when they arrived that it signified
very little in the face of the needs. At least double that number was
required only to staff adequately the three houses in Uruguay at Villa
Colon, Las Piedras, and Paysandu’. Yet some of the new arrivals had to
be shared with the Argentinean provinces where work was increasing,
rendering a more intensified activity necessary.

When he went back home to Italy, Father Lasagna had brought Don
Bosco a letter from the bishop of Montevideo in which the bishop
requested that a technical school be established at Las Piedras, while at
the same time he recommended his sorely tried diocese to Don Bosco’s
prayers. Don Bosco told Father Lasagna to reply as follows:

1. He thanks him for his kindness to the Salesians and the Sisters in

Uruguay;

2. He promises prayers for him in his tribulations and for all the troubles

of his much persecuted diocese;

8 Aboard the Tibet, December 23, 1886.

9 The graphic description of the infernal storm may be read in the Bollettino salesiano, March 1887.

10 Four Salesians, two from La Boca, Fr. Bourlot, the Director and pastor, and the coadjutor Fabrizi, and two
from San Nicolas’, Fr. Galbusera and Fr. O’Grady, were stricken by the plague, but Fr. James Costamagna wrote
Don Bosco on November 24th, “They overcame the violence of the fever, thanks to Don Bosco’s medal.”
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3. He says that a home for artisans at Las Piedras was impossible;

4. He promises one, instead, for Mondevideo, hoping that permission be
obtained from him and Mr. Jackson, to whom he had already written;

5. Fr. Louis Lasagna would have returned with some good compan-
ions to carry out this project of Don Bosco which was also very
dear to the hearts of Jesus and Mary;

6. He adds that he foresaw that this institute would do immense good
for the souls and the religion throughout the Republic of Uruguay
and perhaps even throughout all of South America, and that was why
he was counting on the Bishop’s zeal and on the zeal of the faithful.

Fr. Louis Lasagna relied on these notes, which in their original were

even more laconic to draft a reply letter, of which we have a copy."

Father Lasagna’s province included also the two houses in Brazil

where the future held great promise, even though the present was very
hard. The house at Nicteroy was fighting against debts and Protestants. Yet
its sphere of action was nevertheless growing. The house at Sdo Paulo,
which had only recently been opened, had too small a staff. On all sides,
bishops were continuously calling on the Salesians to work in their dioce-
ses." Foreseeing how the Congregation would have made headway among
the civilized peoples and the tribes of that immense state, Don Bosco had
written to Father Michael Borghino and his three assistants, “I want you to
be the light. When you go to Brazil and meet your confreres, tell them you
have come to bring light, not because there is any darkness there, but inas-
much as you add light to light, so that its rays may shine forth among the
natives and the little negroes.” He also entrusted him with the delivery of
a letter he had written to Princess Isabella d’Orleans-Braganza, daughter
of the last Emperor, Peter II, and consort of Count d’Eu."

Turin, March 1886
Your Imperial Highness,

Divine Providence has so disposed that two Salesian houses
be founded in the Empire of Brazil, one at Nicteroy and the other
in Sdo Paulo, both of them destined to provide a home for the
poorest and most abandoned orphans.

11 See Appendix, doc. 48, A-B. The letter to Mr. Jackson, of which we have a copy, must also have been
signed only by Don Bosco. (See Appendix, doc. 49.)

12 Letter from Fr. Anthony Ricciardi to Don Bosco, Almagro (Buenos Aires), February 1888

13 The original is in the parish, in the possession of Prince Peter d’Orleans-Braganza, son of the princess to
whom the letter was written.
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A few of my religious confreres, who have temporarily come
back to Italy, have told me about the kindness and charity of Your
Imperial Highness, and therefore I am recommending all of these
Salesians to you and His Majesty the Emperor, for all that they
desire is to win souls for heaven and decrease the number of
juvenile delinquents. They pray fervently and tell their pupils to
pray too, for the health and prosperity of your whole family and
for your august father, His Imperial Majesty.

May Mary Most Holy protect this remarkable dynasty, for
which our orphans (and there are now over two hundred thousand
of them) offer up special prayers to God.

I consider it my bounded duty to invoke the blessings of heav-
en upon all your Brazilian subjects during my Holy Mass and am
greatly honored to remain with profound gratitude and humility.

Your most obedient servant,
Rev. John Bosco

Don Bosco’s recommendation did not remain a dead letter. On
November 15th, the Emperor and Empress, together with the secretary of
agriculture and some other people, went to inspect the house of Sdo Paulo
from top to bottom, asking the director many details about the boys and
the method of education being used with them. The Emperor said he was
very fond of the institute and that he knew both Don Bosco and his
Congregation. One of the boys recited a very charming complimentary
address and offered their Majesties a volume of meteorological data espe-
cially prepared by the Colon Observatory with a picture of the boys of that
school. A hymn was then sung which, though simple, had a delightful
effect. The director offered their Majesties diplomas as Salesian
Cooperators, which they were pleased to accept. When they left the house,
they gave him a substantial sum of money and left behind them an unmis-
takable conviction that they were very well disposed toward the institute.

In November of the following year, the Emperor happened to be pass-
ing by Cannes and so Father Louis Cartier, the director of the House of
Nice, called on him to pay Don Bosco’s respects. He was received with
great affability. The Emperor shook his hand and immediately asked for
news about Don Bosco, “How is Don Bosco? Is he here in Nice? He is a
great man...a saint...I am very fond of him...He does so much good...I like
his undertakings very much, especially the house at Sdo Paulo where he
is accomplishing so much good...” Father Louis Cartier told him that Don
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Bosco was sorry that he could not be present to personally recommend
his sons in Brazil and in Nice, and also voiced regret that the Emperor,
since he was leaving Cannes so soon, could not visit the house in Nice.
The Empress too, was very gracious, and spoke of her great veneration for
Don Bosco and her admiration for his houses. She recommended in par-
ticular that he was to ask Don Bosco to pray for her and the Emperor. The
following day, Father Cartier sent his prefect, Father Caesar Fasani, to
Cannes with a note of thanks and some gifts for the Emperor. These con-
sisted of two copies of D’Espiney’s Life of Don Bosco, three big photo-
graphs of the Saint and a copy of Father Francis Cerruti’s booklet, Don
Bosco’s Views on Education. The Emperor of Brazil gave a good deal of
attention to Italian literature, and had a great preference for the writings
of Manzoni, with whom he was well acquainted. He was delighted with
the gifts and as he was gazing at Don Bosco’s picture, he said, “I am not
satisfied with seeing only his likeness; I want to see him in person... Yes,
I will call on him.” He said this on November 26th, but two months later
Don Bosco was at the gates of eternity.

Father Louis Lasagna had written Father Michael Rua on January 8th
about the inevitable expansion program, which, in spite of everything, was
carried out in Brazil, Uruguay, and the Argentinean and Patagonian missions.

“What do you want?” he wrote, “We are led by the events, or I should
say, by Divine Providence which beckons us, and we have to follow.” It
was this same Divine Providence that had allowed men such as Bishop
Cagliero, Bishop Joseph Fagnano, Bishop Lasagna and many other alert
minds, to become ready for great initiatives, and grow up by being around
Don Bosco. They were the stuff of which pioneers are made, neither timid
nor narrow-minded, but courageously enterprising and broad minded.

We have a letter of Bishop Cagliero, which is a treasure house of
information on Argentina. It describes graphically the local situation dur-
ing the summer months, i.e. from December to March. Bishop Cagliero
left Patagonia on January 5th and remained absent from his place of res-
idence until May 8th. On February 22nd he was in San Nicolas’ and from
there he wrote to Don Bosco:

San Nicolas’, February 22, 1886
Most Reverend and loving Father in Jesus Christ,
It is time that I should write to you myself to give you a
detailed account of all that is happening in our houses where I
have been staying to preach retreats.
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The retreats were held in Patagones, Buenos Aires, Colon and
San Nicolas’. In these three places the retreats for the Sisters took
place at the same time as those of the Salesians, and I was helped
by three companions. The sentries changed, but it was always the
selfsame corporal to lead, guide, and control the patrol.

This was by no means an easy task for me, but when I
thought about what Don Bosco had to endure in similar circum-
stances and about the need to keep updated on everything and
everyone, then I considered my task, difficult as it was, not of a
great importance and so I easily carried it out.

I found in all our houses a strong, determined, and irrevoca-
ble will to be good, holy Salesians. In all our houses the lax were
encouraged, the all-too impulsive restrained, the sluggards were
shaken up. All sermons were geared towards the themes of Don
Bosco, the Oratory and its early days. I say quite frankly that
those happy recollections did everyone good, both the preachers
and those preached to, for they gave everyone a clear vision of
and were a definite guide for the Salesian spirit.

[n my special talks and manifestations, I had occasion to speak
very beneficially about the spirit of poverty and also about econo-
my, which is so necessary if we are to pay our debts, from which
none of our houses are free. Just the same, the preventive system
became the principal theme wherever necessary, as well as the great
motivating power of loving kindness in the education of our pupils.

Trust, brotherly love, father-son relationships between the
superiors and their subordinates stand out all down the line, so that
I had to make practically no changes, if any at all, in personnel.

There has been work done and there will be more accom-
plished in the area of vocations, but these are few because the soil
is sterile. We have given the cassock to seven cleric novices,
among them Felix Caprioglio, who is an excellent and veteran
Salesian. Ten made triennial vows or perpetual vows. Almost all
of them were born in America.

There were also 10 clothings and as many professions among
the Sisters, almost all of them Italian born or children of Italians;
namely, from among the people with whom we have most contact.

But I look forward to a very encouraging future at San
Nicolas’. The many Cooperators who live there are already talk-
ing of entrusting to us their very many boys and girls not only to
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educate them, but also to consecrate them to our Lord, if this is
their vocation. These families are inspired by a prevailing early
Christian spirit, and are very fond indeed of the Salesians. I called
on nearly all of them at their wealthy isolated farms (chacras)
[ranches] and have invited the more important ones among them
to a modest reception we gave yesterday for the feast of Saint
Francis de Sales and the meeting of Cooperators. Among them
was Bishop Ceccarelli, who is always fond of the Salesians and a
good friend of ours.

Father Joseph Solar and Father Giovannini were ordained
priests in Col6n, while Rinaldi, Patrick O’Grady, and Guido
Zaninetti were ordained at San Nicolas’. Three took minor
orders. Many others are now getting ready with their studies and
their virtues to receive the same grace in the near future.

This, most venerated Father, is the news or activities ad intra.
And now I pass to give you news and activities ad extra. The sin-
ister storm clouds that darkened our horizon in Patagonia have
disappeared. The Governor, General Winter, invited four of our
Salesian priests to a family reception when one of his little daugh-
ters was baptized. Among the priests there was Father Joseph
Fagnano, against whom he preferably had his most bilious
attacks. Now their reconciliation is an accomplished fact, thanks
to the intercession and grace of Mary Help of Christians, to
whom I recommended particularly Patagonia and all its concerns
as soon as I went ashore on the Rio Negro.

The missions that were closed for a year have now resumed
their activity and Father Dominic Milanesio, who had been
arrested by the troops, is now guided and assisted by the troops
on his excursions through the Andes whenever he is in need of
their help. I hope too that the government will help us by paying
the chaplains something, for there are quite a few of us. Father
Angelo Savio earns 54 escudos a month at Santa Cruz as land-
surveyor; Father Joseph Mary Beauvoir also receives 64 escudos
a month as military chaplain. I need that similar resources be
given to some of us in Patagonia where we have big debts for the
two churches that we had to build.

I found an intermediary to get through to the President when in
Buenos Aires, but I am afraid that the political situation will put him
out of office in a few months. If we have a new, more competent
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president, it will be all the better for us. So we have to await events.

In Montevideo, the storm burst out and it is terrible. May
God protect us. The government and its president have made
themselves universally hated. All honest citizens and the best of
the generals and officers in the army are united to get rid of them
by means of cannon fire. Our school at Paysandu’ is exposed to
the risk of becoming the general headquarters for government
troops because of its location and solid construction. But let us
hope for the best. They, hopefully, will be dissuaded from taking
this step by the protest of the Italian minister and by the war
ships, which are ready in Montevideo’s territorial waters.
Meanwhile, the boys will not return until it is all over.*

So please pray, beloved Don Bosco, for these unfortunate
countries which are always upset by revolution and arms, citizens
fighting against one another. We are comforted in the midst of
this terrible situation by the fact that we are foreigners, and even
more that we are alien to this land of tribulation and of thorns. We
are trusting in your prayers and those of our dear confreres and
our Cooperators.

Yes, please pray, for just now we are in need of prayers. Your
sons send you their regards. From Brazil to Tierra del Fuego, we
are praying for your precious health. We know that you have con-
freres who love you all the way from the Alps to Cape Lilibeo.
But they are in no way superior to these others who love you here
with all the intensity of the two biggest oceans, the Atlantic and
the Pacific, which are hardly to be compared with the
Mediterranean and the Adriatic.

Please accept our warmest regards from everybody and bless
us all in our Lord.

Our humble submission and my pastoral blessing to the
revered council and all its more venerable subjects. Amen.

Your most affectionate son in Jesus Christ,
John, bishop of Magida

P.S. I received faculty to authorize mixed marriages cum cautelis [with
caution] from Rome, as well as a letter from Cardinal Simeoni in

reply to my first report to the Propaganda. It is very complimentary.

14 The revolution broke out on March 28th, lasted only a few days and was a blood bath.
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I am now writing a second report, which I will send to Father
[Francis] Dalmazzo, and a copy to Turin.

I am drawing up a similar report at the same time for the Propagation
of the Faith and the Holy Childhood Association."

Because of the debts, which represented such a heavy burden to the
Argentine province, Bishop John Cagliero had decided not to open any
more houses for at least a year, but the providential circumstances made
him change his mind. In 1885, the government of La Plata promised a
fine piece of land to the Salesians on condition that they build a school
there or the contract, which had still to be drawn up, would be null and
void. The Salesians were very eager to go to La Plata, also because the
population there was more than half Italian. How could they venture to
start building with all the debts they had? So the matter was allowed to
drop. But the Protestants soon took over, for they had been on the alert
and had succeeded in obtaining the same facilities from the government.
However they were soon forced to abandon the place, and we know not
why, after they had built a church and two houses there. It was then that
the pastor of the town, Canon Carranza, bought both houses and land,
calling on the Salesians and offering all to them with urgent recommen-
dations from the archbishop and other people in authority to back up his
offer. After what had happened it was felt that they could not refuse. So
a new house was established, which soon began to flourish and it flour-
ishes to the present day.'

Bishop Cagliero wrote another report full of such details. It’s rather
long but it just suits the time and place and here it is:

Buenos Aires, April 10, 1886
Beloved Don Bosco, dear Father,

I am about to leave to return to my beloved Patagonia. I have
spent two months holding retreats in our various houses. I had a
good time for a month here in Buenos Aires. I needed this peri-
od of rest to pay calls and receive them, to establish new rela-
tionships and to try to raise money.

Thanks to the head chaplain of the army, I established con-
tact with the Minister of War who appeared to be very well dis-

15 The news that his secretary, Fr. Riccardi, sent Don Bosco on March 12th (see Appendix, doc. 51) helps to
complete this account.
16 In July, Fr. James Costamagna sent Fr. Michael Rua an interesting report on this house. (Appendix, doc. 52.)
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posed toward our missions, for whatever we do leads to the well
being of the soldiers stationed along the banks of the Rio Negro.
Thanks to him I obtained gratis eight free passes from Buenos
Aires to Patagones. This saved me some 500 escudos, and as we
always say, this is worth more than a punch in the nose.

In the meantime, the monthly sum of 300 escudos, which our
missions were paid by the government for the past two years, has
been suspended, and we are carrying on the best way we can. I
was able to raise one thousand escudos from stipends for Masses
and from donations. This is not much considering the small value
that money has in these parts.

When I visited our houses, I paved the way for some sort of
Junior Union of Salesian Cooperators (not to be confused with the
Organization of the Holy Childhood), and I hope it will yield sev-
eral thousand escudos a year, but all without any publicity about it.

I have sent a written report on our missions for the year 1885
to the archbishop, so that he may pass it on to the Government as
has been done previously. The Governor may or may not give us
some assistance.

I have also called for help from several charitable associa-
tions, and they promised they would give me something. People
say that when a wolf is hungry, it comes out of its den. That is
what I did. I was driven by the debts we have with the bank for
building the two churches you know about.

Now let me give you some news about our credits with
almighty God, if he will grant us a little of his goodness and some
of His infinite mercy.

Father Angelo Savio and Father Joseph Mary Beauvoir and a
coadjutor (Fossati) are now settled on the banks of Rio Santa
Cruz. It takes five days by sea to reach us. They are on excellent
terms with the Governor, with whom I spoke before he departed
for that territory. It is not unlikely that they will push even fur-
ther ahead, going to reside at Cabo de las Virgines [Cape of the
Virgins], where, as you may have read in the newspapers, it is said
that one small river conveys not sand but gold sand (!!!) to the
sea. While we are joking about this newfound California, the
British are working seriously, and as much as they can in search
of this new god (gold) who is not our God.

Father Dominic Milanesio, Father Bartholomew Panaro and a




The Missionary Expedition of 1886 187

catechist, together with a horse attendant, have been out on the
missions since December, and from a letter I received I notice
that they will leave the snowcapped Cordilleras by the end of
April to come here to Patagones, where a report will be made of
their explorations. The good Salesians have covered a trifling dis-
tance of 300 leagues only on their going to the mission place,
overcoming very great dangers thanks to Divine Providence. Poor
Fr. Milanesio was hit with sunstroke and got sick right in the
middle of the desert, with bloodstained diarrhea. They were more
than forty leagues away from human habitation and without food,
for their supplies had run out. The muleteer or arriero or horse
attendant they had with them rode everywhere to try to find some
game at least. He finally found a cow bagual [wild] that was lost
in the desert. He chased the cow, and the cow gave them food for
eight days, as many as were needed for poor Fr. Milanesio to be
able to continue his journey on horseback.

On the slopes of the Cordilleras, a horse suddenly bucked, as
horses often do, and shook off its load, breaking the sacred altar
stone. Under the faculties granted by the Holy See, he could have
said Mass with the broken altar stone or even without it, but he
preferred to ride right through the mountain range and enter Chile
alone. It took him two days through the winding gorge of the
mountains before he came to the first village from which one can
see the Pacific. It is called Los Angeles. Here he was warmly wel-
comed by the Franciscan Fathers who also gave him financial
assistance. They know Don Bosco and the Salesians by reputation,
and are very anxious to see us settle in that area. On a second trip,
or rather a second horseback ride through the Andes, he reached
Chillian and Concepcion on the seashore. Here he was welcomed
with indescribable rejoicing by Father Domingo Cruz, the
Capitular Vicar, and his secretary, who showed him the house that
was being built for us. The Salesians would be sent out from there
into the immense region inhabited by the Araucanians, who are
still without any priests and in dire need of spiritual assistance.

Dear Don Bosco, all our houses are drained of personnel and
if we are to establish ourselves in Chile, as you, dear Father, so
desire, as I do as well as others do desire, then get ready an ade-
quate caravan of missionaries, and send them all to me in
Patagonia. Here we have found a route, which takes us for a ride
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of 1500 kilometers to the Cordilleras, and another, of 200 kilo-
meters, which leads us along a path used by chamois straight into
Chilean territory.

The harvest reaped by our brave missionaries at this mission
consisted of 100 communions, some twenty-five or thirty wed-
dings and about 800 baptisms; six hundred of them are Indians.
Health-wise they are all well, despite their discomforts, fatigue,
and the rough life, which they are forced to lead in this infinite
solitude, inhabited only by wild animals and the Araucanian
Indians who have crossed into the Argentinean territory.

When I reach Patagones, I will find out whether they are
going to continue on their return journey or whether they are
planning to stop half-way, in agreement with the cachiques
Namuncura’ and Sayuheque, to give instruction to these two
tribes about our holy religion and baptize some 2500 Indians. We
shall see whether the missionaries are able to do it in time,
because the Minister for War told me that he would like to bring
the Indians to Buenos Aires. The reason for this is that since they
have not yet been trained to do agricultural work, and since they
prefer a life of idleness to one of work, he is afraid of a rebellion.
So the missionaries will fare as Divine Providence disposes.

As they have already written you, there are nine new Salesian
priests who were ordained extra tempora [out of season]. Just as
if they were cherries or apples, the various houses shared them,
but they are still complaining that there are too few. But it will
not always be like this, because when there is a factory and a
manufacturer in the house, they will turn them out more often.

But you, dear Don Bosco, must send me at least some good
material from San Benigno and the material must be of good
quality and fit for long wear. A few days in advance of his feast
day, Saint Joseph made us a present of a new house in the mod-
ern, beautiful city of La Plata. We did not want it and really could
not have accepted it, but it was nevertheless dropped into our
laps, because that was what the archbishop, the vicar forane of
that city and a large crowd of Italians who live there without any
spiritual assistance or religious instruction, all wanted. The site,
the wooden house and a very pretty little chapel built of soft mar-
ble, which entirely came from Switzerland and already made, are
being donated to us by the provincial government. We, who had
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made up our minds not to open any houses at all in Argentina
because we were aiming resolutely at Chile, are still sitting here,
victims of our own upbringing, which prevents us from saying no
when other people want us to say yes. But if Father Celestine
Durando stands firm, we really will not open any more houses in
this area, no, no, truly not! If only it were true. This is what I
hope and this is my wish.

Everyone is in good health everywhere and full of the best of
wills to work and become saints."”

Help us, dearest Father, with your holy prayers, and please
accept from your most loving son the best of good wishes for
your happiness and my blessing,

John, bishop of Magida

Just as the above letter was on its way to be mailed, the bishop was
informed by telephone that Roca, the President of the Republic with
whom he had sought to have an audience, was willing to receive him.
Without wasting any time, the Vicar Apostolic called on the General in
his palace that same evening, together with Father James Costamagna.
His main reason for this visit was to thank him for the letter of recom-
mendation he had given him the previous year for the Governor of Rio
Negro. After he had been thanked, Roca, ex abrupto (with abrupt military
curtness) put on the carpet the question of jurisdiction. “You are a bishop
and you are not Argentinean,” he said. “You cannot wield authority in this
Republic. The Pope has no right to arbitrate here without permission from
the government.”

The bishop deftly warded off the attack once again, saying that he did
not have ordinary jurisdiction in the Republic, and was only a missionary
bishop, with the task of visiting the Salesian houses particularly in Patagonia.
In all matters or questions having to deal with government issues, he would
always refer to the authority of the archbishop of Buenos Aires.

17 The following statistics given by Fr. James Costamagna to Fr. Michael Rua (April 12) form a commentary
on these words: “The convent of Mary Help of Christians has 60 resident boarders and 100 day students as com-
pared with our own school. We have 335 boys at San Carlos, of whom 250 are residents, and the others are day stu-
dents or merely coming to school. At La Boca, there are 250 girls, 100 at St. Isidore, 100 at Moron; 150 boys at La
Boca; 100 at Santa Caterina. All of them attend school. Then there are the oratories.... Oh! What an abundance!
While we are high and dry...and full of debts! We also have to think about the house at La Plata (St. Joseph made
Bp. Cagliero accept it). But there just isn’t the personnel. Quare conturbas me?[Why do you bother me?] Pray to
the Lord that we may steer our course properly...either working for God alone, or else that we may all die this day
together. Kiss our dear Papa’s hand for me.”
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This evasive reply was a satisfactory enough explanation to gratify the
President. Then they began to talk about the progress of the missions, the
schools, the two churches that had been built, and the recent explorations
made by the Salesian missionaries, the number of converts, the thousand
and more baptisms which had been administered since his return among
the Indians, both the adults and the children. Most of all, they discussed the
debts that had been made in building the two churches, the houses, and the
schools in Patagonia. After he had thanked the President for the eight hun-
dred escudos that had been given him through the mediation of the arch-
bishop, the bishop asked him not to forget the missions, but to always help
the missionaries. The president promised that he would. Then he wanted
to know more of the Salesian Congregation and how it was organized vis
a vis the law, and praised Don Bosco’s wisdom.

Bishop Cagliero managed to complain about the severance of diplo-
matic relations between the Republic and the Holy See.

“There is no such thing as a severance,” the president retorted, “It is
purely a personal matter with Bishop Matera. It is my intention that these
relations be re-established very soon. In fact, you may use what I am
telling you. You can take note of this and naturally, not in an official man-
ner, inform the Pope and his Secretary of State about it.”

Bishop Matera, archbishop of Irenopolis, apostolic Delegate and
Envoy Extraordinary to Argentina, Uruguay, and Paraguay, who had met
with Bishop Cagliero at Montevideo in 1885, no longer enjoyed the con-
fidence of the Argentine government, and so he had been obliged to leave
the Republic without even advising the Holy See in advance. Hence the
rupture with Rome. Now the situation seemed to be much simpler as the
president had described it, so it was not going to be difficult to find some
solution. That interview was the starting point for the resumption of
diplomatic relations, since the bishop reported this to the procurator gen-
eral, Father [Francis] Dalmazzo, asking him to inform the secretary of
state, Cardinal Louis Jacobini, about it.

Bishop Cagliero had by now been able to win over to his side the lead-
ing men in the government, which proved very useful to him to consoli-
date his own authority in his See of Patagones after his lengthy absence.
The Salesians, the Sisters, and their pupils were not the only ones waiting
to welcome him on both sides of the Rio Negro. A large heterogeneous
crowd filled the banks of the river, ladies and gentlemen, soldiers and
sailors, Indians and gauchos, all awaiting him with great enthusiasm. The
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leading authorities went aboard to pay their respects. Although the gover-
nor, who had been indisposed for several days, was anti-clerical in senti-
ment and personally hostile, he could not refrain from sending a superior
officer immediately to represent him and say how happy he was he had
arrived. All this made the Vicar Apostolic very happy, for he was sure
that such a change of heart in the heart of his Vicariate would have
smoothed his path and facilitated an ever more effective exercise of his
ministry. Certainly, his way of doing things did much toward winning
such esteem and confidence. “His personality radiates warmth and hap-
piness all around him,” Father Angelo Piccone wrote,' “and in everything
he does, he couples simplicity with prudence, and gentleness with the
strength of a genuine elder son of Don Bosco.” No sooner did he set foot
on shore than he headed for the church and after a short prayer, he
thanked everybody for their magnificent welcome. But such a general
expression of gratitude was not enough. Courtesy demanded that he make
a round of visits to all the more important people which gave him an
opportunity of getting to know more clearly the leading families which
were all in need of religious instruction.

Neither the distance nor the exhausting labor of the Salesians in those
remote parts of the world could decrease the memory of Don Bosco in
their hearts. They talked about him together; they spoke to the boys about
him, and never left any of his anniversaries unobserved. On May 19th, all
the boys of the Patagones School wrote a personal note to Don Bosco for
his forthcoming name day. “The note written by Louis Villanueva, an
Indian artisan who had been in school for two years, was utterly charm-
ing,” Viglietti wrote in his diary. “Who was there who would have failed
to realize how Don Bosco enjoyed the reading of those letters?””"

A good number of letters written by the Salesians for this same occa-
sion have been kept. Our readers will understand if we seek in them traces
of the feelings of these early Salesians for Don Bosco. We feel that it
would be of considerable help to shed light on our Saint, by seeing the fer-
vent affection he aroused in his sons, and how much comfort he was to
them in their troubles, what a great incentive to do good was there for
them with such dispositions of heart! Undoubtedly, Don Bosco possessed
the secret gift of making himself loved, with that sincere, constant, posi-
tive and operative love, which is a filial love.

18 Letter to Fr. Lemoyne, from Carmen de Patagones, May 14, 1886.
19 We did not find the letter from the Indian boy. but only two others. (See Appendix, doc. 53, A-B.)
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We will begin our survey of the letters with those, which come from
Uruguay. From Paysandu the cleric Grando thus bared his heart to him:
“ assure you, beloved Father of my soul, that the prayers inspired by my
gratitude towards him who in giving me life, rescued me from the danger
of losing it, will only be stilled by my death. I can also assure you that our
holy rules and your own saintly counsels, which I hold written on a pic-
ture of Mary Help of Christians that you gave me with your signature, will
be the norm of my conduct. I realize that it is only thanks to this that I
have found peace of mind so far, for I have felt neither sadness nor melan-
choly or ill temper; except when I do not follow such a norm.”

The cleric Soldando from the same school expresses his sentiments as
follows: “This is yet another opportunity given me to express to you my
gratitude, loyalty, and love. Our Lord offers us yet another chance to pay
tribute to your merits, to your heroic virtues, insofar as this miserable
world will allow us. This is yet another opportunity given us to honor him
who is well deserving beyond all descriptions. ... Thank you, Oh! Infinite
thanks to you, my God, for having given me such a Father. Yes, dear Don
Bosco, you are my father for you gave me life, not physical life, but spir-
itual and moral life. You are my most distinguished benefactor here on
earth ... you are my savior, after Jesus ... you are my Teacher who preach-
es to me by word and moves me by your example.”

Humbly and sincerely did Father Peter Rota from the Pius School of
Villa Colon write, “I am the last of your sons and I too now join in to add
my own Long live Don Bosco! to the thousands and thousands of Hurrahs
which will be heard within the Oratory walls during these days. Perhaps my
shout will not echo that far, but your hyper-sensitive heart will hear it all the
same, because it comes from a heart that loves you tenderly like a son.”

From Colén Father Louis Calcagno, who felt that his life was fading
away with his persistent poor health, was comforted by the prospect of a
happier life lived forever by the side of Don Bosco. “I am afraid that this
note will not reach you in time for your name day,” he wrote, “but I will,
nevertheless, strive to follow with all the love I have in my heart, the man-
ifestations of love and reverence staged on that same day by my dear
brothers at the Oratory ... . Dear Father! Please remember this poor son of
yours in America who will never see you again on this earth! Please pray
often for me so that, after following the holy Salesian Rule with all my
strength, I may be able to fall at your feet one day in paradise.” From
Colon also two Hijos Americanos [ American sons], the clerics Echeverry
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and Canessa, wrote in their own language, bewailing the fact that they had
never seen him, but saying that they knew him nevertheless, through what
their superiors had told them, asking him to pray for them.

From Buenos Aires, first of all, Father Durando, the director of the
newly founded house of Santa Catarina, joined to his good wishes for his
dear Father Don Bosco, a fine report on the situation at the new school.

Then, also Father James Costamagna wrote a letter signed by all the
confreres, and emphatically expressing his wishes on behalf of all, “Oh!
Don Bosco, our most dear Don Bosco! All the members of the houses of
San Carlos, of Our Lady of Mercy, of La Boca, of Santa Caterina, and of
La Plata jubilantly hail the name day of our Beloved Papa, being ever
more aware of the immense grace conferred on us by the dear Lord in
allowing us to be the sons of Don Bosco. We are happy, beyond all meas-
ure, to see that even this day has again splendidly dawned this year. We
send you a unanimous Long live Don Bosco! across the ocean which is to
resound in the playground of the blessed Oratory to gladden the happiest
day of the Father of Youth of two continents and hope that our blessed and
venerable father will realize, more fully every day, that all his sons of the
Argentina Province love him dearly and that all of them mean to be wor-
thy sons of so great a father, without any exception whatsoever.”

Two loving sons from San Nicolas’ expressed their love in long let-
ters, telling Don Bosco with zest about the good deeds of love in which
they had been involved.

Father Evasio Rabagllatl who was to be the first Salesian provincial
of Colombia, wrote, “Whether obedience keeps me here or summons me
elsewhere, I will always carry with me the picture of my dearly beloved
father, Don Bosco, which will spur me on to work indefatigably in what-
ever area obedience may assign me, so that I may prove myself a worthy
son of so great a father, and make sure I get a place near him in paradise.
Oh! What a wonderful day that will be, most dear father!”

There were a number of Irish boys at the school of San Nicolas’, all
of them coming from a very large Irish settlement in the area. Father
Evasio Rabagliati, who spoke some English, and especially Father
O’Grady, who had come to the Oratory from Ireland, looked after them
in and out of school. The latter wrote Don Bosco in French:

“Dearly beloved Father,
This welcome and lovely day of your feast made a lasting and
most happy impression on me although I was only fortunate enough
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to be present at it once, and I still feel a thrill of joy just remember-
ing it ... If you, most dear Father, are fond of these dear Irish men,
they too are fond of you in return. Many of them are already
acquainted with your love for souls and with your many good
works. They admire and bless you and all of them who knew I was
writing to you send good wishes for your name day. They wished to
join me wholeheartedly by sending you their own wishes.”

Now let us go back again to Patagonia, where we started out in our
survey. The bishop’s secretary, when he remembered the feast of Saint
John, wanted to send Don Bosco a gift, hoping it would arrive at least for
his birthday, if not already for his name day. He shared his plan with

- Father Joseph Lazzero. There was an Indian boy among the young arti-
sans at Patagones who at fifteen years of age was already capable of work-
ing quite adequately on his own as a shoemaker. Father Anthony Riccardi
therefore asked Father Joseph Lazzero to let him know the measurements
of Don Bosco’s foot, so that they could send him a pair of shoes. Such a
gift, from the first Indian pupil enrolled in a Salesian school by his sons
in Patagonia, would certainly have delighted him. But he also wrote at
length directly to Don Bosco on June 5th in a most effusive way: “Please
know that all of us love you intensely in our Lord. In everything we do,
both sacred and profane, your most dear image, the image of our dearly
beloved father, is always with us in our mind and heart. Oh! What a great
feast we too will celebrate on the 24th! On that day we shall all be at the
Oratory in spirit, strolling around your little room which houses our treas-
ure, our own father. We will delight him. We will even be bolder that that!
For we shall come up to you in spirit, most dear Father, to tell you, “Oh!
Father. Oh! Don Bosco! How dearly your sons in Patagonia love you!
Bless them.” And you will bless us wholeheartedly and we will return to
our work with new courage and ardor, on behalf of these dear boys who
are also your own sons, beloved Don Bosco.”

Lastly, Bishop Cagliero himself wrote how he felt, both to Fr. Joseph
Lazzero and to Don Bosco. He wrote to the former on May 26th: “With
this letter I’m sending a world of good wishes for our beloved Don Bosco
whom we hail most affectionately, most cordially, and most unforget-
tably. Dominus custodiat eum et vivificet eum et beatum faciat eum in
terra. Amen! Amen! Amen! [“The Lord protect him, give him life, and
make him blessed upon the earth.”]

Together with his good wishes, he sent Don Bosco a handsome gift,
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namely, the report on all that his sons had accomplished in their evangel-
ical labors in Patagonia during the past year: 1300 Indians and natives of
the Rio Negro baptized, 1000 first communions, 3000 devout commun-
ions on the part of the faithful, 200 communions a month by the boys and
girls attending the schools. “This is the harvest reaped since I arrived in
this most sterile desert,” he wrote. “We have woven it into a garland of
most fair lilies, entwined with fragrant flowers and star-spangled with
costly diamonds to crown your venerable head with it, and say, “The
glory of children is their father. Gloria filiorum pater eorum.”

We cannot ignore the echo, which came from Santa Cruz. Because of
the great distance and the limited maritime communications with other
parts of the South American continent, Father Joseph Mary Beauvoir had
decided to write his letter on April 28th. We will quote a few sentences
from this lengthy letter. “This last and useless, if not to say burdensome,
of all your sons, does not forget! Oh! Never forgets his father, no matter
how far away he may live out his life, nor how the remote country where
he lives separates him from the object of his dear affection. The thought
that Don Bosco remembers me is a sweet comfort, but it is not all. When
I recall now and then the years of my youth, which I lived at his side, tears
run down my cheeks. Why may I not see him once again, talk with him,
kiss the hands which have blessed me so many times? If I could but enjoy
his lovable presence but for one moment, see but once again his smiling
face, and be encouraged by his expressive, cordial glance! Then I would
die happy in my far away, voluntary desert exile. Yes, I hope our Lord will
grant me this coveted good fortune.”

Don Bosco replied on September 7th. Father Joseph Mary Beauvoir
wrote Father Michael Rua, “I was ineffably happy to receive the loving
letter from our venerable and beloved daddy, Don Bosco. As I read it, my
mind went back to those happy places and times where I spent the beau-
tiful days of my childhood and adolescence.”

Who could fail to see the powerful lever of the profound and tender
love the first Salesians felt for Don Bosco in the very expert hands of Don
Bosco himself?

There is a rather troubled news item in Father Joseph Mary
Beauvoir’s letter. One poor coadjutor brother was giving signs of grow-
ing personal problems. Don Bosco gave orders that someone was to write
immediately that the coadjutor should be sent back to Europe. It was

20 Proverbs 19:6.
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pointed out to him that the journey would entail enormous expense, and
that there might be some hope of a reform. “That is unimportant,” the
Saint cried in anguish. “No matter the cost or cost what it may, he is to be
sent back immediately. His is a soul that is about to be lost, and we have
to save it.”

Unfortunately, it was already too late. The wretched man died a very
tragic death at Santa Cruz only a little while after this.

Bishop Cagliero had written a general report on the situation of the
Patagonian mission, making three copies of it, one for the Holy Father,
which was submitted to the Pope by the Cardinal Protector,” a second one
for the Salesians, and the third one for the Propagation of the Faith.”* His
secretary then made a summary of it, which was sent to Don Bosco. If we
are to give a complete picture of this initial period of Salesian missionary
activity under enlightened guidance, we should quote yet another of his
letters very newsy and full of vitality:

Patagones, July 28, 1886
Most Reverend and beloved Father:

I have delayed writing to you somewhat because I was
expecting our missionaries back from their seven-month journey
through the Andes.

They got back here safely, and the Lord has assisted them
most wondrously and blessed their apostolic excursions.

Father Dominic Milanesio has been truly a Godsend to all the
inhabitants of the Rio Negro area. In the company of our excel-
lent Father Bartholomew Panaro and the coadjutor Catechist
Forcina, with two men to look after the horses, they covered a dis-
tance of 555 leagues, or rather 2500 kilometers, on horseback.

21 Card. Lucido Parocchi replied as follows:
Dear and most Reverend Bishop,

In compliance with your request, I solicitously did my grateful duty of reporting the excellent progress of
the missions of our good Salesians to the Holy Father. The Supreme Pontiff was visibly moved and heartened, and
he spoke in praise of Your Reverence and all the others who in true apostolic zeal are assisting you in expanding the
kingdom of Jesus Christ. He also imparts to you his entire benediction as you requested. In informing you of his
sovereign sentiments, I especially congratulate you personally on what has been accomplished and am ready to do
all [ can as your Protector, while I wish the missions ever greater development and reverently kiss your hand, Bishop,
with profound and affectionate esteem.

Most devotedly in Jesus Christ,
L. M. Cardinal Vicar
Protector of the Salesians

22 He filled out the form for the Propaganda (Appendix, doc. 54) for the first time.
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They crossed the Andes, the Cordilleras that is, twice by mule,
and reached the plains of Chile passing through Antuco, Angeles,
Concepcion, and Chillan, where they collected alms and other
help for the Malbarco mission which is on the eastern slopes of
the mountains at the source of the Rio Neuquen which flows into
the Rio Negro.

They preached missions in thirty different missionary sta-
tions or inhabited areas, all of them more or less with fair-sized
populations. They baptized 1117 persons between natives and
children of Christian families, celebrated 60 weddings, and
instructed 1836 converts to receive First Communion.

This exploration has now covered the whole of the Rio Negro
valley as far as the Limay and Neuquen rivers, the whole of the
right bank and left bank valleys of the Neuquen, with its ten or
twelve tributaries, pushing as far as the Chilean border and the
province of Mendoza. We know by now the whole of the most
important and more densely populated sector of northern
Patagonia which has been initially catechized, save for four or
five tribes whose cachiques have already declared that they are
favorable to their conversion.”

We are working on an ethnographic map of the entire area
lying between the Rio Negro and Rio Colorado, marking the mis-
sionary stations and inhabited areas, the settlements and tribes,
and specifying the distance lying between one station and anoth-
er, as well as the principal rivers and the fords where horses can
ford them, making reference to the most important valleys and
mountains.”

We shall send you a copy of this map making it as accurate
as possible, and our Turin geographical experts can then trace the
water courses of the rivers, the range of mountains, figure out the
grass grown in prairies inhabited by horses and sheep, cows and
quanacos, ostriches, and an infinite number of other carnivorous
and herbivorous animals.

23 This entire mission can be seen in the Bollettino salesiano, December 1886, in the description given by Fr.
Dominic Milanesio. The favorable attitude of the cachiques is documented by the visit of Sayuhueque’s son to the
bishop, which was related by Fr. Angelo Piccono. See Appendix, doc. 56.

24 Fr. Stefanelli in particular worked on it, assisted by Fr. Angelo Savio, under the direction of the bishop, and
was sent to Don Bosco on August 20. There had been no intention of doing anything scientific, but only to map out
something that would serve as a guide for the convenience of the missionaries as well as offer some idea to those
who were living far away from the missions. We did not succeed in finding it.
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I am enclosing for you a detailed prospective map of the
localities through which our missionaries traveled, listing their
names and detailed statistics of baptisms, communions, and wed-
dings celebrated.

We continue to cultivate with the greatest care the tender little
shoots we have here at Patagones and Viedma, and they are now
growing tall and strong, and are laden with fruits and flowers.

We preached an extraordinary mission for the Holy Jubilee,”
taking our inspiration from the novena of Our Lady of Mount
Carmel, the patroness of the Pueblo. We preached three times a
day. Many ladies came to communion, and also all the boys and
girls attending our schools. As far as men.... nothing!!!

I am counting a lot on the Association of the Apostolate of
Prayer, which was successfully inaugurated and has fifteen zeal-
ous members. They are the most important women of the area
who have done wonders to draw all mothers of families to attend,
and they were successful.

And so, through the devotion, love, and support of the Sacred
Heart of Jesus, I succeeded in persuading a number of families to
do their Easter duty and conform their lives to a Christian spirit.
Naturally, this orientation towards piety and devotion has aroused
great animosity among the evil-minded who are already twanging
with their convulsion and satanic wrath. But we are silently, calm-
ly, and prudently going our way until such time as some saint will
help us save also the men, most of whom are swayed by human
respect, others by self interests, and the rest by their passions.

Father Angelo Savio has been with us now for more than a
month and has brought us some excellent news of his mission in
central and southern Patagonia. He has gathered information
from the Tehuelches Indians, that there are many folderias
[camps] scattered over the immense prairies of the central desert,
and along the banks of the rivers. When the winter is over he is
going back to Santa Cruz and will try to make an important
exploratory journey in those areas. He will be accompanied by a
few Tehuelches Indians who have already been instructed and
baptized. The one you saw in the photo made here in Patagones,
standing to the left of the bearded missionary, is one of them.

25 Leo XIII had promulgated an extraordinary jubilee for the year 1886.
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Meanwhile, Father Joseph Mary Beauvoir is looking after the
mission with Fossati, until Father Savio gets back.

Father Joseph Fagnano has been in Buenos Aires for some
time, and he is trying to obtain some funds from the government
or from private persons. But he writes that he is not very lucky.
This is a vital issue because he cannot go back to his prefecture
until he has paid the bank loan obtained for building the church.
The houses of San Carlos, Colon, and Paysandu’ also are bur-
dened heavily with debts for the building that has been con-
structed, and even if they wanted to, they would not be in a posi-
tion to help us, we who are the poor dwellers of the desert. The
thing, which upsets me most is that, all our labor produces bare-
ly enough to pay off the interest on our debts.

I am bombarded by letters from Chile-from Santiago,
Valparaiso, Talca, and Concepcion-to which I reply with promis-
es and requests to be patient. But with my staff, I am unable to
take a single step elsewhere and only Father Evasio Rabagliati,
who is requested by the school of San Nicolas’, will be useful to
me in starting something in Chile.

Soon, I will have to start thinking about setting up at least
two new stations along the course of the Rio Negro. However, 1
am not going to plunge into any such undertaking with neither
means nor personnel, but will await an opportunity. Meanwhile,
I am compiling a lengthy report to be sent to the Propaganda, and
also a letter for Lyons and Paris.

Oh! If only it would rain money!

We heard about your trip to Barcelona and that Commota fuit
tota civitas [how the whole city was moved]. We heard also that
they offered you ommnia regna mundi [all the kingdoms of the
earth] and that you have accepted it all together with the mountain,
Tibi Dabo, in order to offer it back to its true Master, Our Lord.

This journey will have made the people of Catalonia happy,
but not those of Andalusia who were disappointed, as were the
South Americans who would like to build an aerial railway so that
they might have the honor of your visit.

We are always on good terms with the civil and military
authorities because I give them the white glove treatment. But
I do not trust them, and I do not confide in them. Poor Father
Dominic Milanesio had barely returned from a most exhaust-
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ing mission when the governor confiscated all his horses on the
pretext that they belonged to the government. He attempted to
prove they were his, or belonged to the mission, with specific,
written documents in hand, but it was to no avail. So I went
down to see him and he immediately put the blame on the
guards who acted too hastily. I pretended to believe him,
although I also know that not a leaf stirs at Viedma unless he
orders it. He also added that he had given orders that our hors-
es were to be given back to us. Father Angelo Piccono was with
me and as he was serving tea, I told him how Great Britain
gives assistance to the missionaries and various other appropri-
ate things, which he understood perfectly well. But they are
military men, and that is enough. The Salesians have now been
in Patagonia for six years, and they have been six years of bat-
tles of calumnies and victories, won only at the cost of sacri-
fices and troubles.

But if it were not like this ours would not be a missionary life.
As for myself, I am living between fear and hope ever since I vis-
ited the President, but let Him who sent me here think on how to
uphold me. The ascent to power of a new president in this unfor-
tunate country will heap all manner of ills upon the Church.

But I do have President Roca’s word. However, I am not
expecting anything from it, since he lacks one more ‘c’ to be
a ‘rocca’ (rock). We will go forward, with God’s protection.
The miracle will continue if they do not bother me, so the
good Argentineans say. But woe to me if I were to talk of
either vicariate or vicar, for then I would be exiled immedi-
ately. So I remain a Salesian bishop and an apostolic mission-
ary all the time, namely, a mystery that they do not under-
stand and which is best if never explained to anybody. This is
how we are going on, but meanwhile we are doing good a las
barbas de gualicho [to the whiskers of the wading birds], as
the Indians say.

So I need prayers, and since it was you Father, who got me
into a dance, you must kindly teach me how to dance, since 1
only know how to play. Our fellow priests, the clerics and
coadjutors, are fairly intent on observing our Holy Rule, on
progressing in the virtues required of Salesians. Every
Thursday our two houses meet for a conference, at which we
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discuss either ethical or moral questions or some problem of
ascetics, or else some disciplinary question to ensure the prop-
er running of the mission.

The Festive oratories for boys and girls are very flourishing
and very well attended for quite some time now. We are gather-
ing up the stray ears of wheat, i.e. young and old Indian boys and
girls, who are scattered here and there among Christian house-
holds. By dint of encouragement and urging, we do manage to
persuade these people to send these young people to us to be
instructed and baptized. Those already baptized are now being
instructed for First Communion.

A good many of them who do not live with the Christians
cannot be helped to do good. They are like ears of wheat that have
been trampled by the hoofs of horses and mules quibus non est
intellectus [who have no brains].

Our missionary for Central Patagonia, Father Joseph Mary
Beauvoir, has pushed his explorations as far as Cape of the
Virgins, where people are streaming from all parts, attracted by
the glitter of gold.” The sands there are truly extremely valuable
because of the gold they contain. Explorers say that in some
places it is far richer and more plentiful than in California! Oh! If
only it were true that we were still living in the Golden Age! Yet
not even the hens will look at gold, since they much prefer an
insect to the golden grains.

Please accept the regards, the love, and the very hearts of all
your sons in Patagonia, most beloved Father. Pray for us and
invoke the protection and blessing of Mary Help of Christians
on our mission.

The Sisters, who are most zealous, are asking with me for
your fatherly blessing.

Most affectionately in Jesus Christ, your son,
John, bishop

The reader should not overlook the care taken by the bishop in estab-
lishing the Association of the Apostolate of Prayer as soon as he arrived

26 Cabo de la Virgines is at the mouth of the Strait of Magellan. Fr. Joseph Mary Bearvoir had set out from
Santa Cruz for this excursion, having been there with Fr. Angelo Savio since the end of March. As we have already
said, he had succeeded in going there as a land surveyor, whereas Fr. Joseph Mary Beauvoir was there as chaplain
to the government.
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back in Patagonia, and one should notice how much he relied on the effi-
cacy of this institution, because of his fertile ardor and his indefatigable
zeal. We do not imagine that he had succeeded in establishing it without
difficulty, but the fact that he had attempted it was already in itself a sure
indication that his zeal was of the right stuff. Don Bosco’s disciples had
not only learned how to work, but also how to pray, from their incompa-
rable master.

The far away Father sent his beloved elder son a New Year’s gift
which he was to treasure very much. It was dear to him not only because
of the generous financial assistance his father gave him, but also
because of the love, which he could perceive in the letter in which he
told him about it. Lastly, it was dear to him for the letter itself, which
covered two fair-sized pages and betrayed at every line the effort made
by the writer. But in eo quod amatur, aut non laboratur aut et labor
amatur.”” [When you love something either you don’t find it hard to do
or you do it even if it is hard].

Last Day of the Year, 1886
Dearest Bishop Cagliero,
Father Louis Lasagna is leaving and will give you our news.
I received your 1.O.U. and it will be paid to the amount of 15,000
francs on December 19th. Father Lasagna is not leaving us empty
handed. The fares and all the debts contracted in the past,
amounting to approximately 200,000 francs, have all been paid in
full by Don Bosco. Long live prosperity! 1 trust that the new con-
freres are ably assisting you. See that detailed reports are sent to
the Propaganda, to the council, the Propagation of the Faith, and
the Holy Childhood on:
1. The development of our missions.
2. Our concession in Chile.
3. Whether the road between the Rio Negro and Ancud
is already open.
Just now we have a marked increase in priests, postulants,
clerics, and novices.
Do not spare any effort to spread Christianity in the western
part of Patagonia, the region of Tierra del Fuego and at San Diego.
Humble regards to our beloved Archbishop Frederick

27 St. Augustine, De bono viduitatatis, 26.
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Aneyros and a million respects also. You should be already
preparing a choir of Indians who would come and sing at the fifti-
eth anniversary of my first Mass!
Watch out, this evening I am delivering a short talk, God will-
ing, to our Salesians from the place where the little hill once stood.
Do not forget Count Colle and his wife, the Countess Sofia.
My cordial blessing to all my sons. Urge them all to take great
care of their health, to work, be temperate, and then everything
will be all right. Amen.
May Mary guide us to Heaven.
Your most affectionate friend,
Rev. John Bosco

P.S.:

1. Domine, retribue nobis bona facientibus in vitam aeternam. [Lord,
reward us, for the good we do, with eternal life].

2. If necessary appeal to the Good Shepherd at Valparaiso or of
St. Santiago; he promised me he would give whatever money
was needed.

The reference to 1.0.U.s calls for an explanation. In letters from the
missionaries, we see how, in critical moments, they obtained loans from
banks in South America in the name of Don Bosco. The banks lent the
money without ever asking for confirmation from Turin. In fact, such a
promissory note which had expired and had not been protested through
oversight were accepted by bankers to the amazement of the people hold-
ing them when they were told that such notes were worth their weight in
gold. During the apostolic process, Fr. Anthony Sala said that this had
been the custom all over Europe. He testified to this to show how much
credit Don Bosco had generally enjoyed.

A circular of Don Bosco, dated December 31st, addressed to the
directors in the American houses, contains a passage, which illus-
trates this paternal gesture of Don Bosco. Don Bosco’s Vicar wrote:
“By January lst, i.e. tomorrow, here at the Oratory, new credit is
opened for all our houses in South America. It is announced that all
past bills have been paid in full. Although donations received after
Don Bosco’s circular of October have not totaled as much as your
debts, Don Bosco nevertheless wishes to open a new account, and this
will be done. May this help increase our gratitude toward our beloved
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Father in each and every one of you, and spur you on to have an ever
greater caution in financial matters, this being the fervent wish he
has voiced many times.”

From what we have described briefly here, our readers have certain-
ly grown convinced that this Patagonian mission, which was the dearest
aspiration of Don Bosco’s apostolic heart, could by then be regarded as
so well organized as to lead us to hold the highest hopes for the future.
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Chapter 4

TRANSFER OF THE NOVITIATE TO FOGLIZZO

Not only did the growing number of clerics make it advisable that
the novices be separated from the professed members of the
Congregation, but the canonical prescriptions also advised this. During
the general chapter meeting in the afternoon of September 2nd, Don
Bosco recalled that when the approval of the Rules had been discussed
between Pius IX and the Secretary for Bishops and Regulars, it had
been noted that the novices ought to be kept apart from the students, and
the students apart from the professed Salesians. Don Bosco had simply
pointed out at that time that he was still in need of houses, personnel,
novices, and indeed of everything, to which the Pope had replied, “Go
on and do the best you can.”

So the Saint continued, “Now we should make such divisions to the
extent that we can, for they are stressed as beneficial and essential.”

He might have said even more, namely, that in view of such separa-
tion, a special building was now being set up, as a matter of fact. Foglizzo
was a large rural community some six kilometers from San Benigno. Don
Bosco had bought property and a palace from the noble Count Ceresa de
Bonvillaret. Without being overly comfortable, for it had quite a few sub-
stantial drawbacks, the palace could be adapted to accommodate about a
hundred people. Just then he did not think it wise to talk about it, proba-
bly because he had not yet decided whether he meant to send the clerics
already professed or the novices to the new residence. We concluded this
from what he said in August to some who were anxious to know for
whom the new house was destined, so that they might more easily arrange
for an economical purchase of the materials necessary for the work of
adaptation.

Don Bosco said, “Let us leave it as it is for the time being. Let us wait
for the feast of the Presentation of Our Lady in the Temple. At that time
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Our Lord and Our Lady will inspire us and let us know what we should
do.”

That feast fell on November 21st. Perhaps it was a habit with him to
await special inspiration from Heaven on feasts dedicated to Our Lady.
Yet he did not wait after all until that date to make up his mind, for Father
Julius Barberis escorted the novices to their new quarters on October
14th. As we shall see later, Divine Providence was to assign the school of
Valsalice to the students of philosophy.

When the novices took possession of it, the house had been given nei-
ther a name nor a patron saint. Only on October 20th did the superior
council decide to dedicate it to Saint Michael the Archangel at the sug-
gestion of Father Julius Barberis. The minutes do not say more, but that
decision must have been motivated by the wish to honor Don Bosco’s
Vicar, by dedicating to his patron saint the first important house opened
in Italy after his appointment to that office.

The ceremony of its solemn inauguration, scheduled for November
4th, was gladdened by Don Bosco’s presence. He left the Oratory
together with Father Michael Rua and Father Charles Viglietti, travel-
ing by train as far as Montanaro. The station is about five kilometers
from Foglizzo.

Here the entire population went in a body to meet him, led by the
local clergy and the priests from the surrounding area. A swarm of boys
gathered around him and he joked with them, and invited them all to the
Oratory. Then he got into a coach and the horse set off at a trot, where-
upon the boys, holding their wooden shoes in their hands or tucking
them under their arms, began to run behind him for as long as their
strength held out.

Half way there, the boys of Foglizzo who crowded on both sides of the
road to await him, also began to follow the coach, running on their bare
feet to the outskirts of the village, without heeding the rough gravel peb-
bles which hardened the soles of their feet. The inhabitants of the locali-
ty were all grouped together here and there, from the first houses to the
parish church.

The coach came to a halt at the first houses, and the mayor, bare-
headed, at the head of the municipal staff, stepped forward to read a
speech in which he declared himself fortunate to have the opportunity to
welcome so great a man to his so small a town.

When he had finished reading, Don Bosco asked him to sit by his
side and the coach moved on again at a slow pace, following the band
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along the main street to the applause of the population. The festive peal-
ing of bells and the noisy explosion of firecrackers added that touch of
something exceptional which always delights the native folks on great
occasions. “It would be impossible to describe the enthusiastic joy that
the sight of Don Bosco aroused in the eighty boys already living in that
house, and in their well worthy superiors, “I’Eporediese wrote on the
10th. The author penning these lines saw with his own eyes eminent per-
sons and older folks moved to the point of tears at the scene, and con-
sidered it an honor to hasten to kiss the hand of this man of God. “It was
indeed moving to see Don Bosco supported almost bodily by his
Salesians as he walked from his new house to the parish rectory, always
giving an answer to anyone who chose to address him, whether it was a
child or an adult, a poor or wealthy person, whether the answer was
merely a glance or a smile. The worthy priest is no longer able to stand
firmly on his two feet, so he naturally looks a little tired. But he remains
permanently youthful. His smiling face, his serene brow, his keen,
sparkling eyes, lucid mind, astonishing memory, and delightful conver-
sation indicate that he is a most lovable man. His hair is only now begin-
ning to turn a little gray.”

Father Ottino, the pastor, invited him to dinner in the rectory togeth-
er with the pastors of the areca and the municipal authorities. Replying to
the toasts of the other guests, Don Bosco said, among other things, that in
coming to open a house at Foglizzo, he was motivated by the sincerest
desire to do as much good as he was able to the boys of the locality.

He said this in special reference to a remark made by a priest who had
recalled having seen him surrounded by a few dozen boys many years
before, with only his mother to help him.

His mother was the cook, the maid, and the guardian, a real factotum
of a woman. He also remarked that the boys now had grown to a legion,
and that his collaborators had increased more and more every year both
in the old and new continents.

In the afternoon, Don Bosco spent a couple of hours among the
novices. First, he blessed the chapel, a very poor but beautiful chapel
which had formerly been a garage. Then some hundred boys received
their cassock. The Servant of God Andrew Beltrami was conspicuous
among them for his habitual humble demeanor.

At the end of the clothing ceremony, a curious scene took place. All
the new clerics marched through the playground as they left the chapel,
each one carrying his own chair. This was a surprise even to Don Bosco
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who asked Father Lawrence Bianchi for an explanation. Father Bianchi
replied that there was only one chair per person in the whole house, so
that the clerics had to carry them when they went to chapel, into the study
hall, to the dining room or to their bedrooms. The Saint answered smil-
ing, “Oh! I like that! This house is having a good start.”

As we have already indicated, the Servant of God remarked one day,
“Father Barberis has thoroughly understood Don Bosco.” That was why
he had appointed Father Barberis as novice master both at the Oratory
and at San Benigno. And so he became the ideal master for the Salesian
novices. Don Bosco wanted Father Barberis to be in charge of the novi-
tiate so that the religious training might proceed properly in the new
novitiate. The house was entrusted to Father Bianchi who for a number
of years had been the novice master’s faithful assistant at San Benigno,
and enjoyed all his confidence. But, in order to preserve the integrity of
the spirit wanted by the Founder, Father Barberis used to go there as
often as possible, and never missed the monthly practice of the Exercise
for a Happy Death.

The Saint set out on the way home again in the afternoon of the Sth,
accompanied by the most cordial manifestations on the part of the people
of Foglizzo and Montanaro, to whom he imparted his blessing as they
gathered in the square.

Don Bosco gave an account of the clothing ceremony as soon as he
got back to the Oratory, to Mrs. Theodolinda Pilati of Bologna, as he had
promised her before setting out.'

(undated)
Dear Madam:

I just got back from the clothing ceremony at Foglizzo. I
blessed the cassocks of one hundred and ten clerics who have now
joined the swarm of 500 more youngsters who are being trained
in order to go and work in the missions. I recommend them all to

1 He had written her as follows:

Turin, November 4, 1886
Dear Madam:

I duly received your kind donation of 500 francs, which represented a valid contribution to the departure of
our missionaries for Patagonia. At this time I have to leave for Foglizzo to clothe some hundred future missionar-
ies as clerics.

I will be back here in two days and will then write you again.

God bless you, your sisters, your relatives, and friends. May Mary guide us all along the road to Heaven. Amen.

Your most grateful servant,
Rev. John Bosco
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your charity and the charity of your sister, so that they may
progress in learning and holiness, and thus be able to win over
many souls for heaven.

Not only do I wholeheartedly carry on the novena which you
so piously desire, but it is my steadfast intention to have a special
memento for you every day during Holy Mass, as well as for all
those things to which you dedicate your charity and which are
directed to respond to the needs of the Holy Church.

God bless you, your relatives and friends.

Please be indulgent toward this poor, half-blinded old man
who will always remain in Jesus and Mary,

Your most grateful servant,
Rev. John Bosco

It appeared that Heaven wanted to show that the house at Foglizzo
was especially blessed by Divine Providence. On December 6 Don Bosco
told a strange story of Divine goodness connected with that new novitiate
during his usual afternoon walk with Frs. John Marenco and Charles
Viglietti. The director absolutely needed a sum of money, and so he went
knocking at Father Celestine Durando’s door.

Here let us open a parenthesis:. Why did he go knocking at Father
Durando’s door and not at Father Dominic Belmonte’s? Since the
experiment of the two directors had failed, not so much because the
system was wrong in itself, but because Father John Baptist Francesia
had shown himself unsuitable to the task,” the direction of the Oratory
had to be settled differently.® They went back to the one director sys-
tem. Father Belmonte was assigned as director. But this entailed such
a burden of responsibility that the new prefect general would have had
to be able to be present in two places simultaneously in order to attend
properly to both assignments. And so Don Bosco asked Father
Durando to continue holding the office of prefect general. This allowed
Father Belmonte to devote the greater part of his attention to the
Oratory for two years.*

2 This is confirmed in letters from Fr. Lazzero to Bp. Cagliero in 1885 and 1886.

3 Fr. Francis Cerruti wrote Bp. Cagliero on October 12, 1886: *Certainly the way the Oratory is governed is
of the greatest importance to the Congregation and as things stand now, they certainly cannot continue.”

4 In our directories for 1887 and 1888, beside the name of the prefect general, Fr. Dominic Belmonte, we
read, “Director of the Oratory of St. Francis de Sales.” Beside that of the councillor general, Fr. Celestine Durando,
“Serving as prefect.”
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So then, Father Bianchi called on Father Celestine Durando and told
him that he still needed 1960 lire to meet a highly urgent commitment.

“I have just this minute left Don Bosco who gave me all the money
there was in the house. There is nothing left.”

Caught between the devil and the deep blue sea Father Bianchi has-
tened to Don Bosco’s room. When the good Father heard what he want-
ed, he replied, “Really, I do not know what to do to help you. I gave
everything I had to Father Durando just now. But I believe that some-
thing was delivered since he was in here. But all the same, I do not
believe it will be enough.”

He walked over to the desk, opened a drawer and took out some
money. They counted it. It amounted to 1960 lire exactly!

Even more astonishing was a second incident of an entirely different
kind, which occurred a month later. Among the novices clothed by Don
Bosco on November 4th there was a young man from Marseilles, Louis
Olive, whom we already know.’ In December, he fell seriously ill with
typhoid fever. Since his condition was very bad indeed, Father Paul
Albera was informed; he came at once from Marseilles and had Louis
moved to the Oratory so that he could be better cared for.*

On Christmas Eve, Don Bosco called at the infirmary to see the
patient toward evening. He told him in the presence of the Salesian Father
Roussin, “I assure you that Qur Lady will cure you.” Yet the doctors held
very little hope of his survival.

The novice’s father arrived on the 28th, and he edified everyone
he met with his resignation to God’s will and his utter trust in the
Lord. He had recently had a proof of the Divine mercy in his family.
One of his little daughters seemed about to die. Feeling her end near
on December 9th, the little girl asked that a biretta of Don Bosco,
which was kept in the house, be put on her head. The biretta was
brought out, unfolded, and placed on her head. A few minutes later she
told her mother that she felt better and that she could remove the biret-
ta. Then she fell asleep and rested a few hours. She had not been able
to sleep at all ever since she had become ill. On the 18th her father
telegraphed Don Bosco to thank him for his prayers, adding, “Claire
has been much better for some days. We ask for your prayers for her

5 He could have made the novitiate in his own country but did not wish to do so. Since he knew everybody
there, he would have been given special treatment, he said. He preferred to observe the common life in every way.
See also Vol. XVI, p. 37.

6 As provincial in France, Fr. Albera was the French novices’ superior.
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good convalescence.” When he left for Turin, her convalescence was
progressing normally. So one day at the end of dinner there with Don
Bosco, he complimented him, to which the Saint replied, “We shall
drink a toast in Marseilles when Louis will be fully recovered and
seated at the head of the table.””

Words cannot describe how happy these words made the young man’s
father. Nevertheless the doctors, Vignolo, Gallenga, Fissore, and
Albertotti, as well as another physician, all declared that his son would
die. But what the physicians were not able to accomplish was actually
accomplished by her who is the salus animarum [health of the sick].
During the night of January 3-4, Don Bosco had a dream, which he
described as follows:

Turin, January 4, 1887

I do not know whether I was awake or asleep. I did not even
notice the room or house I was in, when an extraordinary light
began to lighten up the place.

After some kind of prolonged noise, I saw a person
appear who was surrounded by many, many other people and
moving toward me. The people and the ornaments they wore
were so brilliant that any other light became like darkness, to
the point that it was impossible to keep one’s eyes upon any
of those present.

Then the person who seemed to be the guide for the others
advanced a little and began to speak as follows: Ego sum humilis
ancillia quam Dominus misit ad sanandum Ludovicum tuum
infirmum. “Ad requiem ille iam erat vocatus; nunc vero ut gloria
Dei manifestetur in eo, ipse animae suae et suorum curam adhuc
habebit. Ego sum ancilla cui fecit magna qui potens est et sanc-
tum nomen eius. Hoc diligenter perpende et quod futurum est
intelliges. Amen.”’®

At these words the dwelling returned to its former dark-
ness, and all night long I hovered between waking and sleep-

7 The episode resembles one involving the other Olive family, also French benefactors of Don Bosco’s works.
See Vol. XVI, p. 37; Vol. XVIL, p. ?

8 The short Latin quotation reads: “ I am the lowly handmaid [cf. Luke 1:48] whom the Lord has sent to heal
your ailing Louis. He had already been summoned to his rest, but now, so that glory of God may be manifest in
him, he must give thought to his soul and the souls of his family. I am the handmaid for whom great things were
done by Him who is mighty, and holy is His name [cf. Luke 1:49]. Reflect carefully on this, and you will under-
stand what has to happen.” Amen.
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ing, but drained of strength and dazed. In the morning I has-
tened to get news of young Louis Olive, and I was assured that
he had undergone a genuine turn for the better after a restful
night. Amen.

The next night he saw the same apparition once again. Speaking in
Latin, she gave him several admonitions for the benefit of the
Congregation and the boys:’

January 5, 1887

The continuation of the words of her who called herself the
Lord’s handmaid:

“I dwell in highest heaven, that I might enrich those who
love me and fill them with treasures. The treasures of adoles-
cents are chaste words and actions. Therefore, you ministers of
God, cry out, never cease crying out: ‘Avoid ill-omened
groups, specifically, dirty talk. Dirty talk corrupts good
morals [cf. 1 Cor. 15:33]°. With the greatest difficulty are they
corrected who indulge in idle and scurrilous words. If you wish
to do something very pleasing to me, carry on good conversa-
tions among yourselves, and give one another the example of
good deeds. Many of you promise flowers yet offer only thorns
to me and my Son.

Why do you so often confess your sins, while your hearts are
always far away from me? Speak and do what is right, not what
is bad. I am a Mother and I love my children, and I abhor their
sins. I will come to you again to lead some of you to true rest with
me. I shall look after them even as a hen protects her chicks [cf.
Matt. 23:37].

You artisans, manufacture good deeds, not wickedness. Dirty
talk is a plague circulating among you. You who are called to
administer the Lord’s heritage, cry out, never grow tired of cry-
ing out, until he comes to summon you to render an account of
your stewardship [cf. Luke 16:2]. It is my delight to be with the
children of men [cf. Prov. 8:31]. But time is short; so have
courage while you have time.”

9 The whole text is in Latin. Italian edition, p. 254.
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On the morning of the 5th he sent for Father Lemoyne and told him
everything. Father Lemoyne has left us a record of their dialogue. After
telling him what he had seen and heard, Don Bosco went on: “And now
I have sent for you that you may give me some advice. Should I let the
Olive family know what I have dreamt?”

“You know that better than I do,” Father Lemoyne answered, “Our
Lady has always been so very good to you.”

“Oh yes! That is true.”

“And so many of these dreams of yours have all been fulfilled to
the letter.”

“That is true.”

“So, if you will allow me, and do this I only to give glory to God, I
will call them visions, for indeed they are.”

“You are right.”

“Now, we have every reason to believe that this dream, too, is a super-
natural event which will come true, and that Olive, although the doctors
have given up on him, will recover.”

“What advice do you give, then?”

“To use a little human prudence, if you think it best, I would say that
you could start circulating the rumor that Don Bosco has dreamt of Olive;
that, in the dream, he felt that there was reason for high hopes.”

“Well, we can do that.”

“But, Don Bosco, please do me this favor: write this dream down. I
know that you have difficulty writing, but it concerns Our Lady. If this
comes true, there you have proof of Mary’s maternal goodness.”

“Well, I shall write it, then.”

He then wrote what we have already reported above.

We feel that we should not remain silent about yet another inci-
dent. On one of those evenings, the cleric Olive who was seriously ill,
had dreamt that Don Bosco had gone into his room to see him and had
told him, “Be at ease. You will come and see me in my room within
ten days.”

The brightness of that dream left in that patient the conviction that
Don Bosco had gone to him in person, and he refused to accept the
opinion of those who denied it. He was already so much better by
January 10th that his father left for France. Louis got out of bed on the
12th. On the 24th he made his appearance in the Superior Council’s
dining room during dinner, and the superiors welcomed him with
great joy. When his health was completely regained, he did not go
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back to Foglizzo, but at Don Bosco’s wish returned to finish his novi-
tiate in his own country.'® His health continued so satisfactorily that in
1906 he was able to participate in the first expedition of Salesian mis-
sionaries to China, where he exercised a bountiful apostolate until his
saintly death in 1921."

10 Lq Semaine religieuse of Nice published an article about the Salesian novitiate at Ste. Marguerite in
Marseilles in its first issue of November; Mrs. Quisard brought it to the attention of Fr. Lemoyne, saying that Don
Bosco himself had written it. (See Appendix, doc. 57).

11 g Olive died, in fact, September 17, 1919, at Canton at the age of 52. Fr. Ceria reports the year correct-
ly in Vol. XVI, p. 37.
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Chapter 11

LAST EVENTS OF 1886

In the late fall, when the harvest in the vineyards is over, it is pleas-
ant to go hunting for some small bunches of grapes which have eluded the
eye of the pickers. If one stumbles on any, there’s particular delight in nib-
bling them. That’s what we intend to do now, skimming through the last
four months of 1886, gleaning some interesting doings and sayings of
Don Bosco which could not have been inserted into the previous pages
and yet they are somehow valuable.

In October Don Bosco resumed his afternoon outings by coach.
When he reached the open countryside, he would get out and now lean-
ing on Father Charles Viglietti’s arm, now walking very slowly without
any support at all, he would talk of many things. This was a genuine
source of rest for him. One evening, on the way home they met the cardi-
nal’s own coach. When His Eminence recognized him, he jumped out,
bade Don Bosco halt and went over to him, eagerly asking how he felt and
greeting him very affectionately. When he was gone, Don Bosco, head-
ing for home, emphasized the graciousness of the great prelate.

Another time on his way home he called on the Sisters of the Good
Shepherd, for whom had provided his priestly ministry from the very first
years of his stay in Turin. He was delighted to have a friendly hour-long
talk with the Sisters, recalling bygone days and the difficulties surround-
ing the foundation of the Oratory. Before moving on, he blessed the
Sisters and the women living in the house, leaving a precious and lasting
memory of his visit.

He also resumed his weekly talks to the upper-class students, at times
keeping them with him for a whole hour. He would first say a few kind
words to them, and then hear the confession of anyone who wished to do
so. At times he found it very hard to hear their confessions, due to his
drained strength. One day Father Charles Viglietti asked him to forego the
strain, on the advice of the physician.
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“Oh! Of course, of course,” Don Bosco replied, laughing, “you have
done something very wrong, and now you do not want to make your con-
fession, right?”

Then he took him by the hand: “Dear Viglietti, if I no longer hear the
confession of the boys at least, what is there for me to do for them? I
promised God that until my dying breath I would dedicate myself entire-
ly to my poor boys.”

By similar meetings with them he aimed above all at enlightening
them on their choice of a way of life. He had a booklet entitled Sentimenti
di S. Tommaso d’Aquino e di S. Alfonso Maria Liguori intorno all Entrata
in religione [Thoughts of Saint Thomas Aquinas and of Saint Alphonsus
Mary de’Liguori upon Entering Religion]' translated from French and
printed for young men who might have found themselves in similar situ-
ations. Thousands of copies had been sent to pastors in the dioceses of
Piedmont and to Salesian Cooperators so that anyone who was ignorant
of the importance of the religious life might be taught not to put any
obstacles in the way of a vocation.”

A French young lady, who was later to become a pillar of the insti-
tute founded by Cardinal Lavigerie in Africa, went to Turin to consult
Don Bosco on her vocation. She was in doubt whether she should
become a nun in the cardinal’s missions, enter the cloistered nuns of
France, or become a Daughter of Mary Help of Christians. Knowing
that she was very wealthy, the Saint was very cautious in the way he
spoke. He had to avoid giving anyone any pretext to accuse him of
attempting to get her dowry or any inheritance. But at any rate, two
things are certain: if Don Bosco had so advised her, the young lady
would have become a Daughter of Mary Help of Christians: secondly,
Don Bosco would have advised her to do it, had he believed this to be
the Will of God. So this is what he told her, “If you would like to con-
tinue somehow the lifestyle you have had so far with your parents,
enter some French community, for there are many good ones in France.
But if you seek only Jesus and his Cross, if you really want to suffer
with Jesus, join the missions.”

She perceived the divine summons in these last words. In his sermon
at her clothing, the cardinal mentioned this event, and he recalled it again

1 San Benigno Canavese, 1886. Count Prospero Balbo had done the translation.

2 So that this circulation might produce better effects, a printed note was enclosed with it at Don Bosco’s
express wish. It said, “Thinking that the booklet would be useful, the translator took the liberty of sending out a
copy of this booklet, asking those who receive it to say an Ave Maria for his intention.”
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in a sermon about the slave trade a year later in the Church of Saint Joseph
in Marseilles. In this same sermon he spoke of how much nuns were
needed and spoke of his own foundation. The first time he just made a
general allusion to “a great man of God he had consulted in Turin,” but
the second time, as all our confreres heard, he pronounced the name of
Don Bosco and gave further details.

The young lady first went to see the cardinal for advice. The cardi-
nal had perceived the makings of a nun in her, just the kind that he was
hoping to find to successfully conduct his new foundation in Africa.
But her mother was steadfastly opposed to her daughter’s vocation, bas-
ing her opposition on reasons that were not negligible. Not knowing
what course to take, the cardinal decided not to trust his own judgment
before uttering his final word, but resolved to hand the matter over to
someone else who might judge her vocation. “I turned then to someone
who was not French, but a foreigner,” he said, “to a priest whose life is
entirely dedicated to the welfare of souls, who burns with devotion for
the most holy Virgin Mary, who manifestly protects him constantly. He
is the founder of a religious congregation which is by now established
all over the world, he is a learned and humble man whose long experi-
ence with the human mind permits one to have the fullest confidence in
the honesty of his counsel, and whose miracles can no longer be num-
bered, since they are continuous.” He therefore advised both the moth-
er and daughter to go to see Don Bosco so that the young lady might
decide. They obediently went to see Don Bosco who interviewed them
separately and then told them:

“Could not this matter be settled by a deal?”

“What kind of deal?” they both asked.

“That the mother becomes a nun together with her daughter!”

To the mother this sounded like a voice from Heaven. When she went
back to see the Cardinal, she offered her life to him, so that he might con-
secrate it to our Lord. At that time she was in Africa with her daughter.*

A pastor from Turin, Father Dominic Muriana, of the Church of Saint
Teresa and former pupil of the Oratory, also went to seek advice from
Don Bosco. He had found himself in great financial trouble because of
the debts left him by his predecessor. He had gone to see the saint imme-
diately upon being assigned to the parish, to ask him what he ought to

3 Msgr. Baunard, Cardinal Lavigerie, 2: 398.
4 Fr. Ronchail reported to Fr. Lemoyne on the sermon at Marseilles.
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do in order to conduct his ministry properly. He had been given the
threefold advice the Saint usually gave in similar instances: take care of
the children, the sick, and the older people. At this time the saint asked
him whether he had done as he had advised. Father Muriana said yes,
and added that he was very pleased, for he saw how fond the population
was of him.

““As to the debts, there is a very easy solution,” Don Bosco said.

“And what can that be?”

“Play the lottery.”

“But shall I win?”

“Most certainly you will win.”

“If that is so, complete your advice and tell me what numbers to
play.”

“Look, I will give you three numbers, but listen to me and under-
stand. Faith, Hope and Charity. But do not act the way someone does
who, after getting these three words out of me, goes to a fortune teller to
find out the relative numbers.”

“Did the numbers come up?”

“Not even one! You play these three virtues properly and you will pay
off all your debts.”

The young parish priest repeated his conversation with Don Bosco at
a lunch given at the Oratory on the feast of the Immaculate Conception in
1891, and said that in a comparatively short time, he had been able to pay
all his debts. No one but Don Bosco would have given such advice with
greater conviction, for this had been his long and fortunate experience
throughout his whole lifetime.

Did not his faith indeed work miracles? We should add here two
more graces to the other many extraordinary ones related so far, and
both of them are attributed to his prayers. The Community of the
Ursulines, who were running a school in Piacenza, had invoked the
Saint’s prayers and blessings, since they were facing great troubles. He
wrote in answer, “Our Lord will grant you the grace, but in a way most
beneficial to your souls.” God did indeed answer their prayers beyond
their expectations.’

The other grace was granted to a Frenchman, Jerome Suttil, who had
lived at the Oratory, working in the bookshop for some years. He had
been suffering so much and for many months on account of his leg that at

5 See Appendix, doc. 58.
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last he had to go to the hospital. An infection brought about by a wrong
medicine seemed to make the amputation imperative. One morning, to his
own surprise and that of his physicians, his leg healed. As the patient
racked his brains to find out how this could have come about, the cleric
Angelo Festa went to see him to inform him on behalf of Don Bosco that
he had recovered. His improvement had come about between seven-thir-
ty and eight o’clock, at which hour the Saint was celebrating Mass. He
recovered completely.

Talking about miracles, we should recall an incident that happened to
Father Stephen Trione. The very zealous Salesian who was then the cate-
chist of the Oratory students, upon returning from a short mission, report-
ed to Don Bosco on the excellent results obtained by his sermon. The
Saint said smiling, “I want to obtain for you from God the gift of per-
forming miracles.” In his simplicity, he replied, “Nothing could be better!
This way 1 shall be able to convert sinners more easily!”

Then Don Bosco’s face became very serious and he replied, “If you
were to possess this gift, soon you would implore God, in tears, to take it
away from you.”

The Servant of God must have given thought just then to the tremen-
dous responsibility that anyone given such an extraordinary gift bears
before God.

Among Don Bosco’s other miracles, we should also list the heroic
fortitude with which he could withstand long and fiery opposition and the
undaunted patience with which he endured long and painful infirmities.

What did he not endure in order to obtain certain privileges! When it
was all done, he instructed Father Joachim Berto to assemble and coordi-
nate all the privileges he had obtained, a long and arduous work now pre-
served in a voluminous sheaf of documents in our archives. He had almost
completed the work and informed Don Bosco of it, saying that there was
every reason to be happy that the privileges had now been granted,
because it meant removing many obstacles from his path in the years to
come. With deep feeling the Saint answered, “But in order to get this far,
we have had to pass through the Red Sea.”

During the Informative Process, Father Francis Cerruti testified to his
state of health’ during those last two years of his life. “When his
headaches, his congested chest and semi-blinded eyes prohibited his tak-

6 See Appendix, doc. 59.
7 Summarium, no. X, #39.
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ing part in any kind of work, it was both painful yet consoling to see him
sit on his shabby sofa for long hours, at times in semi-darkness, because
his eyes could not stand the light. Yet he was always calm and smiling, his
rosary beads in his hand, his lips moving as he murmured ejaculatory
prayers, lifting his hands now and then, revealing with silent words his
submission and intimate union with the will of God, although his extreme
exhaustion would no longer allow him to declare it in so many words. I,
myself, am firmly convinced that the last few years of his life were prac-
tically one long and continuous prayer to God. Others, too, believe the
same. It is indeed true that if we entered his room to see him and speak
with him, we always found him in an attitude of profound meditation,
although he gave no outward sign, for his face remained cheerful, calm,
and serene, just as any words that passed his lips were words of peace,
charity, and faith.”

Father Cerruti tells us that one evening in the fall, Father Berto had
gone to Don Bosco’s room around five o’clock and found him walking
up and down the corridor, barely able to drag himself along. When he
saw him, the Saint said again and again, Iam delibor, iam delibor.® Then,
looking him full in the face, he added sorrowfully with deep feeling,
Tempus resolutionis meae instat. Cursum consummavi.” Whereupon the
secretary retorted, “But Saint Paul also says, Bonum certamen certavi,
fidem servavi. In reliquo reposita est mihi corona iustitiae, quam reddet
mihi Dominus in illa die iustus iudex.”" The Servant of God changed the
subject.

We have mentioned Father Francis Cerruti. Since he was prefect of
studies for the Congregation, Don Bosco entrusted an urgent and impor-
tant matter to him at a Superior Council meeting on November 19th,
“Next year we will have to see what can be done in order to have accred-
ited teachers, and enroll some ten of our clerics at some university or
other. It is true that we have said we will only send priests to the univer-
sities because of the havoc wrought in inexperienced souls by such atten-
dance and the defections that occur in our ranks. Should there be a reli-

8 “T am being poured out, I am being poured out,” part of 2 Tim. 4:6: “For I am already being poured out like
alibation...,” i.e., St. Paul sensed that his end was near and that his blood would soon be poured out like wine offered
before a sacrifice.

9 “The time of my departure is at hand. I have finished the race,” parts of 2 Tim. 4:6-7. That is, “My career
has been completed,” followed by an image of a race in the stadium.

10 “I have fought the good fight to the end; I have kept the faith. All there is to come now is the crown of
righteousness reserved for me, which the Lord, the Righteous Judge, will give to me on that day.”
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able priest among these clerics, we would hope that he would serve as
antidote and guardian. We will have to investigate this matter, because we
need to be staffed with legally qualified teachers. At the present day, it is
more essential that we combat the enemy with our shield rather than with
weapons.”

At this forceful encouragement from Don Bosco, Father Cerruti iden-
tified and motivated a number of Salesians to devote themselves to ardu-
ous study in order to obtain the indispensable degrees qualifying them to
teach in private institutions, even though they were already past the age of
most students.

A true and great praise is due him for he is the one who organized
the studies and schools of our Society. This does not mean that until then
nothing had been done in this respect. “Much, very much had been
done,” Father Al Luchelli wrote and he was a reliable witness to that
early period." The name of Father Celestine Durando will always remain
written in the records of our Society in letters of gold. But that was still
the so called heroic era in our history. Our Pious Society had then been
in existence for only a few years. Immense, uncharted was the area open
to our action; narrow, sorely limited, quite inadequate to our needs was
the number of workers. The time we had was barely sufficient for us to
do the day’s work, and each one was forced to multiply his efforts, and
shoulder alone the responsibilities of many others. But meanwhile, God
smiled down on us, blessing the intrepid ones who were full of good will,
fired as they were by the zeal which brushed off on them in their con-
tacts with Don Bosco, so that they faced the strains of their apostolate
just as David, the little shepherd, also armed only with a sling, faced the
giant Goliath. Never, perhaps, was our work so abundantly rewarded
with good results.” But we could not always keep up at that pace, so
everybody hoped that a regular formation be provided for Salesians to
become teachers and educators. Father Francis Cerruti devoted all his
energy to this noble undertaking."

Father Cerruti was one of those God-sent men whom Don Bosco had
raised ever since they were children and now found at his side at an hour

11 4, Luchelli, D. Francesco Cerruti, funeral eulogy (Turin: SAID, “The Good Press,” 1917).

12 The extent and depth of his dedication was evident even before he was unanimously confirmed in the
office, which Don Bosco had entrusted to him a few months previously. In 1886, the 15th centennial of St.
Augustine’s conversion was celebrated. It was Fr. Cerruti who planned to commemorate it with an academic pro-
gram held at St. John the Evangelist on June 10th. The program of the day reveals the man’s mind. The letter of invi-
tation, signed by Don Bosco, must have been written by him (Appendix, doc. 60).
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when he most needed them. Don Bosco was waning then and he needed
men like Father Cerruti ready to help him, to provide him with a pow-
erful hand to carry on, organize and give stability and expression to the
undertakings he had just started. Endowed with an organizational mind,
a strong will and great practical sense, Father Cerruti displayed wisdom,
calm, and steadfastness throughout his thirty years in that responsibili-
ty. His authority covered the Institute of the Daughters of Mary Help of
Christians as well, and the direction of the Salesian press. In every one
of these areas, he was a source of energy to others, for he was greatly
endowed with the gift of motivating others to action. In all he did, noth-
ing was so dear to his heart as to keep vibrant the spirit of the Founder
in all the Salesian confreres. In addressing his public thanks to the
Salesians on the twenty-fifth anniversary of his election as prefect of
studies general, he wrote, “Each day that goes by convinces me more and
more of the bounded necessity of adhering as closely as we can to what
Don Bosco taught us, also in regard to instruction and education, never
straying from Don Bosco’s teaching even in the smallest detail. Far from
us all innovators!”

A pleasant day was spent around Don Bosco on November 30th in the
Valsalice School. It was the feast of the award ceremony for the noble
boarders of that school. Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda and the Rev. James
Margotti spent several hours in the morning and evening with the Saint.
During the ceremony His Eminence introduced one of his delightful
improvisations on the value and effectiveness of discipline. Don Bosco
returned home to the Oratory around six o’clock p.m.” That same
evening the Cardinal wrote to Bishop John Cagliero, “I spent nearly the
whole day today at the school of Valsalice. There was the award ceremo-
ny, which was truly delightful, interesting like all feasts are at the Salesian
houses. Nothing was quite so interesting as our beloved Don Bosco who
was there with us, always jovial, serene and happy. He was no worse in
health, although always subject to his habitual infirmities. Our Lord must
surely want to use him for many great things to come. Among these, we
should not overlook a handsome group of missionaries who should set out
the day after tomorrow. I do not want to forego the pleasure of attending
the ceremony, nor of calling down all the blessings of heaven upon this
chosen group.” Rightly had Father Francis Cerruti written to the bishop,"

13 See Unita cattolica, December 2, 1886.
14 Turin, October 12, 1886.
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“Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda continues always to be a most affectionate
protector to us, and he is certainly one of the greatest comforts and sup-
ports that our beloved Don Bosco has.”

At the beginning of 1871, Don Bosco had some confidential sou-
venirs he had written, lithographed, and mailed to the directors of his
houses. He had signed them all with the following date, “Turin, 1886
Feast of the Immaculate Conception of Mary Most Holy. 45th anniver-
sary of the foundation of the Oratory.” He sent a copy to every director,
heading it with a “Christmas Strenna.”"*

Two Salesians had been sent by Don Bosco to preach a mission in the
parish church of Saint Anthony at Bra, where a past pupil of the Oratory,
Father Louis Pautasso was vicar. When they came back, they told wonders
of that excellent Christian congregation. When the Saint heard this, he
wrote this short letter to the vicar:

Turin, December 19, 1886

Dearest Father,

To my most great joy, I received word of the success of the
retreat preached by our priests in your parish. Blessed be God for-
ever in all things, and may Mary Help of Christians aid and pro-
tect us always, so that we may keep the fruits. I bless you and all
your parishioners with a full heart, and may the Divine Mercy
assist us always to live and die in his holy grace.

Pray for me who will always be in Jesus Christ,

Your most affectionate friend,
Rev. John Bosco

In Turin on December 20th, the revered Baron Manuel died at a very
advanced age. He was a very charitable gentleman and in his old age had
wanted to retire from active participation in the Society of Saint Vincent
de Paul and other pious organizations. Before taking this step, he wanted
to seek the advice of Don Bosco:

15 These are the souvenirs that we read in Lemoyne’s The Biographical Memoirs, Vol. VII, 316-319. In a let-
ter to Bp. Cagliero dated November 29, Fr. Rua wrote: “Fr. Lasagna will be bringing a strenna for the directors, con-
sisting of a collection of confidential souvenirs that Don Bosco has gathered for you all from his long experience.
hope they will know how to draw the greatest possible benefit from them.”
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“Go on as you are now,” the Saint had told him, “Let us work until
the very end of our days, and do all the good possible.”

“That’s what I decided to do,” he wrote in his memoirs.

There was a Superior Council meeting that day and Don Bosco took
the floor several times, saying interesting and beneficial things which
we can glean from the minutes of the meeting. Father Paul Albera too,
happened to be present, because several changes in the staff in the
French houses were under discussion. Among others, Father Louis
Cartier, the director at Saint Marguerite, was to be transferred to Nice
as vice director, to take Father Joseph Ronchail’s place the following
year when Father Ronchail was to be transferred to Paris. But here an
obstacle arose.

“Nice Maritime is a locality where we have a concentration of
Cooperators, not only from France, but from the whole of Europe and
America,” someone pointed out, “since foreigners from all parts of the
world convene there and enroll in the Pious Union. They therefore strike-
up relationships with us and do their utmost to persuade other people in
their respective countries to enroll too. I do not think that Father Cartier’s
natural disposition and poor ability to beg for alms could bring much of a
benefit to our Pious Society.”

Don Bosco replied, “Father Ronchail should accompany and intro-
duce Father Cartier to the homes of our benefactors so that his limited nat-
ural disposition may not prove obstructive in his dealings with the
Cooperators. True enough, not all of us have the gift of knowing how to
solicit alms. For this, one should have frankness, humility, readiness to
shoulder sacrifices, a way of talking which may win over people’s hearts,
and caution in the use of words so as not to offend anybody’s sensitive-
ness. The Salesian Bulletin’s help must be enlisted to announce the
appointment of a new director, to introduce him to our Cooperators.' Let
a circular letter be published, in these terms: “Circumstances have called
Father Ronchail to the house in Paris as director. The superiors have
decided that I, Father Cartier, should take his place. While I am honored
to announce my appointment, I appeal to your charity and your good
advice, etc., etc.” When Ronchail arrived in Paris, he addressed a very
similar circular letter to the Cooperators in the metropolis, “Today, those

16 The Bulletin Salésien of June 1887 used the occasion of announcing the death of Mrs. Levret to mention
Fr. Cartier as director of the house in Nice; in its next issue it published an obituary notice which he had written on
this pious Cooperator.
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who know Father Cartier will have heard that he has become an incom-
parable collector of alms in Nice. During the past years of economic cri-
sis everywhere, he succeeded in raising a church to Mary Help of
Christians on which he spent several millions.”

In speaking of Paris, Father Michael Rua remarked that after roaming
the city for an entire day, Father Charles Bellamy had collected only seven
francs. Don Bosco replied, “In these circumstances, let the director have
one hundred letters lithographed, to read as follows: ‘our house at
Menilmontant is in serious financial need. We need this and that. I will
call on you on such and such a day to collect your charitable donation.’
This will enable us to collect something; otherwise, nothing can be
accomplished. If one calls unexpectedly on anybody, and he is unknown,
and he is unable to prove his position or authorization, nothing will be
accomplished. A calling card might also be printed, with the following
words beneath the name of the caller: ‘I appeal to Monsieur (leave space
for the name, to be filled in by pen) on behalf of the poor boys living in
the house where I am director and beg you to bear us in mind when you
might consider making some charitable donations’. These calling cards
might be printed for all directors of those houses, which rely on charity.
We might also add as a motto: Those who give to the poor will be gener-
ously rewarded by the Lord.”

Father Paul Albera sought authorization to purchase a piece of land,
which would complete the area of the playground of St. Leo’s Oratory.
Twenty thousand francs would have been needed to pay the deed. The
Superior Council approved and Don Bosco said, “Here again we could
write a circular letter, once we have entered an understanding with the
proprietor of the land, wording it as follows: ‘We have so many boys in
our house, and it has become necessary for us to build further, so that we
can take in many more boys than we have now (50, 80,100 boys, etc.).
Such and such a sum would be required. You are invited to list here what-
ever sum of money you may see fit to give, so that we may have an idea
of the amount of capital with which we can reckon’. Then we can call on
this benefactor today, or on that other tomorrow with a ledger in which
we can enter their signatures.”

The Council members laughed at the ease with which Don Bosco
could think up practical ways of raising money. He replied, “Once I could
keep on working by going around in search of help, but now I content
myself with letting my brain work all the time. Once I conceive a plan, I
investigate the pros and cons, stipulate the details and forge ahead... Now
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it is a matter of buying this land. Father Albera can send me the list of the
leading citizens in the town of Marseilles. I will write to them. The grace
of Mary Help of Christians will do the rest.”

On another occasion, a transaction between the Salesians and a cer-
tain Mr. Mingardon of Marseilles had begun, regarding the purchase of
a printing shop which Mingardon was willing to sell at a very conven-
ient price. Nothing came of it. Father Albera now broached the subject
again, to which Don Bosco replied, “We would need a board of direc-
tors if we were to draw any advantage from such a contract; but any-
thing which was even only remotely tinged with commercialism was
always fatal to religious orders.”

At Christmastime the new dining room for the members of the
Superior Council was inaugurated—it was located on the second floor,
adjacent to the library and very near Don Bosco’s rooms. This would
have enabled him to get to it without any difficulty."” On that same occa-
sion, a feast was held to honor Fr. Charles Viglietti’s first Mass.

Something quite new was inaugurated after Christmas at the Oratory.
For the first time, on Saint John the Evangelist day, all the artisans agreed
that they would celebrate the real name day of Don Bosco. All the differ-
ent shops sent him a letter, signed by each individual boy working in
them, as well as by their respective headmasters and assistants. Everyone
promised Communions, visits to the Blessed Sacrament and Mary Help
of Christians and prayers.

Many Italian bishops too were praying for Don Bosco, as they
eagerly assured him that they would respond to his appeal, launched
in October. One bishop, Peter DeGaudenzi of Vigevano, who, ever
since he had been a canon at Vercelli, had tenderly venerated and
helped the Saint for a number of years, wrote to Father Michael Rua
on January 4, 1887, “I here enclose a very modest offering for Don
Bosco’s Salesian missions.'®* How much I regret not being able to do
more! I am making this small offering also because I hope our Lord
will preserve a man of God like Don Bosco for us. Please, give him
my very best and encourage him, saying that prayers are offered for
his good health, here as well as in the seminary, and in religious insti-
tutes. During the triduum, held the last two days of the year and the
first of the current year in all churches of the diocese in honor of the

17 Not long after Don Bosco’s death, his successor returned to the common dining room.
18 He sent 40 lire. See Appendix, doc. 62 (A, B,C, D, E, F, ).
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Most Sacred Heart of Jesus for the Holy Father, I ordered that prayers
be said for our dear, venerated Don Bosco when I was giving
Benediction with the Blessed Sacrament in the cathedral. I bless this
admirable man who spends his life doing good.”

The above mention of the artisans leads us to recall an event of
interest to us. In 1886, to meet a greater number of applications, Don
Bosco had three big rooms built, approximately eighty-two feet in
length and twenty-three in width, in the corner of the first playground,
where the quarters of the superior council now stand. The new site was
not completely dry when the Oratory superiors had located some fifty
pupils into it. Father Anacletus Ghione, their catechist, who checked on
them morning and evening when it was time for them to rise and go to
bed, noticed that their beds were wet from the humidity dripping from
the ceiling rafters. Afraid lest the boys might get sick, he laid the prob-
lem before Don Bosco. The good Father asked him whether the beds
could possibly be moved elsewhere. Father Ghione replied that he had
considered that possibility but could not find any place. Whereupon
Don Bosco remained silent a moment and then said, “Well, leave them
where they are.”

“But they’ll all be sick this winter,” the catechist insisted, adding that
their assistant had already been ill for three days.

“Relax,” the Saint replied, “not a single boy will get sick.”

Indeed, not one boy got sick all through that winter. The assistant too
recovered in a short time."

It was now the end of the year. No one ventured to hope that Don
Bosco would come downstairs after evening prayers, to join them in the
church of Mary Help of Christians. So what did they do? Shortly before
sunset everybody in the house— artisans, students, and Salesians—gath-
ered beneath his windows, and sang in chorus the well-known song with
indescribable gusto,

Let us go, friends,
Don Bosco awaits us.
Perfect joy

Awakens in our hearts.

Don Bosco, leaning on two priests, appeared at the window, deeply

19 Report by Fr. Ghione in the October 1925 Bollettino salesiano (49:258).
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touched, and gripping the railing of the balcony. He leaned out as far as
he could, thanking them all and wishing everybody a happy end of the old
year and a joyous beginning of a new year, with the blessing of Our Lord
and of Mary.
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Chapter 11

A LIFE OF RETIREMENT

The Piedmontese winter, which was especially hard on all old men,
piled discomfort upon discomfort on Don Bosco, compelling him to
live completely walled up in his modest apartment. Save for the few
lucky students of the fourth high school grade who were allowed to go
and see him now and then, to call on him and make their confession to
him, the boys did not see him at all. We should remember that the fifth
high school grade had been phased out in 1886. On January 22nd, he
heard the boys’ confessions for over two hours. All of them went to con-
fession save one, who failed to make his appearance. But his absence
went unobserved, for it had already been some time now that a number
of them had either chosen other confessors, or were prevented from
going at that hour because they had to study, or for some other reason
they were not going to make their confession to Don Bosco and if they
did, they did it rarely.

But on this occasion the Saint noticed it. As a matter of fact he sent
for the boy that same evening. He had him sit down beside him, he chat-
ted for a while on different matters and then asked, “Why have you not
gone to the Sacraments for some months?”

The boy hung his head, without answering. Don Bosco broke the
silence to ask:

“Do you want me to tell you why?”

“Yes, please tell me,” the boy answered.

“Look, for this and this other reason.” So saying, in a fatherly way,
he listed the sins, which the poor boy was ashamed to confess.
Dumbfounded, the boy gaped at him, quite at a loss, then fell on his
knees and made his confession. When he emerged from the room, he met
Father Charles Viglietti and told him with the familiarity the boys were
wont to use with him, “Don Bosco just said this and this to me, and
guessed all of my sins.”
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On another occasion, while speaking about the graces bestowed by
Our Lady on the Oratory, Don Bosco remarked to the same secretary,
“Mary loves us too much. It is useless for our boys to try to hide anything
they have in their hearts. I see it and bring it out into the open.”

He continued to give audiences to outside visitors, but to a much
lesser degree than previously, for his secretaries had received orders
from his physicians and the superiors that the number of visitors and the
duration of their interviews was to be curtailed. On January 2nd,
Cardinal Cajetan Alimonda went to see him, and stayed with him for an
hour. On the 5th Bishop Ordonez, the bishop of Quito, Ecuador, went to
see him and asked for at least four Salesians in the name of the President
of the Republic of Ecuador. He then went to Rome, but again called on
him on his return and obtained a formal promise. Already on January
1st, Don Bosco had said something to Father Viglietti which the latter
had entered into his diary. “It just got into my head the idea that I should
set up as soon as possible a missionary expedition to Quito and the
Republic of Ecuador. That is a mission station where vocations can be
found.”

Among other people also Father Louis Guanella went to see him. He
had not called at the Oratory again since leaving it in 1878. It was not
until Jan. 2, 1887 that he had the courage to visit Don Bosco. After the
Saint’s death, he described the impression Don Bosco had made on him,
at that visit: “He seemed quite transformed to me. I thought I could
detect a ray of divine grace on his transparent face. He blessed me warm-
ly as I knelt at his feet, and he also blessed my humble endeavors.”

The youthful priest, Father Raymond Jara, who later became bishop
of Ancud in Chile, also went to see him from Nice, France. He was trav-
eling through France trying to raise money to found a Catholic universi-
ty at Santiago. He called on Don Bosco to have medals and some holy
pictures blessed by him. The picture of Mama Margaret was among
them. The Saint was shaken up as he caught sight of it; he gazed at it a
few moments, and then said, “ Love her!” As the young man walked with
Don Bosco through the corridor where the offices were located, he
remarked that it was very narrow, and ventured respectfully, “If I am not
too bold, might I ask for an explanation?”

“Please speak up!”

“Should there be any stout priest in your congregation, how would he
be able to walk down this corridor? Why did you build it so narrow?”

“Why... why...to fight against temptations.”
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Father Jara understood. When he returned to Chile, he built a big
building, subdivided into many small apartments where one hundred
eighty university students from the province could live. While it was
under construction, he recalled Don Bosco’s words and ordered that the
corridors were to be very narrow, with the doors built very low. During
a civil war provoked by President Balmaceda in 1891, the building was
confiscated and put up for sale by auction. Located as it was in the heart
of the city, many people were eager to buy it. All those who looked at
those corridors and those doors were so disappointed that they lost all
interest, so it was restored to its original use to the delight of the profes-
sors who had preceded it.

In the stillness of his little room, Don Bosco devoted a good deal of
his time to his correspondence. An incredible number of letters were
delivered daily to the Oratory, most of them to Don Bosco, and they dealt
with business, graces received through Mary Help of Christians, with the
Catholic Readings, the [Salesian] Bulletin, and with replies to circular
letters. They were coming from Italy, France, Switzerland, Belgium,
Poland, Russia, Asia Minor, India, and North and South America. Once
they had been sorted, the Saint called on trusty people who read his let-
ters to him personally, then, being unable to reply himself as a general
rule, he instructed others to answer them for him. Let us look at some of
this correspondence of which we still have copies.

Two letters Sui Generis [unique] which came from France add yet
further proof to the many proofs of the extraordinary aura of holiness
in which Don Bosco was universally held. Someone who had already
on several other occasions, consulted him on spiritual problems, in
particular on his marriage plans, now wrote to implore him on the eve
of an official engagement whether, as a good Christian, he would do
well to marry a certain young lady. The Saint replied, “You may
marry this person with a serene conscience. She will contribute to
your happiness if both of you will go frequently to Holy Communion.
I recommend my young orphans to your charity. Pray for me, and may
God bless you and the Blessed Virgin always be your guide.” Another
person had never met Don Bosco at all, but having heard that he was
a man of great faith from one who had seen him in Paris, he confided
his problems to him. For some years he had been thinking of marry-
ing someone, but financial issues had led him to break off his rela-
tionship. Now he was anxious to re-establish it again. He asked that
Don Bosco examine the matter conscientiously before God and then
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let him know the outcome of his pious and charitable mediation. “Will
I find elements for both worldly and eternal happiness in this marriage
that I wish to contract?” the man had written. “Should my hopes fail,
would that mean perhaps that our Lord is summoning me to another
path in life?”

This is what Don Bosco replied, “Ask your spiritual director about
what he thinks. If he says yes, then all you need to do is to make sure that
the person of whom you write goes to Holy Communion. As to the rest,
be at peace. I am praying for you and I recommend you to my little
orphans. May God reward your charity generously.” The gentleman had
enclosed a charitable donation in his letter.

He must have written a good many notes or short letters in gratitude
for donations he had received.

For New Year’s Day, Prince August Czartoryski had sent him a
donation, telling him at the same time how deeply fond the Polish
Cooperators were of the Founder of the Salesian Congregation. In writ-
ing to thank him for his charity and kind words, he did not refer to the
prince’s vocation, certainly out of consideration for his father, but
restricted himself to saying, “In all events, please believe that we do not
cease praying to God for you and all that concerns you.”

Don Bosco wrote to Countess Alexandra di Camburzano:

Turin, January 9, 1887
Dear Countess,

I am very sorry that you are not well. I and others will pray
for your good health. I understand perfectly that you have your
crosses to bear. All of us have some, except for Don Bosco who
has none at all.

It would seem as if the things of this world are approaching
a crisis, but God is an infinitely loving Father, and infinitely
powerful, so let us leave things to him.

Thank you for the strenna you sent for our little orphans.
Tomorrow they will go to Holy Communion for you. I myself
with the help of God will say Holy Mass. May Mary be our guide
to heaven.

Your most grateful servant,
Rev. J. Bosco

1 Appendix, doc. 64.
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On the feast of Saint Francis de Sales he sent a holy picture with this
inscription to Baroness Azeglia Ricci, née de Maistre whom he had
known ever since she was a child:

“Dear Baroness Ricci,

May God bless you and generously reward your charity. Our
priests, missionaries, and orphans join me in offering up prayers
for you every day.””

Anniversaries, nominations, happy events involving people
to whom he felt bound by ties of allegiance or gratitude, never
went by unnoticed. In 1887, the Catholic world celebrated the
jubilee of ordination to the priesthood of Leo XIII. At the
beginning of the year at Bassano Vicentino a special edition
entitled Exultemus was being printed. And those responsible
for it were calling on the most eminent figures of the Catholic
world to contribute some article befitting the occasion. They
could not overlook Don Bosco. On January 18, saying it was
quite impossible for him to write an article, he formulated the
following declaration, “That which I can do however, is to
state, and very clearly indeed, that I make my own the senti-
ments of faith, esteem, respect, veneration, and unfaltering love
that Saint Francis de Sales had for the Supreme Pontiff.
Jubilantly do I endorse all the glorious tributes inherited from
the holy Doctors of the Church and the Councils, which when
woven into a chaplet of precious gems, adorn the head of the
Pope. Among them, I quote, Abel for the primacy, Abraham
for the patriarchate, Melchisedek for the order, Aaron for the
dignity, Moses for the authority, Samuel for justice, Peter for
power, Christ for the anointing and Shepherd of all Shepherds,
as well as over forty other no less splendid and appropriate
tributes. It is my intention that the members of the humble
Congregation of Saint Francis de Sales should never deviate
from the sentiments of this great Saint and patron of ours in
regard to the Apostolic See; that they readily and respectfully,
in simplicity of mind and heart, accept not only the Pope’s

2 To this same lady on New Year’s Day, the Saint had written on a visiting card, “The Rev. John Bosco begs
you accept his humble respects. He and his orphans are praying for you and all your intentions, while he calls down
upon you the best blessings of heaven. January 1, 1887.”
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decisions in matters of dogma and discipline, but also his opin-
ions even in matters open to dispute; that they should follow
him even as a private doctor rather than adhere to the opinion
of any other theologian or scholar. I believe that not only the
Salesians and their Cooperators should abide by this rule, but
all the faithful in general, especially the clergy. Over and above
the duty incumbent on children to respect their Father, over and
above the duties incumbent on Christians to venerate the Vicar
of Jesus Christ, the Pope deserves the greatest deference
because he was chosen from among the most learned, the most
prudent, the most virtuous, and is assisted very particularly in
his rule of the Church by the Holy Spirit.”

On December 26th, Cardinal di Canossa, the bishop of
Verona, wrote to him to appeal on behalf of his own brother
Octavius, “Bless him, myself, and all our family. Once again do
I recommend my undertakings to your fervent prayers, especial-
ly one business matter for which I have been praying to God for
some time. Ever at your service.” In closing, he expressed his
“infinite esteem and devotion.”

Three weeks later Don Bosco sent him this reply,
Turin, January 14, 1887

Most Revered Eminence:

I was very happy to receive your greetings and blessings
and was delighted to pay my respects to your brother, Count
Canossa. At the present time, all our prayers are addressed to
the Most Holy Virgin Help of Christians so that you may be
preserved ad multos annos iubilares dies for the glory of the
Church, the support of those in need, and especially for the
benefit of the poor Salesians who humbly but fervently rec-
ommend themselves to the charitable prayers of Your
Eminence.

Please bless us all, and kindly look on us as your humble, but
most affectionate servants and sons.

In the name of all,
Rev. John Bosco
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Please forgive this bad handwriting.

By return mail the cardinal wrote expressing his keen joy over his
letter. This answer is a precious document, which reveals the high opin-
ion this great man of the Church had of Don Bosco and his
Congregation. Verona was then getting ready to celebrate the imminent
silver jubilee of its bishop’s episcopate. Leo XIII had anticipated the ges-
ture of the diocese by writing a letter of congratulations to which refer-
ence is made herein.

January 15, 1887

Dear and most venerated Don Bosco:

No other letter among those I have received recently, after
the magnificent letter of our Holy Father Leo XIII, brought me
such joy and happiness as your own affectionate letter did this
morning! A thousand times, thanks! For, among your many and
holy occupations, you did not only remember my own humble
person, but also you inconvenience yourself to write me with
your own hand! I am grateful to you from the bottom of my
heart, and since I cannot do more, I will pray to the Lord to bless
you and your holy undertakings, with even more fervor than I
usually do. I say, “even more” because I esteem and love them,
yes indeed. I love your Salesians and although unworthily, I do
have a special memento for the missions every morning during
Holy Mass, especially for Africa, Patagonia, and China where
the Sisters of Canossa are doing a great deal of good.

Poor Africa! Oh! Do me the charity of praying first for me
(for great is my need, as I well know), and then for that unfortu-
nate mission! You must know that one day I told the superiors of
this little seminary for Central Africa, “If he accepts us we will
all move on with arms and baggage under the rule of Don Bosco,
all of us together, and go to South America which is quite anoth-
er country.”

But they felt that they ought to respect the memory and the
efforts of our late lamented Bishop [Daniel] Comboni, and wait
to see whether it so pleased our Lord to re-open the road for us
to reach the blacks. So I did not try to insist.
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Meanwhile, my cordial thanks to you for everything, and to
your excellent Salesians with you. You promised me the greatest
of all graces, namely, the support of their prayers. I beg you also,
to bless me, and to believe me always with all my heart,

Your most devoted and affectionate,
L. Cardinal di Canossa, bishop

Deeply touched, the Servant of God acknowledged receipt of the let-
ter with the cordial simplicity peculiar to Saints and sent him a holy pic-
ture of Mary Help of Christians, on which he had written the following
tender invocation across its back: “Most Eminent Cardinal Canossa. Oh
Mary, guide this beloved and zealous son of yours in all his undertak-
ings, always along the path to heaven. January 23, 1887, Rev. John
Bosco.”

If Verona had as its bishop a cardinal, Don Bosco had to be thanked
for it. When the pious and humble prelate had been transferred to
Bologna by Leo XIII, he had gone to the Pontiff to implore him to allow
him to remain in Verona. It so happened that he met with Don Bosco in
Rome. He confided to him with tears in his eyes what was happening,
imploring him to put in a word in his favor. During his audience with the
Pope, the Saint steered the conversation around to this subject and when
he realized that the Pope was not against gratifying the wish of the
Bishop, he found a way to make a proposal. Since Bologna was a cardi-
nal’s See, might not it be possible to accept a renunciation to an arch-
bishopric, while granting the rank of cardinal to the bishop making such
a renunciation? The Holy Father liked the idea, whereupon when Don
Bosco again met with the bishop, he said:

“Archbishop? No, but cardinal? Yes!”

Another eminent prelate addressed benevolent words to him. At the
beginning of February, Bishop Camillo Siciliano di Rende, archbishop
of Benevento and apostolic nuncio in Paris had been appointed to be
named cardinal. Don Bosco had met him four years previously in the
French capital, where both the prelate and his mother had shown him
great reverence. He now felt it his duty to congratulate the prelate
rightaway on this new dignity conferred on him, and recommended to
him at the same time the recently established Salesian house at
Menilmontant. The cardinal waited for the consistory, as is usually
done, and then wrote him on March 24th from Paris: “I am most grate-
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ful to you for the affectionate congratulations you were so kind as to
address to me upon my elevation to the cardinalate. I thank you most
cordially for this and hope that in your prayers you will obtain all the
help I need from heaven to fulfill the duties, which this new dignity
imposes on me. I do not know the Salesian house here as yet, but I
assure you that I shall consider myself fortunate if I can render any
services to your Congregation.”

The apostolic nuncio in Madrid was yet another new cardinal who
had been in correspondence with Don Bosco in reference to the founda-
tion of Santa Rita School in Madrid.® Don Bosco sent him his congratu-
lations too, to which Bishop Rampolla replied with warm thanks in the
following manner,* “I am happy for this opportunity to affirm once
again my special benevolence for the Salesian Congregation and to con-
gratulate you on all the good your sons are doing in the Spanish diocese
where they are located. Not long ago I heard warm praises of them from
eminent prelates. May it please the Lord that they multiply in numbers
also in this country which is in such great need today of protection
against the deceits of the wicked.”

The attorney Melchior Voli was elected mayor of Turin in March,
and Don Bosco sent him a letter of congratulations. In thanking him
warmly for it and asking him to accept his most reverent regards, the
foremost magistrate of the city declared that he was happy to recall the
days of his adolescence when he had the “good fortune of meeting the
most reverend and meritorious Don Bosco in the home of Roasenda.”
Mr. Voli had assisted Don Bosco in copying his History of Italy in this
household.

Don Bosco was not in a condition to hold any regular conversations,
yet he was delighted to listen to others telling him about the missions and
was overjoyed whenever letters from his missionaries were read aloud to
him. His own conversation was restricted to brief words, at times truly
witty. In looking at the effigy of Napoleon III on a coin, he exclaimed,
“Sic transit gloria mundi’ No one ever talks about him any
longer...unless they talk badly.”

3 See Vol. XVII, p. 600ff.

4 Madrid, April 11, 1887.

5 “Thus does the glory of the world pass away,” words, accompanied by the burning of flax, once addressed
to the Pope during his coronation rite. The phrase is adapted from The Imitation of Christ, “O quam cito transit glo-
ria mundi,” bk. I, ch. 3, 3. Don Bosco was very familiar not only with papal history but also with The Imitation,
which powerfully influenced him in his seminary days (see Bosco, Memoirs of the Oratory, trans. Daniel Lyons
[New Rachelle, 19891, p. 159).
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When questioned by Mr. Olive whether he might say, in writing to
his wife, that Don Bosco was well, Don Bosco replied, “Tell her that Don
Bosco has been overcome by laziness.” Mr. Olive laughed, protesting
that quite the opposite was the truth, but Don Bosco insisted, “It is only
the courtesy of Mr. Olive which questions the truth uttered by Don
Bosco.”

One day, Mrs. Quisard of Lyons sent him a holy picture on which the
following words were written in French, “Be with God as a bird which
feels the branch quiver and yet keeps on singing, aware of its wings.” He
read it carefully, then handed it to someone, saying they were to take it
to Father Joachim Berto, adding, “Who knows what Father Berto will
then think when he receives this!” Father Berto thought what Don Bosco
had expected. He understood that it was a fatherly admonition that before
long, his sole supporter in this world, Don Bosco, would no longer be
there with him. Rarely did Don Bosco break up his silence at table,
because he always seemed to be constantly meditating. One day, as he
poured some water into his wine, he said, “Jesus on the Cross also want-
ed his Blood to be mixed with water.”

To his great confidant Father John Lemoyne, who used to sit with
him in the evenings to ease the unavoidable idleness of his solitude-
artificial light hurt his eyes-he once made a prediction. Without any-
thing having been said in reference to such a topic, he remarked out of
the blue, “You’ll live to a ripe old age.” Another evening, as Father
Lemoyne was silently trailing him upstairs, Don Bosco suddenly halt-
ed and, as if he were revealing a secret, whispered, “A very glorious
future awaits you.” Then after a brief pause, he continued: “What you
have suffered is nothing in comparison to what you will have to suffer.
But be brave, everything has an end in this world...and then...and then
comes paradise.”

Father Lemoyne lived to be seventy-seven. His memory endures and
will endure in benediction in the Congregation, and his name echoes also
outside the congregation on the lips of many people, especially for what
he wrote about Don Bosco. But the last period of his life was really trou-
bled by physical infirmities, and even more by spiritual anguish coming
from various causes, for he was endowed with a lively imagination and a
deeply